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ABSTRACT 

 

ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING RECOGNITION OF 

FIRMS’ HUMAN CAPITAL INVESTMENT: AN EMPIRICAL 

INVESTIGATION OF FIRMS IN THE FTSE 100 LISTING OF THE 

LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE 

 

 V K G VITHANA  

 

Firms’ spending on their employees is written off as expense to the annual financial 

statements under the current accounting treatment. This accounting treatment has 

been debated over decades, since employees are arguably claimed as the true value 

creators of firms’ intellectual capital. Value creation potential of employees, 

identified theoretically as human capital has been researched for valuation and 

measurement for accounting recognition of human capital investment and decision 

usefulness of financial reporting recognition through mandatory and mostly 

voluntary disclosure. Research evidence are found under different phenomenon 

namely; social capital, intellectual capital, human capital, etc. considering, 

investment, accounting and reporting practices, though on an ad-hoc basis, 

highlighting the need for a study covering a holistic picture of the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment. Hence, the research is 

conducted, addressing the current practice of accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of firms’ human capital investment, considering both determinants and 

consequences of the practice utilising a stakeholder approach. The research is 

undertaken with data collected from annual reports of firms of FTSE 100 listing of 

London Stock Exchange for five accounting years, (2004-2009) chosen subjected to 

data availability, analysed using panel data analysis techniques with fixed and 

random effect estimators coupled with pooled linear regression as an alternative 

approach. The results of the study indicated a significant variance in the practice 

implying positive influences on promoting the practice accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment. The results further indicated the 

requirement of a framework governed by standards and guidelines in promoting the 

practice accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ human capital 

investment.  
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CHAPTER ONE 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 INTRODUCTION 

 

The term human capital is not new in current business world as investment in 

employees is recognised by business leaders as, the golden rule behind the success of 

firms and the key resource base in gaining strategic competitive advantage. 

Terminologies including employee capital, human capital, human asset, intellectual 

capital, etc. have been in the accounting and finance glossaries for more than several 

decades, perhaps over centuries, reckoning the importance by almost all the 

categories of stakeholders in decision making (Becker, 1962; Bryer, 1994; Dooley, 

2005; Brummet et al., 1968; Lev and Schwartz, 1971; Flamholtz, 1971; Elias, 1972; 

Schwan, 1976). As it is arguably proposed as the firm value creator, the varying 

degree of investment in human capital has made firms unique and distinctive from 

others with similar physical and financial asset base. However, it is questionable, 

whether the actual accounting and financial reporting recognition practices capture 

the above concepts adequately so that stakeholders can robustly rely on the 

information produced to make decisions about firms. This issue is identified in this 

chapter via background and motivation of the study, which subsequently is followed 

by research problem, research questions and objectives, indicating how the research 

gap identified has comprehensively been addressed throughout the thesis. 
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1.2 BACKGROUND AND MOTIVATION OF THE STUDY 

 

Introduction of the concept human capital goes back to the labour theory of value 

where, pioneering economists argued on firm value creation via labour, which is 

accumulated as a part of the capital of the firm (Dooley, 2005; Becker, 1962; Foley, 

2000). Despite the attention of those leading economists such as Sir William Petty 

(1623-1687), David Hume (1711-1777), Adam Smith (1723-1790), David Ricardo 

(1772-1823) and Karl Marx (1818-1883) who believed that the labour component of 

the firm has unique characteristics of value creation, which is termed as labour 

theory of value (Foley, 2000; Dooley, 2005; Becker, 1962) and accounting 

researchers attempting to measure / value (Lickert, 1971; Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak 

and Snell, 1999 & 2002) and account for the human capital investment (Elias, 1972; 

Morse, 1973; Becker, 1993; DTI, 2003 a & b), very low or no amendments are 

observed in terms of the accounting and financial reporting practices recognising the 

human capital investment of the firms.  Some of the attempts, even backed by 

government encouragement, aiming to consider formal recognition of human capital 

investment, have been in vain due the resistance of the professional accounting 

bodies (DTI, 2003 a and b; Roslender, 2009; Roslender and Stevenson, 2009; 

Roslender et al. 2004). As a result, the accounting and financial reporting recognition 

of human capital investment has always been limited to the traditional accounting 

treatment of considering the total amount spent on the employees as an expense, by 

writing it off to the income statement in arriving at the profit or loss, followed by 

qualitative recognition of employee contribution in firm value creation voluntarily 

via financial reporting mechanism of the firms.   
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The current accounting treatment of writing off of total spending by the firms on 

employees in the same accounting year it self, has been argued on several grounds. 

Seemingly responding to this criticism, voluntarily, firms have tended to compensate 

the adverse impact of the current accounting treatment via financial reporting. 

Moreover, though its doubtful about the extent to which, information produced and 

presented under the current accounting and financial reporting system, serve the 

purpose in stakeholder decision making, empirical evidence indicates that the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms investment in human capital, 

as the value creator of the firms’ intellectual capital base, through the voluntary 

disclosure practice have increased over the period of time (Abeysekera and Guthrie, 

2005 and 2004). Against this backdrop, the research is conducted to elicit a holistic 

picture about the accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment 

in human capital and the value relevance of this investment.  

 

 

1.3 RESEARCH PROBLEM 

 

The term human capital has widely been used by academics, researchers and 

practitioners over a long period of time, though there still has not been a generally 

accepted and agreed way of defining the human capital or human asset. However, 

considering the number of definitions proposed so far, human capital is understood 

to be as the potential of employees themselves in generating future wealth for the 

firms. Due to this value creation potential recognised, researchers have made several 

attempts to quantify the human capital investment of firms using different techniques 

such as; present value of future earnings applying discounted wage flows method 
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(Lev and Schwartz, 1971), acquisition cost (Brummet et al., 1968), replacement cost 

(Flamholtz, 1973), opportunity cost, market value, discounted earnings level, 

economic value, and group value model (Grove et al., 1977) etc.. In addition, recent 

studies attempted to classify revenue and capital portions included in the total human 

resource cost considering the extent of value and uniqueness of human resources, 

(Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 2002) which could have facilitated advancements to the 

current accounting and financial reporting practice.   

 

Despite the number of theories proposed for accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of firms’ investment in human capital aiming measurements, valuation, 

accounting and reporting mechanism (Elias, 1972, Schwan, 1976; Lepak and Snell, 

1999 & 2000), there has always been a gap between theories proposed and the 

practical applications considering the current status of the accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of firms investment in human capital. Opposed to the human 

capital theory perspective proposed by the academics and the researchers, the 

expenditure perspective of human capital management and accounting adopted by 

the practitioners, has led to many adverse consequences. Since the total amount 

spent on employees is just an expenditure lowering the profit of the firm, in many 

instances one objective of human resource management function itself has been to 

minimise the human resource cost. This has particularly been the case in situations 

where, some stakeholders such as management and executives of the firm are 

rewarded on profit oriented performance parameters. The consequences of this tend 

even to be long-term creating impact on the strategic success of the firms as well. 

Therefore, the desired status in terms of the standard accounting treatment of fairly 

recognising the firms’ investment in human capital, in a way that it reflects the firm 
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value creation by employees has yet to be developed compared to the existing 

practice of the conventional accounting treatment and the voluntary accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of firms’ human capital investment. Accordingly, the 

research problem of the study is understood as; 

 

Do firms adequately recognise the firm value creation via employees through 

current mechanism of accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ 

investment in human capital? 

 

 

1.4 RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND OBJECTIVES 

 

A number of researchers have attempted to address some aspects of the above 

identified research gap in rather ad-hoc manner from different perspectives. Some 

researchers and practitioners have paid attention to the valuation and accounting for 

human capital investment separately from expenditure writing off, proposing 

alternative accounting treatments (Elias, 1972; Schwan, 1976), while others have 

proposed alternative valuation criterion applicable in measuring the value of human 

capital (Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 2002) or the value creation 

efficiency as a part of intellectual capital efficiency (Pulic, 1998 & 2000). On the 

other hand, the paradigm shift from hard economic and accounting perspective to the 

social and scientific perspective in the recent past has diverted researchers and 

practitioners attention as well towards voluntary human capital reporting and 

information disclosed in the annual report (Becker et al., 2001; Abhayawansa and 

Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; ACCA, 2009; 
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Ax and Marton, 2008).  However, due to the very unique nature of human capital of 

the firms, its imperative to look from both quantitative and qualitative perspectives 

addressing issues related to both accounting for and reporting on human capital in a 

way that the firm value creation by employees is captured reflecting a holistic picture 

of the employee contribution.  

 

Moreover, as stakeholder response to human capital investment depends on the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of this investment, the research gap 

observed above has been addressed considering the variability involved in the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of the current human capital 

investment of the firms in two directions; forward and backward, considering the 

reasoning behind and the expected consequences. Previous empirical evidences and 

theoretical explanations indicate that potential determinants of human capital 

investments could be identified as firm specific and corporate governance related 

determinants of the human capital investment of the firm (Ax and Marton, 2008; 

Abeysekera, 2010; Athanasiosis, 2013). Accordingly, the research questions of the 

study are cascaded down as; 

 

 What is the current status of accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

investment in human capital of the firms in the FTSE 100 listing of the 

London Stock Exchange?  

 What are the firm specific and corporate governance related determinants of 

the accounting and financial reporting recognition investment in human 

capital of the firms in the FTSE 100 listing of the London Stock Exchange? 
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 What are the consequences of the accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of the firms’ investment in human capital for the firms in the 

FTSE 100 listing of the London Stock Exchange? 

 

Considering the existing accounting and financial reporting practice and the 

information communicated to the stakeholders, the total human resource expenditure 

written off in the income statement lowering the current year profit and the 

voluntarily disclosed information in the annual reports as a part of corporate 

reporting are recognised as the key conceptualisation mechanism reflecting the firms 

investment in human capital.  Therefore, addressing the research questions above, 

two main research objectives are formulated as; 

 

 To understand the current practice, investment in human capital by listed 

firms as reflected via accounting and financial reporting recognition of this 

investment conceptualised via human resource expenditure, human capital 

per value added coefficient and voluntary disclosure of human capital 

information in the annual reports of the firms in the FTSE 100 listing of the 

London stock exchange.  

 To examine the determinants and the expected consequences of accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment 

conceptualised via human resource expenditure and voluntary disclosure of 

human capital information in annual reports of the firms in the FTSE 100 

listing of the London stock exchange. 
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1.5 CONTRIBUTION AND ORIGINALITY 

 

As it is stated under the background and motivation of the study as well, despite the 

long standing history starting from introduction of the labour theory of value by 

pioneering economists, studies about human capital concepts and efforts in 

accounting for human capital investment of the firms and financial reporting 

recognition of investment in human capital have taken a variety of approaches 

belonging to different research paradigms. Research evidence so far has addressed 

theoretical, methodological and empirical gaps in relation to human capital 

management, valuation, human capital accounting, and disclosure under financial 

reporting. However, the inadequacy in these studies is reflected via the lack of 

consensus in terms of accounting and financial reporting recognition of human 

capital investment, conceptualization of firms investment in human capital by 

researchers and the research frameworks and most crucially, in simply defining the 

above concepts. Accordingly, the research gap exists at different levels; empirical, 

methodological and theoretical, is addressed by evaluating the current practice of 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital 

by highlighting the possible remedial actions. The contribution of the study at each 

level has separately been highlighted below.  

 

Empirical evidence on accounting and financial reporting recognition of human 

capital investment is found addressing both developed countries (Becker, 1962; 

Bassi and McMurrer, 2005; Ax and Marton, 2008) and developing countries 

(Abhayawansa and Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 

2004; Hossain et al., 2004). The contributions of developed countries have mostly 
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been focussed on valuation of human capital, theoretical development, policy 

enhancement or formation and development of regulatory framework (Becker, 1962; 

Bassi and McMurrer, 2005, DTI, 2003 a & b). On the other hand, contribution of 

developing countries has represented empirical analysis of the proposed theories and 

practices (Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; Hossain et al., 2004). 

However, in this study, considering the UK initiatives and efforts to formalise the 

practice human capital accounting and to develop policies to address the current 

inadequacies and anomalies in accounting for human capital, despite the influence of 

UK accountancy profession in effectively emasculating those efforts (DTI, 2003a 

and 2003b; Roslender and Stevenson, 2009) and the insufficient empirical analysis 

from UK context, an empirical analysis is conducted using the firms in the FTSE100 

listing of the London Stock Exchange considering data availability for the analysis.   

 

Most of the previous studies have taken an ad- hoc approach in terms of the 

methodology adopted, where they have either proposed a valuation mechanism, 

alternative accounting treatments or evaluated human capital disclosure in annual 

reports, in which case a combined approach referring to the accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment by firms covering a holistic 

picture would be an original contribution in the field. The use of human resource 

expenditure, payroll cost and human capital information disclosed in the annual 

reports as proxies in conceptualising human capital investment (Pulic, 2000; Lajili 

and Zeghal, 2005b & 2006; Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 2002; Abhayawansa and 

Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera, 2008; Hossain et al., 2004) has not been entirely 

new. However, the empirical analysis of measures reflecting the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment including human 
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resource expenditure, human capital per value added coefficient and human capital 

disclosure from the human capital theory perspective, will be a unique contribution 

as the empirical analyses result in providing evidence to understand the inadequacy 

in terms of the current accounting treatment and financial reporting practice in 

adequately reflecting the firms investment in human capital. Hence, the results could 

be utilised in determining the considerations in enhancing the practice of accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment.  

 

In analysing the financial reporting recognition of human capital investment by firms 

through voluntary disclosures, empirical evidence to date has focussed mainly on the 

amount of information disclosed in terms of the number of words, number of 

sentences, page size, number of pages etc. via content analysis, opposed to the 

quality and the meaningfulness of the human capital information disclosed or how 

employee contribution assists in firm value creation. However, the current study 

proposes a methodology to capture the meaningfulness of financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment in a way, that reflects firm value creation 

through human capital investment using a framework developed based on the 

balanced scorecard (BSC) (Kaplan and Norton, 1992 & 2001). Accordingly, in 

developing the human capital disclosure index, financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment related information in the annual reports is gathered 

considering the information availability based on the balanced scorecard framework 

covering two dimensions; categories of human capital value creation factors (i.e. 

learning and growth related, internal business process related, customer related and 

financial perspective related) and the level at which the information is disclosed 

under each perspective (i.e. objectives, measurements, targets, initiatives and 
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achievements). This is adopted to reflect how human capital investment contributes 

to firm value creation. The proposed framework is an original contribution 

developed based on the BSC, which is applicable not only in human capital but also 

for voluntary information disclosures in general.  

 

At theoretical contribution level, the implication of the empirical results highlight the 

fact that the current theories on accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

firms investment in human capital are proven to be inadequate demanding an 

advance framework to capture the firm value creation via employees. Thus, the 

considerations on an alternative framework for accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of firms’ human capital investment could be highlighted subject to the 

findings of the study. In addition to the theoretical arguments in proposing standard 

frameworks for accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms human 

capital investment, this study supports the considerations on theory development via 

empirically analysing the current practice.  

 

 

1.6 OUTLINE OF THE THESIS 

 

The thesis is structured and presented in seven chapters including the current 

chapter. The current chapter, introduced readers to the concept human capital and the 

research gap in accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment, briefly highlighting the motivation behind the study, research questions 

to be answered and objectives to be achieved. 
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Chapter two, literature review takes the reader through the concept of human capital 

investment paying particular attention to states of current accounting and financial 

reporting recognition starting from the broad concepts accounting and financial 

reporting in general. Subsequently, the chapter narrows down to focus on the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment, 

measurement and valuation of human capital investment and the contribution of 

previous empirical studies leading towards the research problem identification.  

 

In line with the research problem identified, chapter three, theorising and 

conceptualising review the theoretical frameworks applicable in studying accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of firm practices and the human capital theory 

argument highlighting the significance of employees from human capital theory 

perspective. Critical evaluation of proposed theories explaining accounting and 

financial reporting recognition in light of human capital theory is undertaken in this 

chapter, facilitating the integration of these two together to develop the theoretical 

framework to achieve the research objectives articulated in the previous chapter.   

 

The methodology chapter explains how the research process is executed based on the 

theoretical frameworks proposed in theorising and conceptualising chapter. This 

chapter hence, evaluates the concepts related to research philosophy, research 

paradigm, research approach, design and strategy, research sampling and data 

collection highlighting how each was decided on in the current study according to 

the proposed conceptual framework. In addition, the chapter further illustrates the 

research model leading to the hypotheses development.  
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Chapter five, as the first part of the data analysis and results focuses more on 

descriptive analyses. Starting with an explanation of the sample characteristics. The 

chapter has been expanded to explore and describe the current states of accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of firms human capital investment using both 

human resources expenditure and the qualitatively disclosed human capital 

information in the annual reports of the firms in FTSE 100 listing of the London 

stock exchange.  

 

Chapter six illustrates the second part of the data analysis and results, which is aimed 

primarily at the inferential analyses conducted via hypotheses testing. Therefore, the 

chapter starts with the data diagnostic tests and addressing the data quality issue 

followed by the statistical analyses for hypotheses testing. The results are interpreted 

and discussed in light of the theories and the previous empirical findings.  

 

The last chapter of the thesis presents concluding remarks to the thesis based on the 

analysis and the results. Further, the conclusion has also been enriched through the 

implications of the political involvement to the subject matted human capital 

accounting. Moreover, the implications of the results from different stakeholder 

point of view, limitations to the study and further research avenues as well have been 

taken in to account in providing the concluding remark.   
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CHAPTER TWO 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

2.1 INTRODUCTION  

 

The main objective of this literature review chapter is to provide a broader 

understanding about firms’ investment in employees via accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment measured in terms of human 

resource expenditure, human capital per value added and voluntary disclosures on 

human capital. To facilitate the discussion on investment in employees, it is 

imperative to understand the practices financial accounting and corporate reporting 

by paying particular attention to how the human resource expenditure and other 

relevant information are currently conceptualised to reflect the value addition via 

investment in human capital. Hence, in this literature review chapter, the process of 

financial accounting and corporate reporting has been elaborated while highlighting 

the ways and means of linking employees to the accounting and corporate reporting 

process. Firms’ investment in human capital being the subject matter of the thesis, 

the current practice and the previous literature addressing how to deal with 

investment in human capital and accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

this investment through human capital expenditure, human capital per value added 

and disclosure is critically evaluated. 
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2.2 ACCOUNTING AND HUMAN RESOURCES EXPENDITURE  

 

In the evolutionary process of accounting, which started with the introduction of the 

double entry book keeping system by Luca Pacioli in 1494, there were many 

significant milestones such as the use of subsidiary books, use of separate inventory 

accounts, emerging different branches of accounting, identification of fixed assets, 

accounting for pre payments and accruals etc.. Among them, the method of treating 

fixed assets evolved by the eighteenth century; and introduction of methods to 

depreciate assets were some significant contributions to the accounting field 

particularly since these methods allowed the accountants to value firms more fairly 

(Riahi-Belkaoui, 2000). Further, through this, the capital nature and the revenue 

nature of the transactions were introduced in arriving at the periodical profits. In this 

evolutionary process, depending on the contribution and the influence on the field, 

four clear phases have been identified as; (1) management contribution phase 1900-

33 (influence of management on the formulation of accounting principles due to 

increasing number of stakeholders and diffusion of stock ownership), (2) institution 

contribution phase 1933-59 (influence of institutions such as security exchange 

commission in development of accounting principles), (3) professional contribution 

phase 1959-73 (formation and influence of professional accounting bodies in 

preparation and presentation of the financial information to the stakeholders and in 

particular formulation of accounting theories ) and (4) politicisation phase 1973-

present (the belief that accounting policies should be established in the political 

arena and they must be accepted by the affected parties) (Riahi-Belkaoui, 2000).  
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Since accounting and corporate reporting is essentially a part of organisational 

information systems, the ways and means of production and dissemination of 

information via accounting and financial reporting as well differs along this process 

of evolution. Emergence of more and more parties and their conflicting interest on 

accounting information has demanded changes in accounting and financial reporting 

practices of the firms (Riahi-Belkaoui, 2000); thus, many regulatory systems were 

formed and amended, over a period of time aiming to address the demand of a 

variety of stakeholder categories. However, their formal involvement via institutions, 

professional accounting bodies and the political systems of the countries have had a 

significant influence over the accounting practices, development of regulatory 

frameworks and the amendment of existing regulatory frameworks resulting even 

certain conspiracy (i.e. emasculation of the accounting for people initiative by the 

government through the influence of the UK accounting profession) over achieving 

the purpose from different stakeholders perspectives (DTI, 2003a and b; Roslender, 

1997; Roslender and Stevenson, 2009).  

 

Researchers have recognised accounting as an art, science or a language 

communicating business transactions (Riahi-Belkaoui, 2000). It’s defined by 

American Institute of Chartered Public Accountants (AICPA) as, “the art of 

recording, classifying and summarising in a significant manner and in terms of 

money transactions and events, which are in part at least of a financial character and 

interpreting the result their of” (AICPA as cited by Riahi-Belkaoui, 2000, p. 60).  

The main purpose or the end product expected of the accounting process is to 

provide stakeholders of firms with required information relevant to the financial 

performance via financial statements and production of annual reports, which are 
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subject to audit by an independent party to ascertain the true and fare presentation of 

quoted public firms. Even though the accounting process is functionally designed 

and results are systematically presented, the entire process relies on a number of 

assumptions, which are not necessarily true in all circumstances. As an example, 

depreciation policies on fixed assets rely on the service life of the asset, actual usage 

in a year, etc., in deciding what has actually been spent during a period and what is 

remaining for future use. However, the reality may reflect the asset being completely 

obsolete before the economic life or may perhaps last much longer than expected 

providing economic benefits. Similarly, despite capitalising on tangible assets, 

money spent on employees, expecting to generate benefits for firms over a period of 

time, is completely written off in the year it is incurred.  

 

The financial statements are a major component and essentially the end product of 

accounting and financial reporting process of the firms. They include income 

statement, statement of changes of equity and cash flow statement for the year ended 

referring to the accounting year of the firm and the balance sheet as at the end of the 

accounting year. In this context, considering the financial implication of human 

resource management of firms, under the current accounting practice and the 

regulatory frameworks of accounting: US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

(GAAP) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the total amount 

spent on the employees is identified as a lump sum via the accounting information 

system. This consists of, wages and salaries, training and development expenditure, 

expenditure relating to other human resource functions of firms etc.. The total 

amount spent on the people of the firms identified above are classified as an 

expenditure in the year they are incurred, which ultimately is written off in arriving 
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at the profit/loss for the period, categorising under production cost, administration or 

other types of expenditure depending on the service offered by the employees. The 

only difference in classification of expenditure under the two systems above is that 

under US GAAP the expenditure need not be categorised according to the function 

or the nature, even though based on the security exchange commission requirements 

they are categorised based on functions such as cost of goods sold, administration, 

etc.. Under the IFRS however, entities may present expenses based on the function 

or the nature in which case if firms opt to present based on functions, certain 

amounts of disclosure about the function need to be included in the notes to the 

accounts (Ernst and Young, 2012). This indicates that, despite increases in human 

resources expenditure though actually is an investment from strategic management 

point of view, it has a decreasing effect on the profit according to the current 

accounting treatment while disclosing human resource expenditure have not even 

been a mandatory requirement under the financial reporting process. This 

inadequacy in the professional practice of accounting for human capital has been a 

major concern over several decades among the research community (Becker, 1962 & 

1993; American Accounting Association, 1973; Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 2002; 

Bassi and McMurrer, 2005). This problem has been the subject of arguments over a 

long period of time among many leading philosophers (Dooley, 2005) including Sir 

William Petty, David Hume, Adam Smith, David Ricardo and Karl Marx who 

believed that the labour component of the firm has unique characteristics of value 

creation, which has been accumulated over a time as the capital of the firm.  

 

The current accounting practices having only partially captured this value under 

different procedures. For example, the value creation potential over and above the 
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physical assets of the firms accumulated over a period of time is accounted for as 

goodwill in merger and acquisition activities. Additionally, among the other 

alternative frameworks attempting to measure the intangibles of firm, Statement of 

Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No 142, provides a basis for accounting and 

reporting of acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. However, if an intangible 

asset is acquired from an external source, it is recognised at its fair value. Whereas, 

in case of intangible assets developed internally, it is recognised as an asset only 

when it is incurred. In this case patents, licences and trademarks are recognised as 

assets though human capital or internally developed structural capital such as 

software and brands, which are developed by the employees of the organisation will 

not be treated as an asset for the firms (Holmen, 2005). However, from an 

accounting point of view, goodwill recognised is still treated as a trash item, which 

should be deducted as quickly as possible. Simultaneously, from the knowledge 

value point of view, it could be considered to reflect the intellectual value grows 

over time thus may serve as a supplement to financial information (Edvinsson, 

1997). Therefore, in addition to the firms’ investment in employees, the accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of said investment also has a vital role to play in 

firm value creation (Abeysekara, 2008; Edvinsson and Malone, 1997; Amir and Lev, 

1996). 

 

Composition wise, human resource expenditure incurred consists of different types 

of costs including payroll, functional costs, such as recruitment and selection, 

induction of the employees to the firms, training and development cost, retirement 

benefit and other employee benefits, replacement and relocation cost etc.. This has 

created a debate among accounting practitioners, academics and researchers since 
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some of these expenditure generate return over a period of time and not just in the 

year it’s incurred (Lickert, 1971; Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 

2002). As a result, even though the entire amount is written off as expenditure as it’s 

incurred, whether and when this expenditure generates gains for the firm tend to 

change the states of a portion of human resource expenditure to an asset. This 

potential of employees to generate future benefit for firms, has been identified by 

many researchers decades ago in an attempt to generate the discipline of human 

resource accounting (Elias, 1972; Morse, 1973; Becker, 1993; Grojer, 1997). In 

these studies, many researchers attempt to develop techniques to measure the human 

capital in different means (Lev and Schwartz, 1971; Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 2002), 

while others (Elias, 1972; Schwan, 1976) have proposed various amendments for the 

accounting practice in order to capture the value of human resource investments 

either as human asset, human capital or even a liability to the firms (Flamholtz, 

2005) under accounting and financial reporting process. However, very little or no 

penetration of the proposed methods to the real world indicates that there should be 

studies focusing the firm practice of investment in human capital, which would lead 

to theoretical level in a more utilitarian way enhancing the current practice.  

 

The existing inverse relationship between investment in employees and the 

profitability based on the current accounting treatment tend firms to focus more on 

cost control instead employee value creation. This may even lead to unequal 

distribution of value added and wealth between stakeholders, creating cyclical 

adverse impacts on the entire economy, as was evidenced in the recent economic 

crisis. On the other hand, some of the early studies by Lickert (1971) on human 

capital management argue that, paying more attention on efficiency, cost control and 
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the earnings of firms, may result in changing even the human resource management 

systems from most productive to the least productive management systems creating 

greater issues for the future. One major limitation relating to human capital 

management studies is that strategic human capital management studies are hardly 

linked with human capital accounting studies, despite the imperative need to 

establish a proper link (Ax and Marton, 2008; Lepak and Snell, 1999) between them. 

The conceptualisation process of this study however, attempts to address the 

investment in human capital from both managerial and accounting point of view by 

conceptualising it as accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment via expenditure, value added per human capital and voluntary disclosure 

on human capital.  

 

 

2.3 THE CONCEPT HUMAN CAPITAL  

 

The concept human capital has a long history in the fields economics (Becker, 1962; 

Bryer, 1994; Dooley, 2005; Foley 2000) and accounting (Brummet et al., 1968; Lev 

and Schwartz, 1971; Flamholtz, 1971; Elias, 1972; Schwan, 1976), where scholars 

have been highlighting the vital importance of the people component for 

organisations due to the unique potentiality to enhance productivity of the 

organisation and the firm value creation (Becker, 1962; Lickert, 1971). Human 

capital is understood as the source of knowledge (Edvinson, 1996), source of 

strategic innovation (Bontis, 1999) and as cited by Stewart (1997), human capital is 

the “place where all the ladders start; the wellspring of innovation and the homepage 

of insight” (p 86). However, the knowledge competent and technical skills explained 
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as the basic tacit element of human capital is owned by the employees (Youndt and 

Snell, 2004), thus it is even treated as movable and does not belong to specific 

organisation (Ross et al., 1997). Therefore, human capital can simply be explained as 

the potential of the employees to generate more wealth for organisations in future. 

Though it’s not owned by the organisation, standard human capital management 

practices determine how well the tacit knowledge of the employees are transferred to 

the explicit and how well the intellectual capital of the firms are levered so that 

human capital is transferred to more explicit structural capital (Edvinsson, 1996). 

Even though many researchers have defined it in different ways, a universally 

accepted and a widely applied definition indicating the firms’ investment in human 

capital is yet to be developed. This has left researchers and academics with a huge 

challenge in defining, measuring or valuing the investment in human capital of firms 

as it was never a black and white and contrary to the adage “a rose is a rose is a rose” 

and hence was quoted by (Flamholtz, 2005, p. 79) as “human capital is not human 

capital is not human capital”. This indicates that starting from a proper definition for 

human capital, the concept of investment in human capital needs to be studied 

paying attention to the motives behind the practice and how to achieve strategic 

competitive advantage via this investment.   

 

According to the leading economic researchers such as Sir William Petty, David 

Hume, Adam Smith, David Ricardo and Karl Marx, labour creates value and capital 

to a great extent consists of accumulation of past labour (Dooley, 2005). Labour 

theory of value has been one of the early concepts justifying human capital 

accounting as well as financial reporting in general (Zula and Chermack, 2007; 

Bryer, 1994). Due to the correlation Marxists emphasise between quality of labour 
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and productivity, they concluded that the more firms invest in people, the greater the 

resulting productivity. Thus, the amount spent on people has a capitalised portion, 

which will generate increasing return in future. This portion has not yet been 

understood as the human capital but only as accumulated capital that belongs to the 

shareholders of the firms.  This has been the foundation for the Marxist exploitation 

arguments, though they couldn’t find a complete relevance to each other (Cohen, 

1979). Relying on this, most of the founding members of accounting and economics 

researches have argued that in accounting processes, employee spending should not 

be treated as expenses in the year incurred as returns are generated over time 

(Brummet et al., 1968; Flamholtz, 1972a & b). Analysing it further, Flamholtz 

(1972a & b) highlighted that human resources value is derived from the ability of 

employees to render service, which has economic value. However, in a society 

dominated mostly by capitalistic thoughts and practices, firms’ willingness to 

consider economic value of employees as a key asset and formalising the practice is 

questionable. This has even been proven via the resistance of the professional 

accounting bodies in initiating the formal practice, accounting for people in UK 

(Roslender and Stevenson, 2009; Stittle, 2004).  

 

The concept human capital is initially evolved with the proposed enhancements of 

economic valuation and accounting for employees. However, the less interest from 

practitioners’ point of view and the great resistant of professional accounting bodies 

(Roslender and Stevenson, 2009; Stittle, 2004) in formalising the accounting 

process, have diverted researchers to look at the problem from a social scientific 

perspective rather from economic accounting perspective (Stittle, 2004). Thus, most 

of the studies afterward have paid attention to accounting and financial reporting 
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recognition of human capital investment via qualitative information disclosure 

(Abeysekara and Guthrie, 2004; Abeysekara, 2008). On this background, a 

combined approach to study firms’ investment in human capital covering both 

quantitative parameters using human capital expenditure, and qualitative human 

capital disclosure would be a timely addition particularly from application point of 

view.  

 

 

2.3.1 Measuring human capital  

 

Relying on the assumption ‘if something can be measured, it can be managed’, 

researchers have made several attempts at measuring the human capital of firms at 

different levels using a variety of approaches such as direct measure of human 

capital (Brummet et al., 1968; Lev and Schwartz, 1971; Flamholtz, 1971; Flamholtz, 

1972a; Flamholtz, 1972b; Flamholtz, 1972c; Morse, 1973), measuring human capital 

as a portion of human resource expenditure (Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 

1999 & 2002) or measuring it as an efficiency indicator (Pulic, 1998; Chan, 2009a; 

Chan, 2009b). However, the difficulty in linking human capital with financial 

accounting and reporting through hard accounting numbers has lead researchers to 

further explore the potential of accounting for employee wealth as a provision of 

softer accounting information (Roslender and Dyson, 1992; Roslender, 1997; 

Roslender and Fincham, 2001 & 2004). This has resulted in a paradigm shift from 

narrow economic-accounting perspective to a broader social scientific perspective in 

which case the previous attempts of valuing people and putting the values in the 

balance sheet has been diverted to generating softer accounting information via 



 25 

qualitative means particularly through financial reporting recognition (Stittle, 2004). 

Despite the above paradigm shift, the requirement of a new accounting system to 

track people as an asset is still highlighted by many researchers (Bassi and 

McMurrer, 2005; Roslender and Stevenson, 2009).  

 

According to Grove et al. (1977), many attempts of human capital valuation are 

based on identifying the properties, attributes or the qualities of a concept and 

establishing empirical rules of correspondence between empirical object and the 

numerals. However, since these measures explain the empirical object though not 

accurately measure the exact phenomenon they are called surrogate measures. As far 

as these surrogate valuation aspects are concerned, the human capital measurement 

systems have basically been categorised in to two based on input or output related 

measurement systems based on the human value attribute for the firms. The input 

based measurement systems include acquisition cost (Brummet et al., 1968), 

replacement cost (Flamholtz, 1973), discounted wage flows (Lev and Schwartz, 

1971) etc., while the output based measurement systems include opportunity cost, 

market value, discounted earnings level, economic value, and group value model 

(Grove et al., 1977). Each of these methods are further elaborated in the section 

below explaining how the measurement methods are developed and the principle 

behind valuation, to what extent they have been applied in the real world accounting 

and financial reporting practice and limitations associated with this practice 

particularly highlighting why each of them has/ has not penetrated and survived in 

current accounting and financial reporting practice. 

 



 26 

Brummet et al. (1968), have suggested a valuation mechanism based on acquisition 

cost proposing to treat the outlays for human resources to be treated as “capital 

rather than consumption” or “asset rather than expenses” due to the future services 

potential of human resources. In measuring human resources, total human resources 

cost was initially categorised to human resource expenses and human resource asset 

(figure 2.01). Human asset component then is further classified in to functional asset 

accounts such as recruiting, hiring, training, familiarisation, experience and 

development, the total of which have then been allocated to personalised asset 

accounts representing individual managers. Amortisation of personalised asset 

accounts and the write-offs based on losses relating to, personalised asset accounts 

are added to the human resources expenses as total for annual human resource 

expense, amortisation and write-offs providing even an alternative accounting 

framework for human capital investment and expenditure by firms.   

 

This process is clearly illustrated in Figure 2.01: a generalised model for human 

resource accounting system for managers. However, since the method has initially 

been proposed for management by going down as detailed as possible even up to the 

individual manager level, it is questionable whether this method is applied only to 

the management level and all the human resource cost incurred on the levels below 

is to be written off completely or else to what extent this breaking down is possible 

up to an individual employee level of firms; if firms opt to capitalise the spending on 

all the levels of employees. As a result, the proposed valuation technique has its own 

limitations in applying for a modern day organisation as a surrogate measure 

reflecting firms investment in human capital. This is particularly true since the 
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marginal cost of the practice human capital accounting also need to be compared 

with the marginal benefit expected through the practice.  

 

Moreover, the application, being based on the historical cost as used by even R G 

Barry Corporation shares all the disadvantages of using historical cost in valuing 

assets. As example, the use of acquisition cost, predominantly a historical cost 

component may not reflect the current value of the human capital of firms (Grove et 

al., 1977). In such a situation, the historical cost wouldn’t rather reflect the firms true 

investment in human capital. Identifying this limitation, alternative surrogate 

measures such as, replacement cost (the cost to replace firm’s existing human 

resources) and the economic value (the present value of the portion of firms future 

earnings attributable to human resources) as well have been proposed (Brummet et 

al., 1968).  
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Figure 2.01: Generalised model for human resource accounting system for investment in managers. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Brummet, R. L., Flamholtz, E. G. And Pyle, W. C., (1968), Human Resource Measurement- A Challenge for Accountants, the Accounting Review, Vol 43 No 2, p. 222. 
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Flamholtz (1971), relying on output basis focussed upon the measurement of an 

individual’s value to a particular firm and represented a normative model for the 

economic valuation of individuals. Contrary to the model proposed by Brummet et 

al. (1968), Flamholtz (1971, P. 255) claimed that “in principle, human resource 

valuation is appropriate for any individual in any specified organisation; factory 

workers and production foremen, salesmen and sales managers, computer 

programmers and information system designers, corporate presidents and even 

accountants”.   Therefore, in this study valuation has been based on individuals since 

individual is the primary focus in many of the organisational decisions such as 

selection training allocation (placement), job design, promotion compensation etc.. 

In this valuation of individuals, the present monitory equivalent of the expected 

service (economic value) of a person is obtained using a stochastic model 

considering the service level, the service group and for how long each individual is 

going to offer service. Determinant of the probability involved in the model, 

estimation of the period involved and obtaining the value of the service offered by 

the individuals and acquiring data will be some of the issues involved in this model 

considering the valuation. In many instances, inherent issues linked with the above 

aspects of the model tend to overwrite the theoretical validity of the models. The 

same limitations even have resulted in vary rare or no application of this model in 

empirical studies on investment in human capital of firms. Alternatively, the model 

may be viewed as a standard against which the operational models are assessed. 

Understanding the difficulty in valuation of an economic method Flamholtz (1971) 

as well have proposed some alternative surrogate measures: acquisition cost, 

replacement cost, current cost, compensation and performance measures, some of 
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which were used subsequently by some researchers including Lev and Schwartz 

(1971) instead the economic valuation.   

 

Lev and Schwartz (1971) proposed another input based model for the individual 

valuation and this model assumed that the aggregate value of human capital was the 

sum of the values of the individuals. They have treated human capital as “a source of 

income embedded in a person (in the form of his brute force and his natural and 

acquired skills” (p. 104). In this research they have used the accounting concept of 

“service potential” as the principle to calculate human capital value of the 

individuals. Therefore, the discounted future earnings of the employees according to 

the earnings profile of each of them have been treated as the human capital of the 

firm. Due to the fact that this method addresses some of the issues related to the 

historical cost and the acquisition cost methods by considering the expected future 

wage flows, it tend to do justice in recognising the value creation potential of 

investment in human capital. As a result, this method should have been applicable 

for empirical investigations from behavioural aspects of human capital investment. 

However, the use of current data on earning distribution classified by the age, 

education, skills, etc., and the problems such as the use of prevailing interest rate, 

inability to determine the expected service life, retirement age, and accidental loss of 

employees due to death and other reasons might lead to some difficulties in 

estimation of the human capital of the organisation. This method has been proven 

practical compared to many of the previous economic valuation of the human 

capital. Even after several decades of introduction, several firms in Sri Lanka has 

applied this method to calculate the value of human resources of the firm even 

though these firms have just disclosed the value of human resources rather than 
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accounting for or incorporating these values to the double entry system (Vithana, 

2009; Vithana and Gunaratne, 2009). However, the practice being less widespread 

and unavailability of data to researchers; have limited researchers in utilising the 

method frequently.   

 

In response to the article by Lev and Schwartz (1971), their work has been criticised 

for the lack of relevance and utility to decision makers by Flamholtz (1972c). 

Flamholtz (1972c) further argued on the point saying that “a person’s skills and 

knowledge are not valuable to an organisation per se; rather they are valuable if and 

only if they are expected to serve as a means to given organisational ends” 

(Flamholtz, 1972c p.148). This implies that considering the way human capital 

investment is perceived by different stakeholders, employee contribution for the firm 

value creation reflect the investment in human capital not just via the economic 

value but recognition as well. Flamholtz (1972c) further emphasises that there are 

several significant applications and implications for management and investors that 

has not been considered by Lev and Schwartz (1971).  

 

Replying to this argument, Lev and Schwartz (1972) pointed out the non-existence 

of a well-defined and empirically valid set of decision models used by the investors. 

They further reasoned that due to the absence of such a formal model it has been 

impossible to define precisely the role of human capital information in financial 

decision-making. The inadequacy in a valid set of a decision model as well as a 

standard mechanism to account for and disclose human capital information have still 

been grey areas in accounting literature.  
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Applying another input based method of valuing human capital, replacement cost 

was proposed as appropriate and tested for an insurance firm by the well-known 

human capital scholar Flamholtz (1973). According to Bonbright (1937, as quoted 

by Flamholtz, 1973), replacement cost is defined as “ the cost that would be incurred 

by an actual or potential owner on acquiring an acceptable substitute property”.  

Based on that, Flamholtz (1973 p.10) has defined the replacement cost for the 

valuation purpose as “the sacrifice that would have to be incurred today to acquire a 

substitute capable of rendering a set of services equivalent to that provided by a 

resource presently owned or employed” and the same has been proposed as a 

surrogate measure for individuals as well considering the people firms have 

employed. In this method, they tried to value the human capital using the direct and 

the indirect costs belonging to the three main types of replacement costs including 

acquisition cost, learning cost and separation costs. This calculation included 

opportunity cost as well under indirect costs (Flamholtz, 1973). Though the 

technique is adopted more as human resource accounting technique there were many 

managerial applications and implications of the valuation techniques developed than 

just for financial accounting and reporting. The extent to which this information 

could be useful and appropriate for external stakeholders’ decision-making becomes 

debatable.  This is quite inevitable due to the lack of penetration of this method to 

the real world as well.   

 

Paying attention towards the same aspect of valuing human asset vs. human capital 

of the firm (Flamholtz, 1971 and Lev and Schwartz, 1971), Morse (1973) as well 

utilised the time value of money concept in deriving the human capital as well as 

human assets of the firm, not in an alternative but in a complementary fashion. 
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According to this study, human resource value of the organisation is equal to the sum 

of the organisations’ human asset from organisations’ point of view and its 

employees’ human capital considering employees’ point of view even though many 

of the previous studies are primarily interested in determining only the value of 

human asset from organisations point of view. However, if firms wish to disclose 

human resource value, the choice is up to the firm to decide how to disclose. If firms 

wish to disclose human resource value in financial statement according to 

proprietary theory, the net value of human assets is disclosed since proprietary 

theory is primarily concerned with the net interest of the owners. On the other hand, 

if firms disclose human resource value according to the enterprise theory, it would be 

necessary to disclose separately both total value of human resources employed in the 

organisations and the interest in these resources since financial statements prepared 

according to the enterprise theory of the firm reflect the interest of all the 

stakeholders. Accordingly, increase in investment in wages, training and 

development of the employees of the organisation act as determinant of investment 

in human capital of the firm. Moreover, the findings provide implications on the 

human capital accounting practice as well since it consider human asset as well as 

the employees’ human capital, which ultimately reflect upon how it’s a liability to 

the firm.  

 

Dollarized attitude has been understood as another input based measurement system 

for investment in human capital (Myers and Flowers, 1974) based on the assumption 

that salaries are money invested on employees by organisations to use their 

productive skills. Employee attitude score is recognised as a meaningful indicator 

reflecting the extent to which applied skills represent an adequate return on 
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investment in employee salaries. Accordingly, salary and the attitude are identified 

as central variable for job performance too and these two quantitative and the 

qualitative attribute measured using a scale is combined together to calculate the 

investment in human capital as dollarized attitude gain in favourable attitude 

situation and deficit in unfavourable attitude situation (Myers and Flowers, 1974). 

The method is developed based on individual employees and both salaries and the 

attitude survey result are needed for calculation purpose. As a result, even though the 

method has been understood viable and applicable decades ago, it should have been 

difficult to adopt the same model for much sophisticated current organisational 

settings. However, the use of financial and the attitude parameters together are 

appreciated and this provide an insight even to the current researchers in terms of 

financial recognition of the investment in human capital via human resources 

expenditure and the qualitative information on employees.  

 

Through careful review of human resource valuation models, Grove et al. (1977) 

proposed a five-step measurement model considering both factual and purposive 

measurement characteristics. The steps of this model include; “(1) identifying the 

decision context and related measurement needs; (2) investigate the attributes of 

interest and corresponding theoretical relationships; (3) investigate existing 

measurement techniques for possible applications; (4) investigate emerging 

measurement techniques for possible applications and (5) analyse the relevance of 

each applied techniques in the specific decision context” Grove et al. (1977, p. 231, 

232).  
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The same model can even be applied in studying the behavioural aspect of human 

capital information and accounting related decisions as well since it allows the 

potential measurements to be rather utilitarian as the model aims at the specific 

needs, theoretical relationships, possible application of existing and emerging 

measurements, application and relevance under specific decision context facilitating 

researchers and the practitioners to propose rather practical approaches. However, 

most of the previous measurement techniques proposed above serves rather a 

managerial purpose than being a part of the accounting and financial reporting. 

Moreover, the lack of penetration of these models to real world in terms of 

accounting and financial reporting practice, may even imply that the methods 

proposed are less appropriate from accounting and financial reporting point of view. 

However, researchers have attempted to propose some alternative accounting and 

financial reporting frameworks for human capital and they have been elaborated in 

detail in the section below.  

 

 

2.3.2 Accounting for Investment in Human Capital  

 

Commenting on and criticising the deception involved in all time favourite quote 

“our employees are our most important - our most valuable asset” many economic 

and accounting researchers started studying about investment in employees and 

financial aspects relating to employees. Brummet et al. (1968) was the first to 

introduce the term human capital accounting. Though the term human capital 

accounting was introduced to the field, many of the early studies were limited to the 

measurement of firms’ investment in human capital rather than accounting for the 
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actual value of human capital of the firms using any technique.  On the other hand, 

considering the inadequacy of the measurement and application criterion Brummet, 

et al. (1968) developed the foundation behind developing a measurement criteria for 

human capital, and how human resource expenditure are categorized in to functional 

asset and personalized asset accounts separately from the expenditure accounts and 

ultimately, how the human capital accounting practice is to be shaped covering 

human resource expenditure, human resource asset and the periodical amortisation of 

human asset value depending on the actual use of the asset. Even though the 

measurement criterion are proposed for all this, they did not suggested any explicit 

accounting treatment or techniques facilitating the accounting and financial reporting 

practice which ought to be the ultimate objective of human capital accounting 

(Brummet et al., 1968).  

 

The concept human capital accounting has initially been defined as “the process of 

identifying measuring and communicating information about human resources to 

decision makers” (Flamholtz, 1972a, p. 44). Identifying the inadequacy of the 

systems available to account for employees, many researchers have taken attempts to 

propose alternative accounting treatments for the human resource expenditure and 

the proposed human capital measurements (Elias, 1972; Schwan, 1976). Considering 

the practical applications as its stated by Elias (1972), R. G. Barry Corporation has 

been the first firm to account for human resources expenditure in the financial 

statements and the annual reports in 1969 and 1970 (Brummet et al., 1968; Grove et 

al., 1977). However, this practice did not manage to penetrate to the other firms and 

even to survive in the same despite the attempts of many scholars (Brumet et al., 

1968, Flamholtz, 1972; Roslender, 2009; Roslender and Stevenson, 2009) to make it 
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compulsory under accounting and financial reporting system. Deviating towards the 

experimental approach Elias (1972) and Schwan (1976) have studied about the 

possible accounting treatment for human capital particularly attempting to discover 

how the human capital accounting practice affects financial decision-making. 

 

Elias (1972) examined different stakeholders’ respond to the human asset treatment 

by capitalising and amortising human asset over a period of time. An experiment was 

conducted using two comparable but not identical hypothetical firms, out of which 

XYZ develop and build-up its’ human resources while the ABC is liquidating a part 

of its’ human resources. According to the “conventional treatment” of preparing 

financial statements ignoring human asset, ABC look better reflecting higher net 

income where as when additional data for human assets were incorporated according 

to “human asset treatment”, XYZ reflected higher net income. Finally, above two 

treatments were simultaneously applied as the “combined treatment”. Questionnaires 

containing one of the above three sets were sent to the sample respondents consisting 

with Chartered Financial Analysts (CFAs), other Financial Analysts (FAs), 

Chartered Public Accountants (CPAs) and three students groups representing 

students from intermediate accounting course, senior class in advanced accounting 

courses and senior finance courses, asking them to choose one firm to invest 10 % of 

their net annual income.  The results revealed that, the company choice by the 

respondents is associated with the experimental treatment for human asset in annual 

reports in comparing the two treatments, conventional vs. combined, in which case 

the association is higher with CPAs while lower for the intermediate accounting 

students followed by the CFAs.  
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The higher association for CPAs revealed that they are more aware of the limitations 

in the financial statements in providing sufficient information implying that, though 

they may be hesitant to provide human resource data they themselves would like to 

have more information on it. In comparing the group receiving the human asset 

treatment vs. the sum of the other two, the company choice by respondents was 

associated with the experimental treatment with rather a higher degree of association 

and in this case a higher degree of association was observed in CFAs while it was 

lower for advance accounting students. Though it has been hypothesised that some 

of the background variables such as education, familiarity with human asset 

accounting, experience etc., may also have a significant impact on the experimental 

treatments, the results revealed no such relationship. However, some variables such 

as education level and discipline might have had a significant influence over the 

response to this additional information in the annual reports. One more limitation to 

the results of the study might be that, the difference in responses possibly be 

recognising as more attributable to the net profit between the firms due to the 

capitalising and amortising human resource spending rather than the inclusion of the 

human capital information.  

 

Despite being an experiment with just two hypothetical firms, if the same 

methodology should have been applied for a bigger sample of real firms, the results 

might have been more valid, reliable and provided more implications for the 

stakeholders due to increased generalizability of the results. Many inherent 

limitations of this study such as; use of student for the sample, exclusion of annual 

report information other than abbreviated financial statements, the simple nature of 

decision, that is; selecting one company than different types of the decisions and no 
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reasoning behind the decision making under each decision; were addressed in a 

subsequent study by Schwan (1976).  

 

Schwan (1976) has examined the stakeholders’ response on human resource 

accounting data on financial decisions using two sets of real world financial reports, 

which are anonymous. The set A consisted with conventional financial reports; while 

in preparing the financial reports in set B, human resource cost has been amortised 

over a five year period. The design in this research was slightly different compared 

to the previous in number of ways. Student groups are completely eliminated and 

managers and analysts from 10 large banks representing investment, trust and credit 

departments were chosen to be the sample. The two sets of financial statements 

included more information about the firms covering the whole annual report and 

human resource data were scattered all over the reports making them less obvious. 

Participants were asked to make different decisions such as understanding the 

capabilities of management, and anticipating the future operating results of the firm 

than just asking to chose whether to invest or not. They were further given 

opportunity to explain about their decision to understand the reasoning behind. The 

findings revealed that “bankers who read financial statement which report human 

resource data make significantly different decisions about the firm than bankers who 

read conventional financial reports” (Schwan, 1976, p. 222). Thus, there is an effect 

of human resource accounting data on the financial decisions. Detailed analysis 

emphasised that this was particularly the case regarding management’s preparedness 

for challenges and opportunities in future and prediction of net income for the future 

year compared to the present management situations. The results proved that 

accounting recognition of human resources by firms have had a strategic competitive 
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advantage, which was recognised by the respondents of the sample. However, 

considering it being a real world model, expanding the research to consider the other 

industries and even to include the categories of different stakeholders, would 

improve the findings by way of increasing the quality of results in terms of the 

validity, reliability and generalizability.  

 

One common limitation for both of the above studies is that, the research is 

conducted to discover the practice human capital accounting from the point of view 

of limited external stakeholder groups. However, the stakeholder perspective on 

accounting and financial reporting demands this issue to be explored both from the 

internal and external stakeholder point of view. Nevertheless, the experimental 

approach might be appropriate to research human capital accounting practice in a 

rather controlled atmosphere, which is not the case in either Schwan (1976) or Elias 

(1972) studies. Due to the specific nature of the study, limited sample size and 

inadequacy of the repetition to ascertain the consistency of the result, the validity and 

generalizability of the experimental finding becomes questionable. 

 

The methodologies developed in valuing and accounting for intellectual capital have 

not been so appealing as they have hardly been penetrated to the practical world as 

well as rarely been approved by the accountancy bodies in many countries. However, 

it has been possible to attract the attention of the accountancy bodies as well as 

practitioners in Scandinavian countries (Roslender and Fincham, 2004; Olsson, 

1999) since 1990s as they have taken a particularly strong interest over human 

capital accounting and social accounting. This considerably positive involvement in 

human resource oriented accounting developments by both private and public sectors 
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have reflected the social settlement characterising the Swedish society after 1960s 

(Roslender and Stevenson, 2009; Olsson, 1999). In this context, one of the 

prominent contribution is that moving from not so appealing human capital 

accounting concept of 1960s and 1970s (Brummet et al., 1968; Lev and Schwartz, 

1971) towards the cost and management accounting perspective introduced by 

Grojer and Johanson, (1996 and 1998), which emphasized the human resource 

costing and accounting aspects as rather a utility analysis. This in fact has even been 

perceived as an extension to human resources accounting with the new aspect, utility 

analysis serving management accounting purpose.   

 

Under the utility analysis proposed by Grojer and Johanson (1996), in addition to 

incorporating human resource cost and accounting to the profit and lost statement 

and the balance sheet of the firms (Grojer, 1990 & 1994 as cited by Olsson, 1999), 

the model is designed in a way that it provides information which are central to the 

human resource accounting approach as well as for the decision usefulness under 

management accounting approach. Therefore, the principle focus of utility analysis 

was on investment in human resources in terms of cost classifications such as 

recruitment, placement, training and performance measurements rather than their 

value to the organization. Despite being voluntarily applied in private as well as 

public firms in Scandinavian context this valuable effort to human resource 

accounting from management accounting perspective as well has rarely been 

penetrated to the other parts of the world. However, the same model has been 

subjected to a quiet a lot of subsequent human capital studies as a seminal 

contribution (Roslender, 2009).  
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Throughout previous studies, it is evidenced that, over the period of time human 

resources organisation and functions of firms have evolved via different phases 

(Wintermantel and Mattimore, 1997) in a way that human resources becomes the 

primary source for genuine strategic competitive advantage. Under the most recent 

phase of evolutionary process, the intellectual capital grows, stays and becomes 

accessible to those who need it by becoming a capitalised component. At least some 

if not all the current firms have achieved this last phase. Considering this 

evolutionary change, Wintermantel and Mattimore (1997) attempted to emphasise 

that the measurement of human resources function of the organisation should be 

inline with the overall human resources mission of the organisation (Bart, 2001). 

However, the current accounting treatment developed long ago reflecting the human 

resource organisation and functions then, has never changed in order to reflect the 

above-mentioned evolution of human resource organisation and functions. As an 

example, traditional measures of human resource productivity and human resource 

accounting have been inappropriate and irrelevant in reflecting the current employee 

involvement via human resource organisation and functions since they are focussed 

only on tracking administrative activities and cost, while they should be reflecting 

the actual investment in human capital (Wintermantel and Mattimore, 1997).  

 

Considering the characteristics of human resources (value and the uniqueness), 

Lepak and Snell (1999) proposed the human resource architecture model as an 

alternative framework to be used by firms for strategic human resource management 

decisions. In this model, using the three theoretical frameworks human capital, 

transaction cost economics and resource based view the researchers have explained 

how human resource management decisions vary based on the uniqueness and the 
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value of people. The model facilitates firms to understand which form of human 

capital has the potential to be a competitive advantage for the firm, thus focuses 

more in human capital development. However, a major limitation of the study is that 

though the researchers used the term human capital of the firm and proposed the 

mechanism to develop human capital from strategic human resources management 

point of view, there still haven’t been proposed amendments from accounting and 

the financial reporting point of view to understand firms’ human resources 

expenditure from capitalization perspective. However, issues highlighted by 

Wintermantel and Mattimore (1997), have been addressed by Lepak and Snell 

(1999) via attempts to align human resource organisation and the functions with the 

investment in human capital using transaction cost theory, human capital theory and 

the resource based theory.  

 

Referring to the inadequacy of accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

firms’ investment in human capital, the same model has been applied as a foundation 

to focus on accounting for human resource expenditure of the firms by Chen and Lin 

(2004).  They attempt to identify which spending on human resources actually 

should be treated as human capital and recognised via accounting and financial 

reporting. Even though they focused on calculating the value of human capital of 

firms developed over a period of time or at a particular point of time, neither Lepak 

and Snell (1999) nor Chen and Lin (2004) attempted to propose an alternative 

accounting treatment or discover the impact of spending more on employees of 

firms. No acceptable evidence revealed that this method has ever been penetrated to 

the real world practice either. In the absence of firms attempt to split up human 

resource cost to reflect capital and the revenue portions, testing the model 
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empirically to discover the impact of investing on people remains impossible leading 

researchers to rely on information available in current accounting system.  

 

Even though accountants possess special skills applicable in development of human 

resource accounting systems, whether they are willing to use these skills to generate 

a solution or whether they prefer to stay in the comfort zone of familiar conventional 

accounting treatments is a question (Caplan and Landekich, 1974 as cited by Turner, 

1996). Moreover, recent research evidence claimed that there has been a 

considerable resistant from the regulators perspective as well against the practice 

accounting for investment in human capital of the firms (Roslender, 2009; Roslender 

and Stevenson, 2009; Roslender et al., 2004).  Despite the inadequacy of measuring 

as well as accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human 

capital (Roslender et al., 2004), this investment has a variety of direct and indirect 

impact on performance indicators, financial and/or otherwise. Therefore, the 

literature review is extended to cover the impact of investment in human capital and 

the financial recognition of this investment from multiple stakeholder perspective, 

highlighting the decision-making frameworks.  

 

 

2.3.3 Impact of investment in human capital   

 

Human capital or the productive capacity embedded in people is one of the most 

important determinant of economic growth from individual, society or the firm point 

of view (Bassi et al., 2004). As a result, considering firm level studies particularly on 

stakeholder decision-making, researchers all over the world have attempted to study 
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the impact of investment in human capital on firm productivity, financial and stock 

market performances (Bassi et al., 2004; Groot 1999; Black and Lynch, 1996).  

However, researchers have revealed that it’s difficult to create a measurement 

instrument between the investment in human capital and even social capital on 

organisational performances (Brooks and Nafukho, 2006) due to the conceptual gap 

between measurement criterion and the stakeholders’ decision-making process 

(Blundell et al., 1999). 

 

However, the question of utility of models used to measure the investment in human 

capital in real world decision-making, has been addressed by researchers in different 

means (Pulic 1998 & 2000; Flamholtz, 2005). One of the widely applied among 

those is the development of Value Added Intellectual Coefficient (VAIC) (Pulic, 

1998 & 2000). Pulic (1998) initially developed the Value Added Intellectual Capital 

Coefficient (VAIC) as the sum of human capital coefficient (VAHU) and structural 

capital coefficient (STVA), as an aggregate measure of corporate intellectual ability. 

In the value added intellectual capital coefficient model, the efficiency of firm in 

terms of physical asset, e. g. capital employed (VACA = value added divided by 

capital employed) and intellectual capital components; human capital (VAHC = 

value added divided by human capital in terms of the amount paid to the employees) 

and structural capital (STVA = structural capital or the difference between value 

added and human capital divided by capital employed) are calculated as efficient 

indicator of the firm value added (i. e. the difference between the input and output or 

in other words, firm value added belonging to the owners, employees, debt holders 

and the government). The total of above three coefficients have been taken as the 

value added intellectual coefficient, which has been used very widely in subsequent 
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intellectual capital investment related studies addressing different contexts 

particularly to understand impact of firms’ investment in intellectual capital on 

financial performances and capital market performances (Chan, 2009a; Chan, 2009b; 

Chen et al, 2005; Tan et al, 2008; Nazari and Herremans, 2007). Public availability 

of input data to the model has expanded the application for several empirical 

analyses (Chen et al, 2005; Tan et al, 2008; Nazari and Herremans, 2007). Since 

value added intellectual coefficient model measure the capital utilisation efficiency 

rather than the investment in each capital component directly, in calculating the 

investment in human capital, the formula can be amended in a way that it reflect the 

investment in human capital compared to the value added of the firm. This is 

identified as an alternative approach in utilising the same concept to study firms’ 

investment in human capital than a major criticism to the approach.  

 

Chen et al, (2005) adopting the value added intellectual coefficient model (Pulic, 

1998 & 2000) revealed that firm’s intellectual capital has a positive impact on firms’ 

market value and financial performance, both current and future. Though firm’s 

market value is positively associated with corporate intellectual ability and its two 

sub-component capital employed efficiency and human capital efficiency, results 

demand further analysis to be carried out aiming the individual intellectual capital 

component since stakeholders are placing different value on individual components, 

structural and human, than the overall intellectual capital efficiency. Another critique 

in terms of the application would be that, even though human capital is considered in 

this model from the human capital efficiency point of view, when it comes to 

investment in human capital of the firm, human capital to value added coefficient 

would rather have reflected the firms’ investment in human capital as a portion of 
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total value added, which on the other hand even consider the distribution of firm 

value added among stakeholder category employees.  

 

Referring to one of the prominent intellectual capital management framework 

Skandia Navigator (Edvinsson, 1997), Nazari and Herremans (2007) attempted to 

expand the VAIC model (Pulic, 1998 & 2000). The expansion of VAIC model has 

resulted in six coefficients to measure intellectual efficiency including; human 

capital, structural capital, overall value creation, customer capital, innovation capital 

and process capital efficiency. Though researchers wanted these efficiency measures 

to be tested for the impact of the value creation efficiencies, it’s yet to be done in 

differing context (Nazari and Herremans, 2007).  

 

However, evidence indicates that VAIC model (Pulic, 1998, 2000) has generated 

mixed results in different contexts, as Chan (2009a and b) revealed an overall lack of 

association between intellectual capital and financial performance in the Hong Kong 

context. Not even the analysis through breakdown provided any statistical support 

for the relationship between efficiency indicators and organisational performance 

(Chan, 2009b). The negative association between human capital efficiency and 

productivity and human capital efficiency and market valuation indicate that the 

higher the human capital efficiency, (i.e. higher value added to human capital ratio) 

the lower the productivity and the lower the market valuation. The results imply that 

when firms portion of value added distributed to the employees is lower, it results in 

lowering the productivity market valuation. In other words, lower investment in 

human capital result in lowering the firm productivity and market valuation. Though 

researchers claim that value added per human capital represent firms human capital 
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efficiency, the fact that firms motivation to spend less tend to make the coefficient 

high, it’s questionable whether this measure actually reflect the firms investment in 

human capital as it should be. However, this indicator warrants further examination 

of the subject as this reasoning might arguably vary in different socio-economic 

contexts.  

 

Investigating the impact of firm intellectual capital on general productivity, Chen et 

al. (2014) revealed that firms’ investment in intellectual capital measured in terms of 

value added intellectual coefficient (Pulic, 1998 & 2000) and even its’ individual 

components have generated significantly positively result under developing economy 

situations. The results revealed that Malaysian general insurers should pay attention 

to intellectual capital efficiency including their management skills. However, the 

results have only been able to generalize to the general insurer firms and the 

regulated nature of the industry, since the industry is regulated by the central bank of 

Malaysia, in addition to the accounting and financial regulations. This may have had 

impact on the results.  

 

According to the method of conceptualising human capital based on value added 

intellectual coefficient model (Pulic, 1998 & 2000), the initial measurement has been 

derived for human capital efficiency using the formula, value added divided by the 

human capital of the firm. However, from human capital investment point of view 

this creates a contradictory argument implying that, in order to increase the human 

capital efficiency firms should invest less in the employees of the firms unless if it’s 

assumed that the firm value added as well proportionately increase with the 

investment in human capital of the firm. Therefore, opposed to the human capital 
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efficiency as a part of intellectual capital efficiency, conceptualisation of firms’ 

investment in human capital could be achieved considering the portion of human 

capital to total value added, as employees are the true value creators. 

 

Moving away from the individual perspective of calculation of human capital of the 

firm as that of individuals and aggregating them to represent the human capital or 

intellectual capital of the firm, Flamholtz (2005) has suggested another approach 

attempting to capture the economic value of the human capital of third kind (i.e. the 

corporate culture). This study has proposed that there are three distinct and related 

components of economic value of human capital in firms termed as, (1) the value of 

individual competencies, (2) the (incremental) value of synergetic terms of people in 

relatively small groups and (3) the (incremental) synergetic value of the human 

organisation as a whole as distinct from the value of the other two components 

(Flamholtz, 2005 p.79). The study revealed that the human capital of third kind 

(corporate culture) could be measured and most importantly it has a statistically 

significant impact upon financial performances. As a result, the incremental value of 

synergy of human organisation as a whole has been taken in to account under the 

company’s cultural paradigm that is “…the way we treat our people affects the way 

our people treat our customers, and intern, our success, which includes financial 

performance” (Flamholtz, 2005, P. 82).  

 

Since human capital of third kind possesses a significant impact on the 

organisational performances, it’s imperative to recognise the firms’ investment in 

employees via existing accounting and financial reporting system even though 

quantification it self would not be sufficient to cover this aspect. Therefore, 
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accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital 

through quantitative and qualitative disclosure in addition to the monetary 

parameters, in a way that the firm value creation is reflected may have a vital role to 

play in this scenario.  

 

 

2.3.4 Human capital accounting to disclosure 

 

The failure to diffuse many of the academic methods developed for accounting 

recognition of firms’ investment in human capital, has lead researchers to look at the 

old problem in a new light, proposing a paradigm shift (Roslender and Dyson, 1992; 

Roslender, 1997). “Shifting away from the narrow economic-accounting perspective 

of the past to a broader social scientific perspective” the previous attempts of putting 

people in the balance sheet has been diverted to generating softer accounting 

information (Roslender and Dyson, 1992, p. 311) with further researchers 

emphasising that the accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in 

human capital via disclosure impact the decision of financial statement users 

including managers, investors and other stakeholders (Flamholtz, 2005). 

 

As a consequence, many qualitative studies (Ax and Marton, 2008; Abeysekera, 

2008; Flamholtz, 2005; Maher, 1996) have been undertaken parallel to the 

quantitative studies (Flamholtz et al., 2004). Maher (1996), in determining the extent 

to which management attempt to account for their human resource management 

practices of hotel industry through a qualitative analysis discovered that very little 

attempts have been made to formally evaluate the cost and benefit of different 
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human resource management practices. Further, the analysis revealed that the hotels 

do not use human resource costing and accounting information in a formalised way 

to evaluate their investments in trainee managers. However, there has been certain 

indication to say that the current picture is changing. The study further proposed that 

a “business like” approach needs to be adopted to the management of people if they 

are to gain any credibility at strategic level.  Further, the analysis concluded that “in 

order to evaluate the human resource management decisions not only human 

resource people need to familiarise themselves with accounting practice but they also 

need the support to setup information systems that will enable them to identify the 

outcomes of specific human resource investments” (Maher, 1996 p. 31). “If you talk 

to the majority of personnel people, they don’t get involved in the profitability of 

their business… and to me that’s a must. I think they should be numerate, they 

should understand business accounting and should understand the effect that their 

action can have on that business” was one of the quotation highlighted in the data 

analysis in Maher (1996). This statement clearly emphasise how human resource 

management is linked with the financial performances of the firms thus, the 

importance of accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human 

capital from different stakeholders’ point of view. Moreover, the same study 

highlighted the vital importance of linking human capital accounting and related 

information with the employee performance in a more formal way, as to reflect the 

value created by the employees of the firm.  

 

Empirical evidence so far have highlighted that investment in human capital by the 

firms is vitally important in many aspects including firms’ market and non market 

performance parameters (Schultz, 1961; Chen et al., 2005; Lajili and Zeghal, 2005b 
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& 2006; Dumay and Tull, 2007; Holzer, 1990; Blundel et al., 1999). However, the 

current accounting system still haven’t developed or proposed any mechanism to 

account for this investment by the firms (Roslender and Stevenson, 2009; Roslender 

et al., 2004). Since accounting for the investment in human capital has not been 

mandatory, firms have attempted to recognise the firms’ investment in human capital 

in an alternative way via voluntary financial reporting practice as a part of corporate 

reporting mechanism of the firm. Moreover, the accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of investment in human capital via voluntary reporting as well have been 

the subject under investigation over several decades. Therefore in the following 

section, literature relating to the corporate reporting and information disclosure 

mechanism in general, disclosure categories and human resources disclosure in 

particular are critically reviewed paying attention to the reasoning behind and the 

consequences expected under financial recognition of investment in human capital 

via voluntary disclosure.     

 

 

2.4 CORPORATE REPORTING  

 

Given the limitation that all operational and financial aspects are seldom covered 

through the set of financial statements prepared periodically, financial accountants 

and reporters tend to provide additional information which might be useful for 

stakeholders’ decision-making (Kinney and Libby, 1999). Over a period of time, the 

financial experts are practicing and enhancing this (Kinney and Libby, 1999; Baker 

and Wallage, 2000) with the intention of filling the gap between the market value 

and the book value of the firms (Edvinsson, 1997). This is done via discretionary 
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release of financial and non-financial information of descriptive, quantitative and 

mostly qualitative nature, through the external financial reporting in annual reports, 

prospectus and other sources over and above the legal, professional and regulatory 

requirements of firms (Barako et al., 2006). This movement to new level of 

accounting has even demanded a paradigm shift, which has occasionally been quoted 

as “the need for future accounting” (Edvinsson, 1997, p. 367) in order to satisfy the 

demand for such information (Baker and Wallage, 2000).  

 

The problem of information asymmetry as well, is addressed via the financial 

reporting practice (Verrecchia, 2001). As an example, research evidence has 

revealed that the voluntary disclosure is negatively associated with the proxies for 

information asymmetry implying that disclosing more information lowers 

information asymmetry (Lev, 1988; Petersen and Plenborg, 2006; Leuz and 

Wysocki, 2008) though that was not the only motive of financial reporting. Further, 

the enhanced reporting by means of adopting new or developed accounting standards 

have minimised the problem of information asymmetry as well (Barako et al., 2006; 

Zhou, 2007; Leuz and Verrecchia, 2000). However, sometimes, there have been 

contradictory arguments as well indicating that; corporate management is usually 

opposed to the additional disclosure of financial information. It is reported that 

managers prefer financial reporting as long as their remuneration varies 

proportionately with respect to the financial information reported, which might result 

in a positive bias in reporting; whereas, owners prefer financial reporting as long as 

the reporting is unbiased (Ng, 1978).  
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Empirical studies on financial reporting practice are reported from developed 

countries (Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Smith et al., 2005; Bukh et al., 2005; Collett 

and Hrasky, 2005; Dumay and Tull, 2007; Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997) and lesser-

developed countries (Barako et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2008; Abeysekera and 

Guthrie, 2005; Abeysekera, 2010 & 2008). However, the attributes highlighted by 

developed countries have in certain instance been different from what’s highlighted 

by lesser-developed countries (Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2005). Evidence on 

voluntary information disclosure is found related to many geographical regions 

including Asia pacific region (Australia, Singapore, Philippine, Hong Kong, 

Thailand, Indonesia and Malaysia), European countries, African countries etc. 

though international comparative studies have mostly been limited (Subbarao and 

Zeghal, 1997; Williams, 1999).  

 

 

2.4.1 Regulatory framework of corporate reporting  

 

As the key accountability and reporting stewardship mechanism limited liability 

companies are legally required to produce and publish annual reports and accounts 

(Stittle, 2004). The content and the intensity of this reporting is governed either by 

international financial reporting standards or governing bodies, domestic or local 

accounting and financial reporting standards or governing bodies and even the 

legislative framework such as companies’ act of the respective countries (Holland 

and Foo, 2003). While companies acts provide the general framework for financial 

accounting and reporting, particularly stipulating basic minimum requirement, 

respective accounting bodies and regulatory institutes of individual countries such as 
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central bank, institutes of chartered accountants, security exchange commissions, and 

the international and local accounting standards and reporting boards act as 

supplementary sources (Barako et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2014). Moreover, formal 

development of regulatory frameworks relating to financial reporting has been 

pushed even by the wave of corporate accounting scandals took place in the recent 

past. The Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX) has introduced major regulatory 

initiatives for overhauling the financial reporting and corporate governance system 

(Rezaee, 2005). As an example, remedies such as principles-based financial 

reporting standards embedded through SOX have aimed at improving the US 

financial reporting.  

 

A study conducted comparing the financial reporting standards in US concluded that, 

“financial statement preparers are less likely to report aggressively when applying a 

less precious financial reporting standards than when applying a more precious 

financial reporting standards. (Agoglia et al., 2011, p. 749). In certain instances, 

researchers have revealed that, despite the availability or intensity of legislative 

frameworks, firms voluntarily include more rich and even stand-alone reports 

covering different aspects of corporate reporting. As example, Holland and Foo 

(2003) assert, “even though environmental legislation in UK is not as considerable as 

that of the US, more companies in UK produced stand-alone reports and or included 

a separate environmental section than US companies” (p. 10). Considering the 

importance and the rewards for disclosure, some of the aspects such as corporate 

governance have later been identified as part of the compulsory or mandatory 

reporting by certain sectors (Barako et al., 2006; Zhou, 2007; Leuz and Verrecchia, 

2000). As an example, corporate governance reporting have been promoted via The 
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UK corporate governance code (Financial reporting council, 2010), the code of 

corporate governance for banking and financial institutions issued by the Central 

Bank of different countries. As example, Bank Supervision Department of Central 

Bank of Sri Lanka, 2008 and Kenya via the Centre for Corporate Governance 

(Barako et al., 2006).  

 

Implementation of international financial reporting standards (IFRSs) covering the 

regulatory frameworks and disclosure requirements, which is compulsory for listed 

firms that belong to member states of European union since 1
st
 January 2005 has 

been understood as another major move on corporate reporting (Iatridis, 2008). It’s 

evidenced that emerging nations have been early adopters to IFRS in order to gain 

advantages such as the legitimacy in global market, access to capital market, achieve 

economic development and increase the firm wealth. Whereas, UAE (Middle East 

and North Africa) has adopted IFRS as a result of the pressures such as regulation 

regimes of the World Bank and multinational corporations, the international 

accounting standards board (ISAB), big four audit firms, and relationships with 

nations trade partners (Irvine, 2008; Guler et al., 2002). Even though the three key 

regulatory frameworks; professional accounting bodies, states and financial service 

authorities, address firms’ obligations on corporate reporting in general, either of 

them have consistently places little or no obligation on companies to report on 

investment in human capital (Stittle, 2004; Lajili and Zeghal, 2006).  

 

Considering the accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in 

human capital of the organisations, despite the researchers attempt to formalise the 

practice (Roslender and Stevenson, 2009; Grojer and Johanson, 1996 & 1998; 
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Roslender, 2009), no any specific treatments have been developed via legal 

framework of states, professional accounting bodies or the financial service 

authorities (DTI, 2003a and b). In addition, neither of them have made any 

compulsory procedures except for revealing the accounting procedures and 

information relating to remuneration and staff cost, retirement benefits, etc. under 

notes to the accounts. However, there have been instances where human resources is 

disclosed voluntarily as part of key performance indicators (KPI) to achieve strategic 

competitive advantage under some intellectual capital management frameworks such 

as Skandia navigator (Edvinsson, 1997) and Balanced Scorecard (Kaplan and 

Norton, 1992). Researchers have studied the voluntary disclosure of Human 

resources related KPIs to determine the performance of organisations in managing 

and utilising their human resources, and revealed that there is a significant 

relationship between managing and the disclosure of the human resource 

performance indicators (Cuganesan, 2006; Becker et al., 2001; Boedker et al., 2004).  

 

In the absence of a proper regulatory mechanism, investment in human capital in 

some ways share similar considerations with investment in research and 

development, intellectual capital, environmental concerns and corporate social 

responsibility. They are similar in ways such as they all generate benefits over a 

period of time reflecting an investment while treated as an expenditure under 

accounting, they all proved to be valuable piece of information for stakeholder 

decision making, they are all have claimed the accounting and financial recognition 

via voluntary disclosure (Mills and Gardner, 1984; Wyatt, 2005; Wilmshurst and 

Frost, 2000; Williams, 1999; Wang et al., 2008; Roberts, 1992; Rizk et al., 2008; 

Rahaman et al., 2004; Entwistle, 1999; Ehie, and Olibe, 2010; Holland and Foo, 



 58 

2003). Voluntary information disclosure has mostly shared common theoretical 

frameworks. Therefore, the section corporate reporting has evaluated empirical 

evidence on, accounting and financial reporting recognition via all the above-

mentioned information disclosure categories.  

 

 

2.4.2 Categories of Information Disclosure 

 

With traditional bottom line reporting (financial aspects highlighting the difference 

between revenue and expenses to arrive profit or loss) was replaced by the triple 

bottom line reporting (adding two more concerns, social and environmental to the 

economic aspect of firms), accounting and financial reporting process was expanded 

to recognise most of the social and environmental performance of the firms in firm 

annual reports (Elkington, 1997; Henriques and Richardson, 2004). Most of the 

expanded categories of disclosure belong to the two additional aspects under triple 

bottom line reporting. Therefore, implications on accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of each and every component are reviewed below. 

  

 

2.4.2.1 Disclosure of general information  

 

Provision of any additional information by corporations to get the attention of the 

stakeholders including aspects such as general outlook of the economy, mission and 

vision, history, organisational structure/chart, contribution to the national economy, 
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current business strategy, likely effect of business strategy on current performance, 

objectives of the corporation and marketing related information; comes under the 

general information disclosed by firm (Barako et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2008; 

Cooke, 1989). Provision of these information serves the purpose of reducing agency 

cost, agency risk and information asymmetry since annual reports provide the means 

of a credible and reliable communication between the managers and the other 

stakeholders of the firms aiming to boost stock price (Barako et al., 2006; Graham et 

al., 2005). Regarding the human capital related attributes under general information, 

firms in many countries are charged with providing the national minimum 

information on employees of the organisation (Roslender and Stevenson, 2009) 

while the amount disclosed varies depending on many reasons including firm 

management practices (Ax and Marton, 2008).  

 

Assessing the extent and the determinant of voluntary corporate disclosure, Cooke 

(1989), studied a sample of annual reports of 90 firms (unlisted 38, listed in Swedish 

stock exchange 33 and listed in Swedish stock exchange and at least one foreign 

stock exchange) selected using stratified random sampling technique out of 2000 

firms. The study used a 146 item disclosure index developed by careful scrutinizing 

the items recommended via regulatory frameworks and previous studies by three 

Swedish practicing accountants. Disclosure items had been categories under 

additional information related to financial statements, information related to 

measurement and valuation methods, ratios, statistics and other details (including 

information related to labour market, capital market, employees and directors), 

projections and budgetary disclosure, other social responsibility disclosure and 

financial history. The simple valuation criterion disclosure (1) and nondisclosure (0), 
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is used to measure the disclosure to calculate the aggregate disclosure index. 

However, inability to capture the extent and meaningfulness of disclosure has been 

the major limitation. The fact that, listing states have been proven as single most 

important variable relating to the impact of voluntary disclosure, the practice has 

been proven tremendously important for listed firms and firms listed in at least one 

foreign stock exchange.  

 

Botosan (1997), using the disclosure ranking produced by the Association for 

Investment Management and Research (AIMR), discovered that the higher level of 

disclosure of public listed firms result in lower cost of equity capital. The results 

have implied that increase in disclosure reduces the information risk while increasing 

the stock market liquidity, which ultimately resulted in a lower equity capital. 

According to the results, due to the lower cost of equity capital, with increasing 

amount of disclosure firms may obtain the advantage of reinvestment in valuable 

assets including even human resource assets of the firms. However, further analysis 

failed to find evidence for association between the disclosure level and the cost of 

equity capital for firms with a high analyst implying that disclosure measure being 

limited to annual report may not have reflect a powerful proxy for the purpose. 

Having sufficient cross sectional variance and sufficient sample size was the criteria 

behind sample selection. However, sample has been limited to manufacturing 

industry making the results less generalizable in interpretation.  

  

Exploring the determinants of corporate financial reporting in light of the agency 

theory, Barako et al., (2006) studied; the extent to which corporate governance, 

ownership structure and firm characteristics, affect the voluntary disclosure practice 
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of firms. The study used multiple regression analysis of panel data gathered from 

annual reports of Nairobi Stock Exchange of Kenya, covering the period 1992-2001. 

The voluntary corporate disclosure was quantified through a disclosure index using 

46 disclosure items belonging to four categories; general and strategic information, 

financial data, forward looking information, social and board disclosure; scrutinised 

via professional and expert judgements. Even though the total number of firms listed 

in Nairobi Stock Exchange have been selected, subjected to the data availability only 

43 firms have finally been in the sample. The significant positive relationship with 

corporate disclosure, revealed that many drivers of voluntary disclosure in developed 

countries such as portion of non executive directors, presence of audit committee, 

foreign ownership, institutional ownership, size and the debt of the firm; apply in the 

same way for the developing countries. However, the selection of all firm listed in a 

stock exchange would not have been possible considering very active and a 

comparatively larger stock exchange, where researchers may have to limit only to a 

certain category of firms or specific segment of listing (Botosan, 1997; 

Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Abeysekara, 2008).  

 

Wang et al. (2008) has expanded the same approach to emerging market point of 

view by including Chinese listed companies who issue both A & B shares to study 

the determinants of voluntary disclosure as well as the impact of disclosure on 

company’s cost of debt capital. The positive effect voluntary disclosure had from 

state ownership, foreign ownership, firm performance and the auditor type revealed 

that accounting and the financial reporting recognition of firm activities via 

voluntary disclosure are responsive to certain systematic influences. Choosing 

number of industries provide positive implications. However, capturing only the 
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disclosure verses non-disclosure and not the quantity and quality of reporting leaves 

a gap whether stakeholders are actually interested in the implications through the 

meaningfulness of disclosure.   

 

A similar study was undertaken by Raffournier (1995) to address specific set of 

information relating to financial aspects of the firms covering different countries. 

Relying on agency and political economy of accounting theories, this study 

attempted to relate the extent of voluntary disclosure to possible determinants of 

Swiss firms. Results revealed that large internationally diversified firms tend to 

disclose more compared to small domestic firms. On the other hand, attempting to 

discover financial characteristics of firms disclosing accounting practice related 

information and assessing the financial impact of their motive in UK listed firms, 

Iatridis (2008) revealed that firms with larger size, growth and leverage measures, 

account for greater amount of disclosure while firms with detail accounting 

information tend to show higher profitability. Even though the results of corporate 

disclosure analyses tend to be consistent with each other and the theoretical 

framework justifying conceptualization, exclusion of banking, pension, insurance 

and financial sector firms may have accounted for limited generalizability of the 

findings.  

 

 

2.4.2.2 Disclosure on Corporate Governance 

 

Since “capital market participants expect vigilant and active corporate governance to 

ensure the integrity, transparency and the quality of financial information” (Rezaee, 
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2005, p. 277), firms tend to report more than the required minimum of corporate 

governance related information in external reporting (Baker and Wallage, 2000; 

Muranda, 2006; Mangena and Tauringana, 2007). Corporate governance is one of 

the most regulated types of information disclosed under corporate reporting based on 

some regulatory frameworks such as the UK corporate governance code (Financial 

reporting council, 2010). Even though the code of corporate governance has not yet 

been made mandatory, all most all the firms recognise corporate governance practice 

via voluntary disclosure. Moreover, employees being one of the many interest group 

of firm corporate governance mechanism, voluntary adherence to the corporate 

governance code appeared to have facilitated the accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment to a certain extent.  

 

Gompers et al. (2003) used the corporate governance index “G”, to reflect the 

balance of power between management and shareholders in studying about the use of 

corporate governance mechanism to prevent practices such as proxy fights and 

hostile takeover. The construction of corporate governance index required adding 1 

point for every provision that reduces the shareholder right. Results revealed that 

corporate governance practice is strongly correlated with stock return and implied 

that governance provisions have resulted in higher agency cost. In the absence of 

direct or indirect measure, a similar kind of indexing mechanism can be applied to 

proxy for corporate governance and other organisational practices or investment in 

human capital in particular (Mangena and Tauringana, 2007; Abdolmohammadi, 

2005; Abeysekara, 2008).   
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Using seven corporate governance disclosure aspects, Collett and Hrasky (2005) 

explored the corporate governance disclosure by Australian companies. The results 

revealed four namely: (1) identification of particular board committees and their 

functions; (2) the structure of the board (with respect to non executive directors), 

how that structure contributes to the board’s corporate governance functions, 

whether there is a code of conduct for members of the board, and how members of 

the board are selected and remunerated; (3) the position that the board of directors 

taken in general to corporate governance and to the increased focus on this area of 

corporate activity; and (4) functions of the board with respect to corporate 

governance; the most frequently disclosed corporate governance information. The 

positive association with firms’ intention to raise equity capital has indicated that 

financial reporting recognition of corporate governance practice via disclosure is 

value relevant with respect to the shareholders and potential shareholders of firms. 

However, the findings failed to discover any value relevance of corporate 

governance disclosure from debt holders’ point of view (Collett and Hrasky, 2005).  

 

Adopting the same measurement criteria, non weighted disclosure index using the 

dichotomous basis; disclosure (1) or non disclosure (0) to report information 

disclosed in annual reports and the company websites, Samaha et al. (2012), revealed 

that good corporate governance practices of the firms result in a increase in 

disclosure on corporate governance. Moreover, addressing the same in a different 

setting (Post apartheid South African listed firms) longitudinally, Ntim et al. (2012) 

as well revealed that the voluntary disclosure has increased over a period of time and 

good corporate governance practices has resulted in increased corporate governance 

disclosure. Parum (2005) has linked corporate governance disclosure with the 
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openness and the transparency in how companies are managed, using the disclosure 

of corporate governance from strategic perspective as corporate governance 

statement. Hence, this study was restricted to the corporate governance statement in 

annual reports to perceive correctly about board of directors, board independence 

and the qualifications of them to handle strategic challenges it covers only a part of 

the corporate governance (Parum, 2005).  

 

Studies on corporate governance have further been expanded to understand what 

types of firms disclose more on corporate governance (Mangena and Tauringana, 

2007), why these firms tend to report, by looking at the motives for disclosure and 

the consequences of disclosure from different stakeholder point of view (Collett and 

Hrasky, 2005; Mendez et al., 2011). On the other hand, corporate governance 

attributes disclosed have also been studied as determinants for the other voluntary 

information disclosure categories (Eng and Mak, 2003; Barako et al., 2006) and 

control variable in determining the consequences of other voluntary disclosure 

aspects. Accordingly, the use of empirical evidence on corporate governance in this 

study is two fold. First, the methodological and conceptual justifications related to 

the accounting and financial reporting recognition of corporate governance via 

voluntary disclosure may provide justification on studying about firms’ investment 

in human capital using voluntary disclosure as a proxy. Second, corporate 

governance practice itself act as some influential factor or determinant of firms’ 

investment in human capital since corporate governance practice itself is aimed at 

multiple stakeholder interest including employees.  
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2.4.2.3 Corporate Social Responsibility Disclosures 

 

Diffusion of corporate ownership and the multiple stakeholder involvement, made 

firms use some of their economic resources to aid some kind of social goals. This 

was particularly the case due to increasing significance in the influence firms 

exerting over the societal activities (Ullmann, 1985; Roberts, 1992) and the 

stakeholder demand in investment in social capital of the firm (Sikka, 2011). Firm’s 

corporate social responsibility activities includes but not limited to environmental 

related activities, affirmative action programmes, equal employment opportunities 

policies, community involvement product safety, policies towards disadvantaged 

communities or regions, energy policies, social responsibility disclosure etc. 

(Roberts, 1992; Abbott and Monsen, 1979). However, considering the previous 

studies they have been considered either as a group or as a separate field. Therefore, 

even in exploring what firms voluntarily disclose with regard to the above is done 

treating them all in a single section as follows. 

 

Abbott and Monsen (1979) undertook an initial study on corporate social 

involvement of fortune 500 firms using a self-reported social involvement disclosure 

scale as a proxy to reflect the firms’ corporate social involvement. The study aimed 

at understanding the corporate social involvement of the firms, how they response to 

criticism and government pressure, analyze the dimensions of such corporate 

response and ultimately to analyze the relationship between the corporate social 

involvement and the corporate profitability. According, to the results, being socially 

involved appears neither increase investors total rate of return nor dysfunctional for 

the investors. Even though there are theoretical arguments to prove that there is a 
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high chance for firms who are highly involved in corporate social involvement not to 

reveal them in annual reports unless if they are directly related to firm value creation, 

they have still adopted the self-disclosure.  

 

Firms’ involvement in corporate social activities in certain instances has been 

claimed to be industry specific as well. As example, a study of corporate social 

disclosure in oil industry (Ness and Mirza, 1991) covering four areas of social 

disclosure namely:  (1) product related, (2) employee related, (3) environmental 

related and (4) community related, revealed a positive association between the 

environmental disclosure in annual reports of the UK companies and the oil industry. 

In this study, though they have used the term corporate social responsibility, 

particularly the attention is given to the component environmental disclosure as a 

part of corporate social disclosure and the categories of disclosure has later been 

separated to analyse the environmental disclosure with the other corporate social 

disclosure which cover product related, employee related and the community related 

disclosures. The results revealed that the oil industry report more on environment 

than the other industries (7.856 times) and the disclosure being an environmental 

disclosure comparative to other disclosure in oil industry is higher (4 times) 

comparative to other industry (Ness and Mirza, 1991). Due to the significant nature 

of the environmental impact by the oil industry, the study categorised the firms based 

in oil industry vs. non-oil industry and the disclosure based on environmental 

disclosure and other social related disclosure to study the relationship using 

Pearsons’ Chi-square technique. 
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The similar categorisation was adopted by Rizk et al., (2008), in discovering the 

corporate social and environmental reporting practice of Egyptian corporate entities. 

A 26-item disclosure index environmental, energy, human, customer and community 

related disclosures were initially adopted to rank corporations based on the 

disclosure practice. Results revealed a significant difference in reporting practice 

among the Egyptian corporations of nine industry segments covering nine high 

polluting industries (Rizk et al., 2008). Major limitations to this study include, 

considering variability only over industry membership and the form of ownership 

while firms’ involvement in corporate social activities and the disclosure relies on 

many other factors. Moreover, ranking firms based on just disclosure or non-

disclosure of the items in the index without considering what they have actually 

reported may as well be added to the limitations. Detail analysis of the results 

revealed that 8 out of 13 employee related items in the index were found 

significantly affected by the form of ownership. However, increasing disclosure on 

employees implied that Egypt as a developing country with a great desire to develop 

and use its human resources to raise the standards of living tend to recognise firms 

involvement in human capital development via voluntary disclosure, with even 

government owned entities disclosing more compared to publicly traded. This result 

further highlighted the importance of firms’ attempts to recognise the investment in 

human capital in a more systematic way, implying that policy enhancement on 

accounting and financial reporting recognition perhaps is efficient in developing 

countries opposed to the great resistance against it in developed countries (Roslender 

and Stevenson, 2009).   
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Addressing methodological gaps on accounting and financial reporting recognition 

of corporate social responsibility related activities, Bouten et al. (2011) proposed a 

comprehensive reporting framework, by developing an enhanced content analysis 

framework, which capture the conceptualization of corporate social responsibility 

disclosure by considering three types of information namely vision and goals, 

management approach and performance indicators. The level of comprehensive 

reporting is measured as a portion of number of items for which all three information 

types mentioned above are reported to number of items reported by the firms. This 

cross sectional analysis prevent researchers obtaining an idea about the time lagged 

relationship with the disclosure types considered while a longitudinal sample would 

have addressed this issue better. Overlapping boundaries and the absence of a proper 

reporting framework parallel to the management framework have been understood to 

be the most common limitation leading to mixed or contradictory result under many 

of the above disclosure related studies. Hence, special attention is paid to understand 

management and reporting frameworks simultaneously so that the reporting 

frameworks will be enhanced based on the management frameworks. Moreover, the 

inclusion of more parameters such as corporate social responsibility expenditure, and 

involvement scores based on positive and negative implications of corporate social 

responsibility activities and inclusion of other control variables such as firm size, 

leverage, cash flow, Tobin’s q etc. in regression analysis have enhanced the 

robustness of the study as well as the application of the empirical findings in 

different context (Lin et al, 2009; Deng et al., 2013).   
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2.4.2.4 Environmental disclosure  

 

Holland and Foo (2003) examined recent developments in the environmental 

management practices and information disclosure to determine whether recent 

developments in environmental management and the regulatory frameworks have 

explained the disclosure of environmental information. Considering the results for 

most reported, least reported and the average length of reporting the results 

concluded that the environmental reporting practice of UK have favour the user 

requirement for comprehension and relevance which is yet need to be confirmed by 

the users themselves (Holland and Foo, 2003). The results revealed that among many 

other factors legal and regulatory context affect the accounting and financial 

recognition of environmental initiatives. However, the analysis was limited to a 

small sample size for one year and disclosure is measured as number of sentences 

and not the meaningfulness of what’s reported. Moreover, the correlation between 

perceived importance of factors affecting environmental reporting from chief 

financial officers point of view with the actual environmental reporting practice as 

well justifies the fact that accounting and financial reporting recognition of firm 

practice via voluntary disclosure can be used as a proxy to reflect the respective 

practice (Wilmshurst and Frost, 2000). Moreover, researchers believe that “a 

disclosure model which reflects underlying management practice renders the 

organisation more transparent than one which require disclosure as a result of 

legislative pressure” (Holland and Foo, 2003 p. 16) which could be applied 

considering any category of information disclosure.  
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An international comparison of environmental and social accounting disclosure 

covering Asia Pacific region undertaken by Williams (1999) using the content 

analysis technique revealed that cultural dimensions and political and civil systems 

are significant determinants of disclosure variation across companies and nations. 

Considering the environmental reporting practice, Dixon et al. (2005) have revealed 

that it is important to promote generally accepted rule of principles concerning 

environmental accounting and reporting issues such as aspects are to be reported, 

indicators are to be used, collection and analyzes of relevant data, verifying reporting 

practice and guidelines for reporting to be adopted by accountancy bodies, 

academics and practitioners. From decision makers’ point of view, this requirement 

has not just been limited to the environmental performance of the firms and equally 

valid for almost all the types of voluntary disclosure categories. 

 

 

2.4.2.5 Research and Development Disclosure 

 

According to Meyer and Rowan, (1977), “research and development is an 

institutionalised category of organisational activity which has meaning and value in 

many sectors of society” as well as a collection of actual research and development 

activities (p. 341). Considering the accounting treatment for research and 

development, according to both GAAP and IFRS, internal cost related to research 

phase of research and development are expensed as incurred, while only 

development cost could be capitalised only when technological feasibility (according 

to US GAAP) or technological and economic feasibility (according to IFRS) are 

established via the criterion specified (Ernst and Young, 2012). When firms 
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capitalise development cost, they still tend to feel the need for elaboration of the 

process and activities associated with the research and development undertaken 

evidencing positive association between intellectual asset recognised via research 

and development and the level of information disclosed voluntarily about them 

(Kang, 2006; Kang and Gray, 2011).  

 

Moreover, increasing importance of technology-oriented companies has highlighted 

the question of whether their stock market value reflects their intangible research and 

development capital. Therefore, research and development has been identified as 

another aspect, studied to discover the value relevance to stakeholders as an 

intangible asset of firms (Chan et al., 1990; Chan et al., 2001; Entwistle, 1999). The 

results of the event study methodology on share price response to 95 announcements 

of increased research and development resulted in on average return even under 

earnings decline situations (Chan et al., 1990). Further analysis revealed that there is 

a positive abnormal return for increased research and development announcements in 

high technology firms; while increased research and development announcements 

for low technology firms generated negative abnormal return. The use of event study 

mechanism may result biased outcome since, managers tend to disclose timely 

information on research and development only when they expect the market to 

positively response on them and they may as well keep the information without 

making them public in situations where a positive outcome is unlikely. Moreover, 

the applicability of the same methodology for other aspects such as investment in 

human capital might be challenging as they explained rather year around or 

continuous practice compared to one-off investment announcements.    
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A rather holistic approach to study the firms’ research and development involvement 

is adopted by Entwistle (1999) considering the involvement and perception of 

different stakeholders, practitioners and academics on firms investment in research 

and development and the use of these information while paying attention to the firms 

financial reporting recognition on research and development activities. The 

disclosure analysis concluded that financial reporting recognition of output category 

(actual and the potential outcome of the research and development expenditure 

including actual product development achievements, actual achievement beyond 

product development, potential achievements, and timing issues) has dominated the 

disclosure practice accounting for 63% to 86% in which achievement on product 

development, achievement beyond product development and potential achievement 

have been the most reported disclosure items. Moreover, substantial disclosure is 

observed in categories including input (product being researched and developed) and 

accounting and financial (comparison with prior year research and development 

spending) too.  

 

On the other hand, the results of interviews provided empirical evidence for trade-off 

of cost of revealing proprietary information with the resulting benefits in research 

and development investment context, revealing that considerable portion of 

executives are very concerned about the potential negative effect of the research and 

development disclosure. Moreover, majority of the executives (19/21) agreed that 

their firms would reveal bad research and development news to the market. The 

remaining two accepted that their firms also would disclose bad research and 

development news only if, it had to do so. This implies that financial reporting 

recognition via voluntary disclosure of firm research and development involvement 
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act as a true proxy measure to reflect the actual firms involvement even under 

adverse economic conditions, which could be applicable even for different types of 

intellectual capital development. However, research has been limited to technology 

intensive firms including technology hardware (hardware), software development 

(software), biotechnology/ pharmaceutical (biotech) stocks (Entwistle, 1999) making 

the generalizability of the findings limited. The results would have been enriched if 

researchers have attempted to incorporate the total amount of research and 

development expenditure too as a proxy to represent the firms’ investment in 

research and development activities.  

 

Since US firms fully spend the research and development expenditure, Chan et al. 

(2001) examined whether stock price fully value the research and development 

expenditure. The results of this study revealed that the companies with high research 

and development to equity market value earn large excess returns while research and 

development intensity of the firms was positively associated with the return 

volatility. However, the evidence did not support a direct link between research and 

development spending and the future stock returns (Chan et al., 2001).  

 

Through the literature review on different disclosure aspects, it is evidenced that in 

the absence of mandatory procedure to account for different types of firm activities, 

researchers and practitioner’s have aimed at the accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of them via voluntary practices. With clear background information on 

disclosure in general and covering different categories disclosed in the annual 

reports, it is essential to narrow down towards human capital disclosure in particular. 

In this case however, the human capital can not be taken in isolation as it has been 
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identified as the value creator of the intellectual capital of the firm (Edvinsson and 

Sullivan, 1996; Stewart, 1997) thus the management of the intellectual capital by 

firms have had a greater influence over the creation of human capital and the other 

components of intellectual capital (i.e. internal and external capital) of the firms. 

Therefore, the next section of the literature review discusses intellectual capital 

management as well as the disclosure with particular emphasis on human capital. 

 

 

2.5 INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL MANAGEMENT & HUMAN CAPITAL  

 

Different authors have defined intellectual capital in variety of ways. According to 

Edvinsson and Sullivan (1996) intellectual capital is “Knowledge that can be 

converted in to value” (p. 358). Stewart (1997) defines intellectual capital as “the 

intellectual material knowledge, information, intellectual property experience that 

can be put to use to create wealth” (p.10). According to both these definitions, 

intellectual capital represents the ‘intangible wealth’ of an organisation. Further, 

intellectual value is considered as the economic value of two categories of intangible 

assets of the firms’ structural and human capital. Human capital refers to the 

employee dependants such as employee competence, commitment, motivation etc. 

(i.e. the heart of creating intellectual capital) and structural capital refers to the firms’ 

innovative capital, relational capital and organisational infrastructure etc.. Since the 

portion of intellectual capital is not accounted for in accounting system, Abeysekara 

and Guthrie (2005) have termed intellectual capital as “a form of ‘unaccounted 

capital’ in traditional accounting system” (p. 151). Intellectual capital or intellectual 

assets are generally intangible in nature; while it is becoming widely accepted as a 
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major corporate strategic asset, which is generating sustainable competitive 

advantage for the firm. The rapid technological change, emergence of knowledge 

workers, increasingly sophisticated customers and innovations have highlighted the 

importance of Intellectual Capital in comparison with physical and financial capital 

(Petty and Guthrie, 2000; Ordóñez de Pablos, 2002).  

 

Development of intellectual capital creates value for firms, even though majority of 

the value created are intangibles, which is not represented on the balance sheet of the 

organisations (Stewart, 1997). As a result, firms are mostly valued few times their 

book value, i.e. the financial capital. This implies that there is a hidden value in such 

companies that is not visible in the traditional accounting system. Yet it’s precisely 

in these hidden assets that major investment for the future are made. It should further 

be noted that intellectual capital is not a new concept, that it has been addressed 

several decades ago. In fact, what is most essential is proper management of 

intellectual capital by firms in order to achieve a sustainable competitive advantage.  

 

 

2.5.1 Managing and Accounting for Intellectual Capital  

 

Managing intellectual capital is about managing knowledge and leveraging human 

capital of the firm to create value for it (Edvinsson and Sullivan, 1996). Therefore, 

firms have adopted several frameworks and models for this purpose (DTI, 2003a). 

Since there is no room and guidelines to measure and account for intellectual capital 

with in the available regulatory framework, researchers and practitioners tend to 

develop and adopt a variety of frameworks voluntarily. Balanced Scorecard (Kaplan 
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and Norton, 1992), human resource scorecard (Becker et al., 2001), intangible asset 

monitor (Sveiby, 1997), Skandia Value Scheme and Skandia Navigator (Edvinsson 

and Malone, 1997; Edvinsson and Sullivan, 1996), Tableau de Bord (Epstein and 

Monzone, 1998; working paper by Chiapello et al., 2001; Pezet, 2009), Value Chain 

Scorecard, Danish Intellectual Capital Statement (Holmen, 2005) and several other 

intellectual capital indices, have been identified as some prominent intellectual 

capital management and reporting frameworks among many others (Edvinsson, 1996 

& 1997). 

 

 

2.5.1.1 Balanced Scorecard (Kaplan and Norton, 1992) 

 

Balanced scorecard is identified as “a set of measures that give top managers a fast 

but comprehensive view of the business” (Kaplan and Norton, 1992 p. 71). Even 

though the original intent of Balanced Scorecard is not to measure intangible asset, it 

may alternatively be used to measure intangible asset and can be applied for proper 

management and better performance of the intangible assets (Holmen, 2005; 

Minonne and Turner, 2009). As it’s illustrated in Figure 2.02, it provides answers to 

the four basic questions: (1) how do customers see us? (customer perspective); (2) 

what must we excel at? (internal business perspective); (3) can we continue to 

improve and create value? (innovation and learning perspective); and (4) how do we 

look to share holders? (financial perspective) (Kaplan and Norton, 1992, p. 72). The 

balanced scorecard has been developed to answer the problems of inadequacy in 

existing performance measurement system and also to make traditional financial 

measures more relevant. Since it “complements the financial measures with 
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operational measures on customer satisfaction, internal processes, and the 

organisation’s innovation and improvement activities-operational measures that are 

the drivers of future financial performances” (Kaplan and Norton, 1992, p. 71), it has 

been identified as a tool to optimise the management of intellectual capital of the 

firms too. 

 

Figure 2.02: Balanced Scorecard 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Kaplan and Norton (1992). The balanced scorecard – measures that drives performances, Harvard 

Business Review. Vol.70, pp. 72. 
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holistic picture on firm value creation, which can be used in developing frameworks 

for financial reporting recognition of firm practices. This is particularly true since 

employee related aspects are easily grouped around the perspectives and linked with 

the firm performances, while the base of human capital development is represented 

through the perspective learning and growth, (Bontis et al., 1999). This has further 

been emphasised via human resource scorecard developed by Becker et al. (2001) 

based on the balanced scorecard (Kaplan and Norton, 1992), which identify the 

importance of aligning the human resource management and measurement with the 

strategy of the organisation in a way that firm value creation is reflected.  

 

Chareonsuk and Chansa-ngavej (2008) has also refined the strategy map concept of 

the Balanced Scorecard approach for use in intangible asset management. This 

approach comprising two phases made it possible to identify intangible assets and 

further, it establishes the course and effect relationship between the intangible assets 

with various financial performances. Therefore, it provides for the control of 

intangibles while simultaneously monitoring the financial results. Even though 

balanced scorecard was identified as the dominant concept and most commonly cited 

framework, Marr and Schiuma (2003) criticised it based on the information gap in 

terms of the theoretical foundation. Moreover, Sveiby (2010) argued about the 

difficulty in application of the method in real world by emphasising the fact that 

balanced scorecard produces enormous amount of data making it difficult to 

communicate and evaluate. Despite the above critiques, since balanced scorecard is 

more than just a tactical and operational connected to the strategic vision of the firms 

its understood to be one of the best approach amalgamating the human capital 

management with accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 
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investment (Minonne and Turner, 2009). Proving that, accounting for people report 

of the taskforce on human capital management as well suggested that balanced 

scorecard aligns the evaluation of human capital to the companies strategic aims 

under four aspects: financial success, customer success, operational success and the 

learning and growth of the firms (DTI, 2003a) making is suitable to capture the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ human capital investment.  

 

 

2.5.1.2 Intellectual Capital Reporting and Intangible Asset Monitor  

 

An early attempt to develop a model for Intellectual Capital reporting was introduced 

by Brooking (1997) through classifying Intellectual Capital items into four 

Intellectual Capital categories: (1) assets which give the firm power in market place 

(trade mark, customer loyalty, repeat business); (2) assets representing property of 

the mind such as intellectual property (patent, trademark, copyright); (3) assets 

which give the firm internal strength (corporate culture, management and business 

process, strength derived from IT systems); and (4) assets derived from the 

employees of the firm (knowledge, competence, work related know-how, networking 

capability) (Brooking, 1997). The overlapping nature of the boundaries of this 

categorisation has restricted the use of this methodology in the subsequent studies 

and researchers have paid more attention towards the value creation perspective of 

intellectual capital.  

 

Edvinsson and Malone (1997), has became an original contributor in developing an 

intellectual capital framework, which has subsequently been used by many 
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researchers (Huang et al., 2007; Nazari and Herremans, 2007; Tan et al., 2007 & 

2008). In fact, the framework developed through the Skandia Value Scheme (Figure 

2.03) has provided researchers new insights to debate.  According to the Scandia 

Value Scheme, intellectual capital is initially classified into human and structural 

capital. Human capital represents employee dependants. On the other hand, 

structural capital includes customer and organisational capital representing the 

external and internal focus of structural capital. Organisation capital has further been 

classified into innovative capital and process capital. Process capital represents the 

know-how including manuals and best practices of the company while innovation 

represents things which create success in future such as intellectual asset and 

intellectual property. Ultimately, intellectual capital is comprised of four components 

namely human capital, customer capital, innovation capital and the process capital 

(Edvinsson and Malone, 1997).  

 

Figure 2.03: Skandia Value Scheme 

 

Source: Edvinsson and Malone (1997) Intellectual Capital: Realizing Your Company’s True Value by Finding Its 

Hidden Brainpower, Harper Business, New York. 
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Roos et al., (1997) has classified intellectual capital in to structural and human 

capital based on the concept thinking and non-thinking assets, where human capital 

is clearly recognised as the value creator of the rest of the types of intellectual.  This 

classification is almost the same as the initial part of the Skandia Value Scheme 

(Edvinsson and Malone, 1997) but broader in scope since both internal and external 

oriented intellectual capital excluding human capital is taken under the structural 

capital. This may be a weakness of this framework over the other specific 

frameworks (Roos et al., 1997). 

 

The framework developed by Sveiby (1997) measures the intellectual capital of the 

firm as the difference between the market and the book value of the firm. This 

difference was explained via three interrelated families: human, organisational and 

customer capital, which subsequently became a de facto standard in terms of the 

applications. Sveiby (1997) has developed another framework to capture intellectual 

capital based on the strategic objectives of the firm to measure four modes of 

creating value from three classes of intangible assets. These three classes are labelled 

as: (1) people’s competence (human capital), (2) internal structure (internal capital) 

and (3) external structure (external capital). Value creation modes are: (1) growth, 

(2) renewal, (3) utilisation/efficiency, and (4) risk reduction/stability (Sveiby, 1997). 

This classification is comparatively highly adopted by many of the researchers (Goh 

and Lim, 2004; Abeysekara, 2007; Abeysekara & Guthrie, 2004; Abeysekara & 

Guthrie, 2005; Murthy and Abeysekara, 2007) due to the simplicity as well as the 

less over-lapping nature in categorising the intellectual capital items. 
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Moreover, in the absence of a standard framework with guidelines to capture the 

firms investment in intellectual capital, financial reporting recognition of intellectual 

capital investment via voluntary disclosure frameworks identified above has been 

widely adopted by firms and even researchers, and the use of a logical framework to 

categorise the intellectual capital investment has facilitated the usefulness of this 

information for decision-makers (Chen et al., 2005; Tan et al., 2007; Nazari and 

Herremans, 2007; White et al., 2007). The theoretical link established via intellectual 

capital management and reporting frameworks through the above methods have 

enhanced the validity of the findings as well as the usefulness of the information 

from different stakeholder perspective (Chen et al., 2005; Nazari and Herremans, 

2007; Longo and Mura 2007; Sharabati et al., 2010).  

 

 

2.5.1.3 Skandia Navigator (Edvinsson and Malone, 1997) 

 

As reported by Edvinsson and Malone (1997) Swedish company called Skandia was 

leading the way in reporting the hidden intellectual capital of the business. They 

developed an important model called Skandia Navigator by combining the intangible 

asset monitor (Sveiby, 1997) and the balanced scorecard (Kaplan and Norton, 1992) 

for managing cum accounting and financial reporting recognition of intellectual 

capital. The navigator was designed to provide information on human, customer, 

process and renewal and development focus of the organisation. In terms of the 

applicability of Skandia Navigator as an intellectual capital management tool, it 

simply integrate and summarise all financial and non financial issues with the past 

and current performances into a balanced managing and reporting framework, which 
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has increasingly been used as a planning and follow-up tool. In this format financial, 

customer, process, renewal and development as well as human and the operational 

environment focuses are summarised together (Figure 2.04). Further, where and how 

intellectual capital fits particularly for knowledge organisations have also been 

supported by the findings of Edvinsson and Sullivan (1996). They have divided the 

component intellectual capital into two as human resources and structural capital 

(including intellectual assets). Out of these two, the human capital component cannot 

be owned by the shareholders where as, intellectual assets can be owned by the 

organisation. Therefore, for knowledge firms, it is always advantageous to transform 

innovations produced by the human resources in to a form of explicit intellectual 

asset, which can be owned by the entities. Accordingly, proper leverage between 

human capital and structural capital determine the success of intellectual capital 

management of firms (Edvinsson, 1996 and 1997).  

 

Figure 2.04: Skandia Navigator 

 

Source: Edvinsson and Malone (1997) Intellectual Capital: Realizing Your Company’s True Value by Finding Its 

Hidden Brainpower, Harper Business, New York. 
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2.5.1.4  Tableau de Bord 

 

Another framework termed Tableau de Bord was identified in France for 

management of information, which is also not limited to financial information. This 

concept, Tableau de Bord had been appearing in France even long before the 

emergence of the concept Balanced Scorecard (Epstein and Monzone, 1997; Geurny 

et al., as cited by Epstein and Monzone, 1998; Daum, 2005). This approach as well 

is a method of converting business strategies in to action plans, by way of cascading 

down performance of corporate head quarters to divisions, divisions to functions, 

departments and to regions etc. in a way that, the Tableau de Bord at each level 

works as a dash board (Figure 2.05), where employees can understand the 

relationship between actions and process performances (Geurny et al., as cited by 

Epstein and Monzone, 1998). The operational measures associated with the Tableaux 

de Bord determine the course and effect relationships even at divisional, functional 

or departmental and individual level as it is cascaded down in the diagram. 

 

Figure 2.05: Nested Tableaux de Bord 

 

Source: Geurny et al,. (1990) as cited by Epstein, M. and Monzone, J., (1998), Implementing Corporate Strategy: 

From Tableaux de Bord to Balanced Scorecards, European Management Journal, Vol. 16 No. 2, pp 190-203. 
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Critically reviewing the four tools available to measure and manage the intellectual 

capital including Human Resource Accounting, Economic Value Added, Balanced 

Scorecard and the Intellectual Capital, Bontis et al. (1999) concluded that, it is 

impossible to answer the question, which tool is best as there is no universally 

accepted norm. Therefore, these tools are claimed to be mostly context specific, 

where they are more or less appropriate for specific situations and companies.  Thus, 

it is solely the management’s responsibility to choose how to manage their intangible 

resources using the knowledge tool boxes presented in the study which compares the 

pros and the cons of each of the intangible management tools mentioned above.  

 

Comparing the balanced scorecard with the Skandia navigator, it is possible to view 

the applicability of them in an alternative way since Skandia Navigator provides 

information of much more prospective nature being more futuristic as well while it’s 

possible to view Balanced Scorecard retrospectively providing an alternative 

approach to the Skandia Navigator analysing mainly the current information but in a 

more detailed way aiming the future performance. The complete application of 

Scandia navigator being limited to one firm compared to the widespread application 

of balanced scorecard (Marr and Schiuma, 2003; Chareonsuk and Chansa-ngavej, 

2008) and declining over the period implied that the framework has not been 

managed to reflect the intellectual capital of firm to external stakeholders in a more 

informative way. Moreover, while the application of the Skandia navigator by the 

firm, which introduced the concept declines, the use of balanced score card has 

become much popular in accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms 

intellectual capital and human capital investment particularly since the framework is 

capable of capturing and reflecting the firm value creation practice (Becker et al., 
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2001; DTI, 2003a; Marr et al., 2004; Kaplan and Norton, 2001). On the other hand, 

tableau de bord is claimed to be the oldest among them, and even balanced scorecard 

is recognised as a welcome addition to the tableau de bord (Epstein and Monzone, 

1997; Epstein and Monzone, 1998; Daum, 2005) though it has not been recognised 

as a model supporting accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ 

intellectual capital investment. Ultimately, the development of the above mentioned 

intellectual capital management models particularly the models reflecting firm value 

creation such as balanced scorecard and value chain scorecard (Lev, 2001) have lead 

to a new paradigm of thinking. This has been reflected through the development and 

adoption of many intellectual capital management and reporting frameworks 

afterwards (Stewart, 1997; Holmen, 2005).   

 

Careful review of intellectual capital management and reporting frameworks 

revealed that they are broadly similar but shows different interrelationships among 

the elements of intellectual capital, mostly differentiating human capital from non-

human capital (Nerdrum and Erikson, 2001). However, in many instances 

interpretations given to each category of intellectual capital by different researchers 

may vary to a greater extent. This is illustrated via the comparison of four major 

frameworks highlighting the similarities and differences in table 2.01. Even though 

researchers have evidenced consistency between literature based expectations and 

empirical grouping (Huang et al., 2007) due to high variability in reporting 

intellectual capital by different firms, researchers have still failed to develop a set of 

guideline or a framework for accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms 

investment in intellectual capital (Guthrie and Petty, 2000).  
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Table 2.01: Comparison of Intellectual Capital Managing and Reporting 

Frameworks 

Balanced Score Card 

Kaplan and Norton 

(1992) 

Skandia Navigator 

(Edvinsson and 

Malone, 1997) 

Skandia value 

scheme (Edvinsson 

and Malone, 1997) 

Intellectual asset 

monitor 

Sveiby, (1997) 

Internal process 

perspective  

Process focus Innovation and 

process capital 

Internal capital 

Customer perspective  Customer focus Customer capital External capital 

Learning and growth 

perspective  

Financial perspective 

Human focus 

Renewal and 

development focus 

Financial focus 

Human capital Competence of 

personal 

 

 

2.5.2 Empirical evidence on intellectual capital disclosure  

 

The analysis of empirical evidence on accounting and financial reporting recognition 

of intellectual capital investment suggests that many researchers (Guthrie and Petty, 

2000; Petty and Guthrie, 2000; Striukova et al., 2008; Goh and Lim, 2004) have 

adopted Sveiby (1997) for the intellectual capital categorization. However, some 

other researchers have adopted combined approach to make the disclosure spectrum 

wider (Abdolmohammadi, 2005). Moreover, empirical evidence also have revealed 

that firms involvement in practice have increased over a period of time (Abeysekera 

and Guthrie, 2005; Abeysekera, 2007). Even though there have been several attempts 

to evaluate current issues and policy implications (Brennan and Connel, 2000; 
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Abeysekera, 2006; Roslender and Fincham, 2001) accounting and financial reporting 

bodies and firms are yet to come up with a standard framework governed by proper 

guidelines.   

 

Due to the well-recognised nature of firms’ investment in intellectual capital, 

Australian firms have become the subjects of intellectual capital studies over a long 

period of time (Guthrie and Petty, 2000; Guthrie et al., 2004; Abeysekera and 

Guthrie, 2005; Dumay and Tull, 2007; Woodcock and Whiting, 2009). As an initial 

attempt in empirical analysis of intellectual capital disclosure using rather 

exploratory content analysis technique, Guthrie and Petty (2000) descriptively 

analysed 24 intellectual capital items categorised based on Sveiby (1997) framework 

of internal, external and human capital. According to the results, external capital 

became the most reported followed by human and internal capital with equal 

percentage disclosure. Results further highlighted that, development of a model for 

intellectual capital disclosure is piecemeal and not widely spread having a long way 

ahead. Though Australian firms were regarded as best practice, authors suggested 

that a comprehensive framework to manage and account for intellectual capital is yet 

to be developed. Due to the limitations such as limited sample size, limited 

intellectual capital attributes and not considering what attributions are actually 

important from decision-makers point of view, the results rather explain the situation 

and provide a foundation for further study which focus on increased generalizability, 

validity and the decision usefulness on intellectual capital investment in different 

context.  
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Study on accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms investment in 

intellectual capital and its effect on market capitalisation for the period 1993-1997, 

(Abdolmohammadi, 2005), has combined several frameworks mentioned above 

(Brooking 1996; Sveiby, 1997; Guthrie et al., 2004). Analysis of reporting 

framework of 58 intellectual capital items under 10 broader intellectual capital 

categories, revealed that competency was one of the highly recognised item in 

annual reports being second only to brand while personnel was identified as a least 

reported item with research and development and proprietary process. This implies 

that there is a significant variance among human capital related disclosure them 

selves. Periodical analysis revealed that intellectual capital disclosure has increased 

over time, while there is an industry effect on disclosure except for personnel and 

proprietary process. Considering the economy sector old and new as well, there was 

a significant difference between intellectual capital categories: partnership, brand 

intellectual property and information technology. However, validity and the 

generalizability of findings were limited due to several limitations. Ignoring the 

subjectivism involved in analysing qualitative items and search for specific terms, 

counting the frequency under each item was adopted as data collection technique, 

which lead no implication on how the disclosure have recognised the actual 

intellectual capital development and the firm value creation. Moreover, increasing 

the number of main categories compared to initial models proposed (Brooking, 

1997; Sveiby, 1997) and previous studies (Guthrie et al., 2004) make defining 

individual variables and codes difficult and complicated due to high overlapping 

nature of the categories.  
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Adopting the definition of Sveiby (1997), which classify intellectual capital into 

internal capital, external capital and employee competency, and the same research 

methodology as Guthrie and Petty (2000), Goh and Lim (2004) analysed the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of intellectual capital investment via 

disclosure of top 20 profit making Malaysian public listed firms’ by using 20 copies 

of year 2001 annual reports. The results revealed that Malaysian firms disclosed 

more on external capital followed by internal while human capital accounted for the 

least recognised category. Considerably low recognition of items such as general 

knowhow (15%), vocational qualification (10%) and education (10%) compared to 

work related knowledge and competency (80%) revealed firms’ fear to take risk in 

developing general skills and recognise them as asset in general instead labour by 

recognising only work related attributes. Moreover, very limited recognition of 

attributes such as patent, copyright trademark implies that national or regulatory 

bodies’ involvement on developing a proper framework has become an essential 

requirement. However, the results are not widely generalizable given the very small 

sample size. 

 

Recognising the fact that accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms 

investment in intellectual capital has rarely been studied for developing countries 

(Goh and Lim, 2004); Abeysekera and Guthrie (2005) and Abeysekera (2007) have 

studied annual reports of 30 firms listed in Colombo stock exchange accounting for 

highest market capitalization for the two years 1998 and 1999 using frequency 

analysis technique of content analysis. While Abeysekera and Guthrie (2005) pay 

attention to discover voluntary disclosure on intellectual capital, using the 

framework of Sveiby (1997), Abeysekera (2007) comparatively interpreted the 
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findings with those of Australia (Guthrie and Petty, 2000) as well. 45 intellectual 

capital items adopted in Guthrie and Petty (2000) were classified under 3 broad 

categories: human (25), internal (10) and external capital (10). However, the wide 

spectrum of human capital information disclosed and high literacy rate compared to 

other developing countries, have attracted more attention to human capital category 

compared to the other developing country situation (Goh and Lim, 2004). The results 

revealed that there were slight deviations in individual items recognized within sub-

categories, and between subcategories revealing that external capital was the most 

reported followed by human capital confirming the previous findings (Abeysekera 

and Guthrie, 2005; Guthrie and Petty, 2000). This variation was understood to be 

attributable to economic, social and political differences in the two countries Sri 

Lanka and Australia.  

 

Despite not having separate intellectual capital reporting or theoretical framework 

compared to Australia, Sri Lankan firms evidence reporting a grate deal on human 

capital particularly employee relations implying the tendency to treat employees as 

asset instead labour or they may have either reflected economic social or political 

arrangements without necessarily directly reporting on intellectual capital elements. 

On the other hand, public pronouncement contrary to the importance could have 

been another reason for prominent recognition of intellectual capital in Sri Lanka. Sri 

Lanka being a predominantly Buddhist country with a culture associated with the 

concept of human person (Villacorta, 2006), the results may have lead researchers 

and practitioners to deviate attention more towards accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment (Abeysekera, 2008; Vithana, 

2009). The content analysis technique adopted in this study has taken rather 
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objective mechanism considering whether the items reported under each sentence are 

intellectual capital (1) or intellectual liability (-1) or non (0) from firm perspective. 

However, in a situation where accounting mechanism and potential financial impact 

is compensated via information disclosure, paying attention to what is reported, to 

what extent and how they contribute in the firm value creation process would have 

been a valuable addition to accounting researches.  

 

Striukova et al., (2008) empirically analysed a wide range of reporting sources of 15 

UK firms covering four different sectors for accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of the intellectual capital investment via voluntary disclosure. Unlike the 

dichotomous approach of disclosure (1) and non-disclosure (0) (Barako et al., 2006; 

Cooke, 1989; Samaha et al., 2012; Roberts, 1992; Rizk et al., 2008), or just the 

frequency count (Githrie and Petty, 2000; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2005), this study 

measured disclosure considering the tone of disclosure: positive, neutral and 

negative as well as the size of disclosure measured in terms of the proportion of A4 

page. The results of the study revealed that larger firms disclose more in intellectual 

capital investment compared to the smaller ones. Comparison between the industry 

sectors revealed that retail sector reported more followed by the pharmaceutical 

sector whereas, ITC/ software and estate and utilities sector disclosed low compared 

to the previous two. Irrespective of the industry sector, external capital was the 

mostly reported sector followed by human capital and the internal capital.  Limiting 

the study to only four sectors make the results less generalizable, so does the use of 

an extremely lower sample size. However, it is questionable whether the 

measurement criterion used here is reflecting the actual value creation via 
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intellectual capital investment given it is not reflected via disclosing framework or 

the information considered in data collection.   

 

In studying the accounting and financial reporting recognition of intellectual capital 

investment via voluntary disclosure in annual reports many firms adopted the manual 

method of content analysis (Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Abeysekara, 2007 & 2010; 

Guthrie and Petty, 2000; Guthrie et al., 2004) while other researchers (Sonnier et al., 

2007) applied computer aided techniques to capture the information disclosure in the 

annual reports.  Sonnier et al. (2007) using WordStat version 5.0 as the content 

analysis technique to capture 121 items of intellectual capital disclosed in annual 

reports under three categories: human, relational and organisational capital, revealed 

that intellectual capital reporting of the firms have had a negative impact from the 

firm performance parameters. The results implied that management might choose to 

increase more in intellectual capital disclosure to explain law performance matrix to 

compensate the failure of traditional accounting model of capitalising cost associated 

with the development of intellectual capital resource. The results justifying the use of 

voluntary disclosure as the way of recognising firms investment in intellectual 

capital. However, results were less generalizable as the study is limited to the high 

tech firms. Moreover, even though computer aided content analysis provided the 

advantage of improved more rapid verification of reliability and validity of 

categories, it is doubtful whether the actual value of the information disclosed 

reflecting the firms’ investment in intellectual capital management is captured 

through the same technique (Bos and Tarnai, 1999). Hence, an in-depth analysis of 

the accounting and financial reporting recognition of intellectual capital investment, 
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to understand the role it plays in firm value creation will be a timely requirement for 

policy development and enhancement of firm practice.  

 

Moving further from descriptive analyses, to understand the obvious variance in 

intellectual capital disclosure, researchers have extended the studies to explanatory 

analyses (Li et al., 2008; Li et al., 2012). Li et al. (2008) investigated the effects of 

corporate governance structure on intellectual capital disclosure of 100 UK fully 

listed firms of London stock exchange representing high intellectual capital intensive 

industries including pharmaceutical and biotechnology, IT, telecommunication, 

business services, media and publishing, banking and insurance, food production and 

beverage. Using the same sample and the methodology Li et al. (2012) did 

investigate the effect of audit committee characteristics on intellectual capital 

disclosure. Intellectual capital disclosure index developed using word count and 

percentage of word count assessing variety, volume and focus of intellectual capital 

attributes classified under three categories: human, structural and relational, 

developed based on Sveiby (1997) framework, is used as dependent variable 

reflecting the intellectual capital disclosure. The result of Li et al. (2008) revealed, 

greater percentage of independent non-executive directors has significant positive 

impact on overall intellectual capital disclosure as well as the human capital 

disclosure; whereas, share ownership revealed a significant negative association.  

 

In the subsequent study, Lin et al. (2012) revealed that, overall intellectual capital 

disclosure is positively associated with the audit committee characteristics including 

committee size and the frequency of meetings while negatively associated with the 

audit committee directors share holdings. However, no relationship is observed 
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between audit committee independence and financial expertise. The results can only 

be generalised to intellectual capital incentive industries due to the limitation in 

sample selection and future studies can incorporate both high and low intellectual 

intensive firms using dummy type variable to control the effect. Moreover, the use of 

word count is advanced compared to the dichotomous procedure in scoring (Barako 

et al., 2006; Cooke, 1989; Samaha et al., 2012; Roberts, 1992; Rizk et al., 2008) 

even though the results may not be accurate as the writing style varies from one firm 

to the other making word count less robust measure to reflect actual meaning of the 

investment in intellectual capital. Intellectual capital being “individuals 

complementary capacity to generate added value” (Nerdrum and Erikson, 2001, p. 

127), it is advisable to propose frameworks, which consider the meaningfulness of 

each attribute and how they actually create value.  

 

 

2.5.3 Empirical Evidence on Human Capital Disclosure  

 

Being the value creator, human capital plays a dominant role in firms’ intellectual 

capital development, (Edvinsson, 1996 & 1997; Stewart, 1997). As a result, in every 

single framework discussed above, capital associated with employees has been 

identified as an important and a separate component and has given the terms human 

capital, employee competence etc. (Table 2.01). Though it’s often stated in annual 

reports, that human capital represents the most important asset of firms, this is hardly 

supported by the items reported and measured in remaining sections of annual 

reports (Githrie and Petty, 2000; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2005; Goh and Lim, 2004; 

Steen et al., 2011). As a result, a clear gap was observed between the recognition of 
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importance of human capital and the actual attempts taken by these firms to place 

human capital reporting on their agenda. Despite total human resources expenditure 

written off, accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment as well is mostly limited to the voluntary disclosure in annual reports, 

thus researchers have diverted their attention towards voluntary disclosures 

(Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; Subbarao and Zeghal 1997; Ax 

and Marton, 2008; Lajili and Zeghal, 2006 and 2005b).  

 

An initial international comparison of human resource information disclosure using 

content analysis covering countries: USA, Canada, Germany, UK, Japan and South 

Korea revealed that there is a clear difference between the countries studied in terms 

of the incidence and word count of the information disclosure in their annual reports 

(Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997). Results of the analysis indicated that European firms 

disclose more on human resources than Asian and North American firms and there is 

a clear difference between financial services sector and manufacturing service sector. 

In this study, human resources disclosure is measured in terms of the incidence 

(frequency) and the word count (content), which is advantageous to the dichotomous 

approach. However, the extent to which human resource is directly linked with the 

mission, strategic direction and firm value creation reflecting human capital 

investment (Wintermantel and Mattimore, 1997; Roslender, 1997; Roslender and 

Dyson, 1992) could hardly be measured yet. The research sample covering both 

manufacturing and financial service sector from six different countries make the 

results more generalizable even though the small sample size from each country may 

question the validity of the results. Due to this, many subsequent researchers have 
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chosen larger samples covering individual countries (Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera 

and Guthrie, 2004).  

 

Through a study conducted via content analysis of annual reports of 18 largest 

Swedish companies selected in terms of market capitalisation, addressing five 

elements of employee related information: education and development, equality, 

recruitment, selection of employees and comments by CEOs about personnel, Olsson 

(2001), revealed that non of the 18 companies in the sample revealed more than 7% 

of human capital information measured as a portion of total information. The spread 

of information in this study was narrower compared to the previous study (Subbarao 

and Zeghal, 1997) and many subsequent studies (Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004) as 

well, suggesting further improvements in terms of the information coverage under 

empirical studies on recognition of firms investment in human capital via voluntary 

disclosure.  

 

Through an investigation of the annual reports and semi structured interviews of 

Australian public sector firms, addressing the practice intellectual capital investment 

particularly considering the accounting and financial reporting recognition of human 

capital investment, Boedker, et al. (2004) highlighted that there are shortcomings of 

existing annual reports; thus the value relevance of the information disclosed in 

annual reports are declining. The study was facilitated by the intellectual capital 

value creation framework developed using the three criterion: categorisation based 

on type of capital, categorisation based on knowledge management activities and 

categorisation based on research method (figure 2.06). The data collection in this 

study involved semi structured interviews and content analysis of internal and 
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external documents, combination of which facilitates the triangulation of findings 

(Bechara and Van de Ven, 2011). Though it’s time consuming its applicable only in 

case study situation covering a very small sample size. Relying on the results of 

interviews and the content analysis of internal and external documents researchers 

concluded that it is important to expand the existing reporting practice and 

incorporate information on composition and performance of organisations 

management challenges, knowledge resources and knowledge management 

activities, particularly the information about human capital.  

 

Figure 2.06: Intellectual capital value creation framework 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Boedker, C., Guthrie, J. and Cuganesan, S., (2004). The strategic significance of human capital reporting 

in annual reporting, Journal of human resource costing and accounting, vol. 8 no. 2, pp 7-22 
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Since, many different factors might affect the practice human capital disclosure, 

Abeysekera and Guthrie (2004) further widened human capital disclosure content 

categories (25 item) in a way that it includes organisational process, culture and 

performance and financial related attributes as well in addition to just human 

resource functions (Olsson, 2001) (The list of items used in this study is given in 

appendix 1). This provided a tool to assess the type, amount and quality of human 

capital disclosure. Moreover, they applied these tools to a sample of annual reports 

covering 30 listed firms accounting for highest market capitalization in Colombo 

stock exchange for two years: 1998/1999 and 1999/2000. The results revealed a 

deviation from the studies carried out in developed countries in terms of overall 

reporting (Olsson, 2001) and the attributes mostly reported by firms (Guthrie and 

Petty, 2000; Guthrie et al., 2004; Abeysekera, 2007 & 2008) even though, the same 

technique was adopted. Comparison of the results with Australian studies conducted 

following the same duration highlighted the fact that the difference in frequency and 

extent of disclosure are attributable to the socio-cultural values of countries such 

that, entrepreneurial spirit has been highly valued in Australia compared to Sri 

Lanka. Moreover, results driven attributes such as value added is highly recognised 

by Sri Lanka; on the other hand, process driven attributes such as work related 

knowledge by Australian firms (Guthrie and Petty, 2000; Guthrie et al., 2004). 

Despite impressive results, methodology of the study can still be criticised given 

highly descriptive nature and the data collection model. As an example, even though 

wide categorization and line count facilitate type and the amount of disclosure in the 

annual reports to be captured, It’s hard or mostly impossible to capture the quality 

and the meaningfulness of reporting via sentence or line count.  
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Stittle (2004) argued that many attempts on human capital accounting in UK context 

are still limited to descriptive disclosure since, many of the regulatory bodies have 

limited their efforts on developing regulatory frameworks merely to qualitative, 

rather than quantification of investment in human capital to include in traditional 

financial statements. According to Stittle (2004), practical gap in moving ahead with 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital 

arise mainly because of minimum involvement of regulatory bodies and legislation. 

Recent studies (Abeysekera, 2008; Ax and Marton, 2008; Gallhofer et al., 2011) 

seem to have had some prejudices in their minds at the outset biasing not to look into 

formal mechanisms to put people into the balance sheet. Stittle (2004) suggests that 

to remedy this, accounting regulations, state control and legislations should take 

heed of this regard to develop best practice guidelines for firms to meaningfully 

account for and disclose on people (Stittle, 2004), which is evident even via the 

implications of Lajili and Zeghal (2005b & 2006).  

 

As advancement to the subject, moving beyond descriptive analysis, researchers 

have expanded their studies towards determinants and the value relevance of 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment via 

labour cost voluntary disclosure (Lajili and Zeghal, 2005b & 2006) in different 

context. They conceptualised investment in human capital based on labour 

economics approach; where human capital indicators are developed based 

investment on education, training, health and medical care, though ended up using 

the total labour cost in the research due to data unavailability. In these studies, Lajili 

and Zeghal (2005b) used valuation model relating to firms market to book value 

where and Lajili and Zeghal (2006) adopted portfolio performance approach. The 
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results of both studies revealed that higher labour cost disclosing firms outperform or 

command higher equity market value compared to lower labour cost disclosing 

counterparts. Results implied that there is a market opportunity for human capital 

rich firms to differentiate themselves for their industry peers through a proper 

mechanism of human capital accounting and reporting. This study has recognised 

only what is measured as labour cost and ignored the financial reporting recognition 

of qualitative and additional quantitative information. However, it’s imperative to 

continue studies covering both aspects together addressing the overall accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment measured in terms 

of human capital expenditure and disclosure.  

 

Examining human capital disclosure from developing country perspective, 

Abeysekera (2008) attempted to understand the determinants of human capital 

disclosure in annual reports of firms listed in Colombo stock exchange, Sri Lanka. 

Using the techniques content analysis of annual reports of 30 firms accounting for 

the highest market capitalization (to avoid the size effect) for two years 2001 and 

2002, an in-depth analysis via case study based interviews conducted with key 

human resource executives, Abeysekera, (2008) revealed that firms have used 

disclosure in order to reduce the tension between firms stakeholders specially in the 

interest of further capital accumulation (Abeysekera, 2008). According to the results 

of frequency analysis, employee relations, employee measurement, training and 

development and employee welfare consequently became the most reported 

categories of attributes giving the priority to social and political constituents, the 

support of which was needed for capital accumulation. Workplace safety, equity 

issues and entrepreneurial skills on the other hand, became the least reported 



 103 

confirming previous finings as well (Guthrie and Petty, 2000). The results have been 

attributable to high social development of Sri Lanka, while accounting for low 

economic development. Using human resource executives for the interviews could 

be criticised on the ground finance executives actually are the group responsible for 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human capital, 

particularly considering what is recognised and to what extent, though human 

resource executives involved with the management aspects including provision of 

information. 

 

Cormier et al. (2009) have further expanded the human capital value relevance 

studies to examine the stock market reaction to different levels of information 

precision. Since information precision is an information attribute underlying 

disclosure credibility, information precision varying from indicative and qualitative 

to quantitative to monetary was understood reflecting the human capital disclosure 

precision in this study. Information disclosed in websites of a sample of 155 firms 

listed in Toronto stock exchange is used as the source for data collection categorising 

them to indicative, qualitative and quantitative. Results revealed that quantitative 

disclosure reduces the information asymmetry conceptualised in this study as the 

stock price volatility and Tobin’s Q, while indicative human capital disclosure is 

marginally associated with the reduction of information asymmetry. Results further 

revealed that firms consider the cost and benefits in determining the precision 

attributes of their disclosures. Moreover, results imply that market reacts differently 

to deferent levels of disclosure precision specifically for quantitative, particularly 

since quantification is central in accounting. This demands accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of investment in human capital of the firms as well to be 
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adopted paying attention to both quantitative and qualitative information reflecting 

firm value creation, while empirical frameworks as well deemed to be enhanced to 

capture both. 

 

 

2.6 CONCLUSION  

 

The literature review emphasised that there has always been an unaccounted portion 

of value of firms, which according to accounting is reflected even via the difference 

between market value and book value of firms. This has been a result of firms’ 

investment in some aspects, which are not properly recognised through the existing 

accounting system. Recognition of these intangible aspects via accounting and 

financial reporting system has inspired researchers and accountants to explore the 

situation further to understand, where actually this unaccounted value is created and 

how exactly it has been or could have been recognised via accounting and financial 

reporting practice. This exploration has paved the way for researchers to move ahead 

with the sub-discipline voluntary accounting and financial reporting practice aiming 

different aspects of intangible asset valuation, voluntary corporate disclosure, 

corporate governance, research and development, corporate social responsibility, 

intellectual capital and human capital development, assuming that they either 

individually or as part of a group fully or partially account for the gap recognised as 

unaccounted. However, due to the unique position employees possess, human capital 

has been recognised as starting point of this value creation or the unaccounted capital 

particularly as a significant aspect of intangible asset management.  
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Emphasising the importance of intellectual capital management, researchers 

(Sharabati et al., 2010) have recently recommended that organisations, particularly 

highly knowledge intensive ones should identify “key people and assign them the 

role as intellectual capital champion” in a way that these people become “responsible 

for preparing a plan for managing intellectual capital and linking it to the 

organisations strategic goals” (p. 117). They further highlighted the significance of 

the key roles: chief intellectual capital management officer and chief knowledge 

officers. However, human capital being the value creator of the intellectual capital 

raises the question, should this be better managed at the level of intellectual capital 

or human capital.  

 

Based on previous evidence, accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment via human capital expenditure and disclosure is 

understood as an alternative path explained using different theoretical perspectives 

such as; resource-based, agency, stakeholder, stewardship, political economy of 

accounting and even human capital theory. Elaborating on these theories, the next 

chapter attempts to clarify the theoretical landscape, which better explains the above 

practice in exploring the value relevance. 
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CHAPTER THREE 

THEORIZING AND CONCEPTUALISING 

 

3.1 INTRODUCTION  

 

The literature review chapter attempted to provide general understanding about the 

subject human capital from accounting and economic perspectives to the social 

scientific perspective by addressing accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment by firms using theoretical and empirical findings covering 

a lengthy period of time. Objective of this chapter on the other hand, is to present 

and justify the theoretical background of the research with the existing research 

evidences and finally to derive the theoretical framework of the research. This 

process is started with a general discussion about theory and theorising, theories 

governing the firms’ accounting and financial reporting in general which is then 

narrowed down to the theories governing the practice of investment in human capital 

and accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment in 

particular. The study covers human capital accounting at three different levels: a 

descriptive analysis of investment in human capital of the firm measured as human 

resource expenditure and the accounting and financial recognition of the investment 

in human capital, determinants of investment in human capital measured under the 

two criterion above and the consequence of investment in human capital measured 

again using the two conceptualisations mentioned above. Hence, the 

conceptualisation chapter will flow starting from theory and theorising in general 

until it is specialised to the theories explaining the firms’ practice on investment in 
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human capital measured via human resource expenditure value added human capital 

coefficient and voluntary information disclosure.  

 

 

3.2 THEORISING  

 

Theories are simplified models of some complex and comprehensive phenomenon. 

They allow people to understand and comprehend a phenomenon, sometimes with 

some assumptions and hypothetical relationships. However, since they are just 

models relying on many assumptions, the validity and the consistency of application 

of theories in variety of circumstances can be little questionable. Theories have been 

defined in many ways. As it is cited by Raihi-belkaoui (2000), Hendriksen explained 

that, “Theory represents the coherent set of hypothetical, conceptual, and pragmatic 

principle of forming the general frame of reference”. The primary objective of using 

theories in accounting is to provide a basis for prediction and explanation of 

accounting behaviour and events. Raihi-belkaoui (2000) has explained theory in a 

way it is best suited for accounting discipline relying on the above definition given 

by Hendriksen. The approaches to formulate theories in general as well as more 

towards accounting in particular includes: a) Non-theoretical, practical, or pragmatic 

(informal) approaches, and b) theoretical approaches including deductive, inductive, 

ethical, sociological, economic and eclectic.  Each of these approaches has displayed 

advantages and disadvantages when applied to accounting researches while differing 

in research paradigm. There have always been arguments about the causality 

between theory and practice. Arguing against the proposed concept (by Jonsson, 

1988 as cited by Montagna, 1991), accounting theory has not yet been shown to be 
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an important driving force in the development of accounting practices. Montagna 

(1991) emphasised the fact that theory necessarily guides practice. However, 

considering the history of the evolution of the accountancy profession there has 

always been evidence to prove otherwise (Sunder, 2005).  

 

In general, it is required that financial statement preparers and auditors must have a 

good understanding of accounting theory (ADB, 2002a & b). However, some 

drawbacks highlighted in accounting literature emphasises that no single governing 

theory of financial accounting and reporting is rich enough to encompass the full 

range of user environment specifications effectively (Ng, 1978; Laughlin, 1995). 

Moreover, discrepancies are identified even based on the perspectives of parties 

involved such as producer perspective (financial executives and auditors,) and 

consumer perspectives (business pluralists and academics).  Researchers thus tend to 

argue on, the existence of sources as financial accounting literature and not financial 

theories (Raihi-belkaoui, 2000). Apart from the fundamental accounting theories 

such as double entry bookkeeping, mostly preparation of financial statements, 

financial reporting etc. has been governed by different theoretical perspectives 

depending on many factors such as country or region, regulatory framework, 

governance mechanism, period, the issue addressing etc.. As cited by Laughlin 

(1995) “accounting theory will never be like theory of gravity” and “it is a social 

practice conducted by diverse social actors” (p. 83).  

 

Llewellyn (2003) has recognised five levels of theorising, while looking in to the 

relationship between those levels. These levels of theorising identified rises from 

lower level to upper level as: metaphor, differentiation, conceptualization, context 
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bound theorising of setting, and context free grand theorising. Out of them in 

qualitative management and accounting research the uppermost level, context free 

grand theorizing has been over emphasised compared to the other four lower levels, 

which hasn’t been prominent in research discussions. However, while the basics in 

accounting such as double entry book keeping belongs to context free grand 

theorizing level, the lower levels of theories can also be applied on aspects such as 

environmental, social and human capital accounting, which could later be moved to 

the upper levels of theorizing. The level of theorizing therefore determined most of 

the other considerations as well such as: research paradigm, methodology etc. 

(Llewellyn, 2003). Therefore, the mechanism of theorising in this research as well 

determines the key issues and methodological concerns. Moreover, theorizing in 

certain instances varies with the research objective and the variables involved in each 

of the objectives as it is for many of social science related studies leaving many 

grounds for further criticism.  

 

 

3.3 THEORIES EXPLAINING FIRMS, ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 

REPORTING  

 

Accounting has become an academic discipline as a result of the activities such as 

stock market crash in US and Royal Mail case in UK during 1929 (Beattie, 2005). 

Initially, financial accounting has largely been based in economic theorising, which 

has later been changed to decision usefulness based on social scientific theorising 

(Beattie, 2005; Stittle, 2004).  Theories explaining the existence of firms and firm 

behaviours have been the foundation when it comes to explaining many accounting 
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and financial reporting practices. Consequently, same set of theories are utilised in 

explaining accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human 

capital. They include but are not limited to: agency theory (Jensen and Meckling, 

1976; Burton-Jones, 1999; Michalisin, 2001; Saam, 2007; Wang et al., 2008), 

stakeholder theory (Smith et al., 2005), legitimacy theory (Wilmshurst and Frost, 

2000; Campbell, 2000), political economy of accounting theory (Tinker, 1980; 

Cooper and Sherer, 1984; Sunder, 1988; Abeysekara and Guthrie, 2005), 

institutional theory (Aerts et al., 2006), and stewardship theory (Muth and 

Donaldson, 1998). Particularly considering the aims and objectives of the thesis, 

human capital theory together with transaction cost theory (Burton-Jones, 1999; 

Lepak and Snell, 1999; Chen and Lin, 2004; Williamson, 1985) and resource based 

theory (Burton-Jones, 1999; Lepak and Snell, 1999; Chen and Lin, 2004) illustrated 

in the section 3.5 are observed to play a major role in conceptualising human capital 

while the other theories: agency, stakeholder, legitimacy etc. facilitate accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of investment in human capital of the firms.  

 

 

3.3.1 Agency Theory 

 

Originated initially via the authority relationship existed between master and servant, 

agency theory has been moved to a higher-level of theorizing reflecting context free 

grand theory (Llewellyn, 2003). This is inevitable in explaining the relationship 

between employer and employee (Burton-Jones, 1999, p. 26). According to principle 

agent relationship, managers are appointed and they are being employed in order to 

maximise the wealth of shareholders (Jensen and Meckling, 1976). Therefore, as the 
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agents, managers should be accountable and make activities of the organisations 

transparent to the principle (i.e. shareholders of the organisation) and most 

importantly they should act in favour of the shareholders of the firm. The orientation 

of agency theory focuses on the effect of various contractual relationships including: 

agency cost, information asymmetry, opportunism, adverse selection and moral 

hazard, which are related to the accounting and financial reporting recognition in 

general or particularly in relation to human capital investment (Jensen and Meckling, 

1976).   

 

The existences of information asymmetry and the asymmetry in the power 

relationship between the two parties due to the inherent nature of principle agent 

relationship have arguably been addressed via the practice of financial reporting 

(Jensen, and Meckling, 1976; Saam, 2007). The principle agent relationship and 

power and information asymmetry have demanded information disclosure, financial 

or otherwise in order to minimise the misunderstanding between owners and 

managers. Agency theory has been utilised by researchers to explain different 

neoclassical organisational phenomena (Tinker, 1988) and some aspects of voluntary 

disclosure such as: corporate disclosure (Barako et al., 2006), corporate governance 

(Samaha et al., 2012; Mangena and Tauringana, 2007), corporate social 

responsibility and environmental initiatives (Ness and Mirza, 1991), intellectual 

capital investment (Li et al., 2008; Kang and Gray, 2011) and human capital 

investment related activities such as executive remuneration, employee and 

management incentive schemes to align the interests of two parties (Mendez et al., 

2011) and disclosure justifying the practice in particular (Athanasios et al., 2013). 
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As example, Results of Ness and Mirza, (1991) revealed a positive association 

between environmental disclosure in the annual reports of the UK forms and the oil 

industry. Due to the damage oil companies cause the environment; it is believed that 

the managers pay considerable attention on the environmental disclosure with an 

indirect objective of increasing the welfare of the management and employees, 

which is consistent with agency theory. Michalisin (2001) in testing the validity of 

annual report text assertion about innovations, have adopted the agency theory as the 

basis of analysis and while justifying the annual report text assertion for many of the 

management related research phenomena the researcher has specifically highlighted 

that the same approach can be adopted particularly in testing even the relationships 

between key intangible resources and firm performance.  

 

Wang et al. (2008) revealed that information disclosure variance according to the 

listing states is explained using the agency theory stating that dual listed firms are 

extremely motivated to disclosure more voluntarily as an action to protect investors 

interest thorough enhanced disclosure. Study further revealed that increase of share 

holders due to foreign ownership, dispersed share ownership, monitoring cost and 

auditor type has been identified as potential reasoning relating to agency theory in 

justifying the demand for additional information by the firm stakeholders. However, 

since earning management of a firm is a decoupled behaviour, with different types of 

pressures such as regulative, normative, cultural-cognitive etc., using agency theory 

in explaining the shareholder value creation perhaps has been overwritten by other 

theories such as institutional, stakeholder, or stewardship (Donaldson and Davis, 

1991; Kury, 2007). 
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In accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms investment in human 

capital, treating employees as an asset, identifying the expenditure on employees as 

an investment etc., is recognised as a mean of addressing issues such as information 

asymmetry and moral hazard via proper training and development. In addition, 

agency argument has the potential to justify the introduction of employee share 

scheme and employee share option scheme in which case issues such as opportunism 

and adverse selection will perhaps be settled. Agency theory, in this sense is 

recognised even as an element shaping the structure of corporate administration 

(Mendez et al., 2011), which is recognised as belonging to the higher level of 

theorizing (Llewellyn, 2003).  Moreover, since financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment is a voluntary practice, agency theory would be an ideal 

theory explaining the practice (Barako et al., 2006; Ness and Mirza, 1991). Proving 

that, agency theory has been used in explaining the accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment in Greece (Athanasios et al., 

2013) and in Spanish context (Mendez et al., 2011) to study the remuneration 

policies applied to the executive directors. The results confirmed that, while it’s not 

the only, agency theory is a major theory explaining accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of the firms’ investment in human capital both from 

expenditure and disclosure perspectives. 

 

 

3.3.2 Legitimacy Theory 

 

Legitimacy is defined as “a property of rule or a rule making institutions, which 

itself exerts a pull towards compliance on those addressed normatively because those 
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addressed believe that the rule or institution has come in to being and operates in 

accordance with generally accepted principles of right process” (Frank, 1990, p 24). 

Legitimacy theory was initially developed based on the fundamental framework of 

Thomas Frank (Frank, 1990) on international relations mostly operated within the 

international law or regulatory system. Considering the international law arena, apart 

from being found in treaties, resolutions of international organisations, judgements 

of international courts, and arbitrary tribunals, rules are even found under the 

category of “customary practice”. Even though this was initially introduced in 

international relations arena, the same has been open to apply in business, accounting 

and financial reporting disciplines and as a result it has become one of the most cited 

theory in social and environmental accounting arena (Lindblom, 1994).  

 

According to Lindblom (1994), legitimacy is a condition or status, which exist when; 

an entity’s value system is congruent with the value system of the larger social 

system of which the entity is a part. It can even be identified as the foundation on 

formalising the accounting and financial reporting practice as well, considering the 

development adoption and expansion of the Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles (GAAP). In addition, as it provides a generalised perception or 

assumptions to make sure that the actions of entities are desirable, proper or 

appropriate within some socially constructed systems of norms values, beliefs and 

definitions (Tinker, 1984; Lindblom, 1982; Schman, 1995), it has widely been 

applied in terms of accounting and financial reporting since these aspects have rarely 

been covered by a properly defined regulatory framework (Lindblom, 1994). 
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According to legitimacy theory, information disclosure by firms are motivated by 

corporate need to legitimise the activities as they exist in society of external 

environment with many explicit or implicit contracts (Campbell, 2000). Further, 

considering the explanatory theories of voluntary social disclosure, legitimacy theory 

and political economy of accounting theory are set to be the most prominent theories 

as they are empirically testable. Moreover, Campbell (2000) believes that social 

disclosure will narrow the legitimacy gap in order to help actually perceiving 

organisations as they wish to be (Lindblom, 1994).  However, in certain instances, 

legitimacy theory becomes particular when there is a growth in community 

awareness and concerns, since firms will take measures to ensure their activities and 

performances are acceptable to the community. As it’s illustrated by Wilmshurst & 

Frost (2000), this is rather highlighted, if members of the community are becoming 

more and more interested in the impact of the companies on different aspects such as 

environmental impact. However, results of Wilmshurst and Frost (2000) revealed 

that managements weight too influences differently when considering the decision to 

disclose information. The results of the study have provided only a limited support 

for legitimacy theory to explain the relationship between influential factors of 

management decision process and the actual environmental disclosure.  

 

Researchers studying about social and environmental disclosure have attempted to 

explain social and environmental information disclosure in annual reports using 

institutional theory and legitimacy theory (Rahaman et al., 2004). However, the 

results of this study revealed that, in situations where institutional pressure 

particularly become the dominant explanation for organisations’ environmental 

reporting practices, due to some unique reasons such as international pressure, 
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financial difficulties, historical circumstances etc., the results of institutionalised 

reporting procedures rather become crisis of legitimation (Rahaman et al., 2004). 

Further, in an empirical investigation of annual reporting trends of intellectual capital 

in Sri Lanka, Abeysekara and Guthrie (2005) has identified legitimacy theory as one 

of the commonly used explanatory theories for intellectual capital reporting. As they 

pointed out arguments in favour of legitimacy theory “firms legitimise their 

continued survival by taking desired action in relation to economic, social, political 

and environmental factors” (Abeysekara and Guthrie, 2005, p. 155) implying that 

use of legitimacy theory is rather reactive than proactive.  

 

Considering the accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms investment 

in human capital, the current practice of writing off of total amount spent irrespective 

of whether they are revenue or capital expenditure ended up carving a distorted 

picture in all the stakeholders mind. It is revealed that, following the legitimacy 

argument firms have voluntarily disclosed information, which they assume is 

relevant and important for the stakeholders through the financial reporting practice. 

As example, using balanced scorecard framework (Kaplan and Norton, 1992) and 

Skandia navigator (Edvinsson, 1996 & 1997) for managing and reporting on 

intellectual capital has been identified as one early attempt for corporate legitimacy. 

Since legitimacy theory is utilised in explaining increase or decrease in human 

capital investment as well, the same can also be utilised in compensating the impact 

of the current accounting practice. As an example, the misleading picture of reduced 

profitability as a result of increase in the human resource expenditure can be 

compensated via voluntary information disclosure in annual reports, highlighting the 

spending on employees as an investment rather than expenditure, even though this is 



 117 

not the primary theoretical argument behind accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of investment in human capital of listed firms.  

 

 

3.3.3 Stakeholder Theory 

 

The history of stakeholder concept goes all the way back to 17
th

 century, though it 

first appeared as it is in an international memorandum by Stanford Research Institute 

in 1963 explaining stakeholders as; “those groups without those support the 

organisation would cease to exist” (as cited by Freeman, 1984, p. 31). It has later 

been defined more broadly by Freeman (1984 p. 25) as “any group or individual who 

can affect or is affected by the achievement of firms objectives”. They include 

stockholders, creditors, customers, employees, suppliers, communities and 

government interest groups. Stakeholder theory in firms plays the role of control and 

governance providing the answer to the questions: who shall control activities of 

firms and in whose interest (Jensen, 2001 & 2002; Donaldson and Preston, 1995). In 

addition, it helps predict organisational behaviour via relationships between the 

parties involved in organisations economic function (Kaplan and Norton, 1992; 

Becker et al., 2001). According to stakeholder theory, all stakeholders in certain way 

have a legitimate interest over firms’ activities and decisions (Guthrie et al., 2006). 

As a result, it has been used in many organisational practices such as strategic 

management, performance evaluation etc. (Kaplan and Norton 1992; Clement, 

2005). Further, in order to address the problem of increasing pressure corporations 

are facing due to multiple demands for information by different stakeholder groups 

at different level internally or externally, researchers have widely applied this 
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approach in different contexts such as knowledge management, design and operation 

of organisational information systems, corporate social responsibility etc. (Minonne 

and Turner, 2009; Cooper and Owen, 2007; Phillip et al., 2003). It has also been 

used as framework explaining accounting and financial reporting recognition of firm 

practices such as corporate social responsibility, which mainly focus on the 

information needs of multiple stakeholder groups (Roberts, 1992; Bouten et al., 

2011; Smith et al., 2005).  

 

Stakeholder theory as well is claimed to have had its roots in the widely used 

political economy of accounting theory. In addition, it has been considered as an 

extension to agency theory (An et al., 2011). While, agency theory managed to 

explain the separation of owner and manager scenario with the emergence of 

publicly owned firms, it has further been expanded to resemble the emergence of 

numerous stakeholder groups and new strategic issue in form of stakeholder 

framework (Freeman, 1984).  On these grounds, stakeholder theory tries to be 

identified as nexus of contracts and relationships managers have with all the other 

stakeholders since managers are the only group having contractual relationships with 

the other stakeholders (Smith et al., 2005).  

 

Roberts (1992) applied stakeholder theory in examining the determinants of the 

corporate social responsibility activities and disclosure and empirically tested the 

ability of stakeholder theory in explaining the corporate social responsibility 

activities and disclosure of the firms. This empirical analysis revealed that measures 

of stakeholder power, strategic posture and economic performances are significantly 

related to the levels of corporate social responsibility disclosure, supporting the 
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stakeholder theory approach implying that it forms a theoretical foundation to 

analyse the impact of prior economic performances on disclosure practices. This 

study attempted to improve prior studies using stakeholder approach as a 

comprehensive theoretical framework, in which measurements of level of corporate 

social disclosure is taken through independent third party evaluation. However, in 

further examining the disclosure literature as well as the firm practices, whether 

there is an equal treatment for all the stakeholders or whether some stakeholder 

requirements overwrite the interest of others, similar to the explanations of agency 

conflict is questionable.  

 

In an empirical application, Smith et al. (2005) adopted stakeholder theory to explain 

country of origin effect or international variation between Norway/Denmark and the 

US, for the level and type of corporate social disclosure. The results of the study 

focusing the social disclosures related to the areas of environment, employees, 

community, customers, and shareholder rights revealed that firms from countries 

with a stakeholder orientation have more corporate social disclosure in their annual 

reports as compared to the firms from countries with shareholder orientation (Smith 

et al., 2005). According to the results, stakeholder explanation was supportive of 

explaining the corporate social involvement of the firm. The study acknowledged 

academics’ and researchers’ concern and contribution on corporate social 

responsibility issues in explaining the periodical improvements in practice.  

 

However, there have been substantial arguments against as well implying whether 

the stakeholder approach is actually useful as it supposed to be (Phillip et al., 2003; 

Cooper and Owen, 2007) since corporations doesn’t seems coextensive with 
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shareholders making firm operations distant from most of the stakeholder categories. 

Critically evaluating the degree of institutional and administrative reforms 

empowering stakeholders and enhancing corporate accountability, Cooper and Owen 

(2007) revealed that despite voluntary and mandatory attempts on accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of corporate social involvement via external 

reporting, information disclosed only have had limited effect since they haven’t been 

used in a forum with a legitimate voice. 

 

Since accounting and financial reporting recognition of firm practices is the key way 

of discharging firm accountability to various stakeholder groups, stakeholder theory 

has widely been used as a justification of this practice (Roberts, 1992; Smith et al., 

2005; Bouten et al., 2011). It has also been understood as a widely used model 

capable of explaining financial reporting recognition of intellectual capital 

investment in the annual reports (Guthrie et al., 2004 & 2006; Pedrini, 2007) while 

very rarely in explaining human capital accounting and disclosure studies (Ax and 

Marton, 2008). However, Pedrini (2007) revealed that the positive relationship 

observed between corporate responsibility and the financial performance over last 

few decades may have been a result of the connection between corporate 

responsibility and intellectual capital development, in which case human capital 

particularly is the common interest promoting corporate citizenship behaviours and 

corporate intellectual capital.  

 

Human resources management practice, workforce of the organisation, managers in 

particular are the centres in the hub of relationship of firms and their involvement in 

firms as the key group of internal stakeholders can never be treated in isolation. 



 121 

Moreover, the demarcation of the category they belong may fade due to some 

organisational practices such as employee share and employee share option scheme 

creating employee cum shareholder states, which allow them to feel the sense of 

ownership. On the other hand, in macro economic scenario of firm operating in 

society, they represent external stakeholders, and essentially a part of general public 

contributing to the whole economy. In essence, they create value in terms of 

products or service and at the same time they consume value as well by being an 

internal or external customer. Therefore, the way firm treats employees and the way 

they are recognised though accounting and financial reporting system, arguably has 

significant impact on the overall financial and stock market performances. 

 

While agency theory, is recognised as key application explaining accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of firms human capital investment, since this practice 

promote a higher level of awareness of the involvement of stakeholders in broader 

context of firms (Roslender and Fincham, 2001) stakeholder theory as well is 

understood to be applicable particularly in explaining the nexus of relationship in 

conceptualization and discharging accountability considering multiple stakeholder 

perspective. 

 

 

3.3.4 Political Economy of Accounting Theory  

 

While the common law rules of accounting were proposed initially via Pacciouli 

accounting text, emergence of the complex and comprehensive organisations such as 

publicly held companies and related accounting systems has demanded for an 
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accounting system that can not easily be met by the common law approach (Sunder, 

1988). In this scenario, political economy of accounting theory has been adopted as 

an attempt to develop a conceptual framework as the accounting equivalent of the 

constitutional law. Political arithmetic became the basis for the political economy of 

accounting theory, which was originally emerged decades ago as a result of the 

attempts of Sir William Petty in developing the relationship between the economic 

functions such as production, buying, selling etc. with the regulatory framework 

which consist of law, customs, government and governance. In developing this 

framework, Petty (as cited by Dooley, 2005) used the facts about the society to 

construct some arithmetical illustrations rather than conduct laboratory experiments 

as in the induction process. This satisfied the requirements of social accounting, 

which later was interpreted to political economy of accounting; that is collection or 

estimation of economic statistics and phenomenon plus theoretical framework to 

organise. Political economy of accounting theory emphasise social and political 

interaction in relation to economic transactions of society and it has widely been 

used by many of the researchers in explaining financial accounting and reporting 

practice (Tinker, 1980).  

 

Considering the previous empirical studies (Cooper and Sherer, 1984; Tinker, 1980; 

Williams, 1999; Abeysekara and Guthrie, 2005; Bushman and Piotroski, 2006), 

political economy of accounting theory has been identified as an alternative 

framework in analysing the role of accounting information and voluntary disclosure 

practice by way of “sustaining and legitimising the current social economic and 

political arrangements” (Abeysekera, 2006, p. 70). According to Tinker (1980), 

political economies rely on the social relations of the production which is an analysis 
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of the division of power between the interested and the powerful groups in the 

society and the institutional process through which interests may be advanced. The 

political economy approach to financial reporting looks at accounting function 

within a broader structural and institutional environment in which it operates. Hence, 

information disclosures to external stakeholders are also promoted through the 

interrelationship between the political and the economic forces in the society. 

Considering the imperatives, the political economy of accounting has been identified 

by Cooper and Sherer (1984) as (1) normative, (2) descriptive and (3) critical 

approach which provides a broader and a more holistic framework for analysing and 

understanding the value of accounting reports within the economy as a whole. This 

theory argues, “firms disclose in a way that sets and shapes the agenda of debates in 

order to mediate, suppress, mystify and transform the conflict between the firms and 

its social economic and political arrangements” (Abeysekera, 2006, p. 70). 

 

Political economy theory has also been tested in examining the relationship between 

societal variables and voluntary environmental and social information disclosure in 

Asia-Pacific context (Williams, 1999). The results revealed that cultural dimensions 

including uncertainty avoidance and masculinity and political and civil systems have 

been significant in explaining the variation of environmental and social accounting 

disclosure. However, the legal system and equity market was not found to be 

significant with this regard. Moreover, political economy of accounting theory has 

been the foundation for some other theories such as stakeholder theory and 

legitimacy theory. And this is claimed to be rather proactive while the legitimacy 

theory has claimed to be reactive though it has its roots in the political economy of 

accounting theory. Political economy of accounting theory has already been used in 
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understanding the intellectual (Abeysekara and Guthrie, 2005) and human capital 

disclosure (Abeysekara, 2008) in Sri Lankan context.  

 

Due to the ability of critical examination and the comparison of social, economic and 

political situations, Abeysekera (2006) revealed that inter-country studies tend to get 

more benefits by adopting political economical accounting theory in empirical 

studies on accounting and financial reporting recognition of socially related 

phenomenon. As example, interpretation of the results of Abeysekara and Guthrie 

(2005), comparative to the previous empirical findings from Australia, the ability to 

recognise difference in between the political social and economical arrangement of 

the two countries under political economy of accounting approach, have provided a 

more suitable and germane method for comparative interpretation. While legitimacy 

theory is claimed reactive, political economy of accounting theory is a proactive, 

making it suitable to explain firm investment practices such as intellectual capital 

(Abeysekara and Guthrie, 2005). However, this theory hardly is identified as the 

explanation for accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investments, as its less acknowledged (Montagna, 1991) particularly in terms of 

human capital studies. Moreover, agency, stakeholder and legitimacy together has 

provided the ideal framework offering more promise over the other theories in 

justifying the theoretical framework on accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment (Beattie, 2005). Further, since political 

economy of accounting theory better address context specific as well as comparative 

scenario, the choice of stakeholder and legitimacy which could be considered 

reflecting higher level of theorizing (Llewellyn, 2003) is understood to be well suited 
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in developing the theoretical framework of the study accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment.  

 

 

3.3.5 Institutional Theory 

 

The formal organisational structures of institutions are generally formed through 

rationalization of institutional rules (Meyer and Rowan, 1977). Considering previous 

studies, these institutional rules are the norms established in society, which are 

considered as taken for granted, supported by public opinion or even force of law. 

Isomorphism of institutional environment with organisation, in fact decides the 

success and survival of organisations in society (Meyer and Rowan, 1977). Hence, 

institutional theory basically talks about the stability of institutional order explaining 

how institutions operate and what are the expectations of the expected behaviour of 

institutional actors (DiMaggio and Powell, 1991) and how firms respond to 

contextual pressures and influences to appear legitimate to investors and 

shareholders. According to, DiMaggio and Powell (1991), it has been widely utilised 

basically under the organisational analysis.  

 

Researchers have utilised institutional theory in studying about the earnings 

management (Kury, 2007) and information disclosure (Aerts et al., 2006; Guthrie 

and Petty, 2000; Rahaman et al., 2004; Irvine, 2008) though it is considered to be 

representing lower level of theorizing compared to the others (Llewellyn, 2003) due 

to the metaphoric nature of theorizing. It has been used in explaining the information 

disclosure widely considering environmental disclosure (Aerts et al., 2006); 
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however, it has not been utilised in recognising intellectual capital or human capital 

investment. Though it is widely applied in other phenomena such as earnings 

management (Kury, 2007), due to the lower level of theorising associated with the 

parameters of institutional theory (Llewellyn, 2003) such as norms established in 

society, values, assumptions etc. compared to the agency and stakeholder theories, 

institutional theory has not been applied in explaining the theoretical framework. 

However, due to the fact that social relationships particularly relating to the human 

component of the organisation still resembles the relationship between the 

employees of the organisations, in terms of social and employee interactions and 

relationships in a classified society and hierarchical firms, employee motivation 

mechanism etc., there is a potential that institutional theory can well be applied in 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human capital in 

future studies. 

  

 

3.3.6 Stewardship Theory  

 

In studying organisational economics theories particularly paying attention to agency 

theory and transaction cost theory, researchers argued that there are inherent 

problems in firms, because of the narrow model of human motivation and behaviour 

(Donaldson, 1990a and b). They further emphasised that, there would be a conflict of 

interest as a result of negative moral characterisation of managers. Further, according 

to the new economistic language (where question of economic efficiency take centre 

stage) of organisational economics in capitalistic firms, managers tend to be viewed 

as ignorant, opportunistic, self-interest oriented, or even displaying moral hazards, 
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which as a whole may even lead to a negative evaluation by the society (Williamson, 

1985).  

 

However, arguing against this phenomenon under the stewardship theory, managers 

are treated as “stewards rather than entirely self- interested rational economic man” 

(Muth and Donaldson, 1998, pp. 5-6). Stewardship theory argues an alternative 

managerial motivation to agency theory as it recognizes non-financial motives of 

managers including the need for achievement and recognition, the intrinsic 

satisfaction of successful performances, respect for authority and work ethics etc., 

which are aligned with the organisational objectives. They are rarely explained under 

capitalistic approach (Donaldson and Davis, 1991). Further, stewardship theory says 

that there is no conflict of interest between managers and the owners; however, there 

is a need for a governance structure to find an organisational structure allowing 

conditions to be achieved most effectively. This theory believes that, “managers 

essentially want to do a good job and to be a good steward of the corporate assets” 

(Donaldson and Davis, 1991, p. 51). However, to what extent executives achieve 

good corporate performance depends on the availability of the organisational 

structure helping executives to formulate and implement plans for high 

performances. As an example one of the major structural mechanism to avoid 

managerial opportunism would be via board of directors and the board leadership 

structure (Donaldson and Davis, 1991). Hence, stewardship theory said to be 

explaining many controversial arguments emerged against agency and other 

organisational economic theories.   
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Stewardship theory in certain instances has been used in explaining organisational, 

accounting and financial reporting practices. In many instances, to discover the 

influence of corporate governance characteristics on firms’ performances, 

researchers opted to have stewardship theory though it argued in an alternative way 

as opposed to the agency theory. The use of stewardship theory is mostly found in 

corporate governance studies (Donaldson and Davis, 1991), while it has not been 

applied much in intellectual capital or human capital disclosure related studies. The 

explanations under stewardship theory provide a framework to shape the governance 

structure of the firms. Therefore, though not widely, it could perhaps be employed 

even in the current study if justifications are required for the variables related to the 

stewardship mechanism such as firm leadership structure. Moreover, many of the 

employee related aspects such as employee compensation strategies such as 

employee share scheme, employee share option scheme, bonus, pay for performance 

can be identified as a part of strengthening the stewardship mechanism, as many of 

the above practices has the potential to align the individual objectives of the 

employees with those of the organisations.  

 

 

3.4 INTEGRATED THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK  

 

Considering the theories illustrated above, though they are explained under a certain 

uniquely identified concept relating to the firms, each and every one of them has 

pros and cons of their own and they are suited in explaining different organisational 

practices. On the other hand, there have always been overlaps in the explanations 

with no clear boundaries between them (An et al., 2011). As a result, it certainly is 
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hard to accept one and reject the other though it is possible to weigh the pros and 

cons of applying a particular theory and chose which works better in a given 

circumstance. Most of the above theoretical perspectives possess reasoning behind 

information disclosure in general and accounting and financial reporting recognition 

of human capital investment in particular. However, an integrated framework of 

theories: agency, stakeholder and legitimacy combined together (Figure 3.01) ought 

to have more explanatory power given the multiple stakeholder nature of the subject 

matter and widespread application in previous studies (Li et al., 2008; Kang and 

Gray, 2011; Mendez et al., 2011; Bushman and Piotroski, 2006; Rahaman et al., 

2004; Bouten et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2005). Since the study cover the broad aspect 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment 

measured via human resource expenditure and information disclosed, an integrated 

framework developed and proposed similar to An et al. (2011) better explain the 

scenario.  

 

Figure 3.01: Integrated theoretical framework 
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The Framework proposed above remedies the issues highlighted under 

organisational economic theory (Donaldson, 1990a & b), which combine agency and 

transaction cost theories to explain different organisational practices and situation. 

Donaldson (1990a & b) has combined agency and transaction cost theory on the 

ground that transactions and events of firms usually involve two parties and they are 

always structured to minimise the transaction cost. Similarly the current accounting 

and financial reporting practice of investment in people resembles the same implying 

that there are agency issues and the cost for employees always need to be minimised. 

However, in looking at the same problem in a different perspective considering 

employees rather as the most valuable resource or asset to be capitalised on, than 

minimising transaction cost involved, the integrated framework of agency, 

legitimacy and the stakeholder posses more freedom in explaining the employee 

involvement, value creation by the employees and the significance of the employees 

as a group playing multiple roles in firm as well as in society as a whole. Hence, this 

integrated framework remedies the inadequacy of theories and literature concerning 

the holistic view of firms’ investment in human capital via accounting and financial 

reporting recognition.  

 

Considering the decision usefulness, theories explaining accounting and financial 

reporting practice need to be inline with the theories explaining the operational and 

strategic management aspects (Ax and Marton, 2008). Moreover, decision usefulness 

justifies that firms disclose information since stakeholders find this information 

useful for decision-making in different capacities. Therefore, in addition to the 

theories governing the accounting and financial reporting recognition in human 

capital investment, the concept human capital investment is elaborated in light of the 
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human capital theory.  Since transaction cost theory and the resource-based theory 

are in favour of the arguments of the human capital theory the human capital theory 

discussion have also been enriched with the evaluation of these two theories in light 

of the accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital accounting.  

 

 

3.5 HUMAN CAPITAL THEORY 

 

The concept of human capital possesses a long history in which researchers tried to 

look at it from different perspectives. The initial literature related to human capital 

goes back to 17
th

 century, where pioneers in the field such as Sir William Petty 

(1690), Cantillon (1755), Adam Smith (1776) the father of economics, did highlight 

the importance of human component in organisation by illustrating how labour 

create value for firms and how excess labour become a part of firms’ capital 

(Dooley, 2005). However, Garry S. Backer and Theodore W. Schultz claim the 

credit for human capital theory formulation, for recognising human capital as a 

distinctive field of research (Schultz, 1961; Becker, 1962; Backer, 1993; Zula and 

Chermack, 2007). Backer (1993) highlighted that human capital development of a 

country has always been reflected through the economic development of the country 

in both micro and macro levels. Therefore, human capital theory suggests, 

“education, training and development and other knowledge have a positive impact on 

productivity and wages” (Zula and Chermack, 2007, p. 249) which exhibit (figure 

3.02) direct implications on human resource development implying that its an 

investment in human capital.  
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Many early researchers have argued that what people acquired through education 

and training, which is termed as human capital is a product of deliberate investment 

in people (Schultz, 1961; Becker, 1962; Graham, 1981; Maher, 1996). It has even 

been identified as one of the most important component under the intellectual capital 

development of the firms as well (Nerdrum and Erikson, 2001; Edvinsson, 1996 and 

1997; Edvinsson and Malone, 1997; Edvinsson and Sullivan, 1996; Brooking, 1997). 

However, the importance of it still has not adequately been reflected via current 

organisational practice or accounting and financial reporting recognition. As a result, 

researchers have suggested that the link between human resource development, 

human capital and organisational performance; need to be explored in terms of the 

positioning within the context of knowledge economy (Nafukho et al, 2004). 

 

Figure 3.02: Model of human capital theory and the associated investment or inputs 

and the associated return on investment or the output.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Zula, K. J. and Chermack, T. J. (2007). Human capital planning: A review of literature and implications 

for human resource development, Human resource development review, Vol. 6, No. 3, p. 250. 
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Claiming a lengthy history and a wide spectrum of study, human capital theory is 

one of the universally accepted concepts in economics, accounting and other social 

sciences. Human capital theory suggests that human component, if properly 

managed, is an investment for firms (Becker, 1962; Nafukho et al., 2004; Zula and 

Chermack, 2007) as they have the potential to create value for firms (Edvinsson, 

1996 and 1997). Emphasising on human capital concept, Sweetland (1996) suggests 

that, “individuals and society derive economic benefits from investments in people” 

(p. 341). According to the extensive review conducted by Sweetland (1996), the 

increasing amounts of literature and research trends, on human capital theory (Lev 

and Schwartz, 1971 and 1972; Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 2002; Graham, 

1981; Sweetland, 1996) have suggested the importance of human capital theory 

generally in society as well as in the firm environment. Most of the initial studies 

have paid much attention to the human capital investment in general (Graham, 1981; 

Sweetland, 1996). In subsequent studies, researchers have paid particular attention to 

firm level human capital measurement and accounting for it (Lev and Schwartz, 

1971 and 1972; Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 1999 and 2002; Longo and 

Mura, 2007). It implies that firms tend to use different perspectives in understanding 

the role of employees and investment in human capital in firms. Moreover, it is an 

obvious fact that there have been recent trends of research on human capital 

valuation and accounting and even corporate reporting recognition via qualitative 

human capital disclosure at firm level in addition to many of the macro level studies. 

However, irrespective of whether the researches are conducted at micro or macro 

level, the same human capital concept has been adopted in these studies.  
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In addition to the human capital theory argument, transaction cost theory (Burton-

Jones, 1999; Lepak and Snell, 1999; Chen and Lin, 2004; Williamson, 1985) and 

resource based theory (Burton-Jones, 1999; Lepak and Snell, 1999; Chen and Lin, 

2004), as well are equally capable in justifying the need for the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of firms investment in human capital in particular. 

Thus, they have critically been evaluated especially considering how they are applied 

in human capital conceptualisation.   

 

Transaction cost theory has initially been proposed in explaining the existence of 

firm via the Nobel work of Ronald Coase (as cited by Lepak and Snell, 1999) with 

the aim of cost efficiency of the transactions. According to transaction cost economy 

theory, market and firms are alternative views to complete transactions (Williamson, 

1985) in which case the choice of the firm or market is determined by the relative 

efficiency since “the human factors affecting the choice of governance (firm or 

market) are assumed to be bounded rationality (limited ability) and opportunism (self 

interest plus guile) (Burton-Jones, 1999, p. 26) though opportunism has frequently 

been criticised (Donaldson, 1990b). In applying transaction cost theory to human 

resource management, firms choose to employ personnel in the most efficient way 

taking in to account the transaction cost for hiring or bureaucratic cost for training 

and development (Coase, 1937 as cited by Lepak and Snell, 1999). Though 

transaction cost theory aims at cost efficiency and looking forward to the economic 

efficiency, how applicable it is in human capital investment is debatable (Barney, 

1990).  
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Considering human resource expenditure, some cost components are directly related 

to employee development generating return over a period, while others: hiring cost, 

wages and salaries, are expenses for the year incurred. This leads to the question of 

how can they be separated for capitalizing as human asset? Transaction cost theory 

implies that human capital posses dual properties of asset speciality and asset 

uncertainty (Lepak and Snell, 1999) hence only the items qualifying these criterion is 

capitalised. However, this theory has been subject to many subsequent arguments 

due to the difficulty in recognising the exact value (Chen and Lin, 2004). Even 

though transaction cost theory has not been used to justify the theoretical framework 

of this study, it has been considered in conceptualizing firms’ human capital. 

 

On the other hand, resource based or knowledge based theory was developed based 

on the conceptualisation of the firm by Penrose as, a “collection of productive 

resources” (Penrose, as cited by Burton-Jones, 1999, p. 29) where, a firms’ 

distinctive competencies are based on firms’ resources and capabilities such as 

patented inventions, intangibles such as reputation, brand image, human skills etc.. 

Since resource-based view can be aligned with the practice intellectual capital 

according to the intellectual capital perspective (Barney, 1991), this theory has 

widely been used in intellectual capital (Riahi-belkaoui, 2003) and human capital 

management and accounting studies (Abhayawansa and Abeysekera, 2008; Chen and 

Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 1999).  

 

According to the resource-based theory, a resource becomes valuable for firms if and 

only if it has the potential to contribute to the competitive advantage of firms. 

Therefore, according to the resource-based view, human resource is proposed even 
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as human asset (DTI, 2003b). However, researchers argue that human resource 

becomes an asset if and only if it has the potential to create a competitive advantage 

for firms (Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 1999). Based on this, the firm 

strategies are often developed in a way that core competencies are developed 

internally while general technologies and skills are outsourced. This argument from 

human capital theory perspective implies that the talent capable of core skills are the 

human asset of the firms while the rest can be written off as human resources 

expenditure. This is clearly illustrated via human resource architecture (Figure 3.03) 

framework developed by Lepak and Snell (1999) considering the knowledge and 

skills of employees (uniqueness of the human capital) and their strategic importance 

(value of human capital). In this model, human resource management and 

development functions have been categorised into four quadrants: internal 

development, acquisition, contracting and alliance illustrating what type of 

employment modes and human resource configurations are likely to result in capital 

gain. The same model was used by Chen and Lin (2004) to highlight, which items of 

human resources are to be reported and disclosed as human capital of the firm. 

 

According to Lepak and Snell (1999) and Chen and Lin (2004), formation and 

acquisition cost at early stage of development of human resources is treated as 

human capital only when they posses the properties of uniqueness and high value 

resembling core skills to the firm as far as the position of firm in industry is 

concerned. On the other hand, learning cost in the middle of development process is 

treated as human capital as long as companies invest in learning of human capital 

possessing the property of uniqueness. This differentiates firm specific training and 

development aspects from general training and skills development implying that firm 
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specifics will be attracting much attention of the management in terms of human 

capital investment compared to general training.  In addition, replacement cost at the 

final stage of development as well is capitalised with regard to the human capital 

possessing the properties: high uniqueness and high value.  Hence, the current 

accounting practice and undoubtedly the subjective definition of human capital and 

classification of human resource expenditure is criticised on this ground.  

 

Figure 3.03: Summary of the Human Resources Architecture 

 

 

Source: Lepak, D. P. and Snell, S. A., (1999). The human resource architecture: towards a theory of human 

capital allocation and development, Academy of management review, Vol. 24, No. 1, pp. 31-45 
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Drawing upon resource based theories and other research streams: epistemology, 

organisational learning, organisational capabilities, innovation, new product 

development, etc. most recent researches has centred on the human capital resources 

focussing more on knowledge based theory (Burton-Jones, 1999). This involve key 

assumptions: (1) knowledge is the key productive resource of the firm; (2) 

knowledge is acquired by and in case of tacit knowledge stored by the individuals of 

the firm; (3) due to the time and cognitive limitation of human beings, individuals 

need to specialise in the knowledge they acquire; and (4) production or value 

creation typically require numerous different types of specialised knowledge 

(Burton-Jones, 1999). Moreover, given strategic competitive advantage is the key for 

existence, survival and continuous success of the current firms, roles such as 

creation, protection and integration of the specialised knowledge has become the 

primary ones of the current firms. Even though knowledge based and resource based 

concepts simultaneously attempted to justify the human capital accounting practice 

in a way that employees are recognised formally via valuation (Lepak and Snell, 

1999; Chen and Lin, 2004), empirical application of that was limited (Riahi-

belkaoui, 2003; Chen et al., 2014). Riahi-belkaoui (2003) via an empirical analysis 

of US multinational firms revealed that resource based view is equally supportive as 

stakeholder theory in explaining relationship between intellectual capital investment 

and financial performance. In this study however, resource based theory is mostly 

applied in justifying the conceptualisation of accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment.  

 

In a situation where, firms tend to accept the human capital theory argument of 

employees possessing potential to generate future wealth for firms (Edvinsson, 1996 
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and 1997; Lev and Schwartz, 1971; Sweetland, 1996) via human capital developed 

with them over a period of time through education, general and firm specific training 

and development means, experience over a period of time, it is highly unlikely that 

firms will opt for the option of minimising the transaction cost in terms of the human 

resource management functions of the firms. Further, when employees truly are asset 

for the firms and when the future wealth is tied to the employees of firms, firms tend 

to understand employees as a strategic competitive advantage, which should be 

invested in (Lepak and Snell, 1999 and 2002). Therefore, relying on the human 

capital theory argument, in this study, it is assumed that firms tend to perceive their 

employees as an asset to be invested in rather than a cost to be controlled and 

minimised, and it’s employees who create value for firms. This theoretical argument 

and the assumptions are tested in this study, considering the financial implications of 

human resource management process, via the accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of firms investment in human capital, measured using human resource 

expenditure, human capital per value added and voluntary human capital disclosure, 

in a way that it reflects the firm value creation by employees. The use of all the 

above three methods of conceptualization facilitate a holistic picture on accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital. Due to the 

fact that employees are the greatest asset to the firms and the tendency of firms in 

confirming this fact repeatedly in their annual reports, it is inevitable to investigate 

whether firms actually treat employees in the same way. All three theories: human 

capital (Schultz, 1961; Becker, 1962; Backer, 1993), transaction cost (Coase, 1937 as 

cited by Lepak and Snell, 1999) and resource based or knowledge based (Coase, 

1937 as cited by Lepak and Snell, 1999; Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 2002) 

together appropriately justify the use of human capital expenditure, human capital 
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per value added and qualitatively disclosed human capital information in reflecting 

the accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms investment in human 

capital as illustrated below.  

 

 

3.5.1 Human resource expenditure and human capital theory 

 

The inadequacy of an appropriate measure for human capital has been attributable to 

the inadequacy in the link between the two disciplines economics and accounting 

particularly in highlighting the information need with the type and the nature of 

decision involved (March, 1987; Baker and Wallage, 2000). The same applies 

regarding the lack of correlation of human capital theories studied at individual, firm 

and society level with real world practice with relevant decision frameworks (Ax and 

Marton, 2008). Despite the effort of measuring human capital as an asset, calculation 

of human capital value and inventing alternative accounting treatment to recognise 

employees as an asset, firms still tend to stick to the criteria of treating employees 

just as an expenditure of the firm. This perhaps is a result of the belief that firms 

actually do not own employees of firms as they can leave the firms whenever they 

want to (Holmen, 2005) and firms certainly are not willing to take the risk of 

accounting for an asset, they do not actually own. However, considering the multiple 

role employees as people play in firm and in the society and the relationship they 

have with the macro economic environment, treating employees just as an 

expenditure and attempting to exert control over and minimise the expenditure leads 

to an unequal distribution of firm value added and ultimately the wealth in between 

the stakeholders as well. This tends to be a threat not just to the firm but also to the 
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entire economy due to the multiple roles they play in the economy. This highlights 

the importance of recognising employees as a valuable asset to be capitalised rather 

than just expenditure.  

 

Considering the behaviour of human resource expenditure and current accounting 

treatment for outlay on employees, there is no evidence to reflect that firms treat 

employees as an asset to the firms rather than an expense. However, human resource 

expenditure of an entity under the current categorisation consists with payroll cost 

including wages and salaries, other human resource functions related costs such as 

recruitment, selection, training and development, retirement benefit obligations, 

employee benefits, replacement cost etc. (Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 2002; Chen and 

Lin, 2004). According to human capital theories discussed above, most of the 

expenditure categories mentioned above does reflect human capital either in total or 

at least as a portion of the spending (Nafukho et al., 2004; Lev and Schwartz, 1971; 

Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 2002; Zula and Chermack, 2007). However, 

considering some of the empirical studies discussed in detail in the literature review 

section, in many instances, researchers have argued against this and attempted to 

highlight the fact that writing off of the total human resource expenditure in the 

annual financial reports gives a wrong picture since employee are actually the 

greatest asset or an investment to the firm rather an expenditure (Elias, 1972; 

Schwan, 1976; Chen and Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 2002) offering a 

strategic competitive advantage for the firms.  

 

Though there are evidences to disagree with the current accounting treatment of 

writing off of the total human resources expenditure in the annual financial 
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statements of the firm, there is no way to justify the total human resource 

expenditure as the human capital of the firm as well. However, relying on the theory 

of compensation and efficient labour market, many researchers have used the total 

amount of compensation paid to employees as a proxy to assess the value of human 

capital (Pulic, 1998 and 2000; Chen et al., 2005; Nazari and Herremans, 2007) in 

different context. With this regard, it is essential to emphasise that treating human 

resource expenditure as an input in assessing the human capital, doesn’t mean that 

the total amount spent on people becomes entirely capital of the firm. Thus, some 

researchers have proposed ways to split up the human resource expenditure to figure 

out what should actually be written off and what should actually be capitalised 

considering the uniqueness and the value of employees (Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 

2002; Chen and Lin, 2004) though they haven’t been used in real world.  

 

Even though number of techniques including the use of payroll cost, expected future 

earnings, expected value added etc. have been proposed to measure the human 

capital under the human capital, transaction cost and resource/ knowledge based 

theories (Brummet et al., 1968; Flamholtz, 1971; Lev and Schwartz, 1971; Chen and 

Lin, 2004; Lepak and Snell, 1999 & 2002), way few (almost non of them) have 

literally been penetrated to the real world, leaving the total human resource 

expenditure disclosed by the firms, the only externally available financial 

information reflecting the human capital of the firm. Therefore, in this study, as the 

only available financial parameter reflecting accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of investment in human capital, i.e. total human resource expenditure, is 

used as one of the proxy parameter.  
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This conceptualisation is backed by the assumption, if firms choose to treat 

employees as an asset with the potential to generate future wealth for firms, they 

would rather treat the amount spent on that asset as an investment for the firm and 

will not opt for cost minimization. In this background, the use of total human 

resources expenditure even in valuing the human capital of the firm allow 

researchers to capture the problems associated with the current accounting treatment 

as well. Through the recent accounting and financial reporting literature however, it 

is evidenced that due to the data unavailability and inadequacy in the application of 

the proposed methodologies in the real world to recognise firms actual investment in 

human capital, many researchers have had to restrict themselves to accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of this investment via the total expenditure or the 

voluntary human capital information disclosed in credible sources of the firms such 

as annual reports, prospectus, company websites, etc. (Ax and Marton, 2008; 

Abhayawansa and Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera, 2008; Pulic, 1998 and 2000; 

Chen et al., 2005).  

 

 

3.5.2 Human Capital Disclosure and human capital theory  

 

As a remedy for the inadequacies in the current accounting and financial reporting 

system and framework in valuing and accounting for the human capital investment, 

firms have started to voluntarily disclose information about the employees of the 

firm (Abeysekera, 2008; Huang et al., 2007; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004). 

Researchers have further revealed that human capital is vital information though they 

haven’t been used systematically over a period of time and it is said that human 
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capital information is capable of providing an insight ahead of time (Royal and 

O’Donnell, 2008). Through studies conducted at firm level as well as employee 

level, researchers revealed that human capital can be measured via some human 

capital attributes or parameters such as innovation, group cohesiveness, practical 

application, intrinsic work reflection, organisational commitment (Longo and Mura, 

2007), even though it is questionable which of them actually contribute more in the 

whole value creation process by the employees. However, due to the unavailability 

of a proper framework governed by standards guiding the voluntary information 

disclosure, firms have randomly chosen information to be included in the annual 

reports of the firms (Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; Abeysekera, 2008). This even 

has been a result of inadequacy in an appropriate link between the information need 

considering the decision-making by the firm stakeholders (March, 1987; Baker and 

Wallage, 2000).  

 

Considering the value relevance of accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

firm practices, human capital information disclosure in general has been identified 

having significant impact in enhancing the stock market efficiency (Royal and 

O’Donnell, 2008) even though, what type of information to be published and how 

flexible financial reporting could not be answered (Iatridis, 2008; Royal and 

O’Donnell, 2008; Pedrini, 2007). However, the recent empirical studies on human 

capital (Royal and O’Donnell, 2008; Pedrini, 2007; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; 

Abeysekera, 2008; Ax and Marton, 2008) or intellectual capital of which human 

capital become one significant component (Striukova et al., 2008; Huang et al., 

2007) have revealed that there is a huge variation in information disclosure. In 

certain instances even overlapping between frameworks adopted highlighting the 
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significance of human capital for intellectual capital development, corporate social 

responsibility, sustainable development etc. (Pedrini, 2007) as well is observed. This 

variation in information disclosure via external reporting has been attributable to 

many firm specific attributes including human resource management practice itself 

(Ax and Marton, 2008) as well as external environmental pressures such as 

legislations and regulatory frameworks (Stittle, 2004; Roslender et al., 2004; 

Roslender and Stevenson, 2009), international accounting harmonization 

(Christensen et al., 2007) which may have resulted in positive and negative 

influences on overall practice. Further, the recent debates highlighted that corporate 

governance and good governance practice of firms as well has promoted the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment in intellectual 

capital, where human capital is the value creator (Li et al., 2012; Li et al., 2008).   

 

Empirical studies have further revealed that there is an increasing trend in terms of 

the type and the depth of information disclosure (Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; 

Abeysekera, 2008). This in certain instances has been claimed to be a part of window 

dressing via voluntary financial disclosure of the firm. Further, the widespread 

practice of reporting soft accounting information by the firms recently has even 

resulted in a paradigm shift in studies on accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capita investments, which shifts from narrow economic and 

accounting perspective towards social scientific perspective (Stittle, 2004; Roslender 

and Dyson, 1992; Roslender, 1997; Roslender and Fincham, 2001). Under this new 

research paradigm, researchers have highlighted the importance of soft accounting 

information over the hard accounting figures. However, considering the decision 

usefulness of the information provided in the annual financial statements relating to 
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the employees, it is imperative to understand whether the information provided are 

actually addressing the information needs of the firms and what result it generate in 

return (Iatridis, 2008). This is particularly the case since stakeholders may place 

different value on different components disclosed (Chen et al., 2005).  

 

Even recent developments in the regulatory framework of external reporting of 

intellectual capital, covering human capital reporting as well, evidenced that only 

goodwill and some other recognised intangible assets acquired such as patent, 

licence, trademark, have accounting basis for measuring the value but not human 

capital separately (Stittle, 2004). In addition, neither generally accepted accounting 

principles nor international financial reporting standards have been able to recognise 

human capital and even a major portion of structural capital despite long research 

history in the subject (Turner, 2005). Therefore, still many of the intellectual capital 

components of firms have failed to get their position in financial statements, 

remaining still as a voluntary disclosure item under external reporting (Holmen, 

2005).  

 

In addition to the intellectual capital management and development frameworks 

reviewed in the previous chapter, a well informed and government backed 

intellectual capital management and reporting frameworks are found in Scandinavian 

context. In addition to the quantitative approaches such as human resource financial 

statements (Grojer and Johanson, 1996 and 1998) from Scandinavian countries, 

Danish intellectual capital statement framework (DATI, 2000) as well was 

developed addressing the same issue qualitatively (Roslender et al., 2014) by the 

Danish Ministry of Science Technology and Innovations. Preparation of the 
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intellectual capital statement which consist of: knowledge narratives, a set of 

management challenges, a set of initiatives and a set of indicators (DATI, 2000) was 

required even by the Danish Financial Statement Act (June 2001) to make the 

practice more formal, systematic and comprehensive (Holmen 2005). A similar 

approach could be used particularly for human capital management and accounting 

as well in a way that the framework reflects the firm value creation by the 

employees, which essentially is to be identified under the accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of firms human capital investment.  

 

Since human capital is the value creator of intellectual capital and even in situations, 

where human capital is properly levered to make them explicit as structural capital, 

there is always a great potential in the employees them selves to create more value, 

which makes a firm distinguished from the others, creating a strategic competitive 

advantage (Edvinsson, 1996 and 1997; Edvinsson and Malone, 1997). This makes it 

more persuasive that, the current financial implication on employees and result of 

accounting and financial reporting mechanism in terms of the voluntary information 

disclosure need to be studied further. For this purpose, conceptualisation of the 

human capital concept is elaborated in the section below.   

 

 

3.6 CONCEPTUALISATION 

 

Conceptualization as defined in this research refers to the process of development 

and clarification of concept or phenomenon in a way that it is clearly understood and 

meaningful to the users via proper measurement mechanism. Conceptualising a 
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phenomenon associated with human capital even though it is a universally accepted, 

or widely spoken of, is still challenging due to the very nature of the subject matter 

itself. So does the same, considering how to create instruments that can measure the 

human capital or contribution of human capital in firm value creation or even 

understanding the reasoning behind and consequences of human capital investment 

(Brooks and Nafukho, 2006). Considering an overall view on the financial aspects of 

firm, human capital is conceptualised in a way that it reflects the changes in concepts 

from conventional to modern perspectives of firms. Conventionally, spending on the 

employees is treated as expenditure for the firm, which always is aimed at 

minimising. Even under current economic environment due to conventional 

accounting treatment for employee spending, human resource budget has been the 

most susceptible leading to downsizing, job redundancies, trimming down training 

and developments etc., though all these measures resulted in considerable cyclical 

impact on firms and the overall economy. However, since firms tend to realise the 

importance in recognising employees as asset, providing strategic competitive 

advantage, they tend to use the financial reporting to compensate. Both these 

phenomenon are captured together for the first time in human capital research 

spectrum as illustrated in the figure 3.04 below.  

 

Even though there are not many empirical evidence supporting the argument, the 

higher the human capital expenditure, the higher the human capital disclosure of the 

firm, Ax and Marton, (2008) revealed supporting finding to conclude that there is a 

link between the human resources management practice and the perceived 

importance of the information disclosure. Moreover, reliance on the previous 

empirical evidence as well justify using quantitative financial implications i.e. 
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human capital expenditure (Lajili and Zeghal, 2005b and 2006) and the qualitative 

financial reporting i.e. human capital disclosure (Cormier et al., 2009; Abeysekera 

and Guthrie, 2004; Abeysekera, 2008) in conceptualising the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of firms human capital investment. Moreover, the two 

proxies expenditure and disclosure provide implications on the attempt of Becker 

(2001) in explaining accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment via cost control and firm value creation perspectives. Ultimately, firms’ 

investment in human capital is conceptualised using the accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of this investment via human resource expenditure (termed in 

the study as human capital expenditure) and the voluntary human capital disclosure. 

 

Figure 3.04: Human capital conceptualization 

 

 

 

Figure 3.04 illustrates the accounting and financial reporting recognition of the broad 

concept, investment in human capital conceptualised via human capital expenditure 

and voluntary human capital disclosure. Using both accounting and economics as 

Accounting and 
financil reporting 

recognition of Human 
Capital investment  

Human Capital 
Disclosure 

Human Capital 
Expenditure 
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well as the social and scientific aspects of human capital investment in 

conceptualisation provide a holistic picture on the practice human capital investment.  

 

 

3.6.1  Investment in Human capital  

 

Human capital is understood as a concept, vaguely defined with no adequate and 

generally accepted definition. Relying on previous definitions for human capital as 

well as what is expected of people component of firms, the following definition is 

developed in this study and utilised in the conceptualization process. 

Human capital is defined as, 

 The potential of employees to contribute in the value creation process of 

firms through the optimum use of knowledge gained, experience acquired and the 

attitudes developed over the period of time in accomplishing the strategic success of 

the firm.  

 

In conceptualising firms’ investment in human capital, a holistic approach, providing 

a 360-degree coverage of employees particularly referring to the contribution of 

employees in firm value creation, needs to be adopted. Therefore, in this study while 

human capital expenditure is used as one parameter in deriving the proxies to reflect 

investment in human capital, human capital disclosure is used as another proxy 

(Longo and Mura, 2007). They simultaneously recognise the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital.  

 

 



 151 

3.6.1.1 Human capital expenditure and efficiency 

 

Use of the expenditure to conceptualise the investment in practices in order to study 

the performance impact, especially when they actually reflect the characteristics of 

investment, is inevitable in accounting and finance literature (Ehie, and Olibe, 2010; 

Chan et al., 1990). This in a way, has been a result of the conventional accounting 

practice we still adopt. Though not exactly termed as human capital, human resource 

expenditure in the firm’s financial statements as well has significant impact over the 

firm performances. As example, researchers have revealed that firms who disclose 

labour cost has commanded higher equity market value in general than non 

disclosing firms and even better portfolio performance (Lajili and Zeghal, 2005b and 

2006). Payroll cost has been used as a proxy for investment in human capital of 

firms’ over a long period of time by many researchers (Lajili and Zeghal, 2005b and 

2006). Though they have used different methods in estimating human capital 

investment for different purposes, yet the payroll cost has been identified as 

frequently used direct or indirect proxy for human capital investment (Lev and 

Schwartz, 1971; Brummet et al, 1968; Flamholtz, 1972a & b; Edvinsson, 1997; 

Sveiby, 1997; Pulic, 2000).  

 

Since the research is aimed at the accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment, in addition to human capital expenditure, the portion of 

value added by employees as well has been used as a valid proxy reflecting the firm 

value creation via employees. This has originally been calculated as human capital 

contribution of intellectual capital efficiency indicator by Pulic (1998 and 2000). 

Value added intellectual capital coefficient, developed by Pulic (1998 and 2000) has 



 152 

been used by many researchers in studying determinants and consequences of 

intellectual capital efficiency as well (Chan, 2009a; Chan, 2009b; Chen et al., 2005; 

Tan et al., 2008). The value added human capital coefficient is calculated using the 

method proposed by Pulic (1998 and 2000) in a way that it reflects investment in 

human capital opposed to the efficiency of investment.   

 

Value added intellectual coefficient (Pulic, 1998 and 2000) used the methodology 

proposed by Riahi-belkaoui, (2003) in calculation of the value added of firms. The 

complete calculation process is given in the equations below. The total amount of 

value added (VA) of the firm is calculated as the difference between input and output 

of the firm (equation 1). The equation can further be elaborated in a way that the 

total value added is reflected to represent how it’s distributed among the stakeholders 

of the firms as well. When this broader definition proposed by Donaldson and 

Preston (1995) is adopted, the change in retained earnings for the year (R) is 

calculated by deducting brought in materials and services or cost of goods sold (B), 

depreciation (DP), wages or employee salaries (W), Interest to debt holders (I) 

dividends, (DD) and taxes (T) from the net sales revenue (S) as it’s illustrated in the 

equation (2). Once the equation is rearranged to reflect the net value added it consists 

with: wages paid to employees, interest paid to debt holders, dividends paid to 

shareholders, taxes paid to the government, and the retained earnings attributable 

finally to the shareholders of the firm (equation 3). When dividend and change in 

retain earning added together in the net income for attributable to the shareholders 

(NI) the total value added composition is given using the equation (4). In order to 

calculate the investment in human capital from firm value added point of view, 

human capital per value added is calculated by dividing the total human resource 
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expenditure (HRE) of the firm by the firm value added (equation 5). Even though 

this is different from the conceptualization in Pulic (1998 and 2000), the 

methodology for using this can be justified from human capital theory point of view 

as this research uses the coefficient as a proxy for investment in human capital than 

the efficiency parameter to human capital investment. It particularly consider how 

much of the firm value creation is actually distributed to the employees of the firm. 

 

                                                                (1) 

 

                                                                      (2) 

   

                                                                      (3) 

  

                                                                                                  (4) 

 

                                        
   

  
                                                    (5) 

 

 

3.6.1.2 Human capital disclosure and disclosure index 

 

Using self reported disclosure as method to measure firms’ involvement in activities 

creating value has a long history in corporate financial reporting field. The same 

method has been expanded in addressing firm involvement in corporate social 

responsibility, intellectual capital development, human capital investment etc. 
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(Abbott and Monsen, 1979; Williams, 2001 & 2004; Ax and Marton, 2008; Bouten 

et al., 2011; Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Abeysekara, 2006, 2008 & 2010).  

 

According to the human capital disclosure related studies conducted all over the 

world, researchers have gone through many human capital attributes, value creation 

factors or disclosure items and it does not seem that there is a consensus among 

factors or attributes used by researchers (Ax and Marton, 2008; Abeysekara, 2008; 

Longo and Mura, 2007; Olsson, 2001; Subbarao, and Zeghal, 1997) or even the 

direction these studies heading. Further, the disclosure in terms of quantity and 

quality and the impact of disclosing these attributes on decision-making and on 

different financial and non-financial outcome also varies hugely. Many human 

capital disclosure studies have developed and adopted a variety of disclosure indices 

though there is no consensus among them (Bassi and McMurrer, 2005; Abeysekara 

and Guthrie, 2004; Abeysekera, 2006; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2005; Subbarao and 

Zeghal 1997; Ax and Marton, 2008; Lajili and Zeghal, 2006). Even though 

researchers have taken efforts to categorise disclosure items using statistical 

techniques such as factor analysis (Huang et al., 2007), that has not always been 

possible with qualitative phenomenon such as intellectual capital or human capital 

investment related disclosure, motivating researchers to look for some meaningful 

criteria for categorisation of items. Therefore in this study, a human capital 

disclosure index is developed using the balanced scorecard framework and value 

creation perspective. In addition to quantitative variables, the qualitative attributes 

disclosed addressing different stakeholders via annual reports are categorised 

according to the balanced scorecard perspectives (Kaplan and Norton, 1992) as a 

disclosure index. This will serve as a proxy for the human capital disclosure 
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reflecting the financial reporting recognition of human capital investment of firms. 

The use of the balanced scorecard has been justified by subsequent studies (Marr et 

al., 2004) as well, highlighting that the visual representation of strategic intent via 

practices such as corporate financial reporting facilitates the understanding of how, 

organisational resources especially intangible assets and intellectual capital are used 

to create value.   

 

Since there is no reporting framework governing human capital reporting and they 

have all been spread throughout the annual reports (Abeysekara and Guthrie, 2004; 

Abeysekera, 2006; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2005; Subbarao and Zeghal 1997; Ax 

and Marton, 2008; Lajili and Zeghal, 2006), there has been a necessity to develop a 

logical framework to summarise and reflect the overall human capital disclosure of 

the firms. Developing human capital disclosure index has been a widely accepted 

methodology so far though the criterion used to develop indices have not been clear 

and logical (Longo and Mura, 2007). Remedying this and reflecting the value 

creation by employees, the balanced scorecard mechanism developed by Kaplan and 

Norton (1992 and 2001) has been adopted in developing the human capital index in 

this study (figure 3.04). Balanced scorecard framework has been applicable not only 

as a tool of managing the intellectual capital but also a framework having a vision of 

continuous learning and change to reflect and create value for the future (Johanson et 

al., 1999). Ultimately, human capital information is conceptualised in a way that the 

sub components are categorised under the four perspectives, innovation and learning 

perspective, financial perspective, customer perspective and internal business 

perspective (Kaplan and Norton, 1992 and 2001).  
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The same concept balanced scorecard has been adopted by Becker et al. (2001) in 

developing the human resources score card resembling the employee value creation 

under strategic human resource management and it can be illustrated via the 

balanced scorecard strategy map in value creation (Figure 3.05). According to the 

balanced scorecard strategy map in value creation, learning and growth perspective 

is aimed at developing, motivated and well prepared workforce for firm, which can 

be employed in enhancing the efficiency and the effectiveness in the internal 

business process of the firm. Efficient and effective internal business process in fact 

leads to higher customer satisfaction, while it directly contributes in positive 

operational and financial performances and result in improved shareholder value. 

Ultimately, the higher level of customer satisfaction as well contributes in improving 

the shareholder value via increased operational and financial performances. 

Therefore, Balanced Scorecard is identified as a proven technique in strategic human 

resource management, thus the same undoubtedly can be applied as a financial 

reporting framework as well in representing firm value creation by employees via 

human capital disclosure of the firm, particularly since balanced scorecard 

systematically illustrate the contribution of employees in shareholder value creation. 

The four perspectives of balanced scorecard are illustrated highlighting, how each of 

them represents contribution of firm value creation by employees.  
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Figure 3.05: Balanced scorecard strategy map in value creation 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Source: Kaplan, R. S. and Norton D.P., (2001), Commentary, transforming the Balanced scorecard from performance measurement to strategic management, part 1, Accounting horizons, 

vol.15, No. 1, pp. 87-104. 

Financial 
Perspective 

Customer 
Perspective 

Internal 
Perspective 

Learning & 
Growth 
Perspective 

Shareholder Value 
ROCE 

  New Revenue sources       Customer Profitability              Cost per Unit                    Asset Utilisation 

•    Market and Account Share                   Customer Acquisition            Customer Retention  

"Build the Franchise" 
 

(Innovation 
Processes) 

"Increase Customer 
Value" 

(Customer 
Management 

Processes) 

"Operational Excellence" 
(Operations & Logistics 

Processes) 

"Good Neighbor" 
 

(Regulatory & 
environmental 

Processes) 

    Customer Satisfaction 

 

 

 

Product Leadership 

Customer Intimacy 

Operational Excellence Customer Value Proposition 
Product/Service Attributes Relationship Image 

Price Quality Time Function Service Relations Brand 

 A Motivated and Prepared Workforce 

Strategic 
Competencies 

Strategic 
Technologies 

Climate for 
Action 

Improve Shareholder Value 

Revenue Growth Strategy Productivity Strategy 

Build the Franchise 
Increase Customer 

Value 

Improve Cost 
Structure 

Improve Asset 
Structure 



 158 

Learning and growth perspective   

 

Based on the learning and growth perspective of “can we continue to improve the 

knowledge capital and create value” (Kaplan and Norton, 1992, p. 75), the relevant 

human capital disclosure attributes are summarised and categorised as value creation 

factor under this perspective. Attributes used by different researchers: employee 

know-how or competencies, educational qualification, vocational qualification, 

career development, entrepreneurial spirit and innovations, employee training 

programmes, employee motivation and employee experience have been summarised 

and categorised under the learning and growth perspective (table 3.01) (Holmen, 

2005). These factors basically reflect the human capital employees originally bring 

to the firm with them and the firms attempt to develop the capital accumulated 

directly with employees, which will be the foundation for the human capital 

development of the firm according to number of human capital theories (Burton-

Jones, 1999; Graham, 1981). 

 

 

Internal business process perspective 

 

The internal business perspective of what must we excel at? (Kaplan and Norton, 

1992) is related with many of the human capital related attributes as illustrated in the 

table 3.01. Attributes relating to internal business process according to previous 

studies: employee health and safety, employee appreciation, employee numbered and 

demography analysis, employee feature representation, human resource management 

and human resource function, human resource management director committee, 
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work environment and employee culture are categorised under this perspective. 

These value creation factors explain how the human resource management process is 

designed based on the human capital foundation explained in the previous 

perspective in a way that it reflect the firms’ human capital investment. While all the 

factors contribute in firm value creation process, some of them such as culture have 

been understood especially as apart of firms’ human capital (Flamholtz, 2005). 

 

 

Customer perspective 

 

In terms of the customer perspective of “how do customers see us?” (Kaplan and 

Norton, 1992, p. 73), disclosure attributes on people aiming customers is considered 

as a separate sub category under the disclosure index. Since existing and potential 

customers, existing and potential employees and even the community become a part 

of customer base either internal or external, at some certain point of time, human 

resource disclosure items such as employee involvement in community, employee 

diversity and equity issues relating to the race, gender, religion disability etc. 

industrial relations and union activities, employee satisfaction and loyalty and 

employee welfare and benefits were considered as disclosure items relating to the 

customer perspective of the firm. Considering the previous literature, some of the 

modifications to the already studied attributes have been done such as treating the 

employee equity issues under one attribute rather than having many to represent the 

age, gender, disability, nationality, department, etc. to make the disclosure index less 

complex (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1996; Ax and Marton, 2008). 

 



 160 

Financial perspective  

 

Quantitatively and qualitatively disclosed attributes relating to financial perspective 

such as employee share scheme, employee share option scheme, value added per 

expert, value added per employee, revenue per employee, executive compensation 

plan, employee compensation plan, and employee expenses and pension are 

summarised and categorised as value creation factor under the financial perspective 

and they are used in the development of the disclosure index illustrated in the table 

3.01. These attributes have been adopted from studies conducted in different context 

by different researchers (Apendix 1) and integrated with the other three perspectives 

and formed by way of a disclosure index, which will act as proxy for the human 

capital disclosure reflecting the accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

firms investment in human capital. A summarised version of above attributes 

reflecting firm value creation is used in this study and a complete illustration of 

value creation factors is given in the table 3.01.  
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Table 3.01: Human capital value creation factors 

 

Financial 

perspective 

Employee compensation plan including share schemes
1,3,4,6

 

Value added/revenue per employee, 
1,2,3,6

 

Employee expenses and Pension
3,6

 

Customer 

perspective 

Employee involvement, 
1 

Employee diversity and equity issues 
1,3,4,5,6

 

Industrial relations and union activity
1,3,4,5

  

Employee welfare and benefit
1,3,4,5,6

 

Employee satisfaction and loyalty
7
 

Internal business 

process perspective 

Employee health and safety
1,3,5,6

 

Employee appreciation
1,3,4

 

Employee numbered
1,3,6

 

Employee featured
1,3

 

Human resource section and human resource functions
3,6

  

Human resource director committee
3
 

Work environment and culture of employees
6
 

Value added strategy
6
 

Learning and 

growth perspective 

Employee know-how and competency
1,2

  

Education and vocational qualification
1,2,4,6

 

Career development
1,4,6

 

Employee training programme
1,3,4,5,6

  

Employee experience
2
 

Entrepreneurial spirit and innovation
1,4,5

 

Employee motivation
7
 

(1Adopted by Abeysekara and Guthrie, 2004 
2  Sveiby, 1997 
3Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997 
4Boedker, et al., 2004 
5Abeysekara, 2008 
6Ax and Marton 2008 
7 Huang  et al., 2007) 

 

Based on the value creation factors categorised under each of the above perspectives, 

the use of them as separate human capital indices are defined and interpreted with 

the strategic importance of monitoring them under voluntary human capital 

disclosure. This is illustrated in the table 3.02 below.  
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Table 3.02: Definition and strategic importance of human capital indices 

Categorical Human capital 

indices  

Definition and 

interpretation 

Strategic importance of 

monitoring 

Financial Value creation for 

employees of the firm 

reflected via the Financial 

value added for the 

employees of the firm 

This index covers the 

ultimate financial 

reflection of all employee 

related transactions. 

Customer  Value creation by the 

employees via emotional 

attachment of the 

employees for the firm 

and developing a unique 

value preposition via 

interpersonal relationships 

of the employees 

This index covers the 

additional value creation 

through employees via 

developing a unique value 

preposition through 

employee relations 

satisfaction and 

organisational citizenship 

behaviour 

Internal /business process Value creation for the firm 

via the enhancement of the 

internal business process 

reflecting a favourable 

employment atmosphere.  

This index covers all the 

value creation factors 

associated with the 

functional and operational 

aspects of human resource 

management to create and 

enhance efficient and 

effective environment.  

Learning and growth The fundamental value 

creation by employees via 

continuous employment 

and employee creation and 

development within the 

firm.  

This index covers the 

fundamental aspects in 

employee training, 

development and bringing 

a person to an effective 

employee of the entity and 

this becomes the basis for 

the entire human resource 

management function  

 

Previous empirical evidence revealed to priori grouping of disclosure items could be 

confirmed through statistical analysis techniques such as factor analysis or principle 

component analysis (Huang et al., 2007). However, due to the limitations these 

statistical approaches are having in conceptualising a qualitatively explained 

phenomena such as financial reporting recognition of investment in human capital, 

this study classify human capital value creation factors according to the balanced 
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scorecard framework, considering the impact of each on the value creation and 

relevance in the human capital development of the firms. 

 

 

3.6.2 Determinants and consequences of investment in human capital 

 

In addition to capturing the variation of the proxies reflecting the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment proposed above, the 

conceptual framework is expanded with the aim of achieving the research objectives 

of what determine the accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment 

in human capital of the firms and (2) what are the consequences of accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of investment in human capital of the firms, measured 

using the proxies: human capital expenditure, human capital per value added 

coefficient and the human capital disclosure index. The complete conceptual 

framework is illustrated in the figure 3.06.  

 

Review of the empirical evidence revealed that there is a huge variance in 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of intellectual capital development 

aspects in general (Barako et al., 2006; Abeysekara, 2008 and 2010; Abeysekera and 

Guthrie, 2004; Cuganesan, 2006) or investment in human capital in particular (Ax 

and Marton, 2008; Hossain et al., 2004; Iatridis, 2008) considering the information 

disclosed in firm annual reports. According to the literature review, this variance has 

been attributable to: the firm specific factors, regulatory mechanism and corporate 

governance mechanism of firms. Considering these evidence, determinants of firms 

investment in human capital measured using human capital expenditure, human 
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capital per value added coefficient and voluntary human capital disclosure is 

estimated in explaining the variability observed (Figure 3.06).  

 

Figure 3.06: Conceptual framework of the study 

 

 

Following the same concept observed in the human capital theory featured in figure 

3.03, which illustrates that provision of formal education and schooling, vocational 

training, general or firm specific on the job training, and other knowledge and 

experience acquired (Zula and Chermack, 2007) are treated as an investment in 

human capital of the firm, firms spending on employees as well is assumed to be a 

reflection of human capital investment. This investment tends to generate increased 

productivity and profit as well as increased wages and income. Proving this 

argument, researchers have revealed that investment in employees and other 

intangible asset enhances firms’ operational and financial performances while 

contributing to enhance the firm value creation (Chen et al., 2005; Iatridis, 2008; 

Collett and Hrasky, 2005; Bassi et al., 2004; Dumay and Tull, 2007; Chan, 2009 a 
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and b). Further, due to the fact that firms, which tend to invest more on employee as 

well as recognise them as the value drivers of the firms, subsequently enjoy higher 

stock prices, the stock return was selected as one of the dependent variable to be 

examine as an impact of human capital expenditure and the disclosure (Bassi et al., 

2004). The results revealed that the forward interaction explained above have 

accounted for a considerable portion in explaining the variation in the investment in 

human capital of the firms.   

 

Accordingly, accounting and financial reporting recognition of the investment in 

human capital of firms measured using the proxies human capital expenditure (Lev 

and Schwartz, 1971; Brummet et al, 1968; Flamholtz, 1972a & b; Edvinsson, 1997; 

Sveiby, 1997), human capital per value added coefficient (Pulic, 1998 and 2000; 

Chan, 2009a and b; Chen et al., 2005; Tan et al., 2008) and human capital disclosure 

index have taken the states of independent and dependant variable depending on the 

stage of the study. 

 

 

3.7 CONCLUSION 

 

A thorough study of the concepts: human capital, human capital theory and theories 

explaining accounting and financial reporting practice in listed firms, through the 

analysis of theoretical and empirical studies helped develop the proxy variables 

reflecting the accounting and financial reporting recognition of the human capital 

investment of the firms. These proxies were derived reflecting the firms’ investment 

in human capital in a way that they reveal the variance in relation to the human 
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capital expenditure, human capital per value added coefficient and human capital 

information disclosed in the annual reports. Moreover, the conceptual framework is 

designed to reflect firm value creation by the employees as well. According to the 

critical evaluation of the theories explaining firm and the accounting and financial 

reporting process it is evidenced that all the theories standing alone has the potential 

to explain accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms investment in 

human capital with some limitations, unique to each other. Addressing this 

limitation, a combined framework, which consists with, agency theory and the two 

branches of political economy of accounting theory: stakeholder and legitimacy 

theories are adopted to explain the scenario. This combined framework is assumed to 

possess more explanatory power compared to an individual theory on it’s own (An et 

al., 2011). This particularly is the case due several reasons such as increasing 

involvement of the number of stakeholders since employee is the centre of the nexus 

of firm relationships, the politicisation of the firm decision-making process, versatile 

nature of the relevance of the subject matter human capital demanding a holistic 

picture, i.e. a 360 degree coverage on investment in human capital etc.. 

 

In addition to the human capital expenditure and the human capital per value added 

derived through the financial statements, qualitative information disclosed in the 

annual reports through the corporate reporting as well is considered as an aspect of 

financial reporting recognition of the human capital investment. Careful analyses of 

intellectual capital management frameworks proposed balanced scorecard approach 

(Kaplan and Norton, 1992) as the most appropriate in reflecting the firm value 

creation via employees as it takes in to account the employee contribution in firm 
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value creation systematically from learning and growth perspective, internal business 

process perspective, customer perspective and ultimately the financial perspective.  

 

In explaining the variability in investments in human capital via accounting and 

financial reporting recognition using proxies: human capital expenditure, human 

capital per value added coefficient and human capital disclosure, variability is 

captured both backwards and forwards by looking at determinants of investment in 

human capital of firms as well as the consequences expected via investment in the 

human capital of the firms. Accordingly, the research phenomenon is conceptualised 

and the framework is developed linking with the research questions and the 

objectives. Referring to the conceptual framework developed above, the next chapter 

outlines the research philosophy and the methodology adopted in achieving research 

objectives. It further covers, refining the variables according to the conceptual 

frameworks and the hypotheses development based on the causal relationship 

between variables.  
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CHAPTER FOUR 

METHODOLOGY 

 

4.1 INTRODUCTION  

 

Literature review chapter explored the evolution and development of the concepts 

human capital, investment in human capital and accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of investment in human capital via theoretical and empirical studies. 

Conceptualisation chapter, on the other hand, justifies measuring firms investment in 

human capital using the proxies: human capital expenditure, human capital per value 

added coefficient and the qualitative human capital information disclosed voluntarily 

in a way that it reflect firm value creation while proposing integrated theoretical 

framework that could be adopted in explaining the accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of firms investment in human capital.  Amalgamating the 

conceptual framework and theoretical justifications, together, methodology chapter 

illustrates, how the research is carried out addressing the research gap. Therefore, 

chapter starts with defining research philosophy on which the complete methodology 

is framed, followed by research paradigm, ontology and epistemology considerations 

leading to research approach and the strategy. In developing the research strategy 

and the hypotheses to be tested, the general conceptual framework developed in the 

end of the previous chapter is elaborated further in a way that variables and 

measurements are refined reflecting causal relationships. 
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4.2 RESEARCH PHILOSOPHY 

 

The research philosophy of thesis has basically been illustrated using one of the 

mostly applied scientific solution framework, Burrell and Morgan (1979), which 

help understand broad schemes of social science and particularly organisational 

studies as the primary mechanism of explanation (Lakomski and Evers, 2011; 

Laughlin, 1995). Considering different approaches to the study of organisations, 

organisational theories are based on two basic sets of assumptions: philosophy of 

science and theory of society (Burrell and Morgan, 1979). Combination of these two 

assumptions about the society and science, determines the assumptions and the 

characteristics of the research undertaken. Moreover, the subsequent research 

process, to a greater extent, depends on the choice of the researcher i.e. where to 

stand in this spectrum though it may not be very explicit always. Considering the 

nature of science, social science is conceptualised using four sets of assumptions 

relating to ontology, epistemology, human nature and methodology. Similarly, a 

separate set of assumption is used to understand the nature of the society. The 

research philosophy adopted is illustrated in light of the applicability of these 

assumptions.  

 

Ontological assumptions imply that reality under the issue of investigation is based 

on two ways, whether, internal to the individual investigating  (i.e. a product of one’s 

own mind), which is subjective in nature; or external to the individual investigating 

(i.e. out there in the world), which is objective. This is understood to be a spectrum 

leading from one ends to the other rather a two-point scale (Burrell and Morgan, 

1979). Considering the ontological assumptions relating to the previous studies on 
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investment in human capital, they are witnessed standing on all over the spectrum 

covering even the two extremes as some researchers have believed that the reality is 

out there in the world measured and presented directly as human resource 

expenditure or labour cost incurred (Brummet et al., 1968; Lev and Schwartz, 1971; 

Grojer, 1997; Grove et al., 1977), value added human capital efficiency (Pulic, 2000; 

Chen et al., 2005; Chan, 2009a and 2009b; Nazari and Herremans, 2007). Whereas, 

others have attempted to synthesise it using, their own cognitive understanding 

through the interpretation of qualitative disclosure of human resource information 

(Abeysekera, 2008; Hossain et al., 2004). In certain instances, researchers have 

attempted to use combined approaches by positioning themselves somewhere in the 

middle of this spectrum rather than being at either end (Ax and Marton, 2008). 

Despite ample research evidence on human capital measurement and theories (Lev 

and Schwartz, 1971; Flamholtz 1971, 1972a and b), due to the undefined nature in 

human capital concept (Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004), this 

study on accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human 

capital, it is assumed that the reality is externally available to a certain extent while 

the researchers need to use the cognitive understanding to conceptualise the 

complete phenomenon as well. However, the degree to which each assumption 

becomes valid and where to compromise is still argumentative.   

 

Epistemology assumptions are about the ground of knowledge explaining how the 

reality is understood and communicated as knowledge to rest of the human beings. 

Resembling the two extremes in the spectrum mentioned above, whether knowledge 

could be personally experienced using one’s own mind or readily acquired through 

externally available sources represents the epistemology assumptions and based on 
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the degree of each, again the researcher will stand in any point in the spectrum 

(Burrell and Morgan, 1979). Believing the argument that the knowledge is readily 

available (i.e. financial figures such as payroll cost, employee expenses directly 

reflect the firms human capital investment) to use in decision making, many 

researchers attempted to measure the value of the human capital (Brummet et al., 

1968; Lev and Schwartz, 1971; Flamholtz 1971, 1972a and 1972b; Lepak and Snell, 

1999 and 2002) or human capital efficiency parameters (Pulic, 2000) using these 

readily available information. Moreover, they have attempted to use these 

measurements for decision-making (Chen et al., 2005; Chan, 2009a and 2009b; 

Nazari and Herremans, 2007). However, in this study, considering both these aspects 

firms investment in human capital is conceptualised using accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment reflected through hard accounting 

figure, human resources expenditure and the soft accounting information recognized 

voluntarily in firms annual reports, recognition of which require a careful 

examination of the human capital related value creation factors and attributes in 

order to quantify. In this case, knowledge on informally and voluntarily disclosed 

information on human capital investment couldn’t be readily acquired, but 

understood using the cognitive domain of the researcher to utilise in subsequent 

decisions (Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; Hossain et al., 2004) 

positioning the researcher again in the middle of the spectrum.  

 

Human nature assumption coming under the research philosophy, on the other hand, 

associates with ontology and epistemology but conceptually separated from them. 

Under this as well, a spectrum is found regarding the assumption about relationship 

between human being and the environment. On one end it’s believed that, human are 
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conditioned by the environment, which is explained as determinism in work 

attitudes. Whereas, the other end represent voluntarism attitude, explaining that 

human beings are more a creative role (Burrell and Morgan, 1979). This can even be 

explained using the similar argument theory X and theory Y in human behavior 

(McGregor) and the classical vs. human relations approach to management (Bennis, 

1958). Even though there are social theories explaining the extremes of this 

spectrum, mostly it’s believed that the actual situation lies in the middle. 

Considering the subject matter employee and investment in human capital, theories 

such as transaction cost believes in minimizing the transaction cost involved in 

human resource management function of the organisation and this is represented 

even via the current accounting standards of the firms as the total amount spent on 

employees are written off as an expenditure (Chen and Lin, 2004). Whereas, the 

belief that employee offers some thing more to the firm and they actually create 

value for the firm supported the arguments on human capital theory (Elias, 1972; 

Brummet et al., 1968; Lev and Schwartz, 1971; Flamholtz, 1971, 1972a and b).  

 

On the other hand, human nature assumptions also help formulate the data collection 

mechanism of the study. As an example, determinism believes that information 

produced by individuals reflects concepts as it is without being affected by the 

subjectivism, as they are only environmentally framed. On this ground, researchers 

believe that use of externally available information such as human resources 

expenditure in financial statements and information disclosed in annual reports as it 

is, with no cognitive synthesis (i.e. number of words, number of sentences, line 

count etc.) (Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004), explains the 

organisational reality as it is leaving even a methodological gap. On the contrary, 
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due to the creative role of individuals, voluntarism believes that information are best 

be cognitively synthesised, thus an in-depth analysis of information provided in the 

annual reports using cognitive domain and conducting interviews rather that just 

relying on publicly available information, better explains the reality. Since the real 

world practice has reflected a compromise by combining the conventional 

accounting treatment with voluntary information disclosure reflecting the employee 

value creation (Bassi and McMurrer, 2005), the study as well is focused on human 

resource expenditure, voluntarily disclosed human capital information cognitively 

synthesised for the content and the extent of disclosure using balanced scorecard 

framework.  

 

All the three philosophical assumptions (Burrell and Morgan, 1979) discussed above 

have direct implications on methodology and the entire research process of the study. 

Accordingly, the relative position of the researcher on each of the above spectrum 

determined the methodological considerations in terms of whether the researcher 

takes a subjective or objective approach to the study (figure 4.01). Moreover, being 

in the middle of the spectrum, combining both subjective and objective domains 

involve the triangulation of the research process. Many previous researchers have 

claimed that triangulation improves the research findings and applicability by 

providing a richer and holistic understanding (Bechara and Van de Ven, 2011) while 

improving the validity of the findings (Ax and Marton, 2008).  
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Figure 4.01 Scheme for analysing assumption about nature of science  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Burrell, G. and Morgan, G., (1979). Sociological paradigms and organisational analysis, London, 

Heinemann. p.3. 
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Human capital arguments tend to initiate along with questioning the social structure 

by many of the pioneering classical economists (Dooley, 2005). It has been argued 

under the mostly familiar, Marxist labour theory of value, which was even 

highlighted under the communist manifesto (Marx and Engels, 1848). Similarly even 

human capital theory challenged the existing scenario urging firms to properly 

recognize the firms’ investment in human capital. Most of the initiatives emerged 

subsequent to Marxist Labour theory of value proposing capitalizing on firms human 

capital investment (Elias, 1972; Flamholtz, 1971, 1972a and b; Lev and Schwartz, 

1971) however, have been isolated over several decades from the practical world 

demoralizing the academics and researchers. This has even been evident via the 

government and regulatory resistant for the attempts of recent researchers (DTI, 

2003a & b) to formalize the practice (Roslender and Stevenson, 2009; Roslender et 

al., 2004; Roslender and Dyson, 1992; Roslender; 1997; Flamholtz et al., 2004).  

 

However, some major events took place in the recent past: economic crisis, major 

financial scandals, increasing worldwide unemployment and large scale job 

redundancies, etc. reflects that the society is characterized to a certain extent by 

radical change via the reflection of structural conflicts, modes of domination, 

contradiction, emancipation, deprivation and potentiality rather than the sociology of 

regulation characterized by status quo, social order, consensus, social integration and 

cohesion, solidarity, need satisfaction, actuality etc.. It proves the fact that 

organisational and the social structure perceived by society is in a conflict or 

questionable state than in proper order demanding attention for further studies from 

different research paradigm.  
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4.3 RESEARCH PARADIGM  

 

According to the framework developed by the Burrell and Morgan (1979), the 

relative position of a researcher in the above two dimensions (nature of science 

considered as subjective vs. objective spectrum and the nature of society considered 

as regulation vs. radical changes dimension) defines the sociological paradigm the 

researcher belongs in analysing organisational theories. The four major research 

paradigms derived using this framework is illustrated in the figure 4.02.  

 

The four research paradigms are radical humanists, radical structuralist’, interpretive 

and functionalist and there have been instance where researchers have shift from one 

paradigm to the other due to the changes in the basic assumptions relating to the 

nature of science or the nature of society. However, they are understood in a way to 

be mutually exclusive implying that one cannot operate in more than one paradigm 

at the same time (Burrell and Morgan, 1979). Functionalist’ paradigm is rooted in 

sociology of regulation where the subject matters are approached in objective way 

while interpretive’ is rooted in the same sociology of regulation even though the 

subject matter is approached in a subjective way. The radical humanist paradigm is 

where the studies of young Marx belongs reflecting sociological roots of radical 

changes approached subjectively whereas, the studies of mature Marx operates in 

radical structuralist’ paradigm rooted in the same sociological roots of radical 

change, however, approached objectively, implying that one can change the 

paradigm with the change in assumptions experience etc.. Considering the two 

dimensions researchers have had the choice for the paradigm they opt to belong.  
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Figure 4.02: Four paradigms for analysis of the social theory  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Burrell, G. and Morgan, G., (1979). Sociological paradigms and organisational analysis, London, 

Heinemann. P. 22. 

 

Subsequently, Laughlin (1995) further enhanced the above research paradigm model 

by using three-dimensional approach, allowing paradigms to be rather specific to the 

scenario. The three dimensions include  (1) theory choice: considering the level of 

prior theorisation measured at three different levels low medium and high; (2) 

methodological choice: considering the level of theoretical nature of the methods 

measured as three different levels same as above; and (3) change choice: considering 

the level of emphasis given to critique of status quo and need for change measured 

using the same criteria (Figure 4.03). Considering the level of measurement under 

each of the dimensions, all possible schools of thoughts studied are categorised 

under the framework below.  

 

 

'Radical 
humanist' 

'Radical 
structuralist' 

'Interpretive' 'Functionalist' 

THE SOCIOLOGY OF RADICAL CHANGE 

THE SOCIOLOGY OF REGULATION 

OBJECTIVE SUBJECTIVE 
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Figure 4.03: Characteristics of alternative school of thoughts  

 

 

Source: Laughlin, R., (1995). Methodological themes: Empirical research in accounting: alternative approach and 

a case for “middle-range” thinking, Journal of accounting, Auditing and Accountability, Vol. 8, No. 1, p. 50. 

 

According to Burrell and Morgan (1979), the functionalist paradigm proved to be 

providing a dominant framework in the academic sociology and organisational 

studies. Since the society is attempting considerably to maintain order and regulation 

compared to previous days particularly in balancing the interest of organisational 

stakeholders and the increase in number stakeholders of firms looking for more 

objective and unbiased mechanism in organisational studies (Baker and Wallage, 

2000; Laughlin, 1995), functionalist paradigm seems allowing researchers to be in 

the paradigm demanded by many stakeholders though not explicitly. Moreover, due 

to the nature of capturing the organisational phenomena as described via many 

management and organisational theories, and the fact that it is difficult to decide one 

is better than the other, it is understood to be as highly pragmatic or utilitarian in 

nature as well.  
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In order to capture accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ 

investment in human capital, functionalist paradigm was understood to be most 

appropriate based on Burrell and Morgan (1979) framework. Considering the 

characteristics and overlapping of criterion used in defining paradigms based on both 

frameworks (Burrell and Morgan, 1979; Laughlin, 1995), the research paradigm in 

this study is understood to be a mix of the positivism and functionalist. However, as 

it is explained in the ontology and epistemological consideration, the assumptions 

have never been confined to the extreme ends under each dimension, objectivism 

and society of regulation making the paradigm pure positivist or functionalist. This 

confirm the fact that positivism is not an abandonment of subjectivism (Comte, as 

cited by Laughlin, 1995), rather a balanced amalgamation of rationalism and 

empiricism which would allow the researcher, describe the empirical world in a way 

it’s distinct from the observer bias and separated from the observers’ desire or 

attitude towards need for change, since critique and desire for change is value driven 

and not a part of positivism. Moreover, Laughlin (1995 p.73) has explained Comte’s 

positivism as “ a tightly defined rational deductive process coupled with similarly 

clear rules on how to observe empirical world - objectively as values and bias played 

no part in the make up of positivism”.  

 

However, empirical studies on human capital revealed that researchers have moved 

from solid economic accounting perspective to social scientific perspective in which 

case practitioners as well as researches tend to provide and study more on qualitative 

information on investment in human capital and firm value creation via employees 

through voluntary disclosure. Therefore, in studying accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of investment in human capital, neither of these ends are 
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sacrificed as both human capital expenditure and firm value creation via employees 

through voluntary disclosure are defined as the key components in developing the 

conceptual framework.  

 

Human capital expenditure as a concept has been well defined as it’s a part of 

financial accounting mechanism of firm. However, considering firms’ human capital 

disclosure, even though some theories accommodate the explanation on the practice, 

due to the voluntary nature there were no standard mechanisms in disclosing human 

capital information as a part of financial reporting. As a result information has 

literally been scattered all over the annual reports (Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera 

and Guthrie, 2004; Abhayawansa and Abeysekera, 2008). Human capital 

expenditure data are readily available to collect through the expenditure 

categorisation of annual reports. Whereas, human capital disclosure had been 

conceptualised in a way that it is reflect the investment in human capital and firm 

value creation via employees. Though qualitatively disclosed human capital 

information is utilised as data, since they are quantified as a disclosure index using a 

standard theoretical framework as it was in the previous empirical studies 

(Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004), the study mostly adhere to the 

assumptions in positivism and functionalist research paradigm. Further, human 

capital concept and empirical studies undertaken so far have shared many key 

characteristics of the dominant school of thought positivism, while there are some 

slight deviations in addressing the human capital disclosure issue (Laughlin, 1995). 

Based on the theoretical framework and the key schools of thoughts belonging to the 

research paradigm, the research approach is determined and the link between these 

two aspects are illustrated in the table 4.01 below. 
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Table 4.01: Positivist school of thought in human capital study 

 Research 

approach 

School of thoughts 

under positivism 

Relevance in Human capital research  

Theoretical 

characteristics 

Ontological 

belief 

Generalizable world 

waiting to be 

discovered 

With the number of theoretical frameworks available a general consensus on human capital is a timely requirement. 

However, discovery of current practice on human capital accounting is needed prior to achieve consensus.  

Role of 

theory 

Definable theory with 

hypotheses to test 

Hypotheses testing is possible given the rich theoretical framework and practice based on standards though the 

absence of consensus in human capital disclosure practice perhaps demand new theories. (In depth analysis of 

disclosure would be an exemption) 

Methodology 

characteristics 

Role of 

observer and 

human 

nature belief 

Observer independent 

and irrelevant  

There is a necessity to be observer independent due to the expected balance between multiple stakeholder interests 

in and the multiple roles of people. However, understanding the qualitatively disclosed human capital information 

requires and involves subjective judgment as well.   

Nature of 

method 

Structured 

quantitative 

Rigorous theorisation and conceptualisation of the concepts and variables, highly structured and quantitative 

mechanisms need to be adopted. Even qualitative disclosure of human capital is analysed quantitatively through 

disclosure indices. Use of the balanced scorecard framework forms the qualitative analysis well structured as well.  

Data sought  Cross sectional data 

used usually at one 

point in time and 

selectively gathered 

tied to hypotheses 

Cross sectional data collection is given the priority for a selectively gathered sample. However, longitudinal impact 

as well is incorporated via panel data analysis. Involve qualitative data collected through annual reports as an 

exemption.  

Conclusions 

derived 

Tight conclusion 

about findings 

Strong conclusion about the findings via hypotheses testing and statistical significance on the current human capital 

investment practices.  Human capital disclosure practice needs further theoretical enhancements. (Interpretation of 

descriptive and exploratory analysis results could be questioned)  

Validity 

criteria 

Statistical inference  Statistical inference in data diagnosis and inferential analysis. Descriptive and exploratory analyses have facilitated 

the triangulation of findings.  

Change 

characteristics  

 Low emphasis on 

changing status quo  

Low emphasis on changing the status quo, while profoundly emphasising on accountability.  
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4.4 RESEARCH APPROACH 

 

Research approach generally relies on the method of reasoning adopted by 

researchers in explaining the selected phenomenon and it can either be inductive 

reasoning or deductive reasoning (Saunders et al., 2007). Corresponding to everyday 

reasoning, inductive reasoning involves the use of specific observations to build up 

general phenomenon or theory which could later be utilised in explaining the 

variance in specific reasoning as well (Feeney and Heit, 2007). As a result, it is 

based on the principle of developing theories after data have been collected 

(Saunders et al., 2007). As opposed to this, in deductive reasoning, general theories 

are used to explain specific scenario deriving empirical conclusions. Hence, it’s clear 

that in deduction theoretical position is developed prior to data collection (Saunders 

et al., 2007). While inductive researches take forms of descriptive and exploratory, 

deduction will be more explanatory in nature, where theories available are used to 

explain the relationship between different phenomenon. In situations where the 

theoretical frameworks are limited to substantive theories restricted to some specific 

situations or problem and not grand theories (Saunders et al., 2007), it perhaps is 

hard to use them in deductive approach.  Hence, in certain instances it is evidenced 

that these two approaches induction and deduction are combined together to form 

grounded theory approach (Heit, 2007).  

 

This study is focussed on accounting and financial reporting recognition of human 

capital, which is explained via number of accounting theories. Some researchers 

have adopted induction to derive accounting for human capital investment (Elias, 

1972) while most of the others have captured the practice via financial reporting 
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recognition using general accounting theories (Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and 

Guthrie, 2004; Ax and Marton, 2008). However, since there is hardly any theory 

explaining either firms investment in human capital or accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of investment in human capital, the issues essentially is 

investigated primarily via studying quantitative and qualitative data relating to the 

investment in human capital with the objective of understanding the situation and 

highlighting the possible theoretical solutions. Though not completely, some 

characteristics of inductive research approach has been evidenced in this study. 

However, following the methodological evidence of studies on accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of intellectual capital and human capital investment, 

and other voluntary financial reporting practices, (Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Lajili 

and Zeghal, 2006; Barako et al., 2006; Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 

2004) deduction is adopted as the key research approach in this study. Taking a 

combined approach, study utilises both induction and deduction though not at equal 

level. Induction part of the study, is used in exploring the practice human capital 

expenditure and disclosure in the absence of specific theories, and is rather 

dominated by the deduction addressed via explanatory approach in determining the 

motives behind and the consequences of human capital investment. The inductive 

part of the research facilitates an in-depth exploration of the quantitative and 

qualitative human capital data disclosed in the annual reports reflecting the value 

creation by the employees. Using empirically grounded combined approach to 

generate better results especially in social science researches (Glaser and Strauss, 

1967) help triangulate findings while increasing the validity and generalizability 

(Saunders et al., 2007).  
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4.5 RESEARCH DESIGN   

 

According to the research methodology onion by Saunders et al. (2007), research 

design primarily consists with research strategy, which in social science related 

studies could take the forms of either experimental, survey, case study, action 

research, grounded theory, ethnography and archival research or a combination of 

several of them depending on the research philosophy and approach. In addition, 

research design focuses on research choice explaining whether it takes the form of 

mono, multi or mixed methods and the time horizon considered cross sectional or 

time series. The choice of each of the aspects depends further on research objectives 

and the stage of the study as well. Use of multi-method is proven advantageous in 

improving the validity, reliability and the generalisability of the results. As research 

design is the general plan of answering the research questions formulated based on 

the research objectives (Saunders et al., 2007), research it’s illustrated with reference 

to each of the research questions.   

 

The first research objective of “understand the current practice, investment in human 

capital by listed firms as its reflected via accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of this investment conceptualised via human resource expenditure, 

human capital per value added coefficient and voluntary disclosure of human capital 

information in firms’ annual reports”, is addressed using the research strategies 

belonging to the exploratory and descriptive. They employ the strategy of archival 

research, utilising the content analysis of the annual reports since annual reports are 

the mostly used, widely distributed, and reliable document issued to the external 

stakeholders of the firm (Campbell, 2000) reflecting the accounting and financial 
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implications relevant to investment in human capital of the firms. Many previous 

researchers in addressing intellectual capital investment and human capital 

investment related studies have adopted the same strategy as well 

(Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Barako et al., 2006; Williams, 2001; Abeysekera, 2008 & 

2010; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004).  

 

The same archival research strategy, used by previous researchers (Abeysekera, 

2010; Williams, 2001; Abdolmohammadi, 2005) has been adopted in addressing the 

research objective of “understanding the determinants of and the expected 

consequences of accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment conceptualised via human resource expenditure, human capital per value 

added coefficient and voluntary disclosure of human capital information in firms’ 

annual reports” as well. However, due to the examination of the causal relationship 

between determinants and consequence of accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of investment in human capital, the research strategy has been more 

explanatory in nature. In addressing both the above objectives, the periodical change 

in the practice as well has been captured by extending the research to panel data 

setting covering both cross-sectional and longitudinal aspects. Considering the 

highly time consuming nature involved with archival research strategy and the 

research approach, however, the study has been limited to five accounting years with 

panel data analysis (Chen et al., 2005; Mahoney and Roberts, 2007; Barako et al., 

2006).  

 

In summation, the research utilises multiple methods, combining both quantitative 

and qualitative data gathers through the annual reports in addressing different aspects 
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since they very rarely exist in isolation. The data collection process itself uses mixed 

method techniques of using quantitative data from secondary sources and 

synthesizing qualitative data gathered from secondary sources to interpret the 

significance and to quantify for further statistical analysis. This in a way makes the 

study capable enough in reflecting a holistic picture of accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of firms’ human capital investment. This is further facilitated 

via cross section and time series coverage proposing panel data analysis in the study.  

 

 

4.6 RESEARCH SAMPLE 

 

Considering the research evidence on investment in human capital and accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of this investment, many theoretical and 

conceptual studies are found covering developed countries (Becker, 1962 & 1964; 

Bassi and McMurrer, 2005; Ax and Marton, 2008) and comparatively little or no 

theories proposed by developing countries. Most of the studies conducted in 

developed countries have reflected implications on investment in human capital on 

the span of, valuation of human capital, theoretical development, policy 

enhancement or formation and development of regulatory framework (Becker, 1962; 

Bassi and McMurrer, 2005). On the other hand, large number of empirical evidence 

on accounting and financial reporting recognition of intellectual capital and human 

capital investment are reported from developing countries compared to developed 

countries (Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; Hossain et al., 2004). 

Some of the empirical studies reported are on individual country, while limited 

amount of evidence are found on comparisons conducted within categories 
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(Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997) such as European countries, lower developed countries 

etc. or on comparisons between countries from different categories: developed and 

developing (Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004). One general conclusion derived through 

these studies is that, investment in human capital has been vital irrespective of 

whether the country is developed or developing (Bassi and McMurrer, 2005). 

However, given the number of theoretical and conceptual studies proposed by 

developed countries, it is imperative to analyse empirically the current status of firms 

involvement in the practices of investment in human capital and accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of this investment. Therefore, this study involves, 

empirical investigation of the current practices human capital investment and 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of this investment, aiming to propose 

theoretical and methodological enhancements using data from developed countries.  

 

Given the fact that there actually have been some genuine efforts to formalise the 

practice human capital accounting and to develop policies to enhance the current 

inadequacies and anomalies in the practice (DTI, 2003a and 2003b, which are even 

termed as Kingsmill reports), even though the success of which was questionable 

due to the influence of UK accountancy profession in effectively emasculating those 

initiatives (Roslender and Stevenson, 2009), firms listed in London stock exchange, 

UK has been chosen as the research population. The criteria of choosing the larger 

firms, especially firms with the highest market capitalisation, has been the criteria 

for many previous studies on voluntary accounting or financial reporting practices in 

general and accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital and 

intellectual capital investment in particular (Abeysekera, 2008 and 2010; Abeysekera 

and Guthrie, 2004 and 2005; Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Ax and Marton, 2008; Ness 
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and Mirza, 1991; Subbarrao and Zeghal, 1997). This not only helps in reducing the 

chance for size effect but also minimises the impact of having many outliers in the 

study. Therefore, firms listed in FTSE 100 listing of London Stock exchange is 

selected as the sampling population.  

 

According to Roslender and Stevenson (2009), the accounting for people initiatives 

has originally been announced in UK in 2003. Allowing time for the message to be 

convinced to the industrial community and voluntarily adopt them, particularly the 

public listed firms, for them to start disclosing at least minimal level under financial 

reporting practice if they so desire, data are collected from annual reports starting 

from the year ended 2005. Moreover, annual reports for firms listed in FTSE 100 

from the year ending 2005, is considered for data collection to minimise the impact 

of using two regulatory frameworks GAAP and IFRS as well, since UK and 

European Union decided to improvise mandatory IFRS since 2005 (Christensen et 

al., 2007; Ernst and Young, 2012). Similarly sample duration covers the period 

before the introduction of UK corporate governance code (FRC, 2010), since it has 

had certain impact on financial reporting practice especially on employees as they 

one of the major stakeholder categories of firms, though the applicability of code 

itself has not been compulsory.  

 

Thus, all the firms listed in the FTSE 100 listing from the years ending 2005 to 2009, 

subject to data availability, were considered as the research sample in achieving the 

first two research objectives relating to investment in and accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of investment in human capital. Since disclosure of human 

resources expenditure have not been mandatory under US GAAP and IFRS (Ernst 
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and Young, 2012), most of the annual reports of international firms listed in LSE did 

not disclose human resources expenditure and had to be eliminated from the sample 

as it is one of the key parameters in research model. As a result, the total research 

sample was limited to only 210 annual report observations over 5 year time period 

(2005-35, 2006-40, 2007- 40, 2008-46 and 2009-49). Firm choice in sample 

selection was not limited or eliminated based on the industry (Goh and Lim, 2004; 

Abeysekera, 2008 and 2010; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004 and 2005), as it was the 

case in many of the previous studies such as Sharabati et al. (2010), Sihotang and 

Winata (2008) etc..  

 

 

4.7 DATA COLLECTION  

 

Different types of data collection techniques aiming exploratory and explanatory 

approaches are employed in this study depending on the research objectives and the 

research strategies designed to achieve these objectives. Therefore, the study adopted 

is claimed to be an empirically grounded methodology though not completely belong 

to ground theory approach. Hence, data collection involved techniques: primary data 

collection via content analysis of archival source i.e. company annual reports 

produced over a period of time and secondary data collected from external databases.  

 

Addressing the research objectives, data are collected from the sample of annual 

reports chosen from FTSE 100 listing of London Stock exchange covering five year 

time period starting from the year ended 2005-2009. Adopting from the previous 

empirical studies annual reports are chosen as the source document for the data 
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collection. Given the fact that annual reports are the “key communication vehicles 

between a firms management and its stakeholders” (Michalisin, 2001, p. 152) and 

since it is the most reliable and the very popular document to find quantitative and 

qualitative information disclosed by the firms targeting the external stakeholders 

including shareholders, potential shareholders, creditors, banking and financial 

institutions etc., many researchers have chosen annual report as the externally 

available source to study about the investment in intellectual capital 

(Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Abeysekara, 2010; Williams, 2001) and the human 

capital (Abeysekera, 2008 & 2006; Ax and Marton, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 

2004) and even many other aspects such as firm performances, corporate social 

responsibility, environmental concern of the firms etc. (Barako et al., 2006; Holland 

and Foo, 2003; Ness and Mirza, 1991; Rizk et al., 2008). Content analysis of annual 

reports to discover voluntary information disclosed addressing a variety of aspects of 

the firm has proven the validity of assertion of annual reports for empirical 

investigations on information disclosure (Michalisin, 2001) thus, the same is adopted 

in this study too. Since there are no any regulatory mechanisms or standard 

framework governing the practice accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment as well as, the practice is identified more as voluntary. 

Therefore, only the voluntary disclosure sections of the annual reports are considered 

in data collection (Kang and Gray, 2011). Confirming the choice of the method, 

researchers have identified, an in-depth study of annual reports of public listed firms 

for financial statements and qualitative information disclosed, as a very successful 

method of analysing firm operations and performance both from pedagogical as well 

as from the applied standpoint (Booker and Harris, 1980). Therefore, following the 

archival research strategy, content analysis is adopted as the primary data collection 
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technique to collect information on firm specific characteristics, corporate 

governance characteristics, variables reflecting the accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment, and performance outcome. In 

addition, external secondary data source, FAME as well is used for data collection 

on financial parameters.  

 

According to Krippendorff (1980), content analysis is understood as an “empirically 

grounded method” (p. xvii), which also is “exploratory in process” (p. xvii), while 

the “contemporary content analysis has been forced to develop a methodology of its’ 

own” (p. xx). Due to the fact that content analysis technique of data collection is 

specially utilised in the instances where, qualitative information is needed to collect 

in to categories and derived as a quantitative figure to reflect the qualitatively 

explained phenomenon (Krippendorff, 1980), it has compensated the inadequacy of 

a measurement or a quantitative parameter to capture such phenomenon as well. As 

an example, in the absence of a proper measurement to capture the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of firms investment in human capital a human capital 

disclosure index is derived using the voluntary disclose, which could be used as a 

proxy parameter (Ax and Marton, 2008; Chen and Lin 2004; Royal and O’Donnell, 

2008). Previous researchers have defined content analysis based on the notions either 

content is inherent to the text or content is a property of the source of text. Many 

researchers have adopted this notion of content analysis technique in which case the 

disclosure of information is captured simply as disclosure or non-disclosure 

(Williams, 2001; Rizk et al., 2008; Barako et al., 2006) or frequency of reporting 

(Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004) in deferent means such as number of words 

(Entwistle, 1999; Wilmshurst and Frost, 2000; Lajili and Zeghal, 2005), number of 
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sentences etc. (Holland and Foo, 2003; Lajili and Zeghal, 2005; Boesso and Kumar 

2009).  

 

In explaining content analysis in his book Krippendorff (1980) has relied on the 

notion that content is emerging in the process of the researcher analysing a text 

relative to a particular context. Therefore, Krippendorff (1980) stated content 

analysis, as a research technique of making replicable and valid inferences from the 

data according to their context. Adhering to the same basis of notion, disclosure on 

human capital investment of the entity as well is considered in the context of human 

capital investment. Therefore, in the data collection process in order to analyse 

human capital disclosure in the context of human capital investment, disclosure 

index is developed in a way that it reflect firm value creation via investment in 

employees. As a result, human capital disclosure framework is defined in a way it 

reflects, how human capital management and development provides a competitive 

advantage for the firm via firm value creation. Applying the Krippendorff’s (1980) 

argument, content in context, becomes possible, in assuming the existence of the two 

dimensions, disclosure carry a meaning facilitating the categorisation as well as 

meaningfulness of disclosure based on the extent or level of disclosure is 

measurable. Booker and Harris, (1980) elaborated that it will be rather beneficial if, 

the content analysis of annual report of a firm is expanded to consider the perception 

of the financial statement users as well as studying the reporting practice of more 

than one firm which might be an opportunity for future studies.  
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4.8 RESEARCH MODEL  

 

The research model is presented with reference to the theories and the conceptual 

frameworks (figure 3.04 and 3.06) illustrated in the previous chapter by expanding 

them further to reflect the variables involved in the model by cascading down the 

key concepts to measurable variables. This facilitates the analysis of variance in 

investment in human capital via two separate models to examine the determinants 

and the consequences of financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment in 

human capital. Using the concepts illustrated, model instruments are defined and 

based on the model instruments and the variables, the research hypotheses are 

developed, which then is followed by a descriptive and inferential statistical analysis.  

 

 

4.8.1 Model instruments 

 

 Human capital of the firm is operationalised in previous studies in different means 

including; the payroll cost (Lev and Schwartz, 1971; Brummet et al., 1968; 

Flamholtz, 1972a & b; Edvinsson, 1997; Sveiby, 1997) and the human capital 

efficiency as value added human capital efficiency measure (Pulic, 1998 and 2000) 

etc.. Even though researchers have used the payroll cost as a proxy to measure the 

investment in human capital of the firm (Lev and Schwartz, 1971; Edvinsson, 1997; 

Sveiby, 1997), none of them in fact have used the same proxy to understand value 

relevance of and/or the determinants of the practice human capital investment. 

Moreover, though there are many surrogate measures to reflect the investment in 

human capital including acquisition cost (Brummet et al., 1968), replacement cost 
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(Flamholtz, 1973), discounted wage flows (Lev and Schwartz, 1971), market value, 

discounted earnings etc., none of them have penetrated the practical world as a part 

of accounting or external financial reporting making them usable particularly for the 

external stakeholders of firms. As a result, instead using these measures, many 

researchers have used human capital disclosure indices as proxies for investment in 

human capital (Ax and Marton, 2008; Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 

2004) and even overall intellectual capital investment (Abdolmohammadi, 2005; 

Bukh et al., 2005). The legitimacy theory as well, in certain instances has been 

explicit about the use of qualitative disclosure in order to reflect the investment in 

hardly measurable assets such as investment in intangibles and even social capital 

investments of the firms (Holland, and Foo, 2003). However, to what extent a 

random collection of human capital or intellectual capital attributes used in the 

disclosure index measured considering the presence or absence of the information, 

the number of occurrence of information or the size of information disclosed actually 

recognise the investment in human capital or intellectual capital is questionable. On 

the other hand, the fact that standalone financial information becomes irrelevant for 

investors for some fast growing industries, implies that financial information better 

be combined with disclosure of additional qualitative and quantitative information as 

well. Therefore, in this study, remedying the problems mentioned above, investment 

in human capital conceptualised by way of human capital expenditure and human 

capital disclosure index reflecting the value creation via investing in people are used 

as key model instruments. 

 

In determining the value of disclosure index, quantitative, qualitative and pictorial, 

human capital attributes considered in previous studies are gathered and pooled in to 
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the balanced scorecard categories in a way that employee involvement in firm value 

creation is reflected (figure 3.05 and table 3.01 and 3.02). Hence, traditionally 

adopted disclosure index model has been extended with the use of categories and 

performance levels of the balanced scorecard (Kaplan and Norton, 1992) for the 

purpose of ascertaining the level of reporting under human capital disclosure items 

identified. The key difference between this study and almost all the previous studies 

is that, rather than just relying on the disclosure vs. non disclosure, or frequency 

count as words, lines, sentences, paragraphs or the pages (Abdolmohammadi, 2005; 

Abeysekara, 2007; Abeysekara & Guthrie, 2004; Abeysekara & Guthrie, 2005; 

Murthy and Abeysekara, 2007), under each of the attributes or value creation factors 

as referred in this study, meaning of disclosure category and the meaningfulness of 

what is disclosed on how investment in human capital contributes in firm value 

creation is captured in calculation of the disclosure index value to reflect as a proxy 

for accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human capital. 

Therefore, this proxy figure reflects the Krippendorf (1980) argument of content 

analysis, content in context, in deriving the human capital disclosure index. Hence, 

the balanced scorecard framework, as is justified in theorising and conceptualising 

section as well, is used as the foundation in calculating the disclosure index with data 

collected (Figure 4.04). 

 

According to the illustration in figure 4.04, in data collection via content analysis, 

disclosure (1) or non-disclosure (0) of each of the human capital value creation 

factors (table 3.01 categorised under four perspectives of the balances scorecard) 

under each level of reporting is reported, considering the availability of information 

at each level as well. In this case, if a certain firm reports on all the human capital 
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attributes covering all the levels of reporting as well, the total of the score for that 

firm becomes 115. Therefore, the score earned by each firm, as a ratio of the ideal 

situation of full reporting (115) is calculated as the human capital disclosure index 

value and it’s illustrated in the equation (1) below. 

 

Figure 4.04: The two-dimensional frame-work on Human capital disclosure index 
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Xi1j 

Xi2j 

Xi3j 

∑         X1aj 

Customer 

perspective 

-Item (b) 1-

5 

X211 {1,0} 

X221 {1,0} 

X231 {1,0} 

X241 {1,0} 

X251 {1,0} 

 

X212 {1,0} 

X222 {1,0} 

X232 {1,0} 

X242 {1,0} 

X252 {1,0} 

.. .. ..  

 

 

 

 

X2bj 

Internal 

business 

process 

perspective 

-Item (c) 1-

8 

.. .. .. .. ..  

 

 

 

 

X3cj 

Learning 

and growth 

perspective 

-Item (d) 1-

7 

X411 {1,0} 

.. 

.. 

X471 {1,0} 

 

X412 {1,0} 

.. 

.. 

X472 {1,0} 

 

 

.. 

.. 

 

.. 

.. 

.. 

 

.. 

X415 {1,0} 

 

 

X475 {1,0} 
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 Level of disclosure (j) Xij 
(* Adopted from the balanced scorecard framework 

i- number of perspectives; i=1-4 

a- number of value creation factor under financial perspective; a=1-3 

b- value creation factor under financial perspective; b=1-5 

c- value creation factor under internal perspective; c=1-8 

d- value creation factor under leaning & growth perspective; d=1-7 

j- number of levels of reporting; k-1-5) 

Xiaj, Xibj, Xicj, Xidj, - categorical human capital disclosure total under each perspective 

Xij – grand human capital disclosure total for the firm) 
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              (1) 

 

In addition to the overall human capital disclosure index, categorical human capital 

disclosure index as well is developed (equation (2) – equation (5) given below) 

reflecting the four balanced scorecard perspectives as follows for descriptive 

interpretation. The financial reporting recognition of human capital investment as the 

overall human capital disclosure is comparatively interpreted with the results for the 

disclosure indices developed under the four balanced scorecard perspectives. 

 

                                                
    

  
             (2) 

 

                                               
    

  
             (3) 

 

                                                                 
    

  
  (4) 

 

                                                           
    

  
         (5) 

 

Once the key model instruments and the variables measuring the firms’ investment 

in human capital are developed, the variability in firms’ investment in human capital 

is investigated in both directions: forward and backward covering a holistic picture 

(a 360
0 

evaluation) on the subject matter, accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of investment in human capital of firms. In backward direction, as the 

determinants of human capital investment, firm specific and corporate governance 

related factors are identified. Whereas, in forward direction, how investment in 
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human capital is influencing on the consequences from different stakeholder point of 

view is discussed. Considering both these directions the research hypotheses are 

developed and they are illustrated in the subsequent section. 

 

 

4.8.2 Hypotheses development  

 

Even though, maximising shareholder wealth is the main objective of firms, 

stakeholder theory (Freeman, 1984) proposed that, the corporations must consider 

the needs and demands of the stakeholders and not just stockholders. This concept 

has become a part of the strategic management process as well (Clement, 2005) 

since, the traditional human resource management concept of, cost control has been 

mostly overwritten by the modern value creation perspective under strategic human 

resource management, which looks after all the stakeholders of the firms’ instead 

one category. Firm value creation is explained by linking people, strategy and 

performances proposing that employees are no longer just an expense for the firms, 

rather a valuable investment (Becker et al., 2001). However, the recognition of the 

value of employees as an investment in human capital, have been different from one 

firm to the other depending on many factors and the same has been the explanation 

for varying performance aspects of the firms too.  

 

Due to the tendency of firms in recognising the money spent on employees as an 

investment despite the controversial accounting treatment, firms have started to 

compensate the effect of it via qualitatively disclosed information in annual reports 

(Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; Ax and Marton, 2008), in a way 
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that reflects the value creation by employees. Hence, the proxies human capital 

expenditure, human capital per value added coefficient and the human capital 

disclosure, recognising the accounting and financial reporting recognition of human 

capital investment, are worth studying further to understand firms’ behaviour and the 

expectations of investing in human capital. In essence, the critical labour input for 

firms when perceived as the value creator of firms, theoretically is to be facilitated to 

achieve strategic competitive advantage for firm rather than minimising to achieve 

short-term profit targets.  

 

Considering previous empirical evidence, human capital expenditure has hardly ever 

been used as a proxy for investment in human capital to study about the determinants 

and consequences; however, many researchers have studied the human resources 

disclosure of the firm in the same matter. In this study both human capital 

expenditure and the human capital disclosure are used as a proxies to reflect 

investment in human capital, while some researchers have attempted to justify this 

by revealing the association between the company management practice and 

perceived importance of disclosing human resources information Ax and Marton 

(2008). Moreover, the same method of understanding the firm involvement and 

investment in different practices such as corporate social responsibility, research and 

development etc., via voluntary information disclosure has been used in previous 

studies as well (Roberts, 1992; Chan et al., 1990; Chan et al., 2001). Given the fact 

that both human capital expenditure and disclosure are reflecting the investment in 

employees, human resources disclosure, when interpreted as investment expected to 

behave as it’s a capital for the firms and hence the hypotheses are developed relying 

on empirical evidence relating to human capital expenditure and disclosure, 
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intellectual capital development expenditure and disclosure and even other firm 

practices reflecting investments though not accounted for as yet.  

 

 

Determinants of investment in human capital 

 

The use of, human capital expenditure, which is financial implication of the human 

resource management practice, human capital disclosure and the financial reporting 

out come of human resource management practice of the firms, is not entirely new in 

conceptualising the investment in human capital of firms (Chen and Lin, 2004; Ax 

and Marton, 2008; Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004). Evidently, 

there has always been a huge variance in the human capital expenditure and the 

human capital disclosure across firms, industry and different markets (Vithana and 

Gunaratne, 2009; Bassi and McMurrer, 2005) as well. The variance observed has 

been attributable to, how spending on employees is perceived by the managers as 

well as how different stakeholders have responded to the investment in human 

capital by firms.  

 

Moreover, the obvious shift in perspectives from cost control to value creation by the 

employees, have been positively stimulated via other interventions such as 

discussions on (DTI, 2003a and b) and introduction of corporate governance to shape 

the organisational function (FRC, 2010) Corporate governance has ensured the 

interest of the stakeholders opposed to the traditional shareholder interest and have 

particularly treated employees as a category of the stakeholders of the firms. Hence, 

the investment in employees has certainly been attributable to the corporate 
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governance mechanism of the firm in addition to the firm specific characteristics. 

Moreover, with the expanded category of stakeholders, investment in human capital 

has had different consequences from each category point of view. In this 

background, investment in human capital, as its reflected through accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of firms investment in human capital, using the 

proxies: human capital expenditure and human capital disclosure in annual reports, 

are analysed to understand how firm specific characteristics and corporate 

governance mechanism of firm determines the firms’ investment in human capital. 

  

 

Firm size 

 

Firm size in general has been understood as a determinant of investment and this 

argument has been supported further via some inherent advantages of being a larger 

firm such as having better access to external capital market, less susceptibility to 

information asymmetry, easy access to current information, lower transaction cost 

less agency conflicts due to the presence of institutional investors (Kadapakkam et 

al., 1998). As a result, firm size has been used as a determinant of firms’ investment 

in other intangible investments and reflection of them via disclosure or even 

disclosure in general (Soumaya, 2012; Barako et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2008; 

Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Kang and Gray, 2011; Chan, 2009a and b; Vithana and 

Gunaratne, 2009; Holland and Foo, 2003). Firm size measured in different ways is 

said to have an impact on the voluntary information disclosure (Barako et al., 2006; 

Vithana and Gunaratne, 2009; Abdolmohammadi, 2005). The size is collected as 

market capitalisation of firms in this study. However, in order to avoid the impact of 
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extreme fluctuation, as was the case in many of the previous studies, the natural log 

of the total market capitalisation is treated as the measurement in the statistical 

analysis (Chan, 2009a). Relying on the theoretical foundation and the empirical 

evidence in favour of the positive association between firm size and the investment 

(Saumaya, 2012), the same relationship is hypothesised between the firm size and 

the investment in human capital as well as follows.  

 

H1.1: There is a significant positive association between firm size and the 

investment in human capital, conceptualised via accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment. 

 

 

Industry type: intellectual capital intensity 

 

Shifting economies from “manufacturing powerhouses to service driven economy 

has placed a great emphasis on human resources planning” (Zula and Chermack, 

2007), investment and ultimately on accounting and financial reporting recognition 

of human capital investment as well based on the corporations need to legitimise 

their activities (Lindblom, 1994; Campbell, 2000). In considering industry type as a 

determinant of investment in human capital, reflected via accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of this investment measured using the proxies: human capital 

expenditure and human capital disclosure, industry type has proven to be a 

determinant of information disclosure in the absence of a proper framework 

governing accounting for different types of intangible investments such as 

intellectual capital (Wyatt, 2005) research and development and even human capital 
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in particular (Lepak and Snell, 2002; Vithana and Gunaratne, 2009). In general, 

industry type is even identified as a significant determinant on financial reporting 

outcomes, such as voluntary disclosure (Ness and Mizra, 1991; Entwistle, 1999). 

Paying attention to the human capital disclosure, Vithana and Gunaratne, (2009) 

classifying industries in to two main categories as service sector and the non service 

related firms, revealed that the service sector firms disclose more information than 

the non service sector firms. Moreover, researchers have discovered that firms 

belonging to intangible intensive industries invest more on intangible assed 

development (Amir and Lev, 1996) and this has been a consideration in sample 

selection in intellectual capital disclosure studies to avoid the huge variance as well 

(Li et al., 2008 & 2012; Sonnier et al., 2007). Therefore, in order to capture the 

variability related to high or low intellectual companies with no discrimination in 

sample selection a dummy variable is introduced to reflect the firms with high 

intellectual capital (1) or otherwise (0). According to the Li et al., 2008 & 2012 

sample selection and the high or low intellectual nature, firms belonging to 

pharmaceutical and bio technology, IT, telecommunication, business services, media 

and publishing, bank and insurance, food production and beverage and aerospace 

and defence were categorised as high intellectual capital firms while the rest is 

treated as law infrastructure firms and the research hypotheses are developed.  

 

H1.2: High intellectual capital firms account for significantly higher investment in 

human capital as conceptualised via accounting and financial reporting recognition 

of human capital investment. 
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Industry type: regulation  

 

In addition to the industry classification discussed above, some researchers have 

purposefully excluded banks and financial companies, insurance investment and 

financial services, property and investment companies and trusts, from their samples 

(Cooke, 1989; Iatridis 2008; Raffournier, 1995) as well due to highly regulated 

nature in accounting and financial reporting practice. Therefore, in order to capture 

the variance in accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment, due to highly regulated nature of the practice, in this study firms listed 

under FTSE 100 are classified in to two categories as firms belonging to Banking 

and Financial industry (regulated industry sector) and firms belonging to non 

banking and financial industry (firms not belonging to a highly regulated industry) or 

via the introduction of a dummy variable, the relationship it has with human capital 

investment is hypothesised as follows. 

 

H1.3: Firms from banking and finance industry account for significantly higher 

investment in human capital compared to the firms form non banking and finance 

industry, as conceptualised via accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment. 

 

 

Leverage 

 

Firm leverage is considered as a proxy variable to measure the capital structure of 

the firm and the significance of firm leverage in investment in human capital 
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reflected via accounting and financial recognition of investment in human capital is 

explained using two theories: resource dependency and agency. According to the 

resource-based view, internal resources and capabilities provide a source for 

competitive advantage, thus in general development of internal capabilities becomes 

more important than, limited internal financial resources (Maranto-Vargas and 

Rangel, 2007). Since capital structure doesn’t have an impact on the firm value 

based on the Modigliani and Miller (1958) arguments, firms may extend the 

investment in human capital using external finance, which may result even in interest 

tax shield benefit as well. According to the current accounting treatment, since 

human capital is still treated as expenditure (tax deductible) it provides an advantage 

via tax savings as well in addition to the strategic competitive advantage. In such a 

scenario, firms may invest more on human capital of the firm to gain a strategic 

competitive advantage, even when there are constraints in terms of the internal 

financial availability. However, according to Long and Malitz (1985), opposed to the 

investment in tangible assets, due to the higher risk involved in the firm specific 

intangible investments, firms investing more on them can support only a lower debt 

than those investing in tangible investments. Hence, though there is a relationship 

between the firm leverage and the investment in human capital of the firm, 

sometimes the direction of the relationship can hardly be predicted since results have 

generated more of a mixed result (Soumaya, 2012). Research evidence revealed that 

the capital structure is said to have a clear link with the firms’ investment as well as 

accounting and financial recognition of investment in different practices. This 

specially becomes the situation where internal funds are limited or financial 

institutions are the primary source for the company funds (Barako et al., 2006). 

According to Popov (2013), lower investment in elements of human capital such as 
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training and development has been attributable to firms’ lack of access to finance in 

general as well as to bank credit in particular. This implies that the lower the 

leverage firm can afford to, the lower the investment in human capital it resulted in.  

 

On the other hand, the accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment 

in human capital and even other intellectual capital investment related studies 

provided supportive evidence to the existence of a positive relationship between the 

leverage and investment in human capital as well as the accounting recognition for 

this investment via voluntary disclosure (Barako et al., 2006; Iatridis, 2008; Wyatt, 

2005). According to the agency cost theory, firms having high portion of debt tend to 

disclose more on voluntary information in order to reduce the agency cost.  Thus 

even the disclosure seems to be higher for the firms with approximately more debts 

due to the increasing potential for wealth transfer from debt to share holders to the 

managers. Empirical evidence are not found to be constant with this regard as 

significant positive (Barako et al., 2006), as some researchers have expected and 

even observed negative relationships for leverage as a determinant of voluntary 

social and human capital disclosure (Cormier et al., 2009). At the same time some 

researchers ended up concluding, as there is no relationship between the firm 

leverage and the voluntary information disclosure on in some emerging market 

conditions. Deviation of the findings might have been a result of different ways of 

conceptualisation since there were no any consistency in the approach of 

conceptualising the variable leverage, as an example, leverage is conceptualised in 

different ways as the ratio of total debt to owners equity (Wang et al., 2008), the debt 

ratio defined as the total debt to total assets (Barako et al., 2006; Chan, 2009a) etc. 

Considering the theoretical framework in agency cost, in this research, the 
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conceptualisation based on total debt to total equity is adopted. Considering the 

previous literature there are still controversial points. Even though the voluntary 

human capital disclosure shows a significant positive relationship with leverage of 

the firm the direction of the relationship for the human resource expenditure might 

vary depending on many other reasons such as reduction of profit due to the low 

profit as a result of high human resources expenditure reported, misunderstandings 

related to the conflicting interest due to the distribution of a big portion of value 

added of the firms to the employees etc. resulting controversial findings compared to 

previous.  However, the theoretical argument of highly levered firms can exploit the 

investment opportunities and invest more on the human capital to gain competitive 

advantage via the enhanced resource base and the fact that accounting recognition of 

value creation via adequate financial reporting to reduce information asymmetry and 

the agency cost, provide a background for a positively hypothesised relationship 

between leverage and the investment in human capital of firms. 

 

H1.4: There is a significant positive relationship between leverage of the firm with 

the investment in human capital, conceptualised via accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment. 

 

 

Profitability of the firm (ROE) 

 

Since early 1960s investment in education at household level and even state level is 

identified as an investment in human capital of the firm (Schultz, 1961 and Becker, 

1962), which provides a long-term benefit. As a consequence, even in the firm level, 
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employees are compensated based on the human capital they’ve developed in them 

over the period as knowledge, skills and attitudes and firms spend even more to 

develop this human capital further to make employees more suitable for the role they 

play in the firms, which again is a part of investment in human capital. Covering 

both these aspects, the total human resource expenditure is conceptualised as a valid 

proxy to represent firms’ investment in human capital.  However, since this is 

deducted as expenditure based on the current accounting treatment, firms may end 

up in a lower accounting profit in short run. Considering the long-term sustainability 

of the firm however, employees actually are the most important assets capitalised by 

the firm and firms will have to opt for either short run profit or long run 

sustainability plus the competitive advantage. On this background, even though 

profitability and the investment in human capital contradicts each other based on the 

financial accounting outcome, in focussing on the long term sustainability and the 

competitive advantage, firms need to choose more investment on human capital of 

the firms. On the other hand, the short-termism and the managerial opportunisms 

hypothesis as well lead firms to invest less on important aspects such as human 

capital seeking for immediate financial gains (Wilkes et al., 1996; Mahoney and 

Roberts, 2007).  

 

However, the typical financial goals of the firm being based on the profitability, it is 

obvious that many operational and financial aspects of the firms highly rely on the 

profitability of the firm. Return on equity investors as a primary goal common to all 

the corporate managers have been adopted by some researchers in studying the 

determinants of some firm practices such as intellectual capital investment and 

corporate social responsibility activities (Roberts, 1992). This has confirmed the 
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previous argument that, companies are more likely to spend and disclose more on 

socially responsible reasons such as corporate social responsibility or social capital 

when they are having a financially favourable position (Mills and Gardner, 1984) 

which can even be explained via stakeholder management under stakeholder theory 

(An et al., 2011). With this regard, investing on some aspects of human capital such 

as equal employment opportunity and facilitation, employee involvement in 

community etc. become a partial investment under corporate social responsibility. 

The same applies to the investment in human capital of the firms as well. As a result, 

despite the current accounting treatment, in considering human resources 

expenditure as an investment, even though the profitability has not been tested as a 

determinant of human capital investment, the accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment and even other intellectual capital 

investment have been tested in a varying organisational setting (Kang and Gary, 

2011; Vithana and Gunaratne, 2009).  Hence, profitability has even been tested and 

proven significant by some of the authors as a determinant of the human capital 

disclosure (Vithana and Gunaratne, 2009) and even general information disclosure 

(Iatridis, 2008), while it has not been significant through some other studies in 

different context such as voluntary corporate disclosure (Barako et al., 2006).  

 

The problem of reverse causality again arise leaving the doubt whether the profitable 

firms recognise more about investment in human capital of the firms or whether 

firms who recognise more about investment in human capital achieve more financial 

results via efficient utilisation of the asset (Chen et al., 2005). Therefore, the 

financial performance in terms of the efficiency in utilising the total asset, Return On 

Asset (ROA), was recognised as the impact of the investment in human capital, 
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while return on equity (ROE), which represents return to the shareholders of 

common stock, was identified as a potential determinant of the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of investment in human capital. Some researchers 

have even proven this, indicating firms with profitable operations have incentive to 

invest and accumulate investment in intangible assets (Wyatt, 2005). Moreover, 

addressing investment in corporate social responsibility activities of the firm, which 

are basically aimed at different types of stakeholder categories including employees, 

Roberts (1992) as well concluded that firms with relatively strong economic position 

measured in terms of growth in return on equity are more likely to invest more on 

corporate social responsibility activities and accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of them as well. Therefore, the two proxies reflecting accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment: human capital 

expenditure and voluntary disclosure are positively hypothesised with the firm 

profitability as adeterminants of the practice.  

 

H1.5: There is a significant positive relationship between profitability and the 

investment in human capital, conceptualised via accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment. 

 

 

Liquidity  

 

Cash flow of the firm has played an important role as a determinant of investment 

performance of the firms. The two variables: liquid asset, which is corresponding to 

the working capital (invested capital minus fixed asset) and the cash stock (cash plus 
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marketable securities) has been used by Soumaya (2012) as variables to proxy the 

liquidity as determinant of investment in this study and the results revealed a 

significant positive relationship of investment with the cash stock while the 

relationship with the liquid asset was significantly negative. The positive relationship 

has been confirmed even via some of the issues linked with the Modigliani and 

Miller (1958) cost of capital theories revealing that the even though the firm capital 

structure doesn’t have impact on the firm value or profitability, there is a significant 

relationship between investment level and internally available funds since 

investments in financially constrained firms would be determined by their cash flows  

(Kadapakkam et al., 1998). Accordingly, despite Modigliani and Miller (1958) 

explanations, due to the comparatively higher risk involved in investment in human 

capital, and the lower agency cost involved, firms may find it easy to invest using 

internally available capital than external finance sources, thus highly liquid firms can 

easily invest in human capital. Paying attention to the accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of investment in intellectual capital and general financial 

reporting practice as well firms have ended up in mixed results (Barako et al., 2006). 

 

Simultaneously, considering liquidity and the human resource expenditure, we tend 

to observe reverse causality too. As an example, due to the traditional accounting 

treatment of writing off of intellectual asset as expenses, firms end up being under 

valued resulting a big gap between the market value and the net book value of assets. 

This may result in adverse liquidity consequences for the firm. The consequence of 

that may have affected adversely on the subsequent human resource expenditure of 

the firm resulting under investment in education, training and development etc. 

(Abeysekera and Guthrie 2005). However, since firms are very much explicit about 
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their understanding about the importance of investing in human capital to improve 

the financial performance of the firm a positive relationship is hypothesised in 

between liquidity measured as current asset to current liabilities (Mills and Gardner, 

1984; Barako et al, 2006) and investment in human capital measured in terms of the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment. 

 

H1.6: There is a significant positive relationship between liquidity and the 

investment in human capital, conceptualised via accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment. 

 

 

Board size 

 

Relying on agency and resource dependency theories, researchers have revealed that 

larger boards bring firms in more resources in terms of the knowledge, skills and 

experience, which can make use of the firms’ other resources (Lev, 2001) and in 

aligning the interests of management and the employees  (Jensen and Meckling, 

1976). Therefore, a larger board while providing an optimum knowledge base for the 

top management structure induces firms in tangible and intangible investments 

aiming at the strategic competitive advantage for the firms. Hence, larger boards 

facilitates firms investment in human capital as well while communication their 

investment to the external stakeholders via proper financial recognition to these 

investments. Board size (the number of directors in the board) being one aspect 

under the corporate governance mechanism of the firms, have been tested in 

studying about the accounting recognition of the firm activities and provided mixed 
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results as a potential determinant of accounting recognition of many of the firm 

practices via voluntary disclosure of firms in different context such as positive 

significant relationship for human capital disclosure (Cormier et al., 2009) and no 

significant relationships with general information disclosure (Cheng and Courtenay, 

2006). Abeysekera, (2010) through a study about the influence of board size on 

intellectual capital disclosure, conceptualised human resource expenditure on 

financial statements as tactical human capital and the human capital disclosure as the 

strategic human capital and concluded that firms recognising more strategic human 

capital has larger boards. This implies that how large board size helps firms to 

overcome skill deficiencies. However, the conceptualisation of the tactical and the 

strategic human capital based on the above justifications may have their own 

limitations as the portion of human resource expenditure should have been an 

investment based on the human capital theory, though the complete amount is 

written off as expenditure owing to the current accounting treatment. Relying on 

these factors, in this study firms’ investment in human capital measured via human 

resource expenditure and the accounting recognition of human resource disclosed in 

the annual reports of the firm are positively hypothesised. 

 

H1.7: Firms with larger boards invest significantly more in firms’ human capital as 

conceptualised via accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment.  
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Board composition 

 

According to the agency theory (Jensen and Meckling, 1976), there is a tendency 

that the interests of managers and owners may diverge from each other’s. In such a 

situation, the remuneration system provides a mechanism to align their interests 

together. In this principle agent situation, independent non-executive directors of the 

firms are expected to be playing the role of, minimising potential opportunism of 

managers and large controlling owners. Therefore, in the presence of more 

independent non-executive directors there will be more stringent monitoring of 

management, which is impartial for all the stakeholders. Even though it is not about 

investment in employees in general, board and in certain instances the committee 

independence has already been tested with the executive remuneration measured as 

amount compensation and the pay-performance sensitivity (Mendez, 2011). 

However, results did not reveal that the presence of independent directors would 

restrain executives’ pay or increase of pay performance sensitivity (Mendez, 2011). 

While this include only two category of stakeholders claiming the value added of the 

firm, extending this to investment in human capital allow researchers to expand the 

stakeholders even to the employees of the firm in genital which becomes the primary 

objective of this study would be a valuable addition in this area of research.  

 

Moreover, even thought the corporate governance mechanism itself is developed 

considering multiple stakeholder categories, firms’ investment in human capital has 

rarely been the subject (Cormier et al., 2009) except for occasional studies on 

financial recognition of intellectual capital or corporate social responsibility in 

general (Abeysekara, 2010; Barako et al., 2006). The results revealed that many of 
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the corporate governance related variables including board composition measured 

via the portion of non-executive directors have had significant impact on the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of operational aspects via voluntary 

disclosure of firms (Cheng and Courtenay, 2006; Barako et al., 2006; Cormier et al., 

2009). Hence a similar conceptualisation has generated mixed results leading 

positive (Cheng and Courteney, 2006), negative (Barako et al., 2006; Eng and Mak, 

2003) and neutral relationships between board composition or independence and 

firm practices. Cheng and Courtenay (2006) revealed that higher portion of 

independent directors in the board leads to higher level of voluntary disclosure 

implying that accounting and financial recognition of the firm operations are high 

when the board independence is high. The negative results may have been 

attributable to the conflicting interest in between directors, executives and employees 

of the firm, which could have been addressed via enhancement of the overall 

governance mechanism. Relying on the above theoretical and the empirical 

background, a positive hypothesis is developed between the board independence and 

the human capital investment conceptualised via accounting and financial reporting 

recognition which is measured in terms of human resource expenditure and 

disclosure. Given the fact that data in the study span from 2005-2009, covering the 

duration before the proposal for the UK corporate governance code (FRC, 2010), the 

same conceptualisation used by Barako et al., (2006) to measure the board 

independence via the composition of non executive to executive directors, the 

formula, total of non-executive directors to the total number of directors in the board 

is adopted in this study. Based on these variables the research hypotheses are 

developed as follows.  
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H1.8: There is a significant positive relationship between the board independence or 

the board composition measured as total non-executive to total number of directors 

and the firms’ human capital investment conceptualised via accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment. 

 

 

Audit committee mechanism (size and number of meetings) 

 

Even though the key to effective human capital management practice is 

measurement, and valuation, accounting and financial reporting recognition of it as 

well is identified as an equally important as that’s how the intangible investment in 

human capital is properly communicated to make the practice visible to majority of 

the stakeholders (Roslender et al., 2004). Therefore, human capital management 

initiative taskforce as well has turned the attention towards the external reporting 

(DTI, 2003a & b). As a part of the corporate oversight mechanism, audit committees 

have always been responsible in evaluating the financial reporting quality of the 

firms in general (Rezaee, 2005; McDaniel et al., 2002) aiming at minimising the 

agency problem and exercising accountability to other stakeholders in general. 

Accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human capital as a 

part of the corporate governance mechanism and the same mechanism to oversight 

the practice by audit committees have been proposed even by the taskforce for 

human capital management (DTI 2003b). Accordingly, UK task force on human 

capital management have proposed audit committee or some other body responsible 

to the board to make sure that human capital management reports provide a balanced 

and an objective view (Roslender et al, 2004). Even though the presence of or the 
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functions of audit committee has net been tested so far as a determinant of human 

capital investment, it has widely been used as a determinant of financial reporting or 

the voluntary disclosure including intellectual capital and some aspects of human 

capital as well (Li et al., 2012; Barako et al., 2006; Cormier et al., 2009). Li et al., 

(2012) revealed that there is a positively significant relationship between size and the 

number of meetings of audit committee with the intellectual capital disclosure. 

Fulfilling the gap from human capital investment point of view as well size and the 

number of the audit committee meetings are positively hypothesised with the 

investment in human capital measured in terms of human resource expenditure and 

the accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment.  

 

H1.9: There is a significant positive relationship between, size of audit committee 

and the investment in human capital, conceptualised via accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment. 

 

H1.10: There is a significant positive relationship between the number of audit 

committee meetings and investment in human capital, conceptualised via accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment. 

 

 

Nomination and Remuneration committee  

 

As an aspect of corporate governance mechanism, in addition to the audit 

committees, nomination and remuneration committees as well (Li et al., 2012; 

Barako et al., 2006; Cormier et al., 2009) were identifies as a part of mechanism to 
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govern the strategic and the operational aspects of listed firms. Since these two 

committees are equally valuable in terms of the supervisory roles they play in most 

of the human capital investment related decisions such as executive compensation 

packages, compensation decisions and appointments etc., playing a similar role, 

theoretical reasoning of nomination and remuneration committee involvement in 

accounting and financial reporting have evidently combined together (Mendez et al., 

2011; Crespi-Cladera and Pascual-Fuster, 2013). Therefore, according to the agency 

theory, large committee size and better committee functioning via number of 

meetings facilitate firms’ investment in human capital. According to the corporate 

governance code of 2010, it is also highly advisable to have remuneration and 

nomination committees of latest two non-executive directors (FRC, 2010). However, 

nomination and remuneration committee independence have not been a significant 

factor in determining the human capital investment related decisions (Crespi-Cladera 

and Pascual-Fuster, 2013). Since investment in human capital in the firms are closely 

associated with the functions and the responsibilities with the nomination and the 

remuneration committees, the size and the number of meetings conducted by the 

remuneration and the nomination committee as well are recognised as potential 

determinant of human capital investment of the firms and a positive relationship is 

hypothesised as follows.  

 

H1.11: There is a significant positive relationship between size of the remuneration 

committee with the investment in human capital, conceptualised via accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment.  
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H1.12: There is a significant positive relationship between number of meetings of 

the remuneration committee with the investment in human capital, conceptualised 

via accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment.  

 

H1.13: There is a significant positive relationship between size of the nomination 

committee with the investment in human capital, conceptualised via accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment.  

 

H1.14: There is a significant positive relationship between number of meetings of 

the nomination committee with the investment in human capital, conceptualised via 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment.  

 

 

Consequence of investment in human capital 

 

According to the theoretically and empirically robust human capital theory 

(Cantillon, 1755 and Adam Smith, 1776, as cited by Dooley, 2005; Schultz, 1961; 

Becker, 1962; Backer, 1993), investment in human capital is recognised as 

individuals complementary capacity to generate added value and thus create wealth. 

Moreover, human capital theory confirms that investment in employees has a 

potential to increase their owners market and non-market productivity (Schultz, 

1961). Many empirical investigations are conducted addressing how investment in 

human capital affects different types of market and non-market productivity 

parameters (Chen et al., 2005; Chan, 2009 a & b). Despite the conflicting 

conceptualisation of investment in human capital, researchers have investigated 
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about the stakeholder response for firms investment in human capital measured via 

human capital expenditure (Lajili and Zeghal, 2005; Dumay and Tull, 2007) as well 

the accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment 

activities via voluntary disclosure measured using disclosure indices (Abeysekera, 

2008; Ax and Marton, 2008).  

 

Within this theoretical and empirical background, in this study, firms’ investment in 

human capital measured directly, using the accounting figure, human resource 

expenditure and indirectly, using human resource expenditure measured as a 

coefficient, human capital per value added, combined with the financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment via voluntary disclosure is hypothesised 

with the potential consequences of human capital investment as follows. Even 

though the total human resource expenditure by the firms does not completely reflect 

the amount invested in the human capital of the firm, given the limitations in 

categorising the capital and revenue types of human resource expenditure separately, 

the total human resource expenditure figure was chosen to conceptualise the human 

capital expenditure. Furthermore, the total human resource expenditure as a portion 

of value added relying on the value added intellectual capital coefficient technique 

(Pulic, 1998 and 2000) illustrated using equations in conceptualisation chapter was 

adopted to reflect the human capital investment in terms of the total value added 

distribution. Including the human capital disclosure, these three variables were 

hypothesised to determine the impact of that on consequences related to employee 

productivity, profitability and stock market return. 
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In investigating the consequence of different firm management and accounting 

practices on firm performances and stock market performances, number of control 

variables have been used since many firm practices and accounting and financial 

reporting performances of them depend on company specific characteristics 

including, firm size (Mangena and Tauringana, 2007; Kamath, 2008; Chan, 2009a 

and b; Mahoney and Roberts, 2007; Ehie and Olibe, 2010), industry type (Mahoney 

and Roberts, 2007), firm leverage or the capital structure (Mangena and Tauringana, 

2007; Kamath, 2008; Chan, 2009 a and b; Mahoney and Roberts, 2007; Ehie and 

Olibe, 2010), firm profitability measured reflecting return on equity (Mangena and 

Tauringana, 2007; Kamath, 2008) and firm liquidity (Mangena and Tauringana, 

2007), the same have been considered as control variables even in determining the 

consequences of investment in human capital of the firm. Relying on the previous 

empirical evidence on control variables and, the potential consequences of 

investment in human capital; employee productivity (Bronzini and Piselli, 2009; 

Chen et al., 2005), contemporaneous and lead profitability measures as return on 

total assets (Chan 2009 a and b; Chen et al., 2005) and contemporaneous and lead 

stock return (Lajili and Zeghal, 2005; Dumay and Tull, 2007; Chen et al, 2005), 

were tested statistically.  

 

 

Employee productivity 

 

Employee productivity measured in terms of pre tax profit of the firm divided by the 

number of employees has been tested as a determinant of intellectual capital 

investment by number of researchers (Chen et al, 2005). In many instances, a 
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positively significant relationship has been observed in between the investment in 

intellectual capital in which human capital is the main component and basically the 

value creator (Edvinsson and Malone, 1997). Moreover, previous empirical evidence 

support that many aspects related to human capital investment such as training and 

development, experience, has had positively significant impact on the employee 

productivity (Holzer, 1990). Relying on this empirical background, a positive 

relationship is hypothesised between the investment in human capital and the 

employee productivity as follows.  

 

H 2.1: There is a significant positive relationship between investment in human 

capital and employee productivity. 

 

 

Firm profitability 

 

In different context researchers have revealed that investment in human capital have 

positive impact on firm financial performance measured in different aspects (Bontis 

et al., 2003; Riahi-Belkaoui, 2003). Some researchers have even extended their 

studies to reveal the relationship between different intellectual capital development 

aspects and the firm value including even the future financial performances of the 

firms (Bontis and Fitzenz, 2000). Due to the fact that firm resource utilisation, 

strategic and sustainable competitive advantage has knowledge base and human 

capital investment at their roots (Barney, 1991), in all these intellectual capital 

studies, human capital has always been a major component or literally the value 

creator of firm intellectual capital (Edvinsson and Malone, 1997). However, the 
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consequences of human capital investment from financial performance point of 

view, has rarely been studied while it has been a timely requirement due to the 

distinguished role of people in organisations and the whole economy.  

 

Considering the financial performance researchers have utilised many variables 

including, return on asset, return on capital employed, earnings per share, growth in 

revenue etc. (Chen et al., 2005). However in this study, one of the widely used 

parameter i.e. return on total asset measured as pre tax profit divided by the average 

total asses (Chen et al., 2005: Chan, 2009 a and b) reflecting the firms efficiency and 

the impact of utilising the total asset, has been used to reflect the financial 

performance. Based on the above empirical background, the research hypothesis is 

developed as follows. Given the fact that investment in human capital generates 

benefits over more than one year, both contemporaneous (time t) and lead (time t+1) 

profitability indicators are hypothesised as a positively significant consequence of 

investment in human capital.  

 

H 2.2a: There is a significant positive relationship between investment in human 

capital and contemporaneous profitability indicator (return on asset at year t) 

 

H 2.2b: There is a significant positive relationship between investment in human 

capital and lead profitability (return on asset at year t+1) 
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Stock return of the firm 

 

The consequences of investment in human capital can be estimated mainly from two 

points of views as consequences on firms’ stock market performances reflecting the 

shareholders and debt holders. With this regard, the research evidences so far have 

discovered that many of the voluntary disclosure practices have had impact on 

different aspects of the firm performances including financial and accounting 

performances and the stock market performances (Collett and Hrasky, (2005). 

Moreover, some of the researchers have revealed human component of firms as the 

perfect value driver making the strategic success of the firm (Royal and O’Donnel, 

2008; Boedker et al., 2004), implying that human capital investment recognised 

through the accounting and financial reporting recognition using the measures of 

human capital expenditure and human capital disclosure, influence the firms 

performances (Lajili and Zeghal, 2006 & 2005b). However, many of the evidences 

with this regard still reflect voluntary disclosure nature using qualitative analysis 

tools and have not proven through a sound statistical mechanism. The research gap 

in relation to this is identified as whether the stakeholders are correctly recognising 

investment in human capital by firms as a valuable piece of information for the firm. 

Relying on the simple assumption, firms who spend more on the employee 

development and human capital investment and recognise this investment as the 

value driver of the firms via external financial reporting, subsequently enjoy higher 

stock prices, the stock return was selected as one of the dependent variable to be 

examined as an impact of human capital expenditure and the disclosure (Bassi et al., 

2004; Lajili and Zeghal, 2006 & 2005b). In studying the influence of intellectual 

capital disclosure to the external stakeholders in the Australian Stock Exchange 
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through the event study methodology, Dumay and Tull, (2007) have adopted 

cumulative abnormal return to reflect the impact on share price. Simultaneously, the 

market adjusted excess return has also been identified as another dependant variable 

to reflect the stock market performances over a period of time (Vithana and 

Gunaratne, 2009). However, due to the fact that the research sample is restricted to 

the FTSE 100 list of the London stock exchange the total stock market return is 

adopted in the hypotheses development as follows.  

 

H 2.3: There is a significant positive relationship between investment in human 

capital and total stock market return (total stock return at time t) 

 

The hypotheses developed above are basically aimed at the second research 

objective of discovering the determinants and the consequences of investment in 

human capital of the firm, while the first research objective of understanding the 

states of the practice, investment in human capital through the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition measured via human capital expenditure and 

disclosure is analysed via more qualitative techniques such as descriptive and 

exploratory. Therefore, the next section as well illustrates model specifications and 

the statistical data analysis model particularly relevant to the hypotheses testing 

under the second research objective.  
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4.9 DATA ANALYSIS  

 

Data analysis and the results are presented in two different chapters addressing each 

of the research objectives. The first research objective of “understand the current 

practice, investment in human capital by listed firms as its reflected via accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of this investment conceptualised using human 

resource expenditure human capital per value added coefficient and voluntary 

disclosure of human capital information in firms’ annual reports”, is addressed in the 

first analysis and results chapter, where the analysis has mostly been limited to 

exploratory and descriptive statistical analysis facilitated via few inferential 

statistical analysis techniques. The descriptive statistical analysis undertaken in this 

chapter recognising the data set particularly the distribution of each variables 

through descriptive measures such as mean, standard deviation, median, skewness 

and kurtosis facilitated the inferential analysis in the subsequent chapter through data 

diagnosis and by way of remedying the problems such as, outliers and highly skewed 

distributions. As an example, depending on the skewness and kurtosis values, the 

impact of outliers on some variables are recognised and rectified via Winsorization 

mechanism at p(0.01) (Gosh and Vogt, 2012). In addition, graphical and numerical 

statistical analysis tools are mostly utilised for the purpose of providing an insight in 

to the practice of investment in human capital reflected via quantitative and 

qualitative means including, individual value creation factors and categorical and 

overall human capital disclosure indices. 

 

The second research objective of “understanding the determinants and the expected 

consequences of investment in human capital by listed firms as reflected using 
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accounting and financial reporting recognition of this investment”, is addressed in 

the second analysis chapter. This basically illustrates the inferential statistical 

analysis conducted for testing of hypotheses developed and illustrated in the 

previous section. The analysis was undertaken using STATA 12 statistical software. 

In order to perform the inferential analysis, initially, through the spearman and 

Pearson correlation techniques the correlation between independent and the 

dependant variables are examined and the through data diagnostic tests, the 

suitability of the variables for the model is determined and remedial measures are 

undertaken (Gujarati, 2004). The statistical tests used involve unbalanced panel 

regression with fixed effect estimator, random effect estimator and pooled linear 

regression. Using of all the three techniques help confirm the finings and robustness 

of the results. Hausman test (Hausman, 1978) is used for the choice over random 

effect and fixed effect estimators for the panel data analysis. Interpretation of results 

was undertaken considering 1%, 5% and 10% levels of significance. The model 

specifications and the regression equations for panel data analysis for the two models 

determinants and the consequences are given below.  

 

 

4.9.1 Statistical model for determinants of investment in human capital 

 

Considering the determinants of human capital investment via the accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of this investment, conceptualisation based on three 

proxies: human capital expenditure, human capital per value added and human 

capital disclosure are modelled with the potential determinants hypothesised above. 



 228 

Therefore, research model illustrate the relationships of the above three proxies with 

firm specific and corporate governance related determinants as follows.  

 

                                            (6) 

 

                                             (7) 

 

                                                      (8) 

 

Where;  

 

Investment in human capital measured in terms of; 

  HCEt  = Human Capital Expenditure (at time t) 

  HCVAt   = Human Capital per Value Added (at time t) 

  HCDt  = Human Capital Disclosure index (at time t) 

X1 = Firm size 

X2 = Intellectual capital intensity 

X3 =Industry type: regulation  

X4 = Leverage (year t) 

X5 = Profitability (ROE at year t) 

X6 = Liquidity (year t) 

X7 = Board size 

X8 = Board composition  

X9 = Audit committee size 

X10 = Audit committee meetings   
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X11 = Remuneration committee size 

X12 = Remuneration committee meetings  

X13 = Nomination committee size 

X14 = Nomination committee meetings 

0 = Intercept   

1 -14 = Regression coefficients  

= Error term 

 

 

4.9.2 Statistical model for consequences of human capital investment 

 

The consequences of investment in human capital on employee productivity, 

profitability and the stock return of the listed firms, illustrated in the previous section 

via hypotheses development are tested using the following model specifications and 

the regression equations.  

 

                                   (8) 

 

                                     (9) 

 

                                    (10) 

 

                                      (11) 
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                                      (12) 

 

                                      (13) 

 

                                        (14)  

 

                                          (15) 

 

                                         (16) 

 

                                     (17)  

 

                                      (18) 

 

                                      (19) 

 

Where; 

 

Consequence of investment in human capital measured via ether  

EP  = Employee productivity 

ROAt  = Profitability (return on total assets at time t), 

ROA(t+1) = Profitability (return on total assets at time t+1) 

TSRt  = Total Stock Return - Contemporaneous (TSR at time t) 

 

 



 231 

Different means of conceptualising human capital investment 

HCEt   = Human Capital Expenditure 

HCVAt = Human capital per value added 

HCDt  = Human capital disclosure 

 

Control variables; 

X1 = Firm size 

X2 = Industry type  

X3 = Leverage (t) 

X4 = Profitability (ROE at time t) 

X5 = Liquidity (t) 

0 =Intercept  

1-6 =Regression coefficient  

 = Error term 

 

 

4.10 CONCLUSION 

 

Based on the research gap identified at different levels via critical review of 

literature and the conceptualisation, the research methodology is developed and it 

link the action plan in scientifically addressing above identified research gaps. In 

summary, methodology chapter started with identifying the research philosophy and 

paradigm in general, highlighting the applicability particularly considering the 

subject matter under study, human capital investment and accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital. The considerations 
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under methodology has further extended to ontological and epistemological issues 

leading to the overall research approach, research design and strategy, refining 

sampling, data collection and analysis techniques to achieve the research objective 

formulated addressing the gaps observed.  

 

Careful analysis of the nature of science studying and the nature of the society in 

understanding and acquiring knowledge, has positioned the study towards 

positivistic end of the research paradigm spectrum. However, given the inadequate 

theoretical background, the research has not completely been in the extreme 

positivistic end of the paradigm and has shared the characteristics and the qualities of 

the phenomenology paradigm as well. As a result, a mixed approach has always been 

adopted in terms of the research design, approach, strategy, data collection and data 

analysis to facilitate a holistic view to the subject matter, investment in human 

capital and accounting and financial reporting recognition of this investment. 

Adopting a mixed research strategy and considering financial reporting recognition 

of human capital investment from different perspective considering both quantitative 

and qualitative aspects help facilitates the triangulation of results as well as a holistic 

picture of the subject. Moreover, starting from conceptualization, current study has 

brought in a novelty approach for the research. Following this mixed research 

methodology adopted, data analysis and the results are presented in the next two 

chapters separately based on the research objectives.   
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CHAPTER FIVE 

ANASYSIS, RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS  

ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING RECOGNITION 

OF HUMAN CAPITAL INVESTMENT 

 

5.1 INTRODUCTION  

 

The initial part of the analysis has basically been taken the form of exploratory and 

descriptive nature providing a better understanding about firms’ investment in 

human capital. Addressing this, the practice human capital investment is explored 

and described in order to achieve the research objective of, ‘understanding the 

current practice of investment in human capital by listed firms as its reflected via 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of this investment. Considering the 

current accounting and financial reporting practice, recognition of human capital 

investment is conceptualised using human resource expenditure, human capital 

contribution in firm value added and voluntarily disclosed human capital information 

in firms annual reports captured according to the framework developed in the 

conceptualization chapter. Data are collected from 210 annual reports, covering five 

accounting years 2009 (49 firms), 2008 (46 firms), 2007 (40 firms), 2006 (40 firms) 

and 2005 (35 firms) for the firms listed in FTSE 100 listing of London stock 

exchange. However, since the nature of data and data quality related issues have an 

impact even on descriptive statistical analysis and interpretation, a complete 
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description of data explaining the context as well is given prior to the descriptive 

analysis. Ultimately, the results of the descriptive analysis are interpreted and 

discussed in light of the previous empirical findings. This paves the way for further 

inferential analysis and hypotheses development in the subsequent chapters.  

 

 

5.2 SAMPLE CHARACTERISTICS   

 

Data collected in this study addressing the research objectives include firm specific 

characteristics, corporate governance characteristics, variables reflecting the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment, and 

expected consequences of firms investment in human capital measured as firm 

accounting and financial performance outcome and stock market return. Individual 

variables collected under each of these categories accompanied with measurement 

criterion and the variables key for statistical analyses are illustrated in the table 5.01 

below.  
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Table 5.01: Variables and measurements of the study 

Type of 

variable 

Variable Measurement  Variable key in 

analysis 

Firm number Firm number as the panel ID  Number representing each firm as categorical data  fnumber 

Accounting 

year 

Accounting year is the Time variable in 

panel data model  

2009, 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005 acyear 

Firm specific 

characteristic 

Firm size Market capitalization (£Mn) firmsize 

firmsizel (for log) 

Industry Industry categorisation according to FTSE listing  industry 

Intellectual capital intensity Firms from high intellectual capital (1) industry or not (0) intellectintensive 

Industry type: regulation Firms categorised based on regulated industry sector, Bank and financial (1) not (0) industrytype 

Firm financial 

characteristics 

Firm Leverage Firm leverage Total debt/ Total equity ratio  curyrleverage 

Firm profitability Return on equity curyrprofityroe 

Firm Liquidity Current asset ratio (Current asset/Current liabilities) curyrliquidity 

Corporate 

Governance 

characteristics 

of the firms  

Board size Number of directors in board boardsize 

Board Independence Number non executive directors /total number of directors boardindep 

Audit committee size Number of directors in audit committee auditsize 

Nomination committee size Number of directors in nomination committee nomsize 

Remuneration committee size Number of directors in remuneration committee remsize 

Audit committee meeting Number of meetings of audit committee auditmeeting  

Nomination committee meeting Number of meetings of nomination committee nommeet 

Remuneration committee meetings Number of meetings of remuneration committee remmeet 

Accounting 

and financial 

reporting 

recognition of 

firms 

investment in 

human capital 

Human Capital Expenditure Total human resource expenditure (in £Mn) hcexp 

Human Capital per Value Added Total HR expenditure/ total value added vahcvahc 

Total Human Capital Disclosure Index Index quantifying the total human capital disclosure hcdisc 

Disclosure Index; Financial Perspective 

of BSC 

Index quantifying the disclosure under financial perspective 

ratfin 

Disclosure Index; Customer 

Perspective of BSC 

Index quantifying the disclosure under Customer perspective 

ratcus 

Disclosure Index; Internal Business 

Process Perspective of BSC 

Index quantifying the disclosure under Internal Business Process perspective 

ratibp 
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Disclosure Index; Learning and 

Growth Perspective of BSC 

Index quantifying the disclosure under Learning and Growth perspective 

ratlag 

Individual Human Capital Value Creation factors under Disclosure Indices   

Financial 

perspective  

Employee compensation plan including 

share schemes 

Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework 

empcomp 

Value added/revenue per employee Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework varevperemp 

Employee expenses and Pension Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework empexppen 

Customer 

perspective 

Employee involvement
 

Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework emp_invol 

Employee diversity and equity issues Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework Empdiv_equi 

Industrial relations and union activity Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework irunion 

Employee welfare and benefit Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework welf_benefit 

Employee satisfaction and loyalty Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework empsat_loyal 

Internal 

business 

process 

perspective 

Employee health and safety Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework emphealt_safe 

Employee appreciation Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework empapp 

Employee numbered Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework empnum 

Employee featured Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework empfeartured 

Human resource section and human 

resource functions 

Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework 

hrsec_func 

Human resource director committee Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework hrdircomm 

Work environment and culture of 

employees 

Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework 

workenv_culture 

Value added strategy Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework valueaddstrategy 

Learning 

and growth 

perspective 

Employee know-how and competency Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework kh_comp 

Education and vocational qualification Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework eduvocqual 

Career development Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework careerdevt 

Employee training programme Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework emptraining 

Employee experience Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework empexperience 

Entrepreneurial spirit and innovation Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework entrep_innov 

Employee motivation Score based on Extent of information disclosed according to balanced scorecard framework emp_motiv 

Consequenc

es: firm and 

stock 

market 

performance  

Employee productivity  Employee productivity =Net Income before Minority Interest/Number of employees empproduc 

Profitability at time t Return On Asset (NP after tax/ total asset) curroa 

Profitability at time t+1 Return On Asset (NP after tax/ total asset) at time t+1 next yrroa 

Stock market return  Total shareholder return (price appreciation and dividend) 
stockreturn 
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According to the data collected, sample consists of firms representing the industry 

sectors: aerospace and defence, banks, beverages, electricity, fixed line 

communication, food and drug retailers, food producers, gas and water multi 

utilities, general industries, general retailers, household goods, life insurance, media, 

mining, mobile telecommunication, oil and gas producers, pharmaceutical and 

biotechnology, software and computer, support services, tobacco, travel and leisure, 

non-life insurance, general finance, healthcare equipment, construction and material, 

personal goods and real estate. Inclusion of a wide range of industries make the 

sample well representative of the FTSE 100 listing of the London stock exchange. 

However, in order to control for the industry variance in accounting and financial 

reporting recognition, due to the updated and more controlled regulations in some 

industries such as banks and financial related companies, insurance investment and 

financial services, property and investment companies and trusts, addressing the 

consequence of recent financial crisis, firms belonging these industries were 

categorised as firms belong to industries with more regulated financial reporting 

mechanism or otherwise for further analysis using dummy variables. Moreover, 

since some industries by nature accounts for higher intellectual capital 

(pharmaceutical and biotechnology, IT, telecommunication, business services, media 

and publishing, bank and insurance, food production and beverages), firms 

belonging to high intellectual capital industries as well are separately recognised 

using a dummy variable (Li et al., 2008 & 2012).  

 

The sample firms used for the data collection with the industry they belong and the 

industry classification base on the regulated financial reporting mechanism is 

illustrated in the Appendix 2. The sample chosen for study accounts for around 26% 
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to 36% market capitalisation of the total market capitalisation of the London stock 

exchange while accounting for 34% - 44% of the FTSE 100 listing of London stock 

exchange for the duration under study (Table 5.02) making the sample relatively 

representative of the firms listed in the London stock exchange and considerably 

more representative of the FTSE 100 listing of the London stock exchange. The 

percentage market capitalisation of the sample has been increasing over the period of 

time due to the increasing sample size for the most recent accounting years. On the 

other hand, due to the data availability and the restrictions in the information 

disclosure aspects large number of firms have been excluded from the accounting 

years at the beginning of the study period (2005, 2006 compared to the other three 

years). 

 

Table 5.02: Percentage Market Capitalisation of the Sample 

 Accounting year 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 

Market capitalization of the 

sample £ Mn 1304705.5 975879.6 1302541.4 1201424.1 1085866.0 

Total market capitalization £ 

Mn  3588328 2939582 4329935 4397812 4092170 

% Market capitalisation from 

total 36.3597% 33.1979% 30.0822% 27.3186% 26.5352% 

Total market capitalisation of 

FTSE100 £ Mn 2931305.5 2460793.0 3398345.6 3383425.3 3174258.4 

% Market capitalization from 

FTSE 100 44.509% 39.657% 38.329% 35.509% 34.208% 

(percentage figures are calculated using the data collected from the annual reports and the total market 

capitalization figures gathered from the London stock exchange data: June, 2011) 

 

Data collected from the sample are descriptively analysed in this chapter for two 

main reasons, first, to understand data in the context of the sample and main 

characteristics of the sample to help interpret the findings; and second, to understand 

the current status of firms’ investment in human capital via accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital, conceptualised using the 
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proxies: human capital expenditure, human capital per value added and human 

capital disclosure. The results for descriptive analysis illustrating the key sample 

statistics: mean, standard deviation, median, minimum and maximum, which help 

describe the sample is given in the table 5.03.  

 

Table 5.03: Results of the descriptive data analysis 

Variable  Mean Std deviation Median Minimum Maximum 

Firm size  27954.4 29199.92 16920.04 4390.217 134376.3 

Industry type: regulation .243 .430 0 0 1 

Industry type: intellectual capital intensity .533 .500 1 0 1 

Board size 12.981 2.575 13 6 22 

Audit committee size 4.510 1.090 4 3 8 

Nomination committee size  5.410 1.984 5 3 11 

Remuneration committee size 4.563 1.102 5 3 8 

Board composition/ independence  .707 .099 .714 .455 .929 

Audit committee meetings 5.819 2.419 5 3 14 

Remuneration committee meetings 5.596 2.207 5 1 14 

Nomination committee meetings 3.743 2.227 3 1 15 

Current year leverage 9.445 21.414 2.460 -72.391 205.1549 

Current year profitability (ROE) 34.011 55.736 27.22 -94.37 712.4 

Current year liquidity .865 .680 .76 .04 6.56 

HC expenditure 2852.09 2659.69 1852 44.637 14438.89 

HCVA .528 1.678 .353 .000471 24.325 

Stock return 20.719 56.834 14.022 -87.037 474.892 

Current year ROA 9.328 8.397 8.22 -12.8 33.34 

Next year ROA 9.107 8.795 7.735 -12.8 43.54 

Employee productivity .079 .268 .032 -.268 3.051 

Total Human Capital Disclosure Index .575 .143 .574 .174 .887 

Disclosure Index; Financial Perspective .513 .204 .533 0 .933 

Disclosure Index; Customer Perspective .606 .185 .64 .08 .96 

Disclosure Index; Internal Business Process 

Perspective .593 .136 .6 .175 .925 

Disclosure Index; Learning and Growth 

Perspective 

 

.561 .206 .543 .086 .971 
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Table 5.04: Industry type representation in the sample 

Year Number of firms from banking 

and financial industries 

Number of firms from non 

banking and financial industries 

Total  

2008/2009 8 (16.33%) 41 (83.67%) 49 

2007/2008 10 (21.74%) 36 (78.26%) 46 

2006/2007 11 (27.5%) 29 (72.5%) 40 

2005/2006 12 (30%) 28 (70%) 40 

2004/2005 10 (28.57%) 25 (71.43%) 35 

 

According to the descriptive statistics, market capitalization of the sample ranged 

widely from  £Mn. 4390.217 to £Mn. 134376.3 with a mean of £Mn. 27954 and 

standard deviation of £29199.92. Considering the composition of the sample firms, 

based on industry regulation classification, firms representing banking and financial 

sector, which is more regulated in terms of financial reporting, is represented as “1” 

while firms not representing banking and financial sector was valued “0”. Therefore, 

the industry, each firm in the sample belongs and the categorisation based on firms 

belonging to banking and financial institutions with regulated financial reporting 

framework or firms which don’t belong to banking and financial firms is illustrated 

in Appendix 2, while a summarised number of observations in each category is given 

in the table 5.04. According to the table 5.04, representation of the banking and 

financial institution sector in the sample from FTSE 100 listing of London stock 

exchange, has been reduced over the time period under review reflecting the 

turbulent situation in the banking and financial sector and faced by the industry. 

 

Sample characteristics related to the corporate governance mechanism as well has 

illustrated in defining the context of the study since the impact corporate governance 
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mechanism proved to have an impact on accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of different aspects particularly the voluntarily recognised concepts such 

as human capital (Li et al., 2008). The number of directors of the board and 

committees varies as, board 6-22, audit, 3-8, nomination, 3-11 and remuneration, 3-8 

implying that the minimum number of directors in audit, remuneration and 

nomination committees were always above the standard minimum of three according 

to the corporate governance code 2010, even though implementation of the code 

itself has not been mandatory for the firms. Board composition measured based on 

non executive directors to total number of directors (mean of 0.707 & std. deviation 

of 0.099) revealed that firms take efforts to maintain board independence by 

increasing the non executive directors and have paid special attention to reveal more 

information in relation to board independence during the most recent accounting 

years. However, confirming that non-executive directors are totally independent of 

the firm operations would have improved the validity of the results. The figures 

imply that even though both, the practice of corporate governance and accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of corporate governance practice were voluntary 

in nature, firms have adhered to both, reflecting the significance of government, 

academic and research initiatives on the practice (DTI, 2003a and b; Baker and 

Wallage, 2000; Li et al., 2008). 

 

Firms investment in human capital measured as human resources expenditure have 

varied from £Mn. 44.637 to £Mn.14438.89 with mean of £Mn.2852.09  

£Mn.2659.69 while the contribution human capital per value added ranged from 

.000471 to 24.325 with a mean of .528 (1.678) revealing even a high skewness 

(13.815) in the distribution. Descriptive statistics obtained in relation to human 
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capital expenditure, portion of human capital per value added and the human capital 

disclosure is further analysed from investment point of view relying on the human 

capital theory arguments in the next section.  

 

 

5.3 DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS 

 

 Since accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment is 

conceptualised in this study via the total of human resource expenditure, human 

capital per value added and disclosure of human capital information in the annual 

reports quantified using the disclosure index proposed in the conceptualization 

chapter, the next section of this chapter present the analyses of data gathered for the 

above proxies. The analysis aimed at understanding the current practice of 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human capital 

particularly referring to the value relevance of it from external stakeholders point of 

view. Results of the descriptive analysis are interpreted comparatively and in light of 

the previous findings. 

 

 

5.3.1 Human Capital Expenditure  

 

Human resources expenditure incurred does not exactly measure the investment in 

human capital of firms due to the revenue portion of expenditure included in the total 

human resources expenditure. However, relying on a labour economics approach of 

deriving human capital indicators based on investment on education, training, health 

and medical care, researchers have conceptualised firms’ recognition of investment 
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in human capital using the labour cost (Lajili and Zeghal, 2005b and 2006). Labour 

cost and payroll cost has always been the starting point even in measuring firms’ 

investment in human capital using different approaches (Lev and Schwartz, 1971; 

Brummet et al., 1968; Flamholtz, 1972; Edvinsson, 1997; Sveiby, 1997 and Pulic, 

2000). Moreover, as it’s the only financial parameter available in the annual reports, 

which is more comprehensible for almost all categories of stakeholders including the 

financially illiterate. This is evidenced via stakeholder response for labour cost 

voluntary disclosure in different context (Lajili and Zeghal, 2005b and 2006). Given 

the use of human resource expenditure to reflect investment in people is justified, the 

summary statistics related to human capital expenditure, human resource expenditure 

as a portion of value added, explain how firms’ practices have changed over the 

period in consideration and the industry classification based on richer financial 

reporting and regulatory mechanisms.  

 

The mean values related to the variables explaining human capital investment of the 

firms are illustrated graphically for the period under study considering the industry 

categorisation as well. The graphical illustration below covers human capital 

expenditure (figure 5.01), per employee human capital expenditure (figure 5.02), 

portion of human capital per value added (figure 5.03), employee productivity 

(figure 5.04) and number of employees (figure 5.05). According to the figures the 

total amount firms spent on employees has gradually increased from 2005/2006 till 

2008/2009, particularly in banking and financial sector while the total amount spent 

on people in non-banking and financial sector has rather stagnated with slight ups 

and downs. The gap between two sectors, has gradually increased over the period 

reflecting the maximum difference in 2008/2009 accounting year. Despite economic 
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and financial crisis, firms in banking and financial sector appear to be constantly 

spending on their employees. This however, needs to be further examined in order to 

discover whether the continuous increase in amount spent on employees by the 

banking and financial industry sector is attributable to regulatory mechanism since, it 

is due to the high regulations governing the sector or the inclusion of large executive 

bonuses and salaries, since firms have always resisted regulation capping 

remuneration, particularly considering the executive remuneration and bonus 

schemes. 

 

Figure 5.01: Human capital expenditure by industry and year 
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Figure 5.02: Per employee human capital expenditure by industry and year 

 

 

 

Figure 5.03: Portion of human capital per value added by industry and year 

 

 

 



 246 

 

Figure 5.04: Employee Productivity by industry and year 

 

 

 

Figure 5.05: Employee Number by Industry and Year 
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However, in comparing the total human capital expenditure with the change in the 

average of per employee human capital expenditure and the number of employees 

the same trend could not be visible for both industries. Through the graphical 

analysis it is obvious that total human capital expenditure and per employee human 

capital expenditure and the number of employees for the non-banking and financial 

sector has mostly resembled the same pattern, while it has been the opposite for 

banking and financial sector firms. In Banking and financial industry scenario, the 

total amount spent and the number of employees have increased gradually over the 

period under consideration while per employee human capital has started dropping 

from 2006/2007 accounting year. This leads the question that firms investment in 

human capital reflected as the total human capital expenditure actually have 

enhanced the employees wealth, if the per employee value has rather declined over 

the time. On the other hand per employee human capital expenditure has 

considerably improved for the non-banking and financial sector firms compared to 

the banking and financial related industries. The impacts of the economic and the 

financial crisis on the investment in human capital has been reflected through the 

declines and the drops in employee productivity, portion of human capital per value 

added as well as per employee human capital expenditure considering both types of 

industries under analysis.  

 

Despite the attempt to understand firms’ investment in human capital via currently 

available information, existing problems related to the expenditure categorisation 

and the disclosure to the external stakeholders limit the usefulness of most of the 

information available for decision making about the firms. Issues such as, inadequate 
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classification to differentiate revenue and capital type of expenditure, misleading 

categorisation of directors’ fringe benefits as well under the human resource 

expenditure leads to a considerable gap particularly in terms of recognising 

investment in each category of employees. The descriptive analysis of human 

resource expenditure and related items confirm the argument that there is a major 

problem with the current human capital investment practice as well as the accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment. This implies that 

the practice needs to be enhanced especially considering the decision usefulness of 

the information generated via accounting and the financial reporting system 

(Abhayawansa and Abeysekera, 2008). This additionally confirms previous findings 

implying that a policy level change is essential and formally capturing human capital 

investment is a must as a part of accounting and financial reporting, aiming firm 

decision making of any sort from value relevance to multiple stakeholder point of 

view (Ax and Marton, 2008; Boedker et al., 2004).  

 

The difficulty in understanding and comprehending the human capital investment in 

firms via quantitative and qualitative information available in financial statements 

and the annual reports under the current accounting and financial reporting practice 

arguably leave decision stakeholders at rather a confused stage (March, 1987). Not 

letting stakeholders appropriately understand the intangible wealth of the firms, most 

importantly the wealth stored in the firm employees, is misleading since intangible 

capital stored in employees in fact, determine the future success of firms. This was 

the justification behind, many researchers (Bassi and McMurrer, 2005; Brummet et 

al., 1968, Grove et al., 1977) attempt to propose and reviewed techniques in 

measuring, account for and recognising the investment in human capital, while some 
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of the studies have even been expanded to the policy formulation stage (DTI 2003 a 

& b) though a successful outcome could not be achieved due to the resistance from 

the accounting and financial reporting professional bodies themselves (Roslender, 

2009; Roslender and Stevenson, 2009; Roslender et al., 2004). However, the 

implications of the descriptive analyses reveal that it’s imperative to perceive 

employee contribution of the firm value creation and firms spending on employees 

from human capital theory point of view compared to cost control or the expenditure 

perspective.  

 

Moreover, the deficiency in the current accounting system in capturing the 

investment in human capital of the firms have long been the debate among many 

researchers (Roslender, 1997; Bassi and McMurrer, 2005) and due to the 

unavailability of the formalised mechanism researchers and practitioners have 

attempted to compensate the practice via qualitative disclosure of human capital 

information under the financial reporting mechanism of the firms (Olsson, 1999 & 

2001; Stittle, 2004). As a result, the financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment via voluntary disclosure in the annual reports, has improved over the 

period of time while empirical evidence as well have mostly examined the financial 

reporting recognition of firms’ human capital investment via voluntary human 

capital disclosure (Abhayawansa and Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera, 2008; 

Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; Guthrie and Petty, 2000; Subbarao and Zeghal, 

1997) paying lesser attention to the valuation mechanism. Recognising this trend, the 

next section interprets the results of descriptive analysis on financial reporting 

recognition of investment in human capital via voluntary information disclosure 

paying attention to the value relevance of the practice. The implications of the 
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descriptive analysis have been interpreted in light of the previous literature and the 

conceptualisation as well.  

 

 

5.3.2 Human Capital Disclosure  

 

Empirical studies have evidenced that spending on employees has, in certain 

instances, resulted in positive financial outcomes for firms via contemporaneous or 

lead financial indicators (Lajili and Zeghal, 2006; 2005b). However, the descriptive 

analysis of the human capital expenditure, per employee human capital expenditure, 

and the portion of human capital per value added, have not convincingly evidenced 

that firms have actually perceived the outlay on human resource expenditure as an 

investment. Therefore, the most prominent and available financial implication of 

human resource management under corporate financial reporting (i. e. human capital 

information disclosed voluntarily in the annual reports) has been analysed 

descriptively to understand the investment in human capital practice. Due to the 

absence of an adequate, consistent and generally accepted framework to capture the 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment via disclosure practice, 

human capital value creation scorecard proposed in the conceptualisation chapter is 

used for both descriptive and inferential analysis.  

 

Human capital value creation scorecard proposed in the conceptualisation chapter 

based on balanced scorecard and human resource scorecard (Kaplan and Norton, 

1992; Becker et al., 2001) was a major methodological contribution of the study as it 

provides a comprehensive framework to practice and evaluate firms’ investment in 
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human capital through a multidisciplinary approach while the same could be used in 

terms of financial reporting recognition of human capital investment.  

 

Under the descriptive statistical analysis however, the level of human resource 

disclosure is initially studied considering all the 23 value creation factors categorised 

according to the groups (i.e. learning and growth related disclosure, internal business 

process related disclosure, customer perspective related disclosure and financial 

perspective related disclosure) proposed in this study based on the balanced 

scorecard and human resource scorecard frameworks. In addition to the individual 

value creation factors, referring the firm, disclosure variance in financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment have also been studied under the four 

categories, learning and growth related disclosure, internal business process related 

disclosure, customer perspective related disclosure and financial perspective related 

disclosure, in a way that firm value creation via human capital development is 

reflected. The contribution of human capital investment in firm value creation is 

illustrated in figure 5.06. 
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Figure 5.06: Firm value creation via human capital investment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Model adopted based on Balanced scorecard framework of Kaplan and Norton, 1992 reflecting how 

investment in individual factors under each category contributes in firm value creation) 
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In determining the extent of financial reporting recognition of firms’ human capital 

investment, as illustrated in detail in the methodology and the conceptualization 

chapter, both dimensions: human capital value creation factor and the levels of 

disclosure based on balanced scorecard perspectives were considered. Hence, the 

extent of reporting is determined based on the reporting (or not) under each human 

capital value creation factor considering the information disclosed under each of the 

levels of balanced scorecard: objectives, measurements, targets and initiatives 

accompanied by “achievement”, an additional, however, a very prominent level in 

terms of performance evaluation practices. This, provided a two dimensional 

approach to the quantification of human capital disclosure index. Information 

disclosed under each human capital value creation factor is therefore measured by 

following the most widely used criteria disclosure (1) or not (0) considering the 

information availability under the value creation factors for each level of reporting 

and the scores (1) or (0) are assigned depending on the information disclosed in 

annual reports. In order to get the total human resource disclosure of a particular firm 

for individual human capital value creation factor, the sum of the scores under each 

level of reporting was calculated and the figure varies between 1-5. This framework 

(figure 5.06), in addition to being a strategic human resource management tool, is 

capable of capturing the value relevance of human capital investment particularly 

since, the visual representation of strategic intent help facilitate understanding of, 

how organisational resources especially intangibles are used for firm value creation 

(Marr et al., 2004). 

 

Using the results obtained, the types of human capital information and the extent of 

human capital information disclosed are analysed and elaborated via descriptive 
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statistical analysis. For this purpose, descriptive statistics of the sample have been 

calculated for both categorical human capital disclosure indices (Table 5.05) and 

individual value creation factor (Table 5.06) which then is followed by a graphical 

interpretation.  

 

Table 5.05: Descriptive statistics for human capital disclosure indices 

Variable  Mean  Standard 

deviation 

Median Minimum Maximum  

Human capital disclosure index .576 .143 .574 .174 .887 

Disclosure index for financial 

perspective 

.513 .204 .533 0 .933 

Disclosure index for customer 

perspective 

.606 .185 .64 .08 .96 

Disclosure index for internal business 

process perspective 

.593 .136 .6 .175 .925 

Disclosure index for learning and 

growth perspective 

.561 .207 .543 .086 .971 
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Table 5.06: Results of Descriptive Analysis: Human capital value creation factors 

Human capital value creation factor Mean score Standard deviation 

of the score 

Minimum 

score 

Maximum 

score 

Median 

Employee compensation plan including share schemes 3.5 1.575 0 5 4 

Value added/revenue per employee .510 1.077 0 5 0 

Employee expenses and Pension 3.681 1.674 0 5 5 

Employee involvement
 

3.848 1.539 0 5 5 

Employee diversity and equity issues 3.457 1.631 0 5 4 

Industrial relations and union activity 1.838 1.575 0 5 2 

Employee welfare and benefit 3.3 1.587 0 5 3 

Employee satisfaction and loyalty 2.705 1.642 0 5 3 

Employee health and safety 3.619 1.755 0 5 5 

Employee appreciation 2.948 1.045 0 5 5 

Employee numbered 3.729 1.355 0 5 4 

Employee featured 1.791 1.134 0 4 2 

Hr section and hr functions 3.576 1.318 0 5 4 

Hr director committee .891 1.211 0 5 0 

Work environment and culture of employees 3.895 1.319 0 5 4.5 

Value added strategy 3.267 1.413 0 5 3 

Employee know-how and competency 3.467 1.302 0 5 4 

Education and vocational qualification 2.495 1.955 0 5 2 

Career development 3.310 1.579 0 5 3 

Employee training programme 3.586 1.641 0 5 4 

Employee experience 2.767 1.440 0 5 3 

Entrepreneurial spirit and innovation 2.048 1.417 0 5 2 

Employee motivation 1.957 1.317 0 5 2 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 256 

Mean disclosure indices value for the overall human capital disclosure and the 

categorical disclosure have graphically been illustrated. Figure 5.07 illustrates the 

variance in categorical human capital disclosure indices with time. This illustration 

has further expanded in figure 5.08 and has compared the change in the categorical 

human capital disclosure indices comparative to the overall human capital disclosure 

indices considering the industry differentiation as well. The industry categorization 

(i. e. banking and financial industry vs. non banking and financial) is considered in 

descriptive analysis as well due to the enhanced financial reporting framework 

associated with banking and financial industry.  

 

Figure 5.07: Mean disclosure index values 
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Figure 5.08: Human capital disclosure indices value by accounting year and industry 

 

 

 

According to the graphical presentation (figure 5.07 and 5.08), except for accounting 

year 2007/2008, on average the overall human capital disclosure index reflecting the 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment of firms via voluntary 

disclosure has increased over the period of time. This in fact may have been a 

reflection of firms’ attempts in compensating the inadequacy in accounting 

mechanism in recognition of human capital investment of the firms or a result of 

increasing effort in voluntary financial reporting in the recent past (Ax and Marton, 

2008; Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2005 & 2004). 

  

The periodical change in reporting reveals that except for the accounting year 

2004/2005, human capital value creation factors recognised under customer 
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perspective and internal business process perspective have become the most 

recognised human capital information category, while the financial perspective and 

learning and growth perspectives respectively have become the least recognised for 

all the years in the analysis. This implies that what is build up on the foundation on 

human capital development, how the organisational operations and functions are 

designed aiming to enhance value creation via employees and how firms attempt to 

recognise and enhance the general perception on employees in broader customer 

perspective, is highly recognised in financial reporting while the financial outcome, 

impact or the significance attached to all the previous attempts have not been 

recognised appropriately.   

 

Accordingly, employees stake in the firm in terms of diversity, equity, involvement, 

welfare, benefit, satisfaction in perceiving employees as an internal customer via 

broader customer perspective has highly been recognised. Recognition of this in 

financial reporting is followed by the recognition of human resource process mostly 

explaining the human resource management function, administrative aspects etc., 

which builds upon the foundation of human capital employees bring in to the firm. 

This includes how the organisational operations, functions, work environment and 

cultures are designed aiming to enhance value creation via employees. While the 

above two aspects are mostly recognised, the foundation in terms of firm value 

creation via employees including what they brings in to the firm and what they 

develop by being a part of the firm as experience (i.e. learning and growth 

perspective) which makes employees suitable for the role they play in the firm have 

received lesser recognition. Despite the lesser recognition observed thorough the 

descriptive analysis, value creation factors categorised under learning and growth 
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perspective reflects the human capital accumulated in employees through education 

and vocational qualifications, general training and development, experience gained 

etc. and the initial investments firms made on employees such as induction, job 

specific training etc.   

 

In addition, the results revealed that human capital value creation factor reflecting 

the financial implications and outcome, including value added contribution by the 

employees revenue/ profit per employees, employee share and share option schemes, 

compensation plans etc. have not been recognised appropriately. Providing 

information on value creation factors belonging to financial perspective category 

provide a balanced opportunity for stakeholders in general to gather knowledge on 

both positive and negative financial implications on human capital investment. The 

least recognition of how investment in human capital assists in firm value creation 

via financial perspective of the firms could be argued from different point of view 

and little or no disclosure on ultimate financial impact of firms’ investment in human 

capital is recognised as a major area requiring attention in studying the accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment by firms. Therefore, 

the least recognition of human capital investment from both financial and learning 

and growth perspectives, results in an information asymmetry leading external 

stakeholders to question, why exactly do firms need to treat employees as an 

investment rather than just treating them as an expenditure. Moreover, the least 

recognition of information belonging to the financial perspective and learning and 

growth perspective being the front and the back end of accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment, reflecting the human capital 

value creation makes the overall financial reporting recognition of human capital 
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investment incomplete specially considering the decision usefulness for all the 

stakeholders in general and to the external in particular.  

 

Moreover, even though researchers have claimed that advanced regulatory 

frameworks applied to some industries such as banking and financial, have had a 

significant impact on accounting and financial reporting recognition of voluntary 

information disclosure in general (Lindblom, 1994; Campbell, 2000) and even 

intellectual capital related aspects in particular (Amir and Lev, 1996), the graphical 

analysis of descriptive data differentiating four main disclosure categories by 

industry type and accounting year (figure 5.08) did not reveal considerable 

differences and mostly followed the same pattern, except for the fact that firms 

belonging to banking and financial industry have recognised more information on  

the financial perspective compared to firms belonging to non banking and financial 

industries. The difference may have been attributable to the enhanced reporting 

requirements of banking and financial industry while provision of more information 

to compensate some adverse quantitative indicators such as decreasing value added 

contribution to the employees, per employee human capital expenditure etc. or even 

information manipulation considering the possibility for an aspect such as human 

capital disclosure given the voluntary nature as well as the non availability of a 

standard framework governing the practice. The inferential analysis in the next 

chapter is particularly aimed at providing more statistical evidence in this regard, 

considering both time effect firm effect and the industry membership under the 

determinants of accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms investment 

in human capital.  
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In a more detail level of disclosure, according to descriptive statistics of individual 

human capital value creation factors: work environment and culture, employee 

involvement in decision and community activities, employee numbered and the 

demographic analysis, employee expenses and pension, employee health and safety, 

employee training programmes and human resource management and human 

resource functions respectively, were the most recognised human capital value 

creation factors in the annual reports. On the other hand, value creation factors: value 

added or revenue contribution per employees, human resource director involvement 

and human resource committee functions, employee featuring and representation in 

the annual reports industrial relations and union activities, employee motivation, 

entrepreneurial spirit and innovations and educational and vocational qualifications 

respectively were the least recognised human capital value creation factors in the 

annual reports. The results of the current study confirms the finding of a study 

covering an international reporting environment covering UK, USA, Canada, Japan, 

Germany, and South Korea (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997) in relation to most reported 

items such as employee benefit, employee numbers, human resource management 

and function related information, value added strategy employee expenses and 

pension and even for least reported items such as human resource director 

involvement and human resource director committee, employee featured, industrial 

relations and union activities and value added statement. 

 

Particularly considering the value added statement reflecting the firm value added 

distributed in between key stakeholder categories including shareholders, employees, 

debt holders and the governments, UK firms had not disclosed at all for the duration 

1993/1994 (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997). A similar situation is observed in the 
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current study as well indicating that only a handful of firms have recognised this 

item in the annual reports, becoming the least reported item in the annual reports out 

of all the human capital value creation factors. Firm value added, being an 

alternative criterion measuring firm performance with lesser susceptibility for 

manipulation as it is for the profit, leading to a wide spread application and 

recognition else where in the world, (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997; Abeysekera, 2007; 

Guthrie and Petty, 2000; Abeysekera, 2008), is one of the least recognised factor in 

financial reporting by UK firms revealing the inadequacy in the existing financial 

reporting system in general as well as in considering the financial reporting 

recognition of firm value creation by employees in particular as an important 

criterion in recognising human capital investment. Apart from the least financial 

reporting recognition, while both total human capital expenditure and per employee 

human capital expenditure is higher for banking and financial industry firms 

compared to the non banking and finance industry firms, the portion of value added 

distributed to the employees have been reportedly lower for banking and finance 

sector compared to the non banking and finance sector firms. This provides a clear 

indication on inappropriate value added distribution among the key stakeholders in 

banking industry, as it clearly would be a reflection of firms’ stakeholder perception 

on employees (i. e. an expenditure to minimise). The current accounting and 

financial reporting reflection of treating employees as an expenditure lowering firm 

profit may create significant negative consequences not only by reducing the value 

added distributed to the employees but also in weakening the intellectual asset base 

of the firm leading adverse conditions for the future.  
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Increasing recognition of some aspects such as health and safety, employee diversity 

and equity issues could be justified via legitimacy arguments. Significantly higher 

disclosure on health and safety and employee diversity have reassured the findings 

of ACCA (2009) study on human capital management and investment via financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment undertaken by assessing the 

information disclosed in the annual reports. Increasing recognition of these aspects 

have been a result of the existing legislation framework in relation to health and 

safety and equal employment opportunity and diversity related regulations.  

 

Comparing the results with the previous empirical evidence and the theoretical basis 

of human capital investment, despite being different from the previous findings in 

different context (Abeysekera, 2007; Guthrie and Petty, 2000; Abeysekera, 2008) 

and even covering UK samples (Li et al., 2008), unrecognised items which are the 

foundation for human capital investment in firm value creation leave firms’ practice 

of investment in human capital in a questionable state.  As an example, value 

creation factors categorised under learning and growth perspective such as, 

educational and vocational qualifications, entrepreneurial spirit and innovations, 

employee motivation etc. are the foundation upon which human capital of the firm is 

developed. Therefore, the fact that these factors are least recognised through the 

accounting and financial reporting mechanisms of the firms implies, the inadequate 

consideration of human capital investment by firms as well. However, in certain 

instances, deviation of the results from previous empirical evidence must have been 

attributable to the differences in the frameworks used in capturing the disclosure 

practice by different researchers in different context. In addition, number of firm 

specific and corporate governance related characteristics as assumed to have been 
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attributable to the variation in accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms 

investment in human capital which are tested at a late stage of this study.  

 

Apart from analysing individual human capital value creation factors, human 

resource information disclosure is analysed considering the overall human capital 

disclosure index of the firm and the four sub indices representing the disclosure 

categories based on the human capital value creation scorecard framework 

developed under conceptualisation. In this analysis, considering each category under 

the balanced scorecard framework, present situation on the disclosure of human 

capital value creation factors studied are further elaborated paying attention to the 

content of information disclosed in the annual reports considered within specific 

context reflecting firm value creation. The implications of descriptive analysis of 

human capital value creation factors categorised under each perspectives: learning 

and growth, internal business process, customer perspective and financial 

perspective are comparatively interpreted within the context considering the previous 

empirical evidence as well as theoretical justifications.  

 

 

5.1.1.1 Learning and growth perspective 

 

Human capital value creation factors categorised under learning and growth 

perspective basically consists with the human capital employees bring in with them 

to the firm by way of knowledge skills and attitudes developed in them via formal 

education, vocational training, real life experience or experience in previous 

employment. As it’s proposed by Kaplan and Norton (1992 and 2001) value creation 
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factors categorised accordingly under learning and growth of employees in the firm 

environment will present firms with a motivated and prepared workforce to 

undertake firm functions and operations. Therefore, accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of the above factors in annual reports communicate 

information on firms investment in human capital at the foundation level it self to the 

relevant stakeholders. Measuring the disclosure according to the availability of 

information reflecting each level of the human capital value creation scorecard, 

proposed in the conceptualization chapter (i.e. objectives, measurements, targets, 

initiatives and achievements) provide stakeholders with adequate information on 

contribution of each factor in the firm value creation.  Mean disclosure score values 

for the seven value creation factors under the learning and growth perspective are 

illustrated in figure 5.09. According to the graphical illustration, financial reporting 

recognition of the firms’ investment in human capital under learning and growth of 

the employees has improved marginally over the period except for the drop in 

2007/2008. Employee training programme, know-how and competency and career 

development were the most recognised items while employee motivation, 

entrepreneurial spirit and innovations and educational and vocational qualifications, 

were the least recognised items.  
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Figure 5.09: Mean disclosure score: Learning and growth perspective  

 

 

 

The results have deviated from previous findings covering different geographical 

locations (e.g. Abeysekera, 2007; Guthrie and Petty, 2000; Abeysekera, 2008; 

Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997) and even from those covering UK samples (Li et al., 

2008). Apart from highly skilled category and professional education such as 

medicine, accountancy, engineering etc., educational qualification is mostly 

understood as human capital development aspect in general and as a part of public 

investment in human capital development too. In certain instances vocational 

qualifications acquired outside the organisational environment as well could be a 

part of this general investment in human capital while what is acquired during the 

employment may be comparatively firm specific. As a result, education 

qualifications and professional qualifications in certain instances have not 
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completely been related to the firm operations and functions. This has been obvious 

even via implications of current study as firms have paid more attention to attributes, 

which determine firm value creation from the firm specific point of view such as 

employee training programme, know-how and competency and career development, 

while educational and vocational qualification of the employees have not been 

widely recognised. These results could even be justified using the arguments 

proposed by Becker (1964) on training employees in competitive labour market. 

According to Becker (1964), firms providing general training which would not bring 

uniqueness and specific return for the firms would expect employees pay the cost via 

compensation mechanism as they will have future returns for themselves. Moreover, 

in situations where firms develop employees for general skills due to the fact that 

firms do not own them making it a riskier investment as well, firms may have to 

adopt competitive pay structures. On the other hand, when firms are investing on 

firm specific know-how and competency, firms tend to pay more attention to the 

employee relations aspects such as developing the career of the employees within the 

firm. This may have resulted in recognising more on employee training and 

development which are specific to the firm compared to educational and vocational 

qualifications employees have acquired which is a part of human capital investment 

in general of the firms.  

 

Moreover, the foundation of human capital as a valuable asset depends on how 

entrepreneurial and motivated the workforce is in generating more wealth for the 

firm, compared to what the physical capital itself would do. This has been reflected 

via previous studies from UK and other developed country contexts as well (Li et al., 

2008; Guthrie Petty, 2000; Pedrini, 2007; Stittle, 2004; DTI 2003a & b; Roslender et 
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al., 2004). Even though the factors such as employee motivation and entrepreneurial 

skills have not been recognised as universally important through the annual reports 

of the firms in the current study, the same factors have been recognised as important 

in researches conducted particularly covering high intellectual capital companies in 

UK context (Li et al., 2008), implying that intellectual capital intensive nature of the 

firm itself has an impact on the accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

related factors such as entrepreneurial skills and innovations. Despite increasing 

motivation via proposed policy changes (DTI, 2003a & b; Roslender et al., 2004; 

Roslender and Stevenson, 2009) and previous researchers highlighting the 

importance of treating employees as assets (Stewart, 1997) and motivating them 

highly in order to make them willingly share and apply their knowledge for not just 

human capital but overall intellectual capital development (Abeysekera and Guthrie, 

2004), employee motivation has not been widely recognised through financial 

reporting. This further emphasise the reluctance of practitioners in recognising the 

human component as capital rather than a labour cost.  

 

 

5.1.1.2 Internal business process perspective 

 

Considering the contribution each of the value creation factors, value added strategy 

(indicating how human capital development strategy contributes to the strategy of 

the firm), work environment and culture, human resource management and human 

resource functions, human resource director committee (particularly the involvement 

of the top management in human capital development apart from the mandatory 

aspects under corporate governance such as functions of remuneration and 
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nomination committees), employee feature representation in the annual reports, 

employee numbered and the demographic analysis, employee appreciation 

(especially highlighting their contribution, appraisal of and rewards for their 

contribution) and employee health and safety have on what firms must excel at in 

developing operational excellence, they have been categorised under the internal 

business process perspective.  

 

According to the mean disclosure score value results illustrated in the figure 5.10, 

work environment and culture, employee numbered and the demography analysis, 

employee health and safety and human resource management and human resource 

functions respectively has become the most recognised human capital value creation 

factors. Whereas, human resource director committee, employee feature 

representation and value added strategy particularly considering the employee 

contribution and reflection on firm value added strategy respectively become the 

least recognised human capital value creation factors under the internal business 

process perspective. Findings have been inline with some previous studies conducted 

in the UK context (Li et al., 2008; Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997) considering some 

factors such as employee numbered and demography analysis. As discussed under 

the overall disclosure attributes as well, results have been in line with UK human 

capital disclosure considerations revealed as a part of an international human capital 

disclosure comparison (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997). 
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Figure 5.10: Mean disclosure score: Internal business process perspective 

 

 

 

Financial reporting recognition of most reported items such as work environment 

and culture and employee numbered including demography analysis has increased 

over the period under consideration, except for the drop in 2008, which might have 

been a reflection of the onset of the financial and economic crisis. The results have 

confirmed previous research findings even in different geographical point of view 

(Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; Cuganesan, 2006) with slight deviation in different 

value creation factors. Despite the crisis environment, employee health and safety 

has steadily been recognised over the period and the amount disclosed have reflected 

an increasing trend which is a significant improvement compared to the previous 

evidence on health and safety disclosure by UK firms (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997). 

The results have reflect the enhanced consideration in terms of the regulatory 

mechanism related to health and safety regulations and employment law in UK, 
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paying attention to the employees right to work in environment where the risk to 

their health and safety are properly assessed and controlled. This enhanced 

regulation has resulted in recognising the human capital investment as a part of 

financial reporting recognition under human capital, intellectual capital and 

corporate social responsibility reporting (Pedrini, 2007; DTI, 2003a & b; GRI, 

2006). 

 

Significantly higher recognition on value creation factors such as work environment 

and culture reveals firms’ tendency to treat employees as an asset or an investment to 

a certain extent. As an example, creating proper work environment with an 

appropriate compensation mechanism, and career development opportunities and 

pathways promoting organisational citizenship behaviour coupled with life long 

employment (Boedker et al., 2004), motivate employees to voluntarily contribute to 

the firm value creation using their human capital (Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; 

Cuganesan, 2006). Moreover, positive implication of financial reporting recognition 

of work environment and culture on firms human capital investment has even been 

highlighted via previous conceptual studies, recognising the work environment and 

the culture of the organisation it self as the human capital of third kind (Flamholtz, 

2005), in which case the additional economic value of human capital of third kind or 

the corporate culture is separately recognised from those of individuals and the 

groups operating in the firm.  

 

In the absence of financial measure quantifying the investment in human capital, 

employee number and the demography variation measurement has been a method of 

understanding the relative investment in firms’ human capital. As a result, it has 
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been recognised as an item reflecting the firms’ investment in people in most of the 

disclosure studies in general as well as studies on human capital and intellectual 

capital investment of firms (Barako et al., 2006; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; 

Abeysekera, 2008), while it has been a widely recognised value creation factor for a 

long period of time (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997; Li et al., 2008; Abeysekera, 2008). 

 

Employee health and safety, despite being an important consideration in human 

capital investment as reflected via financial reporting recognition of the current study 

and policy proposals (DTI, 2003a  & b, ACCA, 2009), has been recognised as a 

component under corporate social responsibility (Rizk et al., 2008; Cooper and 

Owen, 2007; Mahoney and Roberts, 2007), intellectual capital development (Pedrini, 

2007), human capital development (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997; Ax and Marton, 

2007) and even recently proposed aspects on accounting for human right (Sikka, 

2011). Financial reporting recognition of health and safety has also been justified 

via, the legitimation strategy and changing perception under legitimacy theory 

arguments (Lindblom, 1994), while there have been statutes (Health and safety at 

work at 1974) stipulating the firms practice on health and safety issues 

(http://www.tim-russell.co.uk/upimages/Employment%20Guide.pdf, 2014).  

 

Comparing the findings with previous studies, current results reveal that accounting 

and financial reporting recognition has considerably increased over the past periods 

and through out the period under study as well. In addition to the enhanced 

regulatory frameworks and compliance based on employment law and legal 

background on health and safety (GRI, 2006), this may have been a result of policy 

level proposals and research implications (DTI, 2003a &b; Roslender et al., 2004; 

http://www.tim-russell.co.uk/upimages/Employment%20Guide.pdf
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Roslender and Stevenson, 2009; ACCA, 2009). Moreover, the convergence of health 

and safety as a value creation factor under different frameworks: human capital 

accounting and reporting, intellectual capital management and reporting and 

sustainability reporting (Pedrini, 2007; Cuganesan, 2006; ACCA, 2009; GRI, 2006; 

DTI, 2003a & b) may have played a significant role in increasing recognition of 

employee health and safety in annual reports.  

 

Even though human resource directors and human resource director committee 

functions and involvement, have been the least recognised item through financial 

reporting confirming some of the previous findings as well (Subbarao and Zeghal, 

1997), the disclosure value has increased over the period under study. This increase 

may have reflected the significant influence of corporate governance mechanism on 

the voluntary financial disclosure reflecting human capital investment. In addition, 

UK firms recognition on value added strategy through financial reporting in annual 

reports is minimal in the current study as well as previous studies (Subbarao and 

Zeghal, 1997), implying that either it was difficult to determine or on the other hand, 

riskier or deemed unimportant to disclose the employee contribution in firms’ 

strategy. However, previous empirical studies have revealed that firms from different 

geographical regions such as USA (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997) have recognised it 

as an important item reflecting the firm value creation by the employees. Employee 

feature in current study has been identified as second least reported item, which 

remains fairly constant through out the period, while some of the previous studies 

have recognised it as a mostly reported item in their annual reports (Abeysekera and 

Guthrie, 2004; Abeysekera, 2008). This deviation may have significantly been 

attributable to the methodological changes as both the above studies collected data 
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using the frequency of occurrence or the size of disclosure, while the current study 

considered how representative employee featuring is (i.e. featuring only or 

combination of board of directors, top management, employees, employees in 

working environment and special achievement of employees) in recognising 

employees in firms’ annual reports. Constant nature of the employee feature 

representation throughout the period must have been a result of firms following the 

same or similar format and outline in preparation of the annual reports altering only 

the essential components, which may even have had an indirect impact in 

establishing criterion to reflect firms’ true investment in human capital.  

 

 

5.1.1.3 Customer perspective 

 

According to the results of financial reporting recognition of the value creation 

factors categorised under customer perspective: employee involvement, diversity and 

equity, industrial relations and union activities, employee welfare and benefits, and 

employee satisfaction and loyalty, firm behaviour on human capital investment is 

analysed and illustrated (Figure 5.11).  

 

Based on the results of descriptive analysis and the graphical presentation, employee 

involvement in decision-making including community related activities is recognised 

as mostly reported value creation factor followed by employee diversity and equity 

issues and employee welfare and benefits. Due to the overlapping nature of the 

attributes, issues related to disabled employment as well are categorised under 

employee diversity and equity related issues. However, the results have been 
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different for the accounting years 2007/2008 and 2008/2009, revealing that the most 

reported items are, employee involvement followed by employee welfare and 

benefits and then diversity and equity issues. This may have been a result of the 

financial reporting response to the enhanced legal frameworks (Disability 

Discrimination Act 2005; Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 

2003, Employment Equality (religion or Belief) Regulations 2003, Fixed Term 

Employees (Prevention of Less Favorable Treatment) Regulations 2003, etc.) and 

corporate governance debates aiming for corporate citizenship behaviour which 

accompanied an attempt to justify firm performance to the external stakeholders 

based on conceptual justifications under theories such as stakeholder and political 

economy of accounting. On the other hand, opposed to some developing countries 

(Abeysekera, Guthrie, 2004 & 2005), disclosure on industrial relations and union 

activities and employee satisfaction and loyalty respectively have been recognised as 

the least reported value creation factors.  
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Figure 5.11: Mean disclosure score: Customer perspective  

 

 

 

According to the human resource configurations by Lepak and Snell (1999), 

commitment based human resources management systems has the potential to 

support and create employment relationships to maximise firms reruns on human 

capital investment by nurturing employee involvement. Since commitment based 

human resource configurations encourage the use of potentials of employees such as 

cognitive abilities, aptitude etc., the extent of employee involvement in firm decision 

making to a certain extent determines the firms’ investment in human capital and the 

return generated via this investment. Even though this study considers employee 

involvement in firm decision making in general as well as their involvement in wider 

community related activities most of the previous studies have paid more attention to 

the factor employee involvement in community activities (Li et al., 2012; Li et al., 
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2008; Abeysekera, 2007; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004 and 2005). Apart from 

previous empirical evidence are being from different socio economic backgrounds, 

wider coverage in relation to the employee involvement may have been a reason for 

results of the current study to overwrite the previous empirical evidence 

(Abeysekera, 2007; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004 and 2005), by identifying 

employee involvement as the most recognised item in financial reporting through 

annual reports, compared to not so significant states in the previous studies. Since 

employee involvement in firm decision making have proven reflecting firms 

investment in human capital creating more future returns, accounting for people task 

force (DTI, 2003a & b) as well has recognised it as an item to be considered under 

human capital accounting.  

 

Disclosure on employee diversity and equity issues has been identified as the second 

most recognised value creation factor under customer perspective.  In comparing the 

findings with previous evidence and the policy papers, findings have confirmed the 

results of ACCA (2009) as well in which case, diversity and equity issues are 

recognised as a mostly disclosed item in voluntary disclosure sections of the annual 

reports. Though it’s not the most widely reported item, in an international 

comparison of human capital between UK, USA, Canada, Germany, Japan and 

South Korea, diversity has considerably reported under financial reporting practice 

especially in the developed countries (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997), in which case 

employment equity and disability related issues have been prominent while board 

diversity was recognised as least reported. Further explaining this, researchers have 

claimed that globalization of trade and industry, demanding more skilled and 

professional workers in knowledge-based and capital-based industries in developed 
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countries and increasing migration of skilled workers from developing to developed 

countries have made the firms in developed countries highly diversified and these 

firms have recognised and acknowledged the competitive advantage they gain 

through this in corporate financial reporting as well. Reflecting this, results have 

evidenced deviation in different social economic backgrounds especially from 

developing country point of view, where attributes contribution to diversity such as, 

equity issues related to race, gender, religion, and disability have been recognised as 

least reported (Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2004; Abeysekera, 2008).  

 

Despite the variation in empirical evidence, financial reporting recognition on 

diversity and equity issues have been identified as important factors under a wide 

range of frameworks such as corporate social responsibility (Mahoney and Roberts, 

2007; Pedrini, 2007), intellectual capital development (Li et al., 2008; Abeysekera 

and Guthrie, 2004 and 2005; Li et al., 2012; Cuganesan, 2006) and human capital 

investment (Abeysekera, 2008; DTI, 2003a & b) due to the increasingly successful 

role it plays in amalgamating formal skills and other factors such as imagination, 

creativity etc. (Turner, 2005). Moreover, most of the leading employers have 

actively been promoting diversity and equal opportunity through coordinated 

programmes of recruitment, development, promotion, fair pay reviews and flexible 

working (DTI, 2003a & b; GRI, 2006). Increasing accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of diversity and equity issues as well has been identified as a result of 

legitimisation of the firm practice (Lindblom, 1994). Moreover, in addition to the 

common law governing the contract of employment, dramatic growth in the amount 

of UK employment protection legislations related to diversity and equity issues such 

as Equal Pay Act 1970, Sex Discrimination Act 1975, Race Relations Act 1976, 
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Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and 2005, Employment Rights Act 1996, Human 

Rights Act 1998, Disability Discrimination Act 2005 and secondary legislations 

including Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2003, 

Employment Equality (religion or Belief) Regulations 2003, Fixed Term Employees 

(Prevention of Less Favorable Treatment) Regulations 2003 as well may have had a 

considerable impact on financial reporting recognition of diversity and equity related 

issues (http://www.tim-russell.co.uk/upimages/Employment%20Guide.pdf, 2014).  

 

Employee welfare and benefit has separately been identified as a value creation 

factor helping improve, the way firm appears to its internal and external customers. 

Deviating from some of the previous studies (Abeysekera, 2007; Abeysekera and 

Guthrie, 2005), the current study excluded financial benefits such as employee 

compensation as they have been reflecting the financial implications on the practice 

human capital investment, and hence separately categorised under financial 

perspective. According to the results and graphical illustration (figure 5.11), even 

though the level of recognition through financial reporting is lower compared to 

employee involvement and diversity and equity, it has gradually been increased over 

the period under consideration.  

 

This may have been a result of reasons such as tension between managers and 

employees, increasing trend for outsourcing and contract employment, performance 

based pay and conflicting demands from different internal and external stakeholders 

(Steen et al., 2011). However, reflecting the recent enhancement in the corporate 

reporting in general, financial reporting recognition of employee welfare and benefit 

has particularly been higher in 2008 and 2009 accounting years. Moreover, the 

http://www.tim-russell.co.uk/upimages/Employment%20Guide.pdf
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recent increasing trend might as well have been attributable to the convergence 

between different reporting frameworks such as corporate social responsibility 

(Mills, and Gardner, 1984) and intellectual capital disclosure (Abeysekera, 2007; 

Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2005). In explaining the deviation in practice, some 

researchers (Abeysekera, 2008) have revealed that firms take initiative in some 

welfare and benefit related activities such as funded meals, holidays etc. to motivate 

employees and to increase human capital accumulation in firms. On the other hand, 

firms let employees take initiative on welfare activities such societal activities, sports 

clubs etc., that have less impact on capital accumulation.  

 

Disclosure on industrial relations and union activities have been the least reported 

value creation factor, have evidenced a dropped particularly in the 2006/2007 and 

2007/2008 accounting years too. The results have confirmed previous empirical 

findings for UK context where union activities was a least recognised item among 

human capital disclosure (ACCA, 2009) and even least reported in the UK 

comparative to Canada and USA, where the item was one of the most recognised in 

international comparative studies (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997). However, the 

practice industrial relations have been regulated according to the special statutes: 

Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 and Employment 

Relations Act 1999 and 2004, while the financial reporting recognition has been 

considered under variety of frameworks including corporate social responsibility 

(Mahoney and Roberts, 2007; Clement, 2005), intellectual capital (Abeysekera, 

2007) and human capital (DTI, 2003 a; Abeysekera, 2008). The least reporting trend 

in terms of financial reporting recognition could have been attributable to the recent 

employment policies promoting contract or performance pay employees particularly 
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the increase in zero hour contracts providing employees with less opportunities for 

employee relation and union activities.  

 

On the other hand, the results might have been a reflection of actual situation, where 

there is nothing significant to disclose or the reluctance for negative disclosure 

leading to a bad impression on firms human capital base, due to the voluntary nature 

of the practice.  Moreover, this confirms the fact that firms tend to use simple 

indicators measuring a variety of human capital attributes, while reporting only on 

those reliable consistent and most importantly the ones becoming key in reflecting 

corporate performance and organisational success (Roslender et al., 2004). The 

results have deviated from most recent studies covering UK (Li et al., 2008), where 

employee relations have been among the most recognised items of human capital 

disclosure and studies covering countries from other socio economic backgrounds 

such as Sri Lanka (Abeysekera, 2007 & 2008; Abeysekera and Guthrie, 2005).  

Abeysekera (2008) revealed the reason for higher recognition on employees as a way 

of avoiding early termination as it may lead to tension between firms and the 

community seeking for greater public accountability of their action. Thus practicing 

and recognising more on employee relations have been adopted as a way of 

promoting organisational citizenship behaviour as well.  

 

Employee satisfaction and loyalty is identified as second least recognised value 

creation factor under financial reporting recognition and the disclosure level has 

gradually been increasing over the period under consideration. The results have 

confirmed previous empirical findings as well revealing that satisfaction and loyalty 

has long been a least recognised item under intellectual capital and human capital 
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reporting of the firms (Boedker et al., 2004) due to the reasons, either they don’t 

have actual measure in place as indicators for satisfaction or those that do actually 

have indicators, rarely report them externally (Roslender et al., 2004). However, 

considering the theory of human capital investment, the fact that items such as 

employee satisfaction and loyalty being least recognised leaves the firms’ states on 

the practice at a questionable stage. As an example, human capital investment 

argument opposed to the human resource expenditure seeks for long term benefit of 

firms’ investment in employees through capturing the service potential of employees 

(Lev and Schewartz, 1971; Lev, 2001), which belongs rather to voluntarism and not 

determinism (Flamholtz, 1971), revealing that only satisfied and loyal employees 

would be treated as an investment. As a result employee satisfaction has been 

recognised as a vitally important indicator under human capital and intellectual 

capital management and investment of the firms (Holmen, 2005; DTI, 2003a & b; 

Williams, 2001; Cuganesan, 2006). However, the tension between employees and 

management, conflicting demands of different categories of internal and external 

stakeholders (Steen et al., 2011) and availability and the willingness to disclose the 

measurement indicators have had an adverse impact on the progress of practice in 

general.   

 

 

5.1.1.4 Financial perspective 

 

From the financial perspective, employee compensation, including employee share 

schemes and share options schemes followed by employee expenses covering 

different aspects including functional cost, retirement benefit and pension etc. were 
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identified as the most recognised items in the annual reports (figure 5.12). Both these 

mostly recognised attributes attempting to reflect the employee involvement from 

expenditure perspective rather than treating it as an investment. However, the 

attribute directly reflecting the employee value creation of the firms: per employee 

value added contribution, recognised considering different perspectives such as firm 

value added per employee, revenue per employee, profit per employee was the least 

recognised item in the annual reports of the firms under study.  

 

Considering the most widely reported items, employee compensation plans including 

employee share scheme and employee share option scheme and employee expenses 

and pension, results have confirmed the previous findings as these two items in 

many instances have evidenced as widely recognised under financial reporting via 

annual reports from UK and other developed countries (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997; 

Li et al., 2008) as well as from developing country point of view (Abeysekera and 

Guthrie, 2004 & 2005; Abeysekera, 2007 & 2008). Accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of firms’ investment on both the above can be explained as an 

attempt to develop increased employee satisfaction and enhance loyalty highlighting 

the financial benefits employees receive from the firms. Employee share scheme and 

employee share option schemes particularly serves a boundary-spanning role in 

terms of their relationship with the firm. As an example, by making employees 

shareholders of the firm and recognising this fact via financial reporting, provide 

them the sense of ownership, which help facilitate in aligning the firms objectives 

with those of employees.  
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Figure 5.12: Mean disclosure score: Financial perspective  

 

 

 

From human capital investment perspective, employee contribution reflected via 

value added per employees, revenue per employees and profit per employees, which 

were least recognised through financial reporting would have been rather useful 

mostly for the external stakeholders of the firms (Huselid, 1995). Out of the three 

financial perspectives related measurements reflecting firm value creation by 

employees, value added contribution by employees has theoretically been identified 

as a better measure reflecting the financial implications of human capital investment. 

According to Sveiby (1997), turnover is generally influenced by items such as 

commissions or items just pass through the firms such as cost of good and services 

without contributing much in terms of firm value creation. On the other hand, profit 

is relatively easy to manipulate in private limited firms by means such as salaries, 
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fringe benefits, pension and insurance premium etc., making value added per 

employee, the least sensitive to all of the above. However, despite the decision 

usefulness value added per employee is having in reflecting the financial 

implications of human capital investment, for internal and external stakeholders, this 

still has been the least recognised item in annual reports in UK firms. This drawback 

seriously questions the current financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment by UK firms.  

 

Results of the current study, the least recognition of employee contribution in firm 

value addition, measured as value added per employee has confirmed previous 

empirical evidence, where UK annual reports disclosed none in terms of value added 

statement of the firms (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997). However, it has been included 

in the research frameworks continuously as a significant item reflecting the firm 

value creation via employees. Researchers have explained the reasons for non-

recognition as unavailability of measures, complexity in calculation of value added 

contribution or firms treating it as unimportant item to be disclosed. On the other 

hand, covering 2004-2005 accounting years, Li et al. (2008) revealed that employee 

productivity measured in terms of output per employee has considerably been 

recognised in the annual reports of UK firms. Since firm value added is identified as 

a better measure reflecting firms’ overall performance (Sveiby, 1997), the same has 

been considered as the basis for quantification of intellectual capital investment 

using value added intellectual coefficient (VAIC) by Pulic (1998 & 2000). which has 

widely been used in most of the subsequent explanatory studies, in understanding the 

determinants and consequence of firms’ intellectual capital investment (Chen et al., 

2005; Nazari and Herremans, 2007; Tan et al., 2008).  
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Though descriptive analysis and interpretation of the results have broadly focused on 

understanding and explaining the variation in human capital investment by firms 

using individual human capital value creation factors, stakeholders in their decision-

making tend to look further at the overall human capital value creation process using 

the disclosure recognised in the annual reports. As a result, researchers studying the 

value relevance of the practices either voluntary disclosure in general (Barako et al., 

2006) or specific aspects such as corporate social responsibility (Abbott and 

Monsen, 1979), intellectual capital development (Abdolmohammadi, 2005; 

Abeysekera,, 2007; Abeysekera, and Guthrie, 2005) or human capital investment 

(Abhayawansa and Abeysekera, 2008; Abeysekera, 2008; Becker et al., 2001; 

Boedker, et al., 2004) in particular, have mostly developed disclosure indices as a 

part of conceptualisation.  Adopting a similar approach, the variance observed in 

terms of the overall human capital disclosure indices, reflecting the firm value 

creation by employees are further analysed by explanatory means to understand the 

reasoning behind and consequences considering the variability exist in both forward 

and the backward directions.  

 

 

5.1 CONCLUSIONS  

 

“Employees can be treated as assets when firms are dependant on people for their 

knowledge, however employees can be treated as labour when firms are dependant 

on technological systems that hold the codified knowledge of employees”  

(Abeysekera, 2007, p. 336). 
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The above quoted statement implies that, employees becoming an asset or labour 

depends on the firms’ knowledge and human resource management practice. 

Efficient communication of, how this process is undertaken, turns out to be useful 

piece of information to firms internal and external stakeholders, either to manage 

human resources effectively and efficiently or to evaluate management as a part of 

decision making for the other stakeholders of the firms. Against this background, 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital 

helps determine, whether firms treat employees as asset or an investment.  

 

Considering the only parameters reflected via the formal accounting mechanism, 

human capital expenditure and the human capital per value added, firms spending on 

employees have increased over the study period particularly for banking and finance 

sector implying that firms keep investing on employees despite the adverse 

economic condition and financial crisis. However, linking it with the other 

employment related aspects such as number of employees and per employee human 

resources expenditure, revealed that per employee portion of human resource 

expenditure for banking and financial firms has dropped. This imply the fact that 

human resources budget is relatively more susceptible to the adverse economic 

conditions and has easily been subjected to trimming down, leaving the general 

question, whether firms perceive spending on employees as an asset or just an 

expenditure. On this background, appropriate recognition of employee status under 

accounting and financial reporting scenario has rather become a plea over long 

period of time.  
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The situation of firms belonging to non banking and financial industry has revealed a 

different picture implying that per employee expenditure and even other value 

creation indicators have revealed comparatively positive implications over banking 

and financial sector implying that non banking and financial firms perceived the 

employees as investment in human capital opposed to banking and financial sector. 

However, in order to confirm the implications of the descriptive statistical analysis it 

is essential to expand the study to an inferential level.  

 

Despite accounting for human capital having held the continuous attention of 

researchers all over the world, providing policy studies, theoretical and empirical 

evidence from developed and developed countries (DTI, 2003a & b; Subbarao and 

Zeghal, 1997; Abeysekara, 2008 & 2007; Li et al., 2008 & 2012; Turner, 1996 & 

2005; Lev and Schwartz, 1971, Flamholtz, 1971, 1972a, b & c, 1974; Roslender, 

1997, 2009; Roslender et al., 2004; Roslender and Stevenson, 2009), nothing much 

in terms of the accounting treatment or professional attempts to promote accounting 

treatment has happened over more than half a century (Turner, 2005). Some 

researchers have even claimed this as a result of the “negative attitude and lack of 

commitment from the accounting profession” (Stittle, 2004 p. 311), making 

practitioners move towards disclosing more soft accounting information instead of 

hard accounting figures. The descriptive analysis of particularly the financial 

reporting recognition of human capital information via disclosure revealed a 

significant variance in the practice and the results have deviated significantly over 

time, firms, value creation factors identified, human capital disclosure categories 

defined etc.. It is evidenced that the practice has improved over the period of time for 

different aspects, even though it still has not reached the optimistic level considering 
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the decision usefulness and the cost benefit analysis involved in accounting and 

financial reporting recognition in firms investment in human capital. Moreover, even 

though the impact of individual value creation factors could be understood, 

explained and justified via descriptive means, understanding overall practice via 

disclosure indices developed, combining different sets as categorical indices or all of 

them as overall human capital disclosure index require a robust statistical analysis to 

understand and explain the overall practice.   

 

Moreover, though there are visible or obvious relationships between human capital 

management, development and investment, social capital investment, and emotional 

intelligence with organisational productivity, it has been difficult to create a 

measurement instrument that can show the contribution of each (Brooks and 

Nafukho, 2006). Therefore, firms’ investment in human capital conceptualised via 

accounting and financial reporting recognition analysed descriptively in this chapter 

is linked with possible determinants and the consequences of the practice in order to 

understand, how the practice could be enhanced to make the information produced 

more value relevance to the stakeholders. Thus, the descriptive analysis in this 

chapter is followed by hypotheses testing and inferential analysis following the 

statistical model proposed in the methodology chapter and elaborated further to 

reflect the causative relationship of accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

investment in human capital, with the determinants and the consequences of the 

practice.  
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CHAPTER SIX 

DATA ANALYSIS 

DETERMINANTS AND CONSEQUENCES OF FIRMS’ 

INVESTMENT IN HUMAN CAPITAL 

 

6.1 INTRODUCTION  

 

The main motive of the study is to understand, explain and evaluate firms’ practice 

of accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment. 

Therefore, for a better understanding of the practice, accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital conceptualised as human 

resource expenditure and portion of human capital per value added, measures 

extracted from the financial statements and human capital disclosure, ascertained via 

voluntary information disclosed in annual reports under corporate financial reporting 

are presented and descriptively analysed in the previous chapter. In order to achieve 

the second research objective of “understanding the determinants and the 

consequences expected of investment in human capital by listed firms, as reflected 

via accounting and financial reporting recognition of this investment conceptualised 

using human resource expenditure parameters and voluntary disclosure of human 

capital information in firms’ annual reports”, the analysis is expanded to an 

explanatory type using hypotheses testing based on the statistical model developed in 

the methodology chapter. Before hypotheses testing and inferential analyses, data are 
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subjected to diagnostic tests for the assumptions of the selected inferential statistical 

analysis techniques and data quality issues (Gujarati, 2004) and results are presented 

comparatively showing the improvements of the sample statistics. Inferential 

analysis is conducted in two different stages, capturing variability recognised in 

terms of accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment 

in backward (i.e. the determinants of the practice) the and forward (i.e. consequences 

expected of the practice) directions. Ordinary Least Square regression technique with 

panel setting (Baltagi, 2005) is used as the statistical analysis technique. Results of 

both these analysis have then been interpreted and discussed in light of the previous 

empirical findings to draw the conclusions. 

 

 

6.2 DATA DIAGNOSIS 

 

 Descriptive analysis conducted in previous chapter is extended further for data 

diagnosis in this chapter, to test for the model suitability and the validity in using 

data collected under each variable as independent and dependant variables in the 

models designed for hypotheses testing (Gujarati, 2004; Hair et al., 2010). Moreover, 

data diagnostic tests are particularly aimed at addressing issues related to the 

assumptions under multivariate analysis, particularly the Ordinary Least Square 

regression including, normality, autocorrelation, multicollinearity and 

heteroscedasticity (Hair et al., 2010). As a part of data diagnosis and model 

suitability correlation matrix covering independent and dependant variables as well 

was produced and presented in this chapter. The result for the descriptive statistical 
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analysis and data diagnostic tests for all the variables used in the hypotheses  testing 

is given in the table 6.01 with mean, standard deviation 50
th

 percentile, Skewness 

and the Kurtosis. 

 

Table 6.01: Results of the descriptive data analysis 

Variable  Mean 

Std 

deviation Median  Skewness Kurtosis 

Firm size  27954.4 29199.92 16920.04 1.994 6.272 

Industry type: regulation .243 .430 0 1.199 2.438 

Industry type: intellectual capital intensity .533 .500 1 -.134 1.018 

Board size 12.981   2.575 13 .442 3.602 

Audit committee size 4.510 1.090 4 .553 2.997 

Nomination committee size  5.410 1.984 5 .672 2.597 

Remuneration committee size 4.563 1.102 5 .363 2.776 

Board composition/ independence  .707 .099 .714 -.111 2.405 

Audit committee meetings 5.819 2.419     5 1.328 4.406 

Remuneration committee meetings 5.596 2.207 5 1.011 4.436 

Nomination committee meetings 3.743   2.227   3 1.353   6.188   

Current year leverage 9.445 21.414 2.460 3.801 37.121 

Current year profitability (ROE) 34.011 55.736 27.22 8.872 108.952 

Current year liquidity .865 .680 .76 4.250 30.663 

HC expenditure  2852.09   2659.69 1852 1.480 5.025 

HCVA .520 1.672 .349 13.847 197.577 

Stock return 20.719 56.834 14.022 3.653 25.847 

Current year ROA 9.328 8.397 8.22 .582 3.051 

Next year ROA 9.107 8.795 7.735 .832 4.058 

Employee productivity .079 .268 .032 8.774 89.387 

Total Human Capital Disclosure Index .575 .143 .574 -.216 2.513 

Disclosure Index; Financial Perspective .513 .204 .533 -.425 2.601 

Disclosure Index; Customer Perspective .606 .185 .64 -.631 2.727 

Disclosure Index; Internal Business Process 

Perspective .593 .136 .6 -.1670 3.036 

Disclosure Index; Learning and Growth 

Perspective 

 

.561 .206 .543 -.102 2.330 

 

 

According to the results (table 6.01), skewness and kurtosis values for some of the 

variables, accounted beyond threshold (1 > Skewness  > -1 and Kurtosis close to 3), 

questioning the validity of the result, if they are to be used directly for the inferential 
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models (Gujarati, 2004; Hair et al., 2010). As a remedy, where ever possible, 

variables with considerably different values compared to the threshold level of 

Skewness and Kurtosis, including firm size, human capital expenditure, leverage, 

profitability and liquidity were either, transformed using the best possible 

mechanism to enhance the property of normal distribution or, subjected to 

winsorization to minimise the effect of the presence of outliers on sample estimates 

since it enhance the property of normal distribution of these variables (Hair et al., 

2010; Watson, 1990). Presence of multivariate outliers and the differing substantially 

from multivariate normality particularly was an issue in financial and accounting 

ratios (Watson, 1990). Moreover, data transformation aiming the normal distribution 

of the variables under model addresses the issue of linearity and heteroscedasticity as 

well (Hair et al., 2010). 

 

The sample accounted for firms with mean market capitalization of £Mn 27954 with 

a standard deviation of £29199.92 with a marginal positively skewed distribution. In 

order to avoid the problem relating to the normal distribution of the data set the 

natural log of the market capitalisation was considered for the regression analysis (Li 

et al., 2012; Ntim et al., 2012). This transformation technique was decided based on 

the results of ladder of powers test, in which case the histogram is given in the figure 

6.01 below to highlight how each transformation technique has affected data 

distribution. Accordingly, the natural log of firm size was selected for the inferential 

analysis since it’s the most suitable transformation technique satisfying the 

assumption of normal distribution of data. A similar method is applied for all the 

variables to minimise the data quality issues on the results though elimination would 

have been impossible. Therefore, the extent to which the transformed data have 
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improved the sample statistics (especially skewness and kurtosis) is highlighted 

comparatively in table 6.02 with the original variables.  

 

Table 6.02: Comparison of descriptive statistics for original and transformed 

variables  

Variable  Skewness Kurtosis 

Firm size  1.994 6.272 

Firm size log .495 2.477 

Audit committee meetings 1.328 4.406 

Inverse of audit meeting  .208 2.438 

Remuneration committee meetings 1.011 4.436 

Square root of rem com meeting .382 3.394 

Nomination committee meetings 1.353 6.188 

Log Nomination committee meetings -.298 2.536 

Current year leverage 3.801 37.121 

Current year leverage (winsorized) 1.785 6.711 

Current year profitability (ROE) 8.872 108.952 

Current year profitability ROE (winsorized) .038 7.113 

Current year liquidity 4.250 30.663 

Current year liquidity (winsorized) 2.662 13.900 

HC expenditure 1.480 5.025 

Square root HC expenditure .619 2.739 

HCVA 13.815 196.326 

HCVA (winsorized) 1.668 7.571 

Stock return 3.653 25.847 

Stock return (winsorized) 2.068 10.714 

Employee productivity 8.774 89.387 

Employee productivity (winsorized)  3.033 13.570 
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Figure 6.01: Ladder of powers histogram for firm size 

 

 

 

The sample normally distributed with the given mean and standard deviation for rest 

of the variables: board size (12.98095, 2.575114), Audit committee size (4.509524, 

1.090369), Nomination committee size (5.409524, 1.984125), remuneration 

committee size (4.5625, 1.101574). Board composition or the independence 

measured as the portion of non-executive directors to total number of directors has 

reflected a normal distribution with (.7069742, .0987613) reflecting the higher 

portion of non-executive directors. However, considering the true independence 

nature of the directors after considering all the interests and relationships directors 

exercise over the firm operation would have generated better results in future studies 

as this information could be generated from the current annual reports produced after 

the introduction of the UK corporate governance code (FRC, 2010).  
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The number of meetings held by each committee revealed a marginal positive 

skewness with mean and standard deviation for each: audit committee meetings 

(5.819048, 2.419146), nomination committee meetings (3.742857, 2.226541) and 

remuneration committee meetings (5.596154, 2.206793). The problem of high 

skewness and kurtosis is addressed again via data transformation techniques (Hair et 

al., 2010) determined based on the ladder of power for each variable considering the 

technique generating most normally distributed samples and these techniques include 

inverse (audit committee meetings), log (nomination committee meetings) and 

square root (remuneration committee meetings) (figure 6.02, figure 6.03 and figure 

6.04). The extent to which, each of the above transformation techniques has 

improved the sample statistics (especially skewness and kurtosis) of each variable is 

highlighted comparatively in table 6.02 with the original statistics for each variable. 

 

Figure 6.02: Ladder of Powers Histogram for Audit Committee Meeting  
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Figure 6.03: Ladder of Powers Histogram for Nomination Committee Meeting  

 

 

 

Figure 6.04: Ladder of Powers Histogram for Remuneration Committee Meeting 
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Variables chosen in the model: current year leverage, current year profitability 

measured as return on equity, current year liquidity and stock return, appeared not 

normally distributed as they show considerably different values compared to the 

threshold level of Skewness and Kurtosis. Revealing the inherent nature of financial 

ratios (Watson, 1990), this was recognised as a result of the presence of outliers in 

the sample. In order to eliminate the impact of the outlier effect, winsorization 

technique is applied to those variables, which considerably lowers the values of 

skewness and kurtosis as comparatively displayed in table 6.02. In addition, problem 

of autocorrelation between independent and dependant variables in the research 

model is ascertained using correlation matrices. Pearson and Spearman correlation 

matrices was produced for this purpose and the results confirmed that there are no 

any evidence of autocorrelation in between independent variables in the same model 

as values for correlation coefficient between independent variables in the models 

have always been considerably low compared to the threshold levels defined (less 

than 0.8) (Gujarati, 2004). The correlation matrices showing coefficient values are 

given in table 6.03 and table 6.04. Hence, there were no any restrictions in choosing 

them in the same regression model as independent variables for the analysis. 

 

The descriptive analysis in the previous chapter highlighted the need for inferential 

analysis, while statistical analysis techniques and variables used based on research 

model has been assed and validated through data diagnostic tests and remedies 

illustrated above. Inferential analysis based on the hypotheses developed and the 

results are presented in the section below followed by a discussion of results in light 

of theoretical foundation and previous empirical evidence used in conceptualisation.  
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Table 6.03: Spearman Correlation Matrix for determinants of human capital investment 

 Firm size Industry 

type 

Intellectu

al 

intensity 

Leverage Profitabil

ity 

Liquidity Board 

size 

Board 

compositi

on 

Audit 

committe

e size 

Audit 

committe

e 
meetings 

Remunera

tion 

committe
e size 

Remuner

ation 

committ
ee 

meeting  

Nominati

on 

committe
e size 

Nominati

on 

committe
e meeting 

Human 

capital 

expenditu
re 

Human 

capital / 

value 
added 

Human 

capital 

disclos
ure 

index 

Firm size 

 

1.0000 
  

 

              

Industry 
type 

 

-0.0184    1.0000 

 

              

Intellectu
al 

intensity -0.0286    0.5596*   

 
 

1.0000               

Leverage  

-0.1176    0.6977*   

 

 
0.4840* 1.0000              

Profitabil
ity 

0.2107*  -0.3124*  

 

 

-0.1951* -0.0475    1.0000             

Liquidity  
0.0531   -0.0942   

 
 

-0.0846 -0.1683*   0.1399*   1.0000            

Board 
size 

 

0.4863*   0.2611*   

 

 

0.2751* 0.1969*  -0.0634   -0.0225    1.0000           

Board 

compositi

on 
 

0.1730*  -0.1162   

 

 

0.1119 -0.3469*  -0.0043    0.1381*   0.0013    1.0000          

Audit 

committe
e size 

 

0.2249*   0.0543    

 

 
0.0598 0.0123    0.0760    0.0943    0.2633*   0.1469* 1.0000         

Audit 

committe

e 
meetings 0.1974*   0.4086*   

 

 

 
-0.2142* 0.2324*  -0.0592    0.1007    0.4402*   0.0877 0.2094*   1.0000        



 

 

 

 

 300 

Remuner

ation 
committe

e size 0.1134    0.0162    

 

 
 

-0.0130 0.1012    0.0545    0.0246    0.0979   -0.1701* 0.5263*   0.0519    1.0000       

Remuner

ation 
committe

e meeting  0.0314    0.1390*   

 

 
 

0.1000 0.1948*  -0.1182   -0.1321    0.2203*  -0.0997 0.0502    0.3640*   0.0567    1.0000      

Nominati
on 

committe

e size -0.2364*   0.0067    

 
 

 

-0.0229 0.1835*  -0.0721   -0.1679*  -0.0764   -0.1317 0.2260*  -0.2092*   0.3980*   0.0239    1.0000     

Nominati
on 

committe

e meeting 0.1259    0.0616    

 
 

 

0.0623 0.1356    0.0799    0.0090    0.1283    0.0510 0.0500    0.3250*  -0.0375    0.2760*  -0.1358    1.0000    

Human 

capital 

expenditu
re 0.5192*   0.0888    

 

 

 
0.2588* 0.1646*  -0.1013   -0.0028    0.4891*   0.0542 0.0495    0.3410*  -0.0448    0.2479*  -0.1384*   0.2651*   1.0000   

Human 

capital / 

value 
added -0.3298*  -0.2347*   

 

 

 
0.1167 0.0078   -0.2717*  -0.0987   -0.1909*  -0.0446 -0.1427*  -0.1220   -0.0529    0.1958*   0.2531*   0.0167    0.2824* 1.0000  

Human 

capital 
disclosur

e index -0.0710   -0.1199   

 

 
 

0.0255 -0.0484   -0.0173    0.0778    0.0916   -0.1531* -0.0168    0.0456    0.0047    0.1334   -0.0710    0.1092    0.1586* 0.1418*   1.0000 

(*indicates that correlation coefficients are significant at 5 % level of significance) 
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Table 6.04: Pearson Correlation Matrix for determinants and consequence of human capital investment 

 Firm size Industry 
type 

Intellectu
al 

intensity 

Leverage Profitabil
ity 

Liquidity Board 
size 

Board 
compositi

on 

Audit 
committe

e size 

Audit 
committe

e 

meetings 

Remuner
ation 

committe

e size 

Remuner
ation 

committe

e meeting  

Nominati
on 

committe

e size 

Nominati
on 

committe

e meeting 

Human 
capital 

expenditu

re 

Human 
capital / 

value 

added 

Human 
capital 

disclos

ure 

index 

Firm size 1.0000                 

Industry type 

-0.0131    1.0000 

 

              

Intellectual 

intensity 
-0.0603    0.5246*   

 
 

1.0000               

Leverage 

-0.1026    0.6915*   

 

 

0.3900*   1.0000              

Profitability 

0.0871   -0.2911*  

 

 

-0.1906*  -0.2510*   1.0000             

Liquidity 

0.0028   -0.0406   

 

 
-0.0456   -0.1320    0.0711    1.0000            

Board size 

0.4528*   0.3196*   

 

 

0.2728*   0.2232*  -0.0437   -0.0080    1.0000           

Board 

composition 
0.0960   -0.1077    

 

 
0.1460*  -0.1853*   0.0285    0.1024    0.0514 1.0000          

Audit 

committee 

size 0.1643*   0.0580    

 

 

0.0314   -0.0343    0.1441*   0.0995    0.1877* 0.1153    1.0000         

Audit 

committee 
meetings 0.2287*   0.3110*   

 
 

0.0655    0.1392*  -0.0758    0.0118    0.3962* 0.0826    0.1619*   1.0000        

Remuneration 

committee 

size 0.0740    0.0336   

 

 
-0.0317    0.0728    0.0606    0.0195    0.0142 -0.1625*   0.5774*   0.0707    1.0000       

Remuneration 
committee 

meeting  0.0101    0.1412*   

 
 

0.0326    0.0679   -0.1432*  -0.1026    0.1495* -0.1705*   0.0483    0.3273*   0.0409    1.0000      
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Nomination 

committee 

size 0.3072*  -0.0272   

 

 
-0.0726    0.0288   -0.0308   -0.0789   -0.1297 -0.2257*   0.2278*  -0.2459*   0.4295*  -0.0177    1.0000     

Nomination 
committee 

meeting 0.1311   -0.0111   

 
 

-0.0201   -0.0537    0.0444    0.0048    0.0758 0.0369    0.0363    0.2292*  -0.0135    0.2301*  -0.1780*   1.0000    

Human 

capital 
expenditure 0.5271*   0.1096    

 

 
0.2195*   0.0626   -0.0895   -0.0940    0.4456* 0.0422    0.0212    0.2829*  -0.0652    0.2020*  -0.1929*   0.2015* 1.0000   

Human 
capital / value 

added -0.0542    0.0906    

 

 

0.0718    0.1070   -0.2818*  -0.0573   -0.1392* -0.0405   -0.1186   -0.0105   -0.1112   -0.0600    0.0382    0.0336 0.1493*   1.0000  

Human 
capital 

disclosure 

index 0.0454   -0.0817    

 
 

 

0.0591   -0.0753   -0.0294    0.1070    0.1316 -0.1373    0.0170    0.0252    0.0229    0.2148*  -0.0186    0.2082* 0.2085*  -0.0668    1.0000 

(*indicates that correlation coefficients are significant at 5 % level of significance) 
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6.3 HYPOTHESES TESTING  

 

As the data set cover observations considering cross sections of firms listed in the 

FTSE 100 listing of London stock exchange covering a span of five accounting years 

on time series dimension, panel setting is applied for the regression instead 

incorporating year dummies as in previous studies (Barako et al., 2006). In panel 

setting, company number is used as the panel variable while the accounting year is 

considered as the time variable in a way that it eliminates the effect of unobserved 

firm level heterogeneity (Mendez et al., 2011; Abeysekara, 2011; Mahoney and 

Roberts, 2007; Popov, 2013). The panel is said to be an un balanced panel, since 

every single company did not have observations for the complete time duration. 

However, the sample considered for the panel data analysis made sure that every 

company cover data for at least two accounting years, thus company observation for 

only one accounting year was excluded from the sample in order to fulfil the panel 

setting criterion (Baltagi, 2005).   

 

Research hypotheses developed, under the second research objective aiming to 

understand the determinants and the consequences of investment in human capital 

conceptualised based on financial reporting recognition of this investment, as 

hypothesised in the methodology chapter based on conceptual framework expanded 

in figure 6.05, are tested for statistical inference. The results of the analysis and the 

discussion are given below under two main sections: determinants and the 

consequences of human capital investment.  
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Figure 6.05: Extended conceptual framework of the study 

• firm spectifc 
• Firm size 
• Intellectual capital intensity 
• Industry type 
• Leverage (year t) 
• Profitability (ROE at year t) 
• Liquidity (year t) 

• corporate governance  
• Board size 
• Board Independence  
• Audit committee size 
• Audit committee meetings   
• Remuneration committee size 
• Remuneration committee meetings  
• Nomination committee size 
• Nomination committee meetings 

Motivational factors for 
investment in human capital 

 
 

• PROXIES: using Accounting and financial reporting recognition of 
investment in human capital 
• HCE: Human Capital Expenditure (at time t) 
• HCVAt:Human Capital per Value Added (at time t) 
• HCD: Human Capital Disclosure index (at time t) 

• HCD financial index 
• HCD customer index 
• HCD Internal Business Process index 
• HCD Learning & Growth index 

Investment in human capital 

• firm performances 
• EP: Employee productivity 
• ROAt: Profitability (return on total assets at time t) 
• ROA(t+1): Profitability (return on total assets at time t+1) 

• stock market performance 
• TSRt: Total Stock Return - Contemporaneous (TSR at time t) 

Consequences of  
investment in human capital 
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6.3.1 Determinants of firms investment in human capital 

 

In estimating the determinants of firms investment in human capital, due to the 

absence of a standard mechanism or an appropriate practice measuring this 

investment, accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ human capital 

investment in is used to conceptualise the firms’ investment in employees. 

Therefore, the three variables, Human capital expenditure (HCE), Human capital per 

value added and (HCVA) and Human capital disclosure (HCD) have been 

simultaneously tested and comparatively interpreted as proxies for firms investment 

in human capital. The potential human capital investment determinants derived 

considering theoretical backgrounds and the empirical findings such as firm size, 

intellectual capital intensity, industry type, current year leverage, current year 

profitability measured in terms of the return on equity, current year liquidity, board 

size, board composition, audit committee size, number of audit committee meetings, 

remuneration committee size, number of remuneration committee meeting, 

nomination committee size and number of nomination committee meetings, are 

tested as potential determinants of human capital investment of the firms listed in 

FTSE 100 listing of London stock exchange.  

 

Since the sample size for five years are not similar to each other due to the 

elimination of observations as a result of data unavailability, an un balanced panel 

regression is used with both fixed effect and the random effect estimators, while 

Hausman test is applied to determine the model suitability in better explaining the 

variance of the model (Hausman, 1978). Since pooled linear regression could be 
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used as an alternative analysis with more relaxed assumptions, in situations where 

both fixed effect and random effect estimator models are unable to explain the model 

variance, the results of the pooled linear regression is used and the same is used 

comparatively as a part of sensitivity analysis in interpretation of the results. 

Moreover, the use of pooled linear regression comparative to the panel data analysis 

with fixed and random effect estimators allows the opportunity to consider 

observations independently despite the panel nature, in which similar group of firms 

have repeated in the subsequent accounting years.  

 

 

6.3.1.1 Model suitability   

 

The regression model selection for panel data analysis is started with applying fixed 

effect estimator and the random effect estimator for all three models for determinants 

of human capital investment of the firms conceptualised as human capital 

expenditure (HCE), Human capital per value added (HCVA) and human capital 

disclosure index (HCD).  

 

Both fixed effect and the random effect estimator models were significant for the 

determinants of Human capital expenditure analysis (fixed effect model prob > F = 

0.0042; model R square .1887 and for random effect model Prob > chi2 = 0.0000; 

model R square 0.3741), despite dummy variables reflecting the industry type and 

the high intellectual capital nature of the firms were omitted from the results of fixed 

effect models due to the time invariant nature of these two dummy variables. 
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According to the Hausman test results (Hausman, 1978), since there were no enough 

evidence to reject the null hypothesis of deference in coefficients are not systematic, 

it is concluded that fixed effect model is the most suited for understanding the 

determinants of human capital investment measured as human capital expenditure. 

The results for the analysis of determinants of human capital expenditure using panel 

data with fixed and random effect estimators, Hausman test comparing the 

coefficients of these tests and the results based on pooled linear regression as a part 

of sensitivity analysis is comparatively presented in the table 6.05.  

 

Considering the conceptualisation of human capital investment via value added per 

human capital as well, both the fixed effect and random effect models were 

statistically significant (fixed effect model; prob > F = 0.0044; model R square .1745 

and random effect model Prob > chi2 = 0.0000; model R square 0.4682). Based on 

the Hausman test statistics, comparing the fixed effect and the random effect 

estimators, since the null hypothesis of there is no systematic difference in between 

the coefficients under fixed and the random estimators, is rejected random effect 

model was selected as most suitable for capturing the variability in the model 

(Hausman, 1978). However, results for both these tests are illustrated comparative to 

the pooled linear regression test undertaken for the sensitivity analysis as well for 

further interpretation (Table 6.06). 

 

Considering, human capital investment conceptualisation based on financial 

reporting recognition of voluntary human capital disclosure, according to the model 

statistics (fixed effect model; prob > F = 0.7461; model R square .0597 and random 

effect model Prob > chi2 = 0.6394; model R square 0.1995), neither the fixed effect 
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nor random effect models were statistically significant as model explaining the 

human capital disclosure. Though neither of the models was significant, according to 

the Hausman test statistics, panel regression with fixed effect estimator evidenced, as 

better explaining the model variability by rejecting the null hypothesis of difference 

in coefficients are not systematic. On the other hand, considering each observation 

independently irrespective of the panel setting, pooled linear regression model was 

applied and the results revealed that the model is significant with the statistics, Prob 

> F = 0.0000 and an R square of .1328. The model explanatory powers in general are 

revealed lower compared to the other two models, in which human capital 

investment is conceptualised based on human capital expenditure and the human 

capital per value added which are quantitative parameters opposed to the disclosure 

index. The results are illustrated in table 6.07 below.  

 

The results in each table (table 6.05, table 6.06 and table 6.07) illustrate the 

coefficients and the Standard error of the coefficient (given within brackets) with the 

level of significance reflected for all the determinants hypothesised in the models, 

panel data with fixed and random effect estimators and the pooled linear regression. 

Moreover, the model statistics and the explanatory power under each as well, are 

revealed in the end using the statistical values for f-test, chi-square and the model R 

square values. The results for the better explaining analysis model for each 

conceptualisation mechanism, have later been simplified reflecting the sign of the 

coefficient, relationship with human capital investment are statistically significant or 

not and the level of significance when the variable is statistically significant. The 

results have presented comparative to the hypothesised directions in table 6.08, 

which has been expanded further in table 6.09 for summary statistics as well.  
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 Table 6.05: Results for regression analyses: Determinants of human capital 

expenditure 

 

        

 (Note: *: p<0.10; **: p<0.05; ***: P<0.01 at two tailed) 

Independent variables  Dependant variable: Square root of human capital 

expenditure  

Fixed Effect Random Effect Pooled Linear Reg 

Firm size 0.920 

(4.1) 

10.320***  

(3.768) 

35.425*** 

(4.596) 

Industry type: regulation 

Omitted 

-4.160 

(7.510) 

-13.832*** 

(4.111) 

Intellectual capital intensity 

Omitted  

7.522 

(6.297) 

11.515*** 

(2.664) 

Leverage (year t) -0.058 

(0.085) 

0.050708 

(0.084) 

.258* 

(.143) 

Profitability (ROE at year t) -0.075*** 

(0.022) 

-0.077*** 

(0.023) 

-.117** 

(.052) 

Liquidity (year t) 1.352 

(1.535) 

0.370 

(1.537) 

-1.097 

(1.829) 

Board size -0.29 

(0.413) 

0.0839 

(0.410) 

1.341* 

(.706) 

Board composition 9.104 

(10.428) 

10.400 

(10.264) 

-16.577 

(11.929) 

Audit committee size -0.28 

(0.677) 

-0.3666 

(0.699) 

-1.876 

(1.377) 

Audit committee meetings 

(inverse) 

-29.886 

(20.768) 

-34.245* 

(19.802) 

-57.512*** 

( 19.181) 

Remuneration committee size -1.097 

(0.809) 

-1.456* 

(0.814) 

-3.299** 

(1.451) 

Remuneration committee 

meetings 

2.032 

(1.584) 

2.695* 

(1.627) 

4.416 

(3.126) 

Nomination committee size 0.231 

(0.539) 

-0.058 

(0.532) 

.998 

(.869) 

Nomination committee meetings 2.352** 

(1.055) 

2.774*** 

(1.087) 

2.828 

(1.758) 

Intercept 48.428** 

(21.316) 

-0.607 

(19.833) 

-93.324*** 

(23.317) 

F 2.58  17.20 

Prob >F .0042  .000 

Wald (Chi2) 
 

41.44 
 

Prob > Chi2  .0002 
 

R square .1887
 

0.3741 0.5460
 

rho .933
 

.891 
 

Hausman test: Chi2 27.74 
 

Prob > Chi2 .0060 
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Table 6.06: Results for regression analysis: Determinants of human capital per value 

added 

 

(Note: *: p<0.10; **: p<0.05; ***: P<0.01 at two tailed) 

 

Independent variables  Dependant variable:  Human capital per value added 

Fixed Effect Random Effect Pooled Linear Reg  

Firm size -0.043 

(0.115) 

-0.070 

(0.062) 

-.074 

(.0702) 

Industry type: regulation 

Omitted 

-0.232*** 

(0.076) 

-.224*** 

(.053) 

Intellectual capital intensity 

Omitted 

0.135*** 

(0.054) 

.142*** 

(.035) 

Leverage (year t) -0.001 

(0.002) 

-0.001 

(0.002) 

-.0009 

(.0019) 

Profitability (ROE at year t) -0.003*** 

(0.001) 

-0.003*** 

(0.001) 

-.0027*** 

(.0009) 

Liquidity (year t) -0.011 

(0.043) 

-0.011 

(0.032) 

-.002 

(.021) 

Board size -0.023** 

(0.012) 

-0.015* 

(0.008) 

-.012 

(.011) 

Board composition -0.203 

(0.292) 

-0.235 

(0.200) 

-.238* 

(.139) 

Audit committee size 0.005 

(0.019) 

-0.006 

(0.017) 

-.014 

(.016) 

Audit committee meetings 

(inverse) 

-0.137 

(0.581) 

-0.288 

(0.346) 

-.338 

(.277) 

Remuneration committee size -0.009 

(0.023) 

-0.021 

(0.018) 

-.023 

(.018 

Remuneration committee 

meetings 

0.0001 

(0.044) 

0.044 

(0.037) 

.080* 

(.047) 

Nomination committee size 0.021 

(0.015) 

0.017 

(0.011) 

.020** 

(.009) 

Nomination committee 

meetings 

0.001 

(0.030 

-0.0003 

(0.025) 

-.005 

(.024) 

Intercept 1.050* 

(0.596) 

1.133*** 

(0.330) 

1.07*** 

(.342) 

F 2.57  10.58 

Prob >F 0.0044  .0000 

Wald (Chi2) 
 

61.73 
 

Prob > Chi2  0.0000 
 

R square 0.1880
 

.4682 .3441 

rho 0.5171
 

.3694 
 

Hausman test: Chi2 6.20 
 

Prob > Chi2 .9057 
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Table 6.07: Results for regression analysis: Determinants of human capital 

disclosure 

 

 

(Note: *: p<0.10; **: p<0.05; ***: P<0.01 at two tailed) 

 

Independent variables  Dependant variable:  Human capital disclosure 

Fixed Effect Random Effect Pooled Linear Reg 

Firm size .078 

(.066) 

-.0038 

(.0421) 

-.030 

(.033) 

Industry type: regulation Omitted 

 

-.0861 

(.0541) 

-.102*** 

(.039) 

Intellectual capital intensity Omitted 

 

.0391 

(.0403) 

.066*** 

(.024) 

Leverage (year t) .0009 

(.0013) 

.0001 

(.0011) 

-.0006 

(.001) 

Profitability (ROE at year t) .0002 

(.0004) 

.00008 

(.0003) 

-.0003 

(.0004) 

Liquidity (year t) .0049 

(.0246) 

.0271 

(.0205) 

.048** 

(.020) 

Board size .0049 

(.0066) 

.0058 

(.0054) 

.010** 

(.004) 

Board composition .0496 

(.1672) 

-.1406 

(.1308) 

-.326*** 

(.111) 

Audit committee size -.0152 

(.0109) 

-.0125 

(.0102) 

-.004 

(.013) 

Audit committee meetings 

(inverse) 

.4108 

(.3330) 

-.0152 

(.2325) 

-.176 

(.199) 

Remuneration committee 

size 

-.0111 

(.0130) 

-.0059 

(.0112) 

.0001 

(.013) 

Remuneration committee 

meetings 

.0213 

(.0254) 

.0344 

(.0231) 

.045* 

(.023) 

Nomination committee size -.0027 

(.0086) 

.0002 

(.0069) 

.0009 

(.0055) 

Nomination committee 

meetings 

.0176 

(.0169) 

.0160 

(.0157) 

.023 

(.015) 

Intercept .1016 

(.3418) 

.5820*** 

(.2223) 

.691*** 

(.184) 

F .70   

Prob >F .7461   

Wald (Chi2) 
 

11.59 
 

Prob > Chi2  .6494 
 

R square .0597
 

.1995 .1850
 

rho .6713
 

 
 

Hausman test: Chi2 19.02 
 

Prob > Chi2 .0880 
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Table 6.08: Regression results significance and the hypothesised directions 

Independent 

variable  

Hypothesised 

directions 

Model 1: HCE 

(sqrt) FE 
Model 2:HCVA 

RE 
Model 3:HCD 

PLR 

Firm size Positive Positive 

insignificant  

Negative 

Insignificant  

Negative 

insignificant  

Industry type: 

regulation 
Positive  Omitted  Negative 

significant 

(.01) 

Negative 

significant 

(.01) 

Intellectual 

capital intensity 
Positive  Omitted Positive 

significant 

(.01) 

Positive 

significant (.01 

Leverage (year t) Positive Negative 

insignificant 

Negative 

insignificant  

Negative 

insignificant 

Profitability 

(ROE at year t) 
Positive Negative 

significant 

(.01) 

Negative 

significant 

(.01) 

Negative 

insignificant 

Liquidity (year t) Positive Positive 

insignificant 

Negative 

insignificant 

Positive 

significant 

(.05) 

Board size Positive  Negative 

insignificant  

Negative 

significant 

(.10) 

Positive 

significant 

(.05) 

Board 

composition 

Positive Positive 

insignificant 

Negative 

insignificant 

Negative 

significant 

(.01) 

Audit committee 

size 

Positive  Negative 

insignificant  

Negative 

insignificant 

Negative 

insignificant 

Audit committee 

meetings 

(inverse) 

Positive  Positive 

insignificant  

Positive 

insignificant 

Positive 

insignificant 

Remuneration 

committee size 

Positive Negative 

insignificant  

Negative 

insignificant 

Positive 

insignificant 

Remuneration 

committee 

meetings 

Positive  Positive 

insignificant  

Positive 

insignificant  

Positive 

significant 

(.10) 

Nomination 

committee size 

Positive  Positive 

insignificant  

Positive 

insignificant  

Positive 

insignificant 

Nomination 

committee 

meetings 

Positive  Positive 

significant 

(.05) 

Negative 

insignificant 

Positive 

insignificant 

(Level of significance: at .01, .05 or .10) 
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Table 6.09: Regression results comparison for determinants with hypothesised 

directions 

Independent 

variable  

Hypothesised 

directions 

Model 1: 

HCE (sqrt) 

FE 

Model 2:HCVA RE Model 3:HCD PLR 

Firm size Positive 0.920 

(4.1) 
-0.070 

(0.062) 
-.030 

(.033) 
Industry type: 

regulation 
Positive  

Omitted 
-0.232*** 

(0.076) 
-.102*** 

(.039) 
Intellectual capital 

intensity 
Positive  

Omitted  
0.135*** 

(0.054) 
.066*** 

(.024) 
Leverage (year t) Positive -0.058 

(0.085) 
-0.001 

(0.002) 
-.0006 

(.001) 
Profitability (ROE 

at year t) 
Positive -0.075*** 

(0.022) 
-0.003*** 

(0.001) 
-.0003 

(.0004) 
Liquidity (year t) Positive 1.352 

(1.535) 
-0.011 

(0.032) 
.048** 

(.020) 
Board size Positive  -0.29 

(0.413) 
-0.015* 

(0.008) 
.010** 

(.004) 
Board composition Positive 9.104 

(10.428) 
-0.235 

(0.200) 
-.326*** 

(.111) 
Audit committee 

size 

Positive  -0.28 

(0.677) 
-0.006 

(0.017) 
-.004 

(.013) 
Audit committee 

meetings (inverse) 

Positive  -29.886 

(20.768) 
-0.288 

(0.346) 
-.176 

(.199) 
Remuneration 

committee size 

Positive -1.097 

(0.809) 
-0.021 

(0.018) 
.0001 

(.013) 
Remuneration 

committee 

meetings 

 

Positive  2.032 

(1.584) 
0.044 

(0.037) 

 

.045* 

(.023) 
Nomination 

committee size 

Positive  0.231 

(0.539) 
0.017 

(0.011) 
.0009 

(.0055) 
Nomination 

committee 

meetings 

 

Positive  2.352** 

(1.055) 
-0.0003 

(0.025) 

 

.023 

(.015) 
(Level of significance: at .01, .05 or .10 ; Note: *: p<0.10; **: p<0.05; ***: P<0.01 at two tailed) 

 

In identifying the determinants of human capital expenditure, the results of the fixed 

effect model, revealed that it is capable enough of explaining a considerable portion 

of the total variability (18.87%) as the model R square value is 0.1887. This value 

lies either in the same range as previous evidence or even slightly lower or higher 

comparing most of the intellectual capital related studies (Mendez et al., 2011; Chan 
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et al., 1990). According to the results of the fixed effect model, only nomination 

committee meetings was positively significant while the random analysis model 

under sensitivity analysis revealed that, in addition to the nomination committee 

meetings, firm size, audit committee meeting and remuneration committee meeting 

as well were recognised as statistically significant determinants following the 

hypothesised direction. The change must have been attributable to relaxing the 

assumptions under random effect model compared to the fixed effect estimator 

model. On the other hand profitability, was negatively significant under fixed effect 

estimator model, while the remuneration committee size as well was added to that 

under random effect estimator model as significant determinants of human capital 

investment conceptualised as human capital expenditure though in the opposite 

direction to the hypothesised relationship, perhaps due to the same reason of relaxing 

the assumptions. Though not statistically significant under the fixed effect estimator 

model, firm size, liquidity, board composition, audit committee meetings, 

remuneration committee and the nomination committee size followed the sign of the 

hypothesised direction. The time invariant variable, high intellectual capital nature, 

which was omitted in the fixed effect model, leverage, liquidity, board size and 

board composition, were positive though the relationships were not statistically 

significant according to the random effect model.  

 

Extension of sensitivity analysis to the pooled linear regression with even more 

relaxed assumptions revealed that more variables such as firm size, high intellectual 

capital nature, leverage, board size and audit committee meetings revealed a positive 

significant relationship with comparatively higher level of significance. The change 

in results in between each model has revealed that both cross sectional and time 
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series nature has contributed to the overall variability while the variability explained 

by the independent variables are properly captured under the fixed effect estimator 

model of panel data analysis. Therefore, the results for each of the determinants 

followed a mixed pattern requiring each of them to be discussed separately 

explaining the scenario.  

 

Considering the human capital per value added as a reflection of firms’ investment in 

human capital, the results of the random effect regression was claimed to be the most 

suitable model according to Hausman test. The results (table 6.06) revealed that 

intellectual capital intensity was the only significant determinant of the human 

capital investment of the firms following the hypothesised direction under the fixed 

effect estimator model, while neither of the variables became positively significant 

under the fixed effect estimator model, which omit high intellectual capital nature 

from the analysis as its a time invariant variable.  On the other hand, industry type 

(banking and finance or non banking and finance), firm profitability and board size 

as well were statistically significant as determinants of human capital investment 

even though the direction of the relationships are opposed to those in the hypotheses 

development questioning the theoretical reasoning behind hypotheses development. 

Though there was no statistically significant relationship, the coefficient for the audit 

committee meeting, remuneration committee meeting, nomination committee size, 

were positive and compatible with the hypothesised relationship. Comparison of the 

results with pooled linear regression with more relaxed assumptions revealed that 

more variables (remuneration committee meetings and nomination committee size) 

as well have revealed positive significant and negative significant (board 

composition) relationships. According to the results of all the three models: firm 
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size, firm leverage, liquidity, audit committee size, and remuneration committee size 

and nomination committee meetings were not statistically significant as determinants 

while the coefficients were also negative. On a positive note, model was capable 

enough of explaining 46.82% of the total variability, which was an acceptable level 

compared to the previous empirical evidence (Chen et al., 2005) or even higher 

compared to some studies with similar conceptualisation (Williams, 2004). 

 

On the other hand, considering the human capital investment conceptualised using 

the financial reporting recognition of the voluntary human capital disclosure, 

according to the results of panel regression using fixed and random effect estimators, 

neither of them were significant, leading to relax assumptions related to panel setting 

and adopt pooled linear regression with robust standard error. Using the robust 

standard error when relaxing the regression assumptions allow to capture and adjust 

data quality issues related to model misspecification (Baltagi, 2005).  The pooled 

linear regression model accounted for R square of 0.1850 revealing that the model is 

capable enough in explaining only 18.50% of the total variability, which is 

considerably lower than the human capital expenditure model and even some 

previous human capital and intellectual capital disclosure studies as well (Li et al., 

2012; Samaha et al., 2012). Unlike other models, R square values were considerably 

lower under the fixed and random effect estimator models as well. However, 

comparative to mostly the disclosure related studies R square value had been 

significantly lower in alternative conceptualization mechanisms (e.g. Mendez et al., 

2011; Abdolmohammadi, 2005). As determinants of human capital disclosure, 

intellectual capital intensity, firm liquidity board size and remuneration committee 

meeting are recognised as statistically significant determinants of human capital 
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investment, which confirm even the hypothesised (positive) direction. The analysis 

revealed that industry type categorised based on banking and financial or non 

banking and financial and board composition are recognised as statistically 

significant determinants of human capital investment even though the direction of 

the relationship is opposite to the hypothesised relationship (negative). On the other 

hand, variables including audit committee meeting, remuneration committee size, 

and nomination committee size and nomination committee meetings produced 

coefficients reflecting the hypothesised directions even though they were not 

statistically significant determinants of human capital investment. Ultimately firm 

size, firm leverage, firm profitability, audit committee size and were neither 

statistical significant nor reflecting the same direction as they were hypothesised in 

the model based on the coefficient values.  

 

Considering all these models, high intellectual capital nature of the firms and some 

of the corporate governance related variables such as audit and remuneration 

committee functioning conceptualised as number of meetings and nomination 

committee size have revealed an overall positive influence over firms’ investment in 

human capital even though they have not been statistically significant under all the 

models. On the other hand, considering the results under all the three models, 

industry type reflecting banking and finance industry or non-banking and finance 

industry, leverage profitability and audit committee size accounted for an overall 

negative impact despite the hypothesised relationship. Considering other variables, 

tested as determinants, mixed results as well have been observed based on different 

conceptualisation technique adopted, demanding an in detail discussion on each of 

the determinants.   
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6.3.1.2 Firm specific determinants of human capital investment   

 

Firm size 

Even though data on firm size was collected as the market capitalization of the firm 

at the end of the accounting year, it was converted to the natural log in order to deal 

with the data quality issues due to high skewness and kurtosis. Though the 

coefficient was positive, firm size was a not a statistically significant determinant 

under the fixed effect model. However, the strong positively significant relationship 

between the firm size and the human capital expenditure with regard to random 

effect estimator and the pooled linear regression models imply that firms with higher 

market capitalization spend more on the employees of the firm and this becomes an 

obvious fact for many operational aspects of the firm as well (Kadapakkam et al., 

1998) confirming that lower transaction cost, economies of scale and easy access to 

capital afford to spend and invest more on their employees. However, when applying 

the human capital per value added and human capital disclosure as proxies for 

human capital investment the coefficients have been negative though the relationship 

has not been statistically significant for human capital disclosure. The positive 

significant relationship between firm size and human capital expenditure, have 

confirmed the arguments presented under hypotheses development i.e. larger firms 

with better access to external capital and less transaction cost and scale advantage 

allowing more investment (Kadapakkam et al., 1998). However, the fact that human 

capital disclosure is not found to be significant and revealing a negative sign has 

rejected the implications of some previous empirical evidence such as Ax and 

Marton (2008) where they discovered the relationship between the human capital 

management practices and the perceived importance of disclosing human capital 
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information in the annual report. This negative relationship n the other hand may 

have been a result of inadequate disclosure of human capital information or the in 

adequacy in terms of the format capturing the financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment. Results however, have deviated from some of the 

previous empirical evidence, where firm size has strongly (at 0.01 level), and 

positively related with human capital disclosure measured in terms of indicative, 

qualitative and quantitative disclosure stages (Cormier et al., 2009).   

 

The human capital expenditure of the firm can also be used as a way of reflecting the 

human capital management practice of the firm. Moreover, it can further be 

elaborated that bigger and obviously more sophisticated firms may account for 

higher human capital expenditure. However, the same situation has not been 

reflected via distribution of firm value creation or accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of firms’ investment in human capital. It appears vital to introduce firm 

value added distribution for each category of stakeholders including employees for 

stakeholder decision making given the unbiased nature of firm value added in 

addressing firm financial performance. Nevertheless, the findings have been 

contradictory to the previous results on determinants of human capital and 

intellectual capital disclosure, where (Barako et al., 2006; Vithana and Gunaratne, 

2009; Abdolmohammadi, 2005; Comier et al., 2009) where, firm size had shown a 

significant positive impact with voluntary disclosure in general or intellectual capital 

or human capital disclosure in particular. Moreover, the positive relationship of firm 

size with the human capital expenditure accompanied by the negative relationship 

with disclosure may have been a reflection of firms strategy on balancing 

stakeholder interests as well since the source document studied for data collection, 
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(i.e. annual report) is produced aiming predominantly the shareholders of the firm. In 

an environment where, human capital expenditure is not formally recognised as an 

investment generating greater future returns for the firms, shareholders may have 

preferred lower disclosure on human capital investment of the firms.  

 

 

Intellectual capital intensiveness  

According to the results of the determinants of human capital expenditure, the fixed 

effect estimator model appeared to opt out the high or low intellectual nature of the 

firms as a time invariant variable, while the coefficient is positive for both random 

effect and pooled linear regression models becoming significant in the pooled linear 

regression model, due the relaxed assumptions. On the other hand, results revealed a 

positively significant relationship with the proxies: human capital per value added 

and human capital disclosure under the best-suited models chosen. Therefore, high 

intellectual capital firms evidenced, have distributed a higher portion of value added 

to the employees and have significantly recognised the employee contribution via 

corporate financial reporting in the annual reports. The results have proven the 

established concept that human capital simply is the value creator of intellectual 

capital (Lev and Schewartz, 1971; Stewart, 1997) though it still has not claimed the 

right status in the firms’ accounting and financial reporting aspects. The results have 

confirmed the previous empirical evidence as well, where researchers have 

discovered that firms belonging to intangible intensive industries invest more on 

intangible asset development (Amir and Lev, 1996).  Moreover, even in general, 

industry type has had a greater emphasis on human resource planning, management 

and (Zula and Chermack, 2007), many other subsequent aspects such as accounting 
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and financial reporting recognition in general, (Ness and Mizra, 1991; Entwistle, 

1999) and particularly in terms of human capital investment (Lepak and Snell, 2002) 

which confirm the findings of this current study.  

 

 

Industry type  

Despite high intellectual capital nature being positively related, a significant negative 

relationship is observed in between the industry dummy capturing the regulated and 

unregulated industries in terms of financial reporting, implying that, human capital 

per value added and the accounting and financial reporting recognition of human 

capital investment via voluntary disclosure for the banking and financial institutions 

are lower compared to the non banking and financial sector firms. This revealed that 

banking and financial sector with enhanced regulatory frameworks tend to recognise 

lower amount of information in terms of the human capital investment compared to 

the firms from non banking and financial industry as a part of voluntary financial 

reporting in firms’ annual reports. This may have been a result of some aspect of the 

human capital investment such as remuneration, employee benefit and 

compensation, being mandatory based on the enhanced regulations. On the other 

hand, less freedom to introduce more voluntary aspects due controlled reporting 

atmosphere may have been attributable to the negative relationship observed above. 

Therefore, even though a positive relationship is hypothesised based on the 

assumption that enhanced regulatory frameworks have enhanced the recognition of 

vital important asset bases of the firms including human capital, this particularly is 

not proven via the information recognised through voluntary reporting practice. The 

results have even implied the reason behind exclusion of banking and financial 
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sector firms in the sample selection stage of many previous empirical studies on 

voluntary disclosure on intellectual capital or human capital investments (Cooke, 

1989; Iatridis, 2008; Raffournier, 1995). They have justified the exclusion of one or 

more industries or choosing only one or several industries for the empirical analysis, 

considering the change in regulatory framework as the criterion. Oppose to that, in 

the current study, the industry variance in terms of financial reporting states are 

captured using dummy variable and the same would even be suggested in future 

studies too considering the generalizability of findings.  

 

Despite being an employee sensitive industry, the results have reflected the 

expenditure perspective on human capital mostly adopted by banking and financial 

sector firm is contrary to perceiving it based on human capital theory, considering 

the situation in non banking and financial. This was explicit via both accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment reflected through the 

seaming reluctance of the banking and financial sector firms to invest in human 

capital expenditure of the firms, human capital per value added value added as well 

as via the voluntary human capital disclosure in the annual reports of the firms. 

Based on a study conducted recently considering impact of high profile industrial 

firms and other firms on human capital information disclosure, Athanasios et al. 

(2013) revealed that industry type has no significant impact of human capital 

disclosure and supported the non existence of a strong relationship indicating that 

human capital investment in equally important for all the firms in unique way.   
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Profitability 

Contrary to the positively hypothesised relationship relying on the human capital 

theory and long term sustainability, in this study, current year profitability measured, 

as return on equity was recognised as a statistically significant negative determinant 

of firms’ investment in human capital conceptualised via human capital expenditure 

and human capital per value added. In addition, though not statistically significant 

human capital disclosure as well revealed negative coefficients reflecting an inverse 

relationship based on the results of pooled linear regression model. The negative 

relationship evidenced above in a way has reflected the current accounting treatment 

on human capital as it is, where the total human capital expenditure is written off in 

the income statement lowering the profit for the year. Moreover, the negative 

relationships evidenced in result confirm the other issues linked with human capital 

expenditure such as, short termism in decision-making and managerial opportunisms 

(Wilkes et al., 1996; Mahoney and Roberts, 2007).  

 

The short-termism, “culture of low level of investment seeking easy financial return” 

(Wilkes et al., 96, p. 4) has mostly been used to justify the result of negative 

relationship between profitability of the firm and intangible and social related 

investment including investment in human capital (Green et al., 1996). Moreover, 

the results most importantly, highlight the reluctance of practitioners to categorise 

employees as an investment at all despite the continuous efforts by the academics 

and researchers (Roslender, 2009; Roslender and Fincham, 2004; Roslender and 

Stevenson, 2009). Moreover, the fact that management of the firm is mostly 

rewarded on performance appraisal parameters, which primarily are based on firm 

profit as well tend to question about conflict of interest in firms’ decision on human 
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capital investment. The impact of this however, could hardly be assed as current 

expenditure classification and accounting and financial reporting recognition 

techniques being inappropriate to gather information required.   

 

Since spending on employees being an expenditure under the current accounting 

treatment for the year of incurring itself resulting in lower profit (IAS 1 & 7), in 

order to maximise the short term profit firms tend to minimise the spending, which 

could then lead even to lower the human capital expenditure per value added as well 

as accounting and financial reporting recognition of employee contribution via 

voluntary human capital disclosure. Even though profitability has not widely been 

considered as a determinant of the level of human capital expenditure, many 

researchers studied about the level of human capital disclosure, intellectual capital 

disclosure and even corporate disclosure in general discovered that there is a 

relationship between the human capital and the profitability as an independent or 

dependant variable (Vithana and Gunaratne, 2009; Chen et al., 2005; Barako et al., 

2006). However, they have generated mixed result providing empirical and 

theoretical justifications to negative positive and even neutral relationships. Human 

resource expenditure, and the portion of value added distributed to employees being 

a social cost, some researchers have argued that positive social performance via this 

can reduce the profit and shareholder wealth, which is even reflected via the negative 

relationship between profitability and the social and human capital expenditure 

(Roberts, 1992). However, based on the human capital theory, what amount of 

human resource expenditure can be capitalised has not clearly being clarified leaving 

even the decision makers in a doubtful scenario to decide what justify their decision 

regarding what firms have spent on employees and firms’ recognition of employee 
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contribution in firm value creation through accounting and financial reporting 

practice.  

 

 

Liquidity 

According to the results of inferential analysis for determinant of human capital 

disclosure of the firms, under the best-suited model of pooled linear regression, 

current year liquidity of the firm has been recognised as positively related (at 0.05 

level of significance) with financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment. Results have generated positive but not statistically significant 

coefficients for the fixed effect and random effect estimator models as well. 

Considering liquidity as a potential determinant of human capital expenditure, both 

fixed and random effect estimator models have generated a positive coefficient 

though not statistically significant. On the other hand, contrary to both theoretical 

justification and the results for the other models in the same study, the results for 

human capital per value added, have neither been statistically significant nor 

followed the direction of the hypothesised relationship leaving both the model and 

conceptualization at a questionable stage. The results appeared to have overwritten 

the previous empirical findings in terms of human capital disclosure as a part of 

general disclosure, where liquidity is tested as a determinant of voluntary disclosure 

in general though addressing a different socio economic background (Barako et al., 

2006), where researchers ended up with no significant relationship between firm 

liquidity and the voluntary disclosure opposed to the theoretical justification. Results 

observed in relation to human capital per value added have again confirmed the short 

termism involved in human capital investment related decisions, since the financial 
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reporting recognition of human capital investment via voluntary disclosure could be 

identified as an effort to compensate the impact of lower human capital per value 

added resulting in lower human capital investment in practice.  

 

Out of the firm specific characteristics tested as determinants of investment in 

human capital conceptualised via different means leverage was the only 

characteristic, which is not statistically significant under any of the the selected 

model contrary to the positive relationship hypothesised based on the theoretical 

explanation of firms with the easy access to external debt capital easily afford to 

invest in intellectual capital of the firms including human capital which in certain 

instances are perceived to be high risky for the firms since firms do no own their 

employees. Results have conformed the findings of Comier et al. (2009) as well, 

where the relationship has been insignificant accounting for even negative 

coefficients. According to Soumaya (2012), previous empirical results have even 

evidenced mixed results in different scenario. However, positive significant (at .10 

level of significance) relationship is observed only with regard to the pooled linear 

regression model for the human capital expenditure analysis as a part of sensitivity 

analysis and comparative interpretation. This may have been a result of relaxing 

several of many assumptions applied to the panel data analysis.  
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6.3.1.3 Corporate governance related determinants of human capital investment   

 

Confirming the argument based on the agency theory, large boards provide firms 

with more resources in terms of knowledge, skills, experience etc., which can make 

use of firms’ other resources (Lev, 2001), particularly to aligning the interests of 

different stakeholders including management and employees  (Jensen and Meckling, 

1976). Results revealed that board size exercise a significant positive impact (at 0.05 

level of significance) on firms investment in human capital measured in terms of 

financial reporting recognition of firms’ investment in human capital via voluntary 

disclosure reflecting the firm value creation. Considering firms’ investment in 

human capital expenditure as well, the regression coefficients have been positive for 

random effect estimator model (not statistically significant) and the pooled linear 

regression model (statistically significant at .10 level of significance). However, 

revealing conflicting conceptualisation, the results have deviated for human capital 

per value added since board size is revealed as a negatively significant determinant 

of human capital per value added. Strong positive relationship of board size with 

human capital disclosure has confirmed the previous empirical evidence revealing, 

positive significant relationship between board size and human capital disclosure 

measured in terms of indicative and qualitative stages in previous studies (Cormier et 

al., 2009) as well. Though board size was a significant determinant for human capital 

disclosure reflecting the human capital theory, considering the general information 

disclosure, researchers have even evidence no association between board size and 

voluntary disclosure (Cheng and Courtenay, 2006). Contrary to the positive 

relationships observed between board size and the human capital disclosure 

however, larger boards has even proposed as a negative determinant of executive 
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compensation and pay performance sensitivity due to group dynamic effect and the 

coordination issues (Mendez et al., 2011). This may even explain the reason for 

insignificant relationship with human capital expenditure and particularly the 

negative significant result with human capital per value added. The deference in 

results may have been due to the deference in type of information belonging to each 

conceptualisation according to the results of Abeysekera (2010) study, which 

revealed that the impact of board size on intellectual capital disclosure could be 

different from tactical human capital to strategic human capital indicators.  

 

Board composition, measured reflecting particularly the board independence, has 

been a significant determinant only for the human capital investment 

conceptualization via human capital disclosure based on the results for main model 

used for the analysis under each conceptualisation. In addition, according to the 

alternative models used for sensitivity analysis i.e. pooled linear regression, by 

relaxing more assumptions used in panel data analysis, board composition evidenced 

a negatively significant (at .10 level of significance) relationship with value added 

per human capital. Accordingly, opposed to theoretical argument, higher portion of 

non-executive directors in the board have resulted in lower human capital investment 

recognition via distribution of value added among employees and corporate 

reporting recognition as voluntary human capital disclosure. Results have rejected 

the theoretical argument used in hypotheses development, that is, large portion of 

independent directors, results in more transparency and better monitoring. Board 

independence as well have generated mixed results through previous studies where it 

generated positive coefficients for qualitative and quantitative type of disclosure and 

negative for indicative disclosure while only quantitative disclosure revealed a 
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statistically significant positive relationships (Cormier et al., 2009). Moreover, the 

results have confirmed the unanticipated negative association between board 

independence and voluntary disclosure in general as well, where human capital is 

just an individual component (Cheng and Courtenay, 2006). The measurement 

criterion used in the study, non executive directors to total number of directors may 

have had an impact on the findings since non executive directors of the firm does not 

necessarily means they are independent, as a result a different conceptualisation 

could be proposed to reflect the other dependant relationships directors have with the 

firm aspects.  

 

Considering the impact of audit committee mechanism as a determinant of human 

capital investment of the firms, audit committee size has not at all been significant 

with either of the conceptualisation methods and the regression coefficient as well 

accounted as negative. Though it is assumed that audit committee size reflect the 

knowledge base thus the functioning and the decision effectiveness, it appears to be 

less relevant comparative to the actual functioning of the audit committees through 

meetings. Proposing this, on the other hand, number of audit committee meetings 

have evidenced negative regression coefficient indicating a positive relationship due 

to the use of inverse of audit committee meetings to solve the data quality issues. 

Among those, only the coefficient for human capital expenditure has been 

recognised as statistically significant under the alternative models used for 

sensitivity analysis including random effect estimator (at .10 level of significance) 

and pooled linear regression (at .10 level of significance). Mixed results are observed 

on regression coefficients for audit committee size, considering its’ impact on 

different stages of human capital disclosure based on previous studies (Cormier et 
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al., 2009) even though the results are not statistically significant. The results have 

deviated from some of the previous studies considering information disclosure in 

general, where simply the presence of audit committee itself, have created a positive 

impact (Barako et al., 2006), let alone the size and the functions. Both audit 

committee size and number of meetings conducted, have evidenced a strong positive 

relationship with intellectual capital in UK context as well (Li et al., 2008). Even 

though the audit committee involvement in human capital investment measured via 

accounting and financial reporting recognition has not been obvious or very 

significant yet, in an effort to formalise human capital management and accounting 

practice, audit committee has been even proposed as a responsible body to confirm 

on balance and objective reporting (DTI, 2003a & b).  

 

On the other hand, reflecting the existing relationships between the human capital 

investment proxies and the nomination and remuneration committee responsibilities, 

on many aspects, board nomination and remuneration committee mechanism has 

become a positive determinant of firms’ investment in human capital conceptualised 

via accounting and financial reporting recognition except for the negative 

coefficients observed in terms of remuneration committee size. Remuneration 

committee size has even been a negative significant determinant of human capital 

expenditure under the alternative models used relaxing the assumptions including 

random effect estimator and pooled linear regression model. This as well may have 

been a result of group dynamic effect and the coordination issues as it was for the 

board size (Mendez et al., 2011). Even though the coefficients were negative, they 

were not statistically significant determinant of the other two aspects (human capital 

per value added or the human capital disclosure of the firms) conceptualising firms’ 
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human capital investment. However, number of meeting of the remuneration 

committees has generated positive coefficients with regard to all conceptualization 

mechanisms while the relationships with human capital expenditure and human 

capital disclosure were statistically significant as well (at .10 level of significance). 

Moreover, number of nomination committee meetings as well has been a positive 

significant determinant of human capital expenditure. This confirms the fact that 

functioning of the committees determine firms aspects better that the size of the 

committees.  Comparative interpretation of the results with the previous empirical 

evidence, however, have been limited since none of the previous disclosure studies 

have incorporated the size and the number of remuneration committees and 

nomination committees in to their models as determinants of firms investment in 

human capital or intellectual capital. However, the positive significant results 

particularly highlight the significance of the monitoring, evaluation and the 

supervisory role they play in human capital management and investment process 

including accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ human capital 

investment.  

 

In this analysis, research hypotheses are developed to discover the determinants of 

human capital investment relying on the human capital argument using the data from 

the current financial statements and the annual reports which does not still treat 

employees as an investment. Therefore, both positive and negative results were 

revealed based on current conceptualisation. The analysis has further been extended 

to provide a holistic picture on human capital investment by firms, by analysing the 

variance in human capital investment highlighting the consequences expected via 

this investment. The consequences have been hypothesised considering both firm 
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financial performances and the stock market performances. The results have been 

interpreted in the next section.  

 

 

6.3.2 Consequences of firms’ investment in human capital 

 

Variance observed in firms’ investment in human capital in this study is 

conceptualised in two directions: backward, analysing the determinants of human 

capital expenditure to see what types of firms invest on people and forward, looking 

at the consequences of human capital investment to discover what firms receive in 

return as a result of investing or spending more money on people of the firms. This 

section hence, analyses and interprets the results to discover the consequences of 

investment in human capital conceptualised via accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of this investment measured from different perspectives.  

 

In determining the consequence of different accounting and management practices 

on the performance indices number of control variables have been used. Since many 

accounting practices and the accounting and the financial performances of the firms 

depend on company specific characteristics including, firm size (Mangena and 

Tauringana, 2007; Kamath, 2008; Chan, 2009a and b; Mahoney and Roberts, 2007), 

industry type (Mahoney and Roberts, 2007), current year leverage (Mangena and 

Tauringana, 2007; Kamath, 2008; Chan, 2009a and b; Mahoney and Roberts, 2007, 

current year profitability measured as return on equity (Mangena and Tauringana, 

2007; Kamath, 2008) and current year liquidity (Mangena and Tauringana, 2007), 
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the same have been considered as control variables in determining the consequences 

of human capital investment conceptualised via accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of this investment by firms as well. Given the limitations in categorising 

the capital and revenue types of human resource expenditure separately to measure 

the actual human capital investment by firms, the accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment measured via human capital expenditure, 

human capital per value added and human capital disclosure have been chosen to 

conceptualise firms’ human capital investment.  

 

Relying on the previous empirical analysis, as the potential consequences of the 

firms’ investment in human capital: employee productivity, contemporaneous and 

lead stock return, contemporaneous and lead profitability measures as return on total 

assets, were tested statistically. These potential consequences were determined in a 

way that they represent firms’ managerial and financial performances and stock 

market performances. Similar to the determinants analysis, due to the un-equal 

sample size for five years as a result of data unavailability, unbalanced panel 

regression technique was applied to test the research hypotheses developed in the 

methodology section. The analysis primarily used both fixed and random effect 

estimator models, while Hausman test (Hausman, 1978) was adopted to decide the 

best-suited model. The results for the statistical analysis, consequences of human 

capital investment are illustrated in table 6.10. The results further accompanied 

pooled linear regression using robust standard error as a past of sensitivity analysis 

and comparison of findings table 6.11. 
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6.3.2.1 Model Suitability  

 

According to the results for Hausman test, except for the consequence of human 

capital per value added and human capital disclosure on employee productivity of 

firms, fixed effect model was concluded as the model best explaining the variability 

since there were no enough evidence to reject the null hypothesis of the Hausman 

test of difference in coefficients for fixed and random effect estimator models are not 

systematic (Table 6.10). However, the table 6.10 has illustrated the results for both 

based on fixed and random effect estimators for all the models, including Hausman 

test results used in choosing the best model explaining each specific scenario. In 

addition, statistical results for the poled linear regression with more relaxed 

assumptions have been illustrated in the table 6.11 as a part of sensitivity analysis 

and comparative interpretation. 
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Table 6.10: Results for the consequences of human capital investment: Panel data analysis with fixed effect and random effect estimator 

Dependant 

variable 

Panel 

model 

Constant  Independent variable Control 

variable 

 

    R square 

(model sig.) 

Hausman 

statistics 

   HC 

expenditure 

HCVA HCD Firm size Industry 

type 

Leverage  

year t 

Profitabili

ty year t  

Liquidity 

year t 

  

Employee 

productivity 

Fixed 

Effect (S) 

-.0498 

(.1420) 

.0011* 

(.0007) 

  .0079 

(.0317) 

Omitted -.0006 

(.0006) 

.0008*** 

(.0002) 

-.0042 

(.0111) 

.1820 

(.0000) 

chi2(5) =  

13.46 

Employee 

productivity 

Random 

Effect  

.0140 

(.1060) 

-.0002 

(.0005) 

  .0175 

(.0247) 

-.0456 

(.0309) 

-.0010* 

(.0006) 

.0008*** 

(.0001) 

.0008 

(.0104) 

.1970 

(.0000) 

Prob>chi2 =  

0.0194 

Employee 

productivity 

Fixed 

Effect 

.0368 

( .1381) 

 -.0033 

(.0023) 

 .0026 

(.0319) 

Omitted -.0007 

(.0006) 

.0007*** 

(.0002) 

-.0062 

(.0111) 

0.1772 

(.0000) 

chi2(5) =   

5.61 

Employee 

productivity 

Random 

Effect  

.0341 

(.1066) 

 -.0033 

(.0023) 

 .0107 

(.0235) 

-.0431 

(.0318) 

-.0009 

(.0005) 

.0007*** 

(.0002) 

-.0005 

(.0103) 

.1472 

(.0000) 

Prob>chi2 =  

0.3463 

Employee 

productivity 

Fixed 

Effect 

.0045 

(.1384) 

  .0364 

(.0417) 

.0044 

(.0320) 
Omitted -.0008 

(.0006) 

.0008*** 

(.0002) 

-.0048 

(.0111) 

0.1694 

(.0001) 

chi2(5) =   

4.28 

Employee 

productivity 

Random 

Effect  

.0126 

(.1083) 

  .0255 

(.0386) 

.0120 

(.0236) 

-.0461 

(.0323) 

-.0010* 

(.0006) 

.0008*** 

(.0001) 

.0005 

(.0103) 

.1306 

(.0000) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.5094  

Stock return Fixed 

Effect 

-560.512*** 

(105.0169) 

-.9127* 

(.4783) 

  144.9734*** 

(23.4183) 

Omitted -.1375 

(.4738) 

-.0065 

(.1291) 

-.9782 

(8.1760) 

.2680 

(.0000) 

chi2(5) =   

28.36 

Stock return Random 

Effect  

-81.9756** 

(38.0774) 

-.5538*** 

(.1504) 

  29.5388*** 

(9.3111) 

-3.7523 

(9.4432) 

-.5273* 

(.2851) 

-.0120 

(.1027) 

7.9359 

(5.4975) 

.2022 

(.0000) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.0000 

Stock return Fixed 

Effect 

-613.2255*** 

(103.1586) 

 -.0782 

(1.7077) 

 145.8722*** 

(23.8075) 

Omitted -.0355 

(.4782) 

.0660 

(.1282) 

-.6081 

(8.3130) 

.2491 

(.0000) 

chi2(5) =   

35.59 

Stock return Random 

Effect  

-20.5006 

(35.3950) 

 -2.6693* 

(1.6410) 

 8.8269 

(7.5932) 

-2.9953 

(9.7204) 

-.6262** 

(.2916) 

.0205 

(.1071) 

9.0600 

(5.6427) 

.1799 

(.0019) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.0000  

Stock return Fixed 

Effect 

-612.2511*** 

(102.9154) 

  -5.2140 

(31.0052) 

146.2977*** 

(23.7908) 

Omitted -.03392 

(.4772) 

.0686 

(.1249) 

-.5586 

(8.2777) 

.2492 

(.0000) 

chi2(5) =   

32.34 

Stock return Random 

Effect  

-25.1883 

(37.4239) 

  3.5187 

(19.6940) 

8.9588 

(7.7174) 

-3.8064 

(9.8635) 

-.6569** 

(.2945) 

.0674 

(.1046) 

9.2552 

(5.7353) 

.1420 

(.0065) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.0000  
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(Level of significance: at .01, .05 or .10 ; Note: *: p<0.10; **: p<0.05; ***: P<0.01 at two tailed) 

 

 

 

 

Current 

year ROA 

Fixed 

Effect 

29.2183** 

(11.848) 

-.1202** 

(.0540) 

  -4.0876 

(2.6421) 

Omitted -.0238 

(.0535) 

.1147*** 

(.0146) 

.2443 

(.9224) 

.3907 

(.0000) 

chi2(5) =   

25.16 

Current 

year ROA 

Random 

Effect  

-6.9038 

(7.0022) 

-.0530* 

(.0293) 

  2.3863 

(1.6990) 

5.9734*** 

(1.7785) 

-.0582 

(.0441) 

.1210*** 

(.0139) 

.9475 

(.8117) 

.6232 

(.0000) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.0001 

Current 

year ROA 

Fixed 

Effect 

20.2346* 

(11.5918) 

 .2995* 

(.1919) 

 -3.5842 

(2.6752) 

Omitted -.0167 

(.0537) 

.1297*** 

(.0144) 

.4312 

(.9341) 

.3796 

(.0000) 

chi2(5) =   

20.64 

Current 

year ROA 

Random 

Effect  

  .3829** 

(.1943) 

 .9551 

(1.4952) 

5.8288*** 

(1.7900) 

-.0728*  

(.0440) 

.1329*** 

(.0140) 

1.2187* 

(.8077) 

.6094 

(.0000) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.0001 

Current 

year ROA 

Fixed 

Effect 

19.4785* 

(11.3550) 

  9.5566*** 

(3.42093) 

-4.5583* 

(2.6249) 

Omitted -.0163 

(0527) 

.1222*** 

(.0138) 

.2709 

(.9133) 

.4019 

(.0000) 

chi2(5) =   

28.25 

Current 

year ROA 

Random 

Effect  

-4.9846 

(6.9673) 

  3.7865 

(3.0094) 

.81534 

(1.5061) 

5.8475*** 

(1.8072) 

-.0661* 

(.0441) 

.1259*** 

(.0136) 

1.0278 

(.8119) 

.5779 

(.0000) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.0000 

Next year 

ROA 

Fixed 

Effect 

11.8371 

(14.1542) 

-.2080*** 

(.0645) 

  1.5832 

(3.1563) 

Omitted .0695 

(.0639) 

-.0108 

(.0174) 

.3624 

(1.1020) 

0.0834 

(0.0295) 

chi2(5) =   

31.82 

Next year 

ROA 

Random 

Effect  

-19.3439** 

(8.1409) 

-.1073*** 

(.0339) 

  5.8290*** 

(1.9829) 

8.6111*** 

(2.0451) 

.0098 

(.0524) 

.0082 

(.0168) 

2.2107** 

(.9687) 

.4833 

(.0000) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.0000 

Next year 

ROA 

Fixed 

Effect 

-.4240 

(14.2250) 

 .0201 

(.2355) 

 1.8351 

(3.2829) 

Omitted .0920 

(.0659) 

.0063 

(.0177) 

.4637 

(1.1463) 

0.0158 

(0.8100) 

chi2(5) =   

29.51 

Next year 

ROA 

Random 

Effect  

-11.8354* 

(7.9271) 

 .1268 

(.2438) 

 2.7245* 

(1.7505) 

8.5350*** 

(2.0887) 

-.0121 

(.0536) 

 .0218 

(.0174) 

2.6146*** 

(.9899) 

0.4517 

(0.0000) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.0000 

Next year 

ROA 

Fixed 

Effect 

-.7252 

(14.1868) 

  1.5176 

(4.2740) 

1.7146 

(3.2795) 

Omitted .0915 

(.0658) 

.0056 

(.0172) 

.4504 

(1.1411) 

0.0167 

(0.7923) 

chi2(5) =   

30.80 

Next year 

ROA 

Random 

Effect  

-10.2983 

(8.0836) 

  -2.7338 

(3.6396) 

2.7240* 

(1.7377) 

8.6788*** 

(2.0772) 

-.0107 

(.0533) 

.0200 

(.0169) 

2.6589*** 

(.9889) 

0.4654 

(0.0000) 

Prob>chi2 = 

0.0000 
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Table 6.11: Results for the consequences of human capital investment  

(Level of significance: at .01, .05 or .10 ; Note: *: p<0.10; **: p<0.05; ***: P<0.01 at two tailed) 

Dependant 

variable 

Constant  Independent variable Control 

variable 

    R square 

(model sig.) 

  HC 

expenditure 

HCVA HCD Firm size Industry 

type 

Leverage  

year t 

Profitability 

year t  

Liquidity 

year t 

 

Employee 

productivity 

-.2485** 

(.1042) 

-.0014*** 

(.0005) 

  .0883*** 

(.0252) 

.0390 

(.0313) 

.0010 

(.0008) 

.0006*** 

(.0002) 

.0186 

(.0154) 

R-squared   = 0.2095 

Prob > F     = 0.0000 

Employee 

productivity 

-.0915 

(.0992) 

 -.0055** 

(.0023) 

 .0351* 

(.02) 

-.0374 

(.0313) 

-.0013 

(.0008) 

.0007*** 

(.0002) 

.0216 

(.0158) 

R-squared   = 0.1476 

Prob > F     = 0.0000 

Employee 

productivity 

-.0804 

(.0990) 

  -.0265 

(.0545) 

.0348* 

(.0202) 

 -.0380 

(.0316) 

-.0014 

(.0008) 

.0008*** 

(.0002) 

.0229 

(.0159) 

R-squared   = 0.1398 

Prob > F     = 0.0001 

Stock return -81.9757** 

(40.1221) 

-.5538*** 

(.1569) 

  29.5388*** 

(9.4547) 

-3.7523 

(9.8858) 

-.5273** 

(.2643) 

-.0120 

(.1093) 

7.9359 

(6.4854) 

R-squared   = 0.1493 

Prob > F     = 0.0001 

Stock return -20.5006 

(33.8147) 

 -2.6693*** 

(.4922) 

 8.8268 

(6.6919) 

-2.9953 

(10.5277) 

-.6262** 

(.2938) 

.0205 

(.1122) 

9.0601 

(6.7229) 

R-squared   = 0.1004 

Prob > F     = 0.0000 

Stock return -23.638 

(32.6) 

  3.2551 

(18.3869) 

8.6400 

(6.7039) 

-3.7802 

(10.3864) 

-.6572** 

(.2825) 

.0673 

(.1114) 

9.1866 

(6.8031) 

R-squared   = 0.0878 

Prob > F     = 0.0057 

Current 

year ROA 

-17.3318*** 

(6.1627) 

-.0492** 

(.0234) 

  4.7540*** 

(1.4701) 

4.8369** 

(2.2817) 

-.0999 

(.0756) 

.1369*** 

(.0258) 

1.9144** 

(.9737) 

R-squared   = 0.5989 

Prob > F     = 0.0000 

Current 

year ROA 

-12.2097** 

(5.4491) 

 .4013** 

(.1837) 

 2.8708*** 

(1.0626) 

4.7398** 

(2.3950) 

-.1161 

(.0816) 

.1507*** 

(.0265) 

2.0691** 

(.9935) 

R-squared   = 0.5946 

Prob > F     = 0.0000 

Current 

year ROA 

-11.1904** 

(5.6653) 

  -1.5210 

(3.1618) 

2.9000*** 

(1.0881) 

4.8887** 

(2.2915) 

 -.1116 

(.0773) 

.1433*** 

(.0251) 

2.082** 

(.9964) 

R-squared   = 0.5891 

Prob > F     = 0.0000 

Next year 

ROA 

-23.9814*** 

(6.3333) 

-.0854*** 

(.0247) 

  6.5291*** 

(1.5113) 

7.1828*** 

(1.7497) 

-.0419 

(.0441) 

.0433* 

(.0223) 

3.3347** 

(1.4714) 

R-squared   = 0.4297 

Prob > F     = 0.0000 

Next year 

ROA 

-14.7948** 

( 6.2549) 

 .1629 

(.1256) 

 3.2922** 

(1.2711) 

7.1516*** 

(1.8840) 

-.0639 

(.0514) 

.0581** 

(.0231) 

3.5578** 

(1.5256) 

R-squared   = 0.3983 

Prob > F     = 0.0000 

Next year 

ROA 

-11.5269* 

( 6.8247) 

  -5.9945 

(3.8004) 

3.3097*** 

(1.2887) 

7.3730*** 

(1.8220) 

-.0625 

(.0503) 

.0533** 

(.02209) 

3.7333** 

(1.5357) 

R-squared   = 0.4073 

Prob > F     = 0.0000 
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6.3.2.2 Consequences of human capital expenditure 

 

According to the results for the panel data analysis with fixed effect estimator 

employee productivity, stock return, contemporaneous profitability, and lead 

profitability were identifies as significant consequences of human capital 

expenditure. Out of them, employee productivity revealed a positive relationship 

with the human capital expenditure of the firms, implying that, the higher the amount 

firms spent on people, the higher the employee productivity of the firm. However, all 

the other consequences hypothesised including stock return, contemporaneous 

profitability, and lead profitability resulted in a negative relationship with firms’ 

human capital expenditure.  This has proven the fact that, spending on employees of 

the firm not only lowers the accounting profitability of the current year but also lead 

even adverse consequences for the subsequent accounting years. Similarly, the 

adverse reflection of the current accounting treatment on human capital investment 

resulting in lowering the profit, lead external investors as well to respond negatively 

for the human capital spending of the firms. 

 

 

6.3.2.3 Consequences of human capital per value added 

 

Among the consequences hypothesised, only contemporaneous profitability was a 

significant consequence of human capital investment conceptualisation based on 

human capital per value added. Confirming the hypothesised relationship direction 

the results have generated a positively significant coefficients as well though its 
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significant only at .10 level of significance. However, apart from the main model, 

relaxing the assumptions farther to random effect estimator model as well has made 

the coefficients significant even at .05, level of significance. Though the results were 

not statistically significant the lead profitability as well has generated positive 

coefficients confirming the hypothesised relationship. The relationship of the human 

capital per value added with employee productivity and stock return on the other 

hand generated negative coefficients while stock return has even been accounted for 

as a significant consequence of value added per human capital based on the random 

effect estimator model of the panel data analysis.  

 

 

6.3.2.4 Consequences of human capital disclosure 

 

According to the results of the panel data analysis (table 6.10), contemporaneous 

profitability was identified as a significant positive consequence of the human capital 

investment measured in terms of the human capital disclosure. Moreover, though the 

relation ship is not statistically significant, employee productivity and lead 

profitability as well have generated positive coefficients. Stock return has generated 

negative coefficient under the fixed effect estimator model while the alternative, 

random effect estimator model with relaxed assumptions generated positive 

coefficients. The results imply that human capital investment conceptualised via 

financial reporting recognition through voluntary disclosure has reflected the 

implication of the human capital argument compared to the other two 

conceptualisations: human capital expenditure and the human capital per value 
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added by indicating positive significant relationships with the potential 

consequences. Since it appears that, stakeholders pay attention to and rely on the 

qualitative disclosure on the human capital information in understanding firms’ 

investment in human capital, the practice need to be carefully examined for the 

accuracy, uniformity and true and fair representation of firm situation.   

 

The sensitivity analysis of results comparative to those of pooled linear regression 

with robust standard error revealed that the results are confirmed through the 

alternative analysis mechanism, pooled linear regression as well except for the fact 

that the relationships under pooled linear regression have evidenced stronger 

compared to the other two analysis techniques. This may have been a reflection of 

relaxed assumptions involved with pooled linear regression compared to the panel 

data analysis technique. Due to the fact that the results for the consequence analysis 

has varied from one consequence to the other considering hypotheses developed, 

each of the consequences has separately been discussed and interpreted in light of 

the previous empirical evidence and the theoretical foundation behind hypotheses 

development.  

 

 

6.3.2.5 Human capital investment and employee productivity 

 

In discovering the relationship between human capital investment and employee 

productivity of firms, using the accounting and financial reporting recognition of the 

practice, employee productivity has only been a significant consequence of human 
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capital expenditure revealing a positive relationship. Even though other relationships 

were not significant, the regression coefficient for the human capital disclosure as 

well was positive. Results for the investment in human capital conceptualised via 

human capital expenditure and have confirmed the previous empirical findings 

(Edvinsson and Malone, 1997; Holzer, 1990; Chen et al., 2005), while the other two 

has rejected by not evidencing a significant positive relationships with the employee 

productivity. According to the f statistics (Prob > F = 0.0000) and the chi square 

(Prob > chi2 = 0.0000) values the overall models have been significant for all the 

three models. The model R square value has varied from .1306 to .1970. Even 

though the R square values are lower in general, in certain instances particularly 

considering the disclosure studies, it in certain instances has even evidenced 

dropping below the level observed in this study (Chen et al., 2005; Roberts, 1992). 

 

The positive significant relationship observed in between human capital expenditure 

and productivity supports the human capital theory argument implying that the 

higher the amount firms spent on employees the higher the employee productivity it 

result in though the same have not been supported by the other conceptualisation. 

This certainly indicates either the incapability of the current conceptualisation 

mechanism related to the study or the inappropriate practice by firms in capturing the 

firms’ human capital investment. In addition, some previous studies as well have 

suggested that even though companies spend money to affect employees’ knowledge 

and motivation the entire amount spent will not contribute in creating assets for the 

firms (Lev and Schewartz, 1971). This situation further highlights the requirement of 

a logical mechanism in valuing firms’ true human capital investment.  
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6.3.2.6 Human capital investment and profitability 

 

In regressing the firm profitability (ROA) as a consequence, due to the nature of the 

investment both contemporaneous and the lead profitability was taken in to account. 

The regression models explaining the relationship between human capital investment 

and contemporaneous profitability as well have been significant for both fixed effect 

estimator and the random effect estimator models based on the F statistics (Prob > F 

= 0.0000) and the Chi square (Prob > chi2 = 0.0000) values of the two models. 

Comparisons of coefficients of the two models via Hausman test however, have 

revealed that fixed effect estimator is the best-suited model for interpretation (table 

6.10). Moreover, the model explanatory power in terms of the R square values as 

well have significantly improved considering the fixed effect estimator model 

ranging between .3769 and .4019, which is significantly higher compared to many 

previous models (Chen et al., 2005). However, in certain instances, studies have 

generated higher R square values for similar studies (Li et al., 2008).  

 

The results revealed that the relationship between human capital expenditure and the 

firm contemporaneous profitability have been statistically significant (at .05 level of 

significance) and negative reflecting the current accounting treatment for employee 

spending lowering the book profit. However, confirming the proposed human capital 

argument, portion of human capital per value added and the financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment via qualitative disclosure has revealed 

statistically significant positive relationships with the contemporaneous profitability 

of the firm. Accordingly, the higher the portion of value added distributed to the 

employees and the higher the recognition given to the employees via financial 
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reporting practice, the higher the profitability they result in, by suggesting employees 

as an asset for the firm. Results confirm the previous empirical evidence highlighting 

firms’ investment and voluntary recognition in intellectual capital and human capital 

investment (Chen et al 2005; Bontis et al., 2000; Riahi-Belkaoui, 2003).  

 

A similar situation has been resembled via the relationship between human capital 

investment and the lead profitability in certain aspects. The results revealed lead 

profitability as a negative significant consequence of the human capital expenditure. 

However, out of the three conceptualisation under fixed effect estimator model, only 

the model for consequence of human capital expenditure on lead profitability has 

been significant considering the overall model significance (at .05 level of 

significance). Whereas, the models for the consequences of human capital per value 

added and the human capital disclosure under fixed effect estimator have not been 

significant at all. In this scenario the results have generated positive coefficients 

though they have not been statistically significant. Moreover, in lead profitability 

scenario, the model R square values for the fixed effect estimator models as well 

have been extremely lower compared to the previous results ranging between .0158 

and .0834, questioning the validity of the findings particularly considering the model 

explanatory power, which is considerably low. Conflicts in conceptualisation of 

human capital investment, high volatility in the economic environment, critical 

human resource management related decisions such as employee redundancies, 

layoffs etc. as a result of the onset of economic crisis might have been an 

explanation behind the weak results observed above. In terms of the 

conceptualisation, not recognising the actual human capital investment of firms in a 
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particular year, than writing it off fully in the year it’s incurred as well may have 

generated volatile results for the current as well as the subsequent accounting years.  

 

 

6.3.2.7 Human capital investment and stock return 

 

Panel regression with fixed effect estimator has also been selected as the model 

suitable in explaining the relationship of, the impact of firms’ human capital 

investment on stock return for all three methods of human capital conceptualisation. 

The model suitability above has been evidenced via F statistics (Prob > F = 0.0000), 

Chi square (Prob > chi2 = 0.00) and the results for the Hausman test, which justify 

the selection of the fixed effect model of the interpretation (table 6.08). In addition, 

the model explanatory power, particularly for the chosen fixed effect estimator was 

higher ranging between .2491 and .2680 compared to the employee productivity 

model in the current study and some of the other intellectual capital related studies 

(Chen et al., 2005).  

 

Opposed to the hypothesised positive relationship relying on the human capital 

theory, results of the current study have revealed a negative significant relationship 

between human capital expenditure and stock return (at .10, level of significance). 

Even though the relationships have not been statistically significant, the regression 

coefficients for the human capital per value added and human capital development 

have been negative, revealing the possibility for a negative relationship. Results have 

rejected the previous empirical evidence (Lajili and Zeghal, 2006 & 2005b; Dumay 
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and Tull, 2007), in which the relationships were positively significant. The negative 

relationships observed have rejected the main assumption behind theoretical 

framework, the human capital theory argument. Moreover, the contradictory results 

may have been a result of conflicting conceptualisation and the inadequacy in the 

current practice, accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment. As a consequence, the results of the current study however, has failed to 

confirm the argument proposed via previous theoretical and empirical explanations 

that, human component of firms is the perfect value driver making the strategic 

success of the firm (Royal and O’Donnel, 2008; Boedker et al., 2004). This implies 

that it’s imperative to consider alternative perceptions on accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of firms’ human capital expenditure, contribution of firm value 

added by the employees and the voluntary human capital disclosure.  

 

 

6.4 CONCLUSIONS 

 

“Rose is a rose is a rose”, “human capital is not human capital is not human 

capital” (Flamholtz, 2005, p. 79) 

 

Unlike it is for many accounting concepts with justifications explaining the 

characteristics, the explicit or implicit human capital concept is still treated as a 

global undifferentiated construct with little or no induce on future progress in terms 

of accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment 

(Flamholtz, 2005).  
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Against this backdrop, the current study is undertaken to examine and understand 

firms’ practice of investment in human capital as it’s conceptualised via accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment in listed firms. The 

research hypotheses are formulated relying on the human capital theory argument, 

assuming that firms recognise human resources of the firms as an asset opposed to 

what’s reflected through the current accounting treatment and they tend to invest in 

human capital of the firms expecting benefits over more than a single period opposed 

to treating it as expenditure and minimise the cost. The results revealed that the 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment of the 

firms have been induced by some firm specific and corporate governance related 

factors including firm liquidity, size, intellectual capital intensity, nomination, 

remuneration and audit committee meetings, board size etc., while the results have 

been hugely volatile considering the three different conceptualizations: human 

capital expenditure, human capital contribution in firm value added and the human 

capital disclosure. Moreover, positively hypothesised determinants of human capital 

such as, firm profitability (return on equity), firm leverage and industry type have 

evidenced inverse relationships implying that firms still treat employees as just an 

expenditure for the firm despite the number of times they state employees are their 

greatest asset.  

 

Considering the consequences hypothesised as well, deferential responses have been 

evidenced for human capital investment conceptualised in different techniques. As 

an example, human capital expenditure has improved the employee productivity of 

the firms under the study, though it resulted in a negative relationship with firm 

profitability and stock return revealing the implications of the current accounting 
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treatment. On the other hand, human capital disclosure has had positive impact on 

both employee productivity and profitability though not reflected via stock return 

implying that external stakeholders still poorly recognise qualitatively disclosed 

human capital investment related information in annual reports as a reflection of 

firms human capital investment due to the voluntary nature in the practice. 

Accordingly the results have rarely confirmed the hypotheses formulated based on 

the human capital argument both in term of determinants and consequences of 

human capital investment of the firms, questioning whether firms actually treat 

employees as an asset for the firms and believe in the practice human capital 

accounting.   

 

Considering the way determinants and the consequences behave in the two sets of 

the relationships hypothesised above, it is possible to conclude that, the results of the 

analysis have not confirmed the human capital theory argument used in the 

hypotheses development based on the founding researchers (Cantillon, 1755 and 

Adam Smith, 1776, as cited by Dooley 2005; Schultz, 1961; Becker, 1962; Backer, 

1993). The difference between qualitative recognition and the results for the 

quantitative analysis implies that there is a conceptual gap in terms of the accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of human capita investment of the firm. This 

could have been remedied via a standard framework for the practice accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment, which is governed 

through proper guidelines.   
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CHAPTER SEVEN 

CONCLUSIONS 

 

7.1 INTRODUCTION  

 

This study was conducted addressing the research gap observed in terms of the 

current and expected scenario considering the decision usefulness of the information 

produced via accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment. The first research objective of understanding the current practice, 

investment in human capital by listed firms as its reflected via accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of this investment in the annual reports of the firms in 

FTSE 100 listing of London stock exchange, is addressed in chapter five via 

descriptive analysis techniques. The second research objective of discovering the 

determinants and the expected consequences of accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment in annual reports of the firms in FTSE 100 

listing of London stock exchange is addressed in chapter six mainly through the 

inferential analysis techniques. Results of the analysis and interpretation is used in 

defining considerations for proposing alternative frameworks which could be utilised 

for accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment, in a 

way that it provide robust information to different categories of stakeholders of the 

firms.  

 

Aiming this the chapter discusses about the implication of the results especially 

considering on developing an alternative mechanisms for accounting and financial 
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reporting recognition of human capital investment in listed firms. Moreover, the 

political involvement in relation to the development and the expansion of the field 

human capital accounting is discussed particularly considering the involvement of 

state governments and the regulatory bodies. The discussion is then followed by the 

limitations of the study highlighting recommendations and further research avenues.  

 

 

7.2 DISCUSSION OF RESULTS AND IMPLICATIONS  

 

Data analysis of the study consists with both descriptive and inferential analysis 

techniques, which has taken in to account both quantitative and qualitative 

information in relation to the accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment. Descriptive analysis of the study revealed a considerable 

variance in accounting and financial reporting recognition of investment in human 

capital considering the time period, industry firms belongs, advance regulatory 

frameworks adopted etc.. This implies that the non availability of a regulatory 

framework governing the practice accounting and financial reporting recognition has 

had implications on firms’ practices, which may provide an undue freedom for those 

who prepare financial statements even to manipulate the information they reports. 

This particularly becomes the case, as there is no appropriate mechanism to quantify 

the human capital investment separately from the revenue expenditure portion. On 

the other hand, in the absence of a standard reporting framework, the variance in the 

practice among firms tends to be wider. Moreover, due to the absence of a standard 

framework governing the practice, despite human capital being a significant piece of 
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information reflecting the strategic positioning of the firms, stakeholders as well tend 

to be reluctant to rely on the information provided in the annual reports.  As a result, 

the decision usefulness of the information provided according to the current 

accounting and financial reporting recognition framework are been questioned 

demanding for an appropriate framework for accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of human capital investment (Boedker et al., 2004).  

 

According to the descriptive analysis of human capital information disclosed in the 

annual reports, even though the disclosure index is developed considering the overall 

reflection of, how important each of the human capital value creation factors in firm 

contributes in value creation, the results revealed that firms tend to disclose 

information in a different degrees at human capital disclosure category level as well 

as individual human capital value creation factor level. As an example, even though 

all the four categories, learning and growth, internal business process, customer 

perspective and financial perspective are interlinked and act as a foundation for the 

other level in firm value creation, firm disclosure under each category has varied 

revealing that firms tend to disclose more on customer perspective followed by 

internal business process while financial perspective category followed by learning 

and growth perspective were less relatively recognised through voluntary financial 

disclosure. While the results have deviated from the theoretical explanations, they 

could not have been compared with the previous findings, as the previous 

categorizations have mostly been different from one another.  

 

On a positive note though, the overall disclosure under each category have revealed 

marginally increasing, except for the 2008 and 2009 accounting year, which could 
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have been an impact of being at the onset of financial and economic crisis. This is 

confirmed via the fact that falling employment (Poole, 2010) had been recognised as 

an adverse consequences of the financial crisis (end 2007 to 2009) though the exact 

time period can hardly be demarcated preventing a pre and post crisis analysis in the 

current study.  

 

With an exception for firms belonging to banking and financial industry, human 

capital value creation factors categorised under financial perspective has been the 

least recognised among the others considering all the years under analysis. 

Inadequate recognition of human capital value creation factors with financial 

implication on firms as a part financial reporting tend to automatically restrict 

information considering both human capital expenditure as well and the investment, 

which could have been a value relevant for number of stakeholder categories. In that 

sense opposed to the current expenditure perspective, it is imperative to make the 

link between spending on employees or specially the films investment in employees 

with the performance outcome of these investment (i.e. revealing the way investment 

in employees helps create value in future) explicit to the stakeholders of the firms in 

general.   

 

Considering the individual value creation factors, work environment and culture, 

employee involvement, employee numbered including demography analysis, 

employee expenses and pension, health and safety, employee training programmes, 

human resource management and functions have been the most recognised, whereas, 

value added or revenue contribution per employee, human resources director and 

committee involvement, industrial relations and union activities, employee feature 
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representation respectively belong to the least recognised category. Even though 

least or no disclosure of some items such as involvement of human resource director 

committees, value added, profit or revenue contribution per employee, industrial 

training and union activities in the annual reports confirm previous empirical 

evidences (Subbarao and Zeghal, 1997) it does not necessarily mean that they are not 

value relevant as researchers have not studied about the perception of several 

categories of stakeholders, which is a grey area in human capital research.  

 

The inferential analysis on the other hand attempted to explain the variance observed 

in the accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms’ human capital 

investment. The results of the first analysis, determinants of accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment, revealed that firm size, 

intellectual capital intensity, industry categorised based on the enhanced regulation 

mechanism, profitability, firm liquidity, and some of the corporate governance 

attributes including board and committee mechanism of the firms have had 

significant impact on different aspects of accounting and financial reporting 

recognition of firms human capital investment. The results have not always been 

consistent with the hypothesised directions, as they have individually interpreted 

under chapter six, determinants of accounting and financial reporting recognition of 

human capital investment.  Results, not only attempt to explain the deviation in 

practice but also propose an alternative mechanism to be adopted in accounting and 

financial reporting recognition of human capital investment.  

 

Even though there were some positive relationships between different ways of 

conceptualising the accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 
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investment with different types of consequences, as it was illustrated under chapter 

six, the result have not always been consistent and produced positive relationships. 

Particularly considering the conceptualisation based on human capital expenditure an 

inverse relationship in evidenced opposed to the human capital conceptualization 

based on voluntary human capital disclosure. The mixed results observed above 

imply that, accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment is a piece of value relevant information even though it has not been 

always confirms based on current information systems. A clear question is raised 

over mostly negative relationship human capital expenditure is having with the 

financial implications such as contemporaneous and lead profitability indicators and 

stock return despite the positive impact the same has had on employee productivity. 

This criticise over the current accounting treatment for the total amount spent on 

employees which does not reveal any information on human capital assed base firms 

own and the human capital employees bring in and developed within the firm.  

 

On the other hand, the positive significant relationship human capital disclosure 

evidenced with the current year profitability and the mostly positive coefficients 

though not significant with the other conceptualisation, proved that human capital 

disclosure is recognised as a piece of value relevant information for stakeholders. 

However, confirming the question raised by several previous researchers as well, the 

credibility of the information produced via human capital disclosure is being 

questioned given the fact that human capital information produced in the annual 

reports are just voluntarily, non audited and followed no standard framework with 

proper guidelines.  
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Accordingly, its is imperative and timely to develop appropriate measured to reflect 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of firms human capital investment in 

a way that all the aspects: human resource expenditure, human asset base of the firm 

and human capital employees bring in and develop within the firm. In addition, it is 

also suggested that the financial reporting recognition of human capital investment 

via qualitative information disclosure need to be standardised and improved 

providing proper framework with standard guidelines, where the final product is 

audited before the information is presented to the stakeholders via external financial 

reporting. Accordingly, the results of the above two analysis provide evidence for 

challenging the accounting profession (Turner, 2005) demanding to examine its 

current myopic approach to the provision of decision making information.  

 

The discrepancy between the researchers effort on valuing, accounting for and 

financial reporting recognition of the human capital investment and the practitioner’s 

effort to make these attempts a reality has mostly been attributable to the 

involvement of the state government and the regulatory bodies either with the 

objectives of enhancing the practice or to suppress the development in the fields 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment. 

However, the type and the intensity of the involvement, and the positive or negative 

nature of the involvement by the state government and the regulatory bodies have 

always been different from one country or a region to the other. Moreover, problems 

of measurements and recognition issues have been recognised as one major difficulty 

faced by those who work on the accounting for human capital initiatives. The risk of 

putting people formally in the balance sheet when firms actually do not own their 

employees have been an increasing concern for most of the recent studies. Therefore, 
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some projects of development of human capital management and accounting have 

deliberately ignored the valuation and accounting for human capital. They have 

restricted and self limited their attempts on firms’ ability to understand and reveal 

the quality and limited effectiveness of the way firms manage their people and how 

this can be reflected in qualitative sense in the firm annual reports (Stittle, 2005). 

 

A continuing interest in accounting and financial reporting recognition of human 

capital investment and the broad aspect intellectual capital investment is evidenced 

in Scandinavian countries such as Denmark and Sweden (Grojer and Johanson, 1996 

& 1998; Grojer, 1997; Roslender et al., 2014). Their attempts have covered valuation 

and accounting for human capital investment as well as reporting frameworks to 

provide supplementary information on intellectual capital development for 

systematic and comprehensive work (DATI, 2000). Many of the Scandinavian 

intellectual capital development initiative projects have been government backed and 

supported by the legal and the regulatory frameworks such as Danish Ministry of 

Science Technology and Innovation, Danish Financial Statement Act etc. (Holmen, 

2005; KPMG, 2002). As a result, most of the techniques developed have also been 

penetrated to the real world practice at least in Scandinavian context. In certain 

instances, these techniques have been proposed as collaborative projects with 

government of private institutions (Holmen, 2005). While these techniques have 

already been applied in practical world, it actually is a concern, why these techniques 

on accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital have rarely been 

expanded to the other parts of the world or at least to the rest of the European 

countries.  
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As such, comparative to the Scandinavian initiatives, other European countries as 

well as United Kingdom has been very much lag behind in terms of valuation and 

accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment. Even 

though good human capital management is crucial for an organization it was 

revealed that in general they are under reported in UK. Accounting for people task 

force was set up in 2003 addressing related issues with the objectives: analysing the 

current performance measures assessing the investment in human capital; analyse the 

best practice in human capital reporting and performance measures that could be 

used by different categories of stakeholders; and to develop a business case for such 

a report (DTI, 2003 a and b; Roslender et al., 2004; Stittle, 2005). These initiatives 

are basically aimed at how public and private sector institutions could improve their 

reporting on human capital management (Roslender et al., 2004). Despite these 

government initiatives as well as the attempts by researchers and the academics, the 

professional accounting bodies in UK context said to have had a strong influence 

against these initiatives and managed even to effectively emasculate the initiatives 

by Department of Trade and Industry via the Accounting for People taskforce on 

human capital management (Roslender et al., 2014; Roslender, 2009; Roslender and 

Stevenson, 2009).  

 

Considering the results and the interpretations as well as the government, political 

and the regulatory frameworks’ involvement for and against human capital 

management and accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment, it is vital to establish a standard link between the three functional 

specialisations: human resource management, management accounting including 

internal audit and financial accounting. It is equally important for the human 
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resources management people to be financially literate recognising the human 

resource contribution in firm value creation and for the financial accounting and 

management accounting people to recognise human resources from human capital 

perspective opposed to the current cost control perspective. Emphasising on the 

human capital theory arguments opposed to treating it just as expenditure according 

to the conventional accounting treatment is certainly capable of eliminating the 

current myopic approach of ‘human resource expenditure is to be minimised to 

achieve higher book profits’. Ideally this could prevent the human resource budget 

being the most sensitive when ever firms or industries are in crisis situation.  

 

 

7.3 LIMITATION TO THE STUDY 

 

The above results have been achieved subject to some limitations to the study. 

Unavailability of a proper measures conceptualising human capital investment by 

firms, left the researcher only with the currently available information accounting 

and financial reporting recognition of human capital investment, which does not 

exactly reflect firms’ investment in human capital. The fact that only the researcher 

has coded qualitative information disclosed in the annual reports leads to doubt the 

results on the ground of researcher- bias or observer bias situation. However given 

the time consuming nature and relatively large number of annual reports to code and 

the financial constrains has prevented the repetition of the coding process with 

another researcher. Moreover, collection of qualitative data from large number of 

annual reports is associated with more problems such as, difficulty of repetition and 
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errors involved with familiarity and boredom as well as less time on in-depth 

analysis. The possibility of using computer-aided techniques could also be explored 

with this regard, even though the meaningfulness of reporting can hardly be captured 

via these techniques.  

 

 

7.4 FURTHER RESEARCH AVENUES  

 

A coherent attempt to revise the current accounting treatment on firms investment in 

human capital considering it as an asset and capital introduced by the employees for 

the firm while writing off only the expenditure portion in the annual reports. In 

addition, given the significant role qualitative information play in stakeholder 

decisions, proposing a comprehensive framework for firms to adopt in financial 

reporting recognition in human capital investment would as well be inevitable.  

 

Moreover, it is imperative to test the models developed in measuring the human 

capital and for the accounting and financial reporting recognition of human capital 

investment from both developed and lower developed countries point of view. An 

attempt to understand stakeholder perception on the current accounting and financial 

reporting recognition of human capital investment particularly considering the value 

relevance of the practice for each category would be a valuable addition to the 

discipline in proposing new accounting and financial reporting frameworks.  
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The proposed framework for the financial reporting recognition of human capital 

information disclosed in the firm annual reports using the balanced scorecard 

approach could be extended from human capital information to the information 

disclosures in general as well. Since the framework developed based on balance 

scorecard framework provides a pictorial presentation, addressing how firm 

performance is linked with the interests of a number of stakeholder groups, the same 

approach could be adopted for the empirical analysis of information disclosure in 

general as well.  
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APPENDIX 
 
Appendix 1  

 

Human capital disclosure items under different empirical studies  

 

 

I. Human Capital Attribute Categorization  
 

Human Capital Category  Human Capital Attribute 
Training and development  Know how 

Vocational qualification 
Career development  
Training programmes 
 

Entrepreneurial skills   
 

Equity issues  Race,  
Gender  
Religion  
Disable issues  

Employee safety  
Employee relations Union activity 

Employee thanked  
Employee featured 
Employee involvement with the 
community 
 

Employee welfare  Employee compensation plan 
Executive compensation plan 
Employee benefit 
Employee share ownership plan 
Employee share option ownership plan 
 

Employee related 
measurements  

Value added statements  
Employee numbers 
Professional experience 
Educational level 
Expert seniority 
Age of employee 

 
Source: Abeysekera, I. and Guthrie, J., (2004). Human Capital Reporting in a Developing Nation, the British 

Accounting Review, Vol. 36, pp. 251-268. 

Abeysekera, I. and Guthrie J., (2005). An Empirical Investigation of Annual Reporting Trends of Intellectual 

Capital in Sri Lanka, Critical Perspectives on Accounting, Vol. 16, pp. 151-163. 
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II. The human capital wheel  
 
 

 
 
Source: Royal, C. and O’Donnell, L., (2008). Emerging human capital analytics for investment processes, 

Journal of Intellectual Capital, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 367-379. 
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III. Human Capital Parameters  

 

Source: Ax, C. and Marton, J., (2008). Human Capital Disclosure and Management Practices, Journal of 

Intellectual Capital, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 433-455. 
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IV. Empirical Grouping of Human Capital  

Employee capabilities Employee development 

and retention 

Employee behaviour 

1. Employees work 

related knowledge 

1. Employee training 1. Employees’ motivation  

 

2. Employees work 

related competencies 

2. Key employee turnover 2. Employees job 

satisfaction 

3. Employee’s know-how 

and expertise 

3. Employee recruitment 

costs 

3. Employees’ loyalty 

 

4. Employees creativity 

innovativeness  

4. Intensive programme / 

compensation scheme 

4. Leadership qualities of 

managers 

 5. Employee profitability / 

revenue per employee etc.  

 

 6. Employees’ previous 

job experience  

 

 
Source: Huang, C. C. Luther, R. and Tayles,  M., (2007). An Evidence-based taxonomy of intellectual capital, 

Journal of Intellectual capital, Vol. 8, No. 3, pp. 386-408. 
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APPENDIX 2: RESEARCH SAMPLE AND INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION  

 

Research sample for the year 2009 

 

Firm Name  Industry Industry Classification  

Firm Size Market 

capitalization in 

(£Mn) 

HSBC HLDGS Banks Banking and financial 123361.5242 

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 115977.45 

BP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 113056.04 

UNILEVER Food producers Non banking and financial 25616.216 

STANDARD CHARTERD Banks Banking and financial 31667.255 

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO Tobacco Non banking and financial 40260.1993 

XSTRATA PLC Mining Non banking and financial 32744.4185 

GLAXOSMITHKLINE Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 69147.517 

ASTRAZENECA PLC Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 42202.6208 

BG GROUP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 40328.4305 

ANGLO AMERICAN Mining  Non banking and financial 35690.1423 

ROLLS ROYCE GROUP Aerospace and defence Non banking and financial 8953.755 

PEARSON Media Non banking and financial 7168.21 

LLOYDS BANK GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 32226.9471 

BARCLEYS Banks Banking and financial 31441.8881 

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC Household goods Non banking and financial 23772.5235 

IMPERIAL TOBACCO GROUP Tobacco Non banking and financial 19927.08 

ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 16553 

PRUDENTIAL  Life insurance Banking and financial 16151.78 

CENTRICA PLC Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 14331.3348 

BAE SYATEMS Aerospace and defence Non banking and financial 12674.3471 
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EURASIAN NATURAL RESOURCES CORP Mining Non banking and financial 11782.91 

AVIVA Life insurance Banking and financial 10898.287 

TULLOW OIL PLC Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 10440.79 

ANTOFAGASTA Mining Non banking and financial 9779.6984 

VODAFONE GROUP Mobile telecommunication Non banking and financial 75628.22 

RIO TINTO Mining Non banking and financial 51774.5982 

TESCO Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 33687.1648 

BHP BILLITON Mining Non banking and financial 44029.8005 

SABMILLER Beverages Non banking and financial 28658.6015 

DIAGEO Beverages Non banking and financial 27302.8775 

NATIONAL GRID Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 16619.63135 

SCOTTISH AND SOUTHERN ENERGY  Electricity Non banking and financial 10685.9075 

BT GROUP Fixed line communication Non banking and financial 10439.5874 

BRITISH SKY BROADCASTNG GROUP  Media Non banking and financial 9850.9754 

COMPASS GROUP Travel and leisure Non banking and financial 8284.2533 

WPP PLC Media Non banking and financial 7670.548 

MORRISON(WM.) SUPERMARKETS Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 7294.8714 

VEDANTA RESOURCES Mining Non banking and financial 7123.6154 

ASSOCIATED BRITISH FOODS  Food producers Non banking and financial 6510.24 

MARK AND SPENCER GROUP General retailers Non banking and financial 6377.64 

EXPERIAN PLC Support services Non banking and financial 6274.8582 

REED ELSEVIER  Media Non banking and financial 6201.2773 

KYZAKHMYS Mining Non banking and financial  7123.6154 

SAINSBURY (J)PLC Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 5975.9802 

OLD MUTUAL Life insurance Banking and financial 5807.6787 

FRESNILLO PLC Mining Non banking and financial  5679.9084 

SMITH & NEPHEW Health care equipment  Non banking and financial 5676.61 

CRH Construction and materials  Non banking and financial 13872.7076 
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Research sample for the year 2008 

 

Firm Name  Industry Industry Classification  

Firm Size Market 

capitalization in 

(£Mn) 

HSBC HLDGS Banks Banking and financial 79471.0644 

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 110923.0483 

BP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 99112.4601 

UNILEVER Food producers Non banking and financial 20284.8573 

STANDARD CHARTERD Banks Banking and financial 16524.4321 

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO Tobacco Non banking and financial 36290.8683 

XSTRATA PLC Mining Non banking and financial 6218.668 

GLAXOSMITHKLINE Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 67030.3902 

ASTRAZENECA PLC Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 40964.8424 

BG GROUP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 32243.4454 

ANGLO AMERICAN  Mining  Non banking and financial 20499.2448 

ROLLS ROYCE GROUP Aerospace and defence Non banking and financial 6146.6504 

PEARSON Media Non banking and financial 5156.9276 

LLOYDS BANK GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 7452.4095 

BARCLEYS Banks Banking and financial 12840.0982 

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC Household goods Non banking and financial 18416.7773 

IMPERIAL TOBACCO GROUP Tobacco Non banking and financial 18808.7258 

ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 19538.0027 

PRUDENTIAL  Life insurance Banking and financial 10367.7011 

CENTRICA PLC Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 13561.4908 

BAE SYATEMS Aerospace and defence Non banking and financial 13284.6002 

AVIVA Life insurance Banking and financial 10362.2427 

TULLOW OIL PLC Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 4728.6487 
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VODAFONE GROUP Mobile telecommunication Non banking and financial 73154.6436 

RIO TINTO Mining Non banking and financial 14922.2209 

TESCO Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 28334.9934 

BHP BILLITON Mining Non banking and financial 28558.6776 

SABMILLER Beverages Non banking and financial 17402.7206 

DIAGEO Beverages Non banking and financial 24154.1781 

NATIONAL GRID Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 16742.0145 

SCOTTISH AND SOUTHERN ENERGY  Electricity Non banking and financial 10594.5523 

BT GROUP Fixed line communication Non banking and financial 10455.05346 

BRITISH SKY BROADCASTNG GROUP  Media Non banking and financial 8413.6445 

COMPASS GROUP Travel and leisure Non banking and financial 6401.1301 

WPP PLC Media Non banking and financial 5065.4564 

MORRISON(WM.) SUPERMARKETS Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 7521.35757 

SAINSBURY (J)PLC Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 5705.8917 

ASSOCIATED BRITISH FOODS  Food producers Non banking and financial 5781.6 

SHIRE PLC Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 5660.54 

RSA INSURANCE GROUP PLC Nonlife insurance Banking and financial 4571.62 

REED ELSEVIER  Media Non banking and financial 5573.2 

CRH Construction and materials  Non banking and financial 8727.4106 

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP  Life insurance Banking and financial 4567.1469 

CAPITA GROUP Support services Non banking and financial 4546.0378 

EXPERIAN PLC Support services Non banking and financial 4407.7053 

STANDARD LIFE PLC Life insurance Banking and financial 4390.2173 
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Research sample for the year 2007 

 

 

Firm Name  Industry Industry Classification  

Firm Size Market 

capitalization in 

(£Mn) 

HSBC HLDGS Banks Banking and financial 99573.75005 

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 134376.3158 

BP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 116722.5174 

UNILEVER Food producers Non banking and financial 24758.055 

STANDARD CHARTERD Banks Banking and financial 25801.41702 

CRH Construction and materials  Non banking and financial 9091.3897 

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO Tobacco Non banking and financial 40264.5991 

XSTRATA PLC Mining Non banking and financial 34494.1757 

ALLIED IRISH BANK PLC Banks Banking and financial 9842.2865 

MAN GROUP General financial Banking and financial 9749.9156 

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP  Life insurance Banking and financial 8405.3956 

GLAXOSMITHKLINE Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 71305.1532 

ASTRAZENECA PLC Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 32017.4971 

BG GROUP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 38663.8831 

ANGLO AMERICAN  Mining Non banking and financial 40826.4941 

ROLLS ROYCE GROUP Aerospace and defence Non banking and financial 10468.823 

LLOYDS BANK GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 26574.5946 

BARCLEYS Banks Banking and financial 32975.8665 

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC Household goods Non banking and financial 20852.9734 

IMPERIAL TOBACCO GROUP Tobacco Non banking and financial 18381.7169 

ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 44741.317 

PRUDENTIAL  Life insurance Banking and financial 17514.7288 
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CENTRICA PLC Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 13165.6862 

BAE SYATEMS Aerospace and defence Non banking and financial 17468.1836 

EURASIAN NATURAL RESOURCES CORP Mining Non banking and financial 8241.6 

AVIVA Life insurance Banking and financial 17463.778 

VODAFONE GROUP Mobile telecommunication Non banking and financial 98837.7127 

RIO TINTO Mining Non banking and financial 53249.2942 

TESCO Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 37547.5621 

BHP BILLITON Mining Non banking and financial 35131.4184 

SABMILLER Beverages Non banking and financial 21188.5231 

DIAGEO Beverages Non banking and financial 28326.5144 

NATIONAL GRID Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 21690.247 

SCOTTISH AND SOUTHERN ENERGY  Electricity Non banking and financial 14021.28 

BT GROUP Fixed line communication Non banking and financial 22026.0375 

BRITISH SKY BROADCASTNG GROUP  Media Non banking and financial 10850.0957 

MORRISON(WM.) SUPERMARKETS Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 8641.8453 

MARK AND SPENCER GROUP General retailers Non banking and financial 9514.294 

REED ELSEVIER  Media Non banking and financial 8654.057 

OLD MUTUAL Life insurance Banking and financial 9120.4153 
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Research sample for the year 2006 

 

Firm Name  Industry Industry Classification  

Firm Size Market 

capitalization in 

(£Mn) 

HSBC HLDGS Banks Banking and financial 106791.58 

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 117078.16 

BP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 110754.5 

UNILEVER Food producers Non banking and financial 18706.09 

STANDARD CHARTERD Banks Banking and financial 20588.41 

CRH Construction and materials  Non banking and financial 11030.96 

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO Tobacco Non banking and financial 29598.13 

XSTRATA PLC Mining Non banking and financial 23964.74 

ALLIED IRISH BANK PLC Banks Banking and financial 12958.55 

MAN GROUP General financial Banking and financial 9840.36 

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP  Life insurance Banking and financial 10212.24 

GLAXOSMITHKLINE Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 78131.02 

SAINSBURY (J)PLC Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 7642.19 

LAND SECURITIES GROUP  Real estate Non banking and financial 10803.03 

ASTRAZENECA PLC Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 42557.86 

BG GROUP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 23741.69 

ANGLO AMERICAN  Mining Non banking and financial 36931.36 

ROLLS ROYCE GROUP Aerospace and defence Non banking and financial 7872.47 

LLOYDS BANK GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 32176.65 

BARCLEYS Banks Banking and financial 47239.09 

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC Household goods Non banking and financial 16878.23 

IMPERIAL TOBACCO GROUP Tobacco Non banking and financial 13880.96 

ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 63032.8 
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PRUDENTIAL  Life insurance Banking and financial 16961.86 

CENTRICA PLC Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 12862.3 

BAE SYATEMS Aerospace and defence Non banking and financial 13578.49 

OLD MUTUAL Life insurance Banking and financial 9565.29 

AVIVA Life insurance Banking and financial 20915.36 

VODAFONE GROUP Mobile telecommunication Non banking and financial 74470.37 

RIO TINTO Mining Non banking and financial 28218.57 

TESCO Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 32079.61 

BHP BILLITON Mining Non banking and financial 23044.21 

SABMILLER Beverages Non banking and financial 17582.28 

BANK OF IRELAND (GOVERNOR) Banks Banking and financial 11237.69 

NATIONAL GRID Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 19896.48 

SCOTTISH AND SOUTHERN ENERGY  Electricity Non banking and financial 13302.24 

BT GROUP Fixed line communication Non banking and financial 25085.31 

BRITISH SKY BROADCASTNG GROUP  Media Non banking and financial 9256.8 

BRITISH LAND CO Real estate Non banking and financial 8881.14 

MARK AND SPENCER GROUP General retailers Non banking and financial 12074.98 
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Research sample for the year 2005 

 

Firm Name  Industry Industry Classification  

Firm Size Market 

capitalization in 

(£Mn) 

HSBC HLDGS Banks Banking and financial 105112.55 

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 122655.99 

BP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 128497.27 

UNILEVER Food producers Non banking and financial 16744.1 

STANDARD CHARTERD Banks Banking and financial 16982.57 

CRH Construction and materials  Non banking and financial 8817.18 

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO Tobacco Non banking and financial 27618.14 

XSTRATA PLC Mining Non banking and financial 8588.43 

ALLIED IRISH BANK PLC Banks Banking and financial 10594.97 

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP  Life insurance Banking and financial 7910.43 

GLAXOSMITHKLINE Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 86310.76 

ASTRAZENECA PLC Pharmaceutical and biotechnology Non banking and financial 45236.41 

BG GROUP Oil & gas producers Non banking and financial 20305.78 

ANGLO AMERICAN  Mining Non banking and financial 29340.92 

LLOYDS BANK GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 27181.29 

BARCLEYS Banks Banking and financial 39538.47 

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC Household goods Non banking and financial 13883.35 

IMPERIAL TOBACCO GROUP Tobacco Non banking and financial 12408.45 

ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND GROUP PLC Banks Banking and financial 55642.81 

PRUDENTIAL  Life insurance Banking and financial 13336.32 

CENTRICA PLC Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 9341.15 

BAE SYATEMS Aerospace and defence Non banking and financial 12255.94 

AVIVA Life insurance Banking and financial 16670.66 
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VODAFONE GROUP Mobile telecommunication Non banking and financial 78165.85 

RIO TINTO Mining Non banking and financial 28244.33 

TESCO Food and drug retailers Non banking and financial 26035.13 

BHP BILLITON Mining Non banking and financial 23433.57 

SABMILLER Beverages Non banking and financial 15876.43 

BANK OF IRELAND (GOVERNOR) Banks Banking and financial 8697.82 

NATIONAL GRID Gas and water multiutilities Non banking and financial 15422.49 

SCOTTISH AND SOUTHERN ENERGY  Electricity Non banking and financial 8679.84 

BT GROUP Fixed line communication Non banking and financial 18980.34 

BRITISH SKY BROADCASTNG GROUP  Media Non banking and financial 9144.53 

MARK AND SPENCER GROUP General retailers Non banking and financial 10256.09 

WPP PLC Media Non banking and financial 7955.67 

 

 

 

 

 


